



The University of Salford School of Science, Engineering and Environment

PhD in Biological Sciences

Improving outcomes for obese children with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL): a clinical collaboration to understand the influence of obesity on treatment success.

Supervisors: Dr Caroline Topham and Dr Sarah Withers.

Submitted by Toni Jane Dewhurst

Final Ph.D. thesis

February 2022

ABSTRACT

Cancer Research UK has reported that obesity is the second highest risk factor for developing cancer after smoking. Studies suggest that almost three quarters of people are expected to be overweight by 2035. Children with ALL who are obese at diagnosis are less likely respond to standard cancer treatment, it is more difficult to achieve a complete remission in obese children, they are subject to higher minimal residual disease risk, poorer event free survival and increased risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease later in life

This work has been designed to identify changes in adipokine profiles at diagnosis and after the intense phase of induction therapy to investigate if dysregulated adipokine profiles contribute to weight gain and MRD risk. To achieve this weight status and BMI was recorded and blood plasma was tested using human adipokine arrays at diagnosis and following induction therapy to establish if these changes correlated with weight gain or MRD risk.

We have shown that MRD risk status at the end of induction therapy is associated with lower weight rather than weight gain. We have identified a number of adipokines linked to MRD risk and weight gain in our patient cohort, these include Leptin, IL-8, pref-1, endocan and adiponectin in weight gain. Also, resistin, serpin A12, IGFBP4, cathepsin-S and Angiopoetin-2 in MRD risk. We have shown that leptin, IL-8, serpin A12 and angiopoietin-2 have a protective effect when incubated with the Molt4 ALL cell line and that resistin does not offer this protection.

Further experiments with leptin confirmed the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway which is a shared pathway with the other adipokines of interest along with the JAK/STAT pathway. Leptin was unable to change the sensitivity of the chemotherapy drugs alone this may suggest that targeting single adipokines may not be the best course of future treatment stratification. Inhibitors of the PI3K/Akt pathway or the JAK/STAT pathway could be treatment options for adipokines highlighted in this study.

Future treatment options that show promise could include activators of AMPK like metformin, Bcl-2 inhibitors or small molecule inhibitors that target common pathways of chemoresistance which include autophagy, upregulation of drug efflux pumps or the UPR network. It is clear that more research is needed in these areas in the hope to improve outcomes for obese, overweight and MRD risk patients and to develop kinder drug treatments for paediatric ALL patients.

1

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
LIST OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	12
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	14
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	16
1.0 CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	17
1.1 Introduction to Cancer	17
1.1.2 Cancer Statistics	
1.1.3 Causes and risk factors	19
1.2.1 Paediatric Cancers	19
1.2.2 Paediatric Cancer incidence and statistics	20
1.2.2 Paediatric Cancer causes and risk factors	21
1.2.3 Paediatric Cancer prevention?	22
1.3 Leukaemia's and lymphomas in children	23
1.3.1 Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL)	24
1.3.1.1 ALL development	25
1.3.1.2 ALL causes and risk factors	26
1.3.1.3 ALL treatment	27
1.3.1.4 UKALL2011 Study	28
1.3.1.5 UKALL2011 Induction phase regimens	29
1.3.1.6 Cytogenic risk	
1.3.1.7 Minimal residual disease (MRD)	
1.3.2 Chemotherapy treatments	31
1.3.2.1 Vincristine	31
1.3.2.2 Daunorubicin	31
1.3.2.3 Dexamethasone/Prednisone	32
1.3.2.4 Pegylated L-Asparaginase	35
1.3.2.5 Methotrexate	35
1.3.2.6 Cytarabine	
1.3.2.7 Mercaptopurine	
1.3.2.8 New therapeutic options in ALL	

1.3.3 ALL treatment side effects and survival statistics	38
1.4 Obesity	39
1.4.1 Obesity and Adipose tissue	40
1.4.2 Adipokines	42
1.4.2.1 Adiponectin	42
1.4.2.2 Leptin	44
1.4.2.3 Resistin	46
1.4.2.4 Serpin A12 (Vaspin)	47
1.4.2.5 Interleukin-8	49
1.4.2.6 Endocan/ESM-1	49
1.4.2.7 IGFBP4	50
1.4.2.8 Pref-1/DLK1	50
1.4.2.9 Cathepsin-S	50
1.4.2.10 Angiopoietin-2	51
1.4.3 Consequences of obesity	51
1.5 Obesity and Cancer	52
1.5.1 Obesity and paediatric ALL outcome	54
1.5.2 Why might obesity results in poorer outcomes for ALL patients?	56
1.5.2.1 Adipose tissue as a cancer and ALL cell niche	57
1.5.2.2 Adipose tissue as a source of Fuel for cancer and ALL cells	58
1.5.2.3 Adipose tissue can disrupt chemotherapy pharmacokinetics	60
1.5.2.4 Dose capping in obese individuals	61
1.5.2.5 Apoptosis	62
1.5.2.6 Adipose tissue inhibits apoptosis	64
1.5.3 Mechanisms of chemoresistance	65
1.5.3.1 Unfolded protein response	65
1.5.3.2 Autophagy	66
1.5.3.3 Upregulation of drug transporter efflux pumps	66
1.5.3.4 Adipokines and mechanisms of chemoresistance	67
1.6 Case for study	70
1.6.1 Aims and Objectives	71
2.0 CHAPTER 2 METHODS	73
2.1 Culturing and differentiation of 3T3-L1 mouse fibroblast into adipocyte-like	e cells73

2.1.1 Subculture and trypsinisation of cells	73
2.1.2 Cell counting	73
2.1.3 Differentiation procedure	74
2.2 Oil red-O staining of 3T3-L1 cells	76
2.3 Mouse Adipokine Arrays	76
2.4 Patient Sample and Data Collection	78
2.5 Human Adipokine Arrays	80
2.6 Cell culture of Human ALL cell lines Molt4 and CEM-CCRF	81
2.7 Trypan blue viability assay and sample collection	82
2.8 Protein extraction and quantification	83
2.9 Western blotting	84
2.10 MTS assay	85
2.11 MTT assay	86
2.12 Cell lines used in this study	87
2.12.1 3T3-L1	87
2.12.2 CEM-CCRF	87
2.12.3 Molt4	88
2.13 Statistical analysis	88
3.0 CHAPTER 3: 3T3-L1 Mouse adipose cell differentiation experiments	90
3.1 Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells produce an adipocyte-like phenotype	90
3.2 Oil red-O staining confirms the presence of lipids droplets in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells	93
3.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm the presence of adipokines in 3T3-L1 differentiate cell conditioned media	ed 93
3.4.1 MTT assay confirms Daunorubicin and Vincristine reduce cell viability of 3T3-L1 c	ells 96
3.4.2 Oil red-O staining confirms changes in the levels of lipids droplets in differentiate 3T3-L1 cells treated with Vincristine and Daunorubicin	ed 98
3.4.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm changes in adipokine expression in cells treated with Vincristine and Daunorubicin	.100
3.5 CHAPTER 3 DISCUSSION	.102
3.5.1 Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells produce an adipocyte like phenotype	.103
3.5.2 Daunorubicin and Vincristine treatment reduces the cell viability and lipid	
production of 3T3-L1 cells	.105

3.5.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm changes in adipokine expression in cells treated with vincristine and daunorubicin
4.0 CHAPTER 4: Patient sample pilot study results
4.1 Patient sample pilot study confirms reproducibility of Human adipokine arrays
4.2 Patient sample study confirms pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression
4.3 Summary of patient clinical data
4.4 Identification of clinical variables as predictors of MRD risk
4.5 Identification of adipokine changes in patients before and after induction therapy .123
4.6 Identification of adipokine changes associated with weight gain
4.6.1 Leptin levels increase in patients who gain weight
4.6.2 IL-8 levels decrease in patients who gain weight127
4.6.3 Endocan levels increase in patients who gain weight
4.6.4 Pref-1/DLK1/FA1 levels increase in patients who gain weight
4.6.5 Adiponectin levels decrease in patients who gain weight
4.6.6 Adipokine summary data in patients who gained weight
4.7 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with MRD risk
4.7.1 Resistin levels decrease in MRD risk patients
4.7.2 Serpin A12 levels increase in MRD risk patients
4.7.3 Cathepsin-S levels decrease in MRD risk patients
4.7.4 IGFBP-4 levels decrease in MRD risk patients139
4.7.5 Angiopoietin-2 levels decrease in MRD risk patients141
4.7.6 Adipokine summary data MRD risk patients142
4.8 CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION
4.8.1 Patient sample pilot study confirms reproducibility of Human adipokine arrays144
4.8.2 Patient sample study confirms pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression145
4.8.2.1 Adiponectin
4.8.2.2 Angiopoietin-2
4.8.2.3 Angiopoietin-Like 2,3146
4.8.2.4 BAFF
4.8.2.5 Cathepsin proteins D, L, S,147
4.8.2.6 Chemerin
4.8.2.7 Complement Factor D148
4.8.2.8 CRP148
4.8.2.9 DPPIV/CD26148

	4.8.2.10 Endocan	149
	4.8.2.11 Growth hormone	149
	4.8.2.12 IGFBP proteins	149
	4.8.2.13 Leptin	149
	4.8.2.14 Lipocalin-2/NGAL	150
	4.8.2.15 MIF	150
	4.8.2.16 Nidogen-1	150
	4.8.2.17 Pentraxin-3	150
	4.8.2.18 Pref-1/DLK1	151
	4.8.2.19 CCL5/RANTES	151
	4.9 Identification of clinical variables as predictors of MRD risk	152
	4.10 Identification of adipokine expression changes in patients before and afte therapy	r induction 155
	4.10.1 Patient adipokine summary	156
	4.11 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with weight gair	າ159
	4.11.1 Leptin	159
	4.11.2 IL-8	160
	4.11.3 Endocan	160
	4.11.4 Pref-1/DLK1	161
	4.11.5 Adiponectin	161
	4.12 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with MRD risk	
	4.12.1 Resistin	
	4.12.2 SerpinA12 (Vaspin)	
	4.12.3 Cathepsin-S	164
	4.12.4 IGFBP-4	164
	4.12.5 Angiopoietin-2	
5	5.0 CHAPTER 5: Adipokine in vitro work	
	5.1 Leptin has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability	
	5.2 Leptin has no impact on cell viability in the presence of Vincristine or Daun	orubicin168
	5.3 IL-8 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability	
	5.4 Resistin has no impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability	
	5.5 Serpin A12 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability	172
	5.6 Angiopoietin-2 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells at high expression leve increases cell viability	els and 174

5.7 CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	175
5.7.1 Identification of adipokine associated with changes in cell viability	175
5.7.2 Leptin	176
5.7.3 IL-8	177
5.7.4 Resistin	177
5.7.5 Serpin A12 (Vaspin)	178
5.7.6 Angiopoietin-2	178
6.0 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK	179
7.0 APPENDIX	
7.1 Individual patient data	
7.1.1 Patient 009	187
7.1.2 Patient 010	
7.1.3 Patient 011	
7.1.4 Patient 012	
7.1.5 Patient 013	
7.1.6 Patient 014	
7.1.7 Patient 015	
7.1.8 Patient 017	190
7.1.9 Patient 018	190
7.1.10 Patient 020	190
7.1.11 Patient 021	191
7.1.12 Patient 023	191
7.1.13 Patient 024	191
7.1.14 Patient 025	192
7.1.15 Patient 026	192
7.1.16 Patient 027	192
7.1.17 Patient 028	193
7.1.18 Patient 030	
7.1.19 Patient 031	
7.1.20 Patient 032	194
7.1.21 Patient 034	194
7.1.22 Patient 035	194
7.1.23 Patient 036	195

7.1.24 Patient 037	
7.1.25 Patient 038	
7.1.26 Patient 040	
7.1.27 Patient 041	
7.1.28 Patient 044	
7.1.29 Patient 045	
7.1.30 Patient 046	
7.1.31 Patient 047	
7.1.32 Patient 048	
7.1.33 Patient 049	
7.1.34 Patient 050	
7.1.35 Patient 051	
7.1.36 Patient 053	
7.1.37 Patient 055	
7.1.38 Patient 057	
7.2 Individual patient data discussion	238
7.2.1 Patient 031	238
7.2.2 Patient 048	239
7.2.3 Patient 017	240
7.2.4 Patient 018	241
7.2.5 Patient 025	241
7.2.6 Patient 049	242
7.2.7 Patient 015	242
7.2.8 Patient 026	243
7.2.9 Patient 035	243
7.2.10 Patient 037	244
7.2.11 Patient 046	244
7.2.12 Patient 047	245
7.2.13 Patient 050	245
7.2.14 Patient 055	245
7.2.15 Patient 057	246
7.2.16 Low MRD risk patients	246

.0 REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: The Hallmarks of Cancer	.17
Figure 1.2: Types of childhood cancer diagnosed in the UK each year	.21
Figure 1.3: Childhood leukaemia and lymphoma types and the cells they originate from	.23
Figure 1.4: Standard ALL treatment protocol and chemotherapy drugs used	.28
Figure 1.5: Adiponectin receptor signalling pathways	.44
Figure 1.6: Leptin receptor signalling pathways	.45
Figure 1.7: Resistin receptor signalling pathways	.47
Figure 1.8: GPR78 receptor signalling pathways	.48
Figure 1.9: The 13 types of cancer associated with obesity	.53
Figure 1.10: Obesity increases Adipose tissue which dysregulates adipokine secretion	.56
Figure 1.11: Dysfunctional adipocytes, immune cells and their interaction with cancer cells	s
	.58
Figure 1.12: Dysregulated apoptosis and cancer	.62
Figure 2.1: Representation of Human and mouse antibody arrays.	.78
Figure 2.2: Schematic to show patient blood and weight collection for study design	.79
Figure 2.3: Trypan blue viability plate set up	.83
Figure 2.4: Example plate layout for chemosensitivity assays.	.86
Figure 3.1: Differentiation of 3T3-L1 mouse adipocyte cells over 4 weeks	.92
Figure 3.2: Light Microscopy to confirm lipid accumulation in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells at	t 2
weeks. Image a shows 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes at week 2 after differentiation	.93
Figure 3.3: Mouse Adipokine array results and Log2 fold change data from 3T3-L1	
differentiated and undifferentiated cells over the four-week differentiation period	.95
Figure 3.4: Mouse Adipokine array results and Log2 fold change data from 3T3-L1	
differentiated compared to undifferentiated cells over a four-week differentiation period.	
	.96
Figure 3.5: The effect of chemotherapy agents on the viability of differentiated 3T3-L1 cel	ls.
	.97
Figure 3.6: Images of 3T3-L1 cells after treatment with Vincristine or Daunorubicin	.99
Figure 3.7: Mouse adipokine array results for 3T3-L1 cells treated with vincristine1	101
Figure 3.8: Mouse adipokine array results for 3T3-L1 cells treated with daunorubicin1	102
Figure 4.1: Pilot study data to show reproducibility of human arrays for patients 006 and 0)07
	110
Figure 4.2: Pilot study results to show reproducibility of human arrays for patients 006 and	d
007	111

Figure 4.3: Pilot study results to show reproducibility of human arrays and potential impact
of freezing and defrosting samples112
Figure 4.4: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines
adiponectin -fibrinogen114
Figure 4.5: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines
growth hormone – MIF115
Figure 4.6: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines
myeloperoxidase - VEGF
Figure 4.7: Summary of patient clinical weight data change during induction therapy120
Figure 4.8: BMI at day 0 and day 29 as a predictor of MRD risk
Figure 4.9: BMI percentile at day 0 and day 29 as a predictor of MRD risk122
Figure 4.10: Patients age at diagnosis as a predictor of MRD risk at day 29123
Figure 4.11: Heat map summary of adipokine expression changes in patients 009-057124
Figure 4.12: Patient leptin expression results127
Figure 4.13: Patient IL-8 expression results128
Figure 4.14: Patient Endocan expression results130
Figure 4.15: Patient Pref-1 expression results131
Figure 4.16: Patient adiponectin expression results133
Figure 4.17: Heat map summary of all adipokines tested in association with weight gain135
Figure 4.18: Patient resistin expression results137
Figure 4.19: Patient serpin A12 expression results138
Figure 4.20: Patient cathepsin-S expression results139
Figure 4.21: Patient IGFBP-4 expression results140
Figure 4.22: Patient angiopoietin-2 expression results141
Figure 4.23: Heat map summary of all adipokines tested in association with MRD risk143

Figure 5.1: A-D, Leptin stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability by activating the PI3	K/Akt
pathway	168
Figure 5.2: MTS chemosensitivity results for daunorubicin incubated with leptin	169
Figure 5.3: MTS chemosensitivity results for vincristine incubated with leptin	170
Figure 5.4: IL-8 stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability	171
Figure 5.5: Resistin has minimal impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability	172
Figure 5.6: Serpin A12 stimulates Molt4 cell viability	174
Figure 5.7: Angiopoietin-2 increases Molt4 cell viability	175

Figure 7.1: Mouse Adipokine array results and pixel intensity values from 3T3-L1
differentiated and undifferentiated cells over the four-week differentiation period186
Figure 7.2: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 009200
Figure 7.3: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 010202
Figure 7.4: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 011202

Figure 7.5: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 012203
Figure 7.6: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 013204
Figure 7.7: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 014
Figure 7.8: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 015
Figure 7.9: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment
(day 29) for patient 017
Figure 7.10: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 018
Figure 7.11: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 020
Figure 7.12: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 021210
Figure 7.13: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 023211
Figure 7.14: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 024212
Figure 7.15: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 025213
Figure 7.16: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 026214
Figure 7.17: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 027215
Figure 7.18: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 028216
Figure 7.19: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 030217
Figure 7.20: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 031218
Figure 7.21: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 032219
Figure 7.22: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 034220
Figure 7.23: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 035221
Figure 7.24: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 036222
Figure 7.25: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 037
Figure 7.26: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of
treatment (day 29) for patient 038224

Figure 7.27: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	27E
Figure 7.28: Adjustice expression at diagnosis $(day 0)$ and after induction phase of	225
treatment (day 20) for nations 0/1	226
Figure 7.29: Adinokine expression at diagnosis (day Ω) and after induction phase of	220
treatment (day 29) for nation 0/4	227
Figure 7 30: Adinokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for nationt 045	228
Figure 7.31: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	220
treatment (day 29) for nation 046	229
Figure 7.32: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 047	230
Figure 7.33: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 048	231
Figure 7.34: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 049	232
Figure 7.35: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 050	233
Figure 7.36: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 051	234
Figure 7.37: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 053	235
Figure 7.38: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 055	236
Figure 7.39: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of	
treatment (day 29) for patient 057	237
Figure 7.40: Leptin stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability by activating the PI3K/Akt	
pathway	250
Figure 7.41: IL-8 stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability	250
Figure 7.42: Resistin has minimal impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability	251
Figure 7.43: Serpin A12 stimulates Molt4 cell viability	251
Figure 7.44: Angiopoietin-2 increases Molt4 cell viability	251
Figure 7.45: Mouse Adipokine Array Coordinates	253
Figure 7.46: Human Adipokine Array Coordinates	256

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Genetic subtypes in ALL and their prognostic outcome information	.26
Table 1.2 Toxicity of dexamethasone based on induction in UKALL2003	.34
Table 1.3: WHO definitions of obesity and associated BMI range. (Information taken from	
The World Health Organisation)	.40

Table 2.1: 3T3-L1 media formulations used for pre-adipocytes, differentiation a	and adipocyte
maintenance	75
Table 2.2: Summary of patient information and demographic	80

Table 4.1: Patient information and demographic for the patient pilot study108Table 4.2: Patient information, demographic and clinical parameters119Table 4.3: Summary of clinical variables associated with MRD risk for patients 009-040121Table 4.4: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to weight gain at day 29134Table 4.5: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to MRD risk at day 29142

Table 7.1: Mouse Adipokine array results and pixel intensity values from 3T3-L1	
differentiated and undifferentiated cells over a four-week differentiation period18	7
Table 7.2: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to weight gain at diagnosis23	3
Table 7.3: Summary of all adipokines tested for prediction of biomarkers in relation to MRD	
risk at day 2924	Э
Table 7.4: Adipokines tested, coordinates on the array and alternate nomenclature of the	
mouse adipokine array ARY013252	2
Table 7.5: Adipokines tested, coordinates on the array and alternate nomenclature of the	
Human Adipokine Array ARY024254	4

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2-DG- 2-Deoxy- d-glucose AIDS- Acquired immune deficiency syndrome ALL- Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia AML-Acute myeloid leukaemia AMPK- Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase BAT- Brown adipose tissue cAMP- Cyclic adenosine monophosphate CAR T- Chimeric antigen receptor therapy CML- Chronic myelogenous leukaemia CRP- C-reactive protein EFS- Event-free survival ER- Endoplasmic reticulum GFR- Glomerular filtration rate **GRE-** Glucocorticoid response elements GWAS- Genome wide association study HIV- Human immunodeficiency virus **HPV- Human Papilloma Virus** JMML- Juvenile myelomonocytic leukaemia MAT- Marrow adipose tissue MRD- Minimal residual disease PBS- Phosphate buffered saline

PEG- Polyethylene glycol

STAT- Signal transducer and activator of transcription

T2D- Type 2 diabetes

- TAO- Treatment acquired obesity
- TAOW- Treatment acquired overweight
- TLR- Toll like receptor
- UPR- Unfolded protein response
- WAT- White adipose tissue

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisors, Dr Caroline Topham for her advice, support, encouragement, ongoing motivation and for being a great all-round supervisor. Dr Sarah Withers for her support, reassurance, encouragement, words of wisdom and no-nonsense feedback. My personal tutor's Dr Gianpiero DiLeva and then Dr Gemma Lace for their support and advice. I would also like to thank Rumana Rafiq and Neha Tomar for help in the laboratory. A special thanks to Dr John Grainger and his team at The Royal Manchester Children's Hospital for collecting and handling our patient samples. I would like to thank my husband Anthony and our children, Alexandra, Sophie and Samuel also my parents for their support and encouragement during the course.

1.0 CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction to Cancer

Cancer is a group of diseases that stem from unregulated cell growth; the cells often spread from a site of origin, or primary site and can invade or metastasise to other secondary sites within the body where they grow and proliferate (Pecorino, 2012). Depending on the origin of the cancer cell and the tissue it resides in, there are more than 200 different types of cancer (NHS UK, 2021). One of the traits of cancer cells, in comparison to normal cells, is their ability. to sustain chronic proliferation. Normal tissues produce growth promoting signals and carefully control the cell growth and division cycle, cancer cells disrupt this homeostasis and become masters of their own fate (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011)



Figure 1.1: The Hallmarks of Cancer. (adapted from Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011) There are six hallmark features of cancer, each of which have undergone extensive research over recent decades, the mechanisms involved are; evasion of apoptosis, cells having a limitless replicative potential, self-sufficiency and an insensitivity to growth inhibitory signals, sustained angiogenesis, tissue invasion and metastasis. The different shapes and colours illustrate that there are many different cell types, in addition to tumour cells, found within the tumour microenvironment. It has been proposed that cancer is essentially promoted by six alterations in cell physiology and behaviour which initiate malignant growth, see figure 1.1. These include a self-sufficiency in growth and development signals, lack of sensitivity to growth inhibitory signals, cells can evade apoptosis, an unending replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis and invasion of surrounding tissue and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Fundamentally, the initiating factors for this dysregulation are mutations within DNA, this can be an inherited genetic error, or it can arise from replication errors in DNA or RNA from cellular processes (Kai, 2016). It is rarely one error that contributes to the development of cancer, but rather several gene mutations and an accumulation of genetic errors over time (Bertram, 2000). An example of this would be the *BRCA1* gene associated with breast cancer. A person can inherit a mutation within this gene and have a high susceptibility to developing breast cancer (Mersch et al., 2015) but may not go onto develop cancer. It is more likely that a combination of factors such as other chance mutations which increase with age, lifestyle and environment, which would eventually contribute to the breast cancer forming (Kuchenbaecker et al., 2017).

1.1.2 Cancer Statistics

Cancer types, incidence and statistics vary between men and women (Kim et al., 2018). In the UK, statistics for men's cancer demonstrate the highest percentage of cancer types occur in the prostate; there were 48,588 new cases in 2017. Lung cancer was the second most common cancer in men at 24,881 cases, bowel at 23,516 head and neck 8,522, melanoma 8,174 respectively (Cancer research UK, 2020b). Women's statistics reported breast cancer as the most common at 54,722 cases, lung at 23,087, bowel at 18,565, uterus 9,494, and melanoma 8,001 (Cancer research UK, 2020a). Combined incidence of all new cancer cases in men and women totalled 367,167 in the UK between 2015-2017 (Cancer Research UK, 2020c, Cancer research UK, 2020a). Mortality data for 2016 reached 166,533 deaths in the UK between 2016 and 2018 (Cancer Research UK, 2020d, Cancer Research UK, 2018c). Statistics in America show that there are expected to be a total of 1,898,160 new cancer cases overall in 2021 and 608,570 estimated deaths (Siegel et al., 2021, Siegel et al., 2015) Worldwide, including developing countries, there was an estimated 19,300,000 new cancer cases (Sung et al., 2021), globally, cancer is also a leading cause of mortality and in 2020 was responsible

for nearly 10 million deaths which equates to nearly 1 in 6 people dying from cancer (World Health Organisation, 2021).

1.1.3 Causes and risk factors

Cancer is a multifaceted disease and has many causes and risk factors. The leading contributing causes and risk factors, apart from inherited genetics, include smoking and exceeding the recommended weekly alcohol intake (Purohit et al., 2013), being overweight or obese (Katzke et al., 2015), exposure to ultraviolet light from the sun or sunbeds (Autier and Boniol, 2013), eating an unhealthy diet lacking in fruit and vegetables, too many processed meats and lack of physical activity (Kerr et al., 2017), infections such as HPV which can cause cervical cancer (Petry, 2014), hormone dysfunction (Brown and Hankinson, 2015), environmental air pollution (Santibáñez-Andrade et al., 2017), workplace risks such as asbestos (Gilham et al., 2016) and old age (Meucci et al., 2016). Cancer is on the increase globally, particularly in developing countries, and is often associated with adopting unhealthy sedentary lifestyles and consumption of calorie dense food (Jemal et al., 2010). However, most cancers have improved survival rates over the last 20 years largely due to earlier detection and screening programmes (Cedolini et al., 2014) although incidence is increasing overall.

1.2.1 Paediatric Cancers

In children, the types of cancer diagnosed are different to adult cancers. The highest percentage of cancer cases in children are related to blood cancers such as leukaemia's, also cancers related to the brain and lymph nodes (Syrimi et al., 2020). Unlike adult cancer, the risk factors for cancer in children are different as children do not have the same influences such as old age and lifestyle choices (American Cancer Society, 2021, Spector et al., 2015a). Children's cancer is largely attributed to inherited genetics and environmental factors, however due to the rarity of childhood cancer overall, the quality and quantity of evidence hinders research for pinpointing actual causes (Spector et al., 2015b). Despite this there are still a number of indications associated with developing childhood cancer which are discussed below. These observations are highlighted by recent transcriptome analyses to find novel genes associated with genotype to phenotype changes specific to paediatric malignancies

(Savary et al., 2020). Children are also more sensitive to some carcinogens due to developing bones and organs, for example they are at greater risk of developing cancer after exposure to ionizing radiation than adults (Kutanzi et al., 2016).

1.2.2 Paediatric Cancer incidence and statistics

The most common childhood cancers are cancers of the blood, such as leukaemia and lymphomas, cancers of the brain and central nervous system (Smith et al., 2010b). Figure 1.2 is adapted from (Children with Cancer UK, 2020) shows the most common types of cancer diagnosed in children each year by percentage in the UK, these are leukaemia's 30%, brain and spinal tumours 26%, lymphomas 11%, soft tissue sarcomas 6%, CNS tumours 5%, kidney tumours 5%, other carcinomas and melanomas 4%, germ cell and gonadal tumours 4%, retinoblastomas 3%, liver tumours 1% and others 1%. In total around 1,900 children are diagnosed each year (Cancer research UK, 2020e), where in the same time period there were 236 deaths reported, the most common age at diagnosis being 0-4 years old. Incidence is increasing overall though particularly in children, in the UK incidence rate for children have increased by 10% in the last decade (Cancer Research UK, 2020f). Global models in a recent report in the Lancet estimated there were 397,000 of childhood cancer cases worldwide in 2015 and that there will be an estimated 6.7 million childhood cancer cases by 2030 and that a massive 2.9 million cases will be missed in the same time period mainly in developing countries (Ward et al., 2019), this is mainly due to lack of infrastructure and health care in developing nations and also access to affordable medicines and treatment.



Figure 1.2: Types of childhood cancer diagnosed in the UK each year. The main types of cancer as a percentage from the 1,500 children diagnosed in the UK (adapted from Children with cancer.org).

1.2.2 Paediatric Cancer causes and risk factors

Factors found to be influencing the development of paediatric cancers have been explored in several studies; it is long been recognised that ionising radiation is a well-established cause of leukaemia's and other types of cancer in children including the prenatal exposure of parents to radiation sources (Folly et al., 1952). Population groups in Japan that survived atomic bombs showed a peak incidence of childhood leukaemia 6-8 years after their exposure which declined afterwards, whereas the risks of other cancers persisted for decades afterwards (Little, 2008). Children who were exposed to medical radiation and treated with X-rays for tinea capitis (ringworm) of the scalp, showed a higher rate of brain and skin cancers than the control group treated with topical medications (Shore et al., 2003). In the 1960s and 1970s, it was common place to X-ray pregnant mothers, studies have now shown this to be a causal factor in the development of childhood cancer (Boice and Miller, 1999). Children that have previously had cancer radiation therapy have an increased risk of developing further malignancies following treatment (Neglia et al., 2001), a long term late effect which can affect childhood cancer survivors. Extensive research has shown that certain infections can cause cancer in children such as the Epstein Barr virus which can contribute to the development of lymphomas (Karajannis et al., 2003). Childhood cancer has also been linked to Hepatitis B and C (Kelly, 2006) and also the HIV AIDS virus (Chintu et al., 1995).

Other risk factors include; maternal smoking and parental, particularly paternal, passive smoking (de Smith et al., 2017, Shu et al., 1996), environmental chemicals and pesticides (Chen et al., 2015), maternal reproductive history i.e. mothers age at birth (Wang et al., 2017), mothers weight and diabetes risk (Contreras et al., 2016) and high birth weight which is an established risk for childhood leukaemia (O'neill et al., 2015).

Despite the wealth of evidence presented above suggesting causes and risk factors for developing childhood cancer, it remains difficult to predict which children will go onto develop cancer (Moorman, 2016). There are major benefits using meta-analysis and pooling of raw data from epidemiological studies by groups such as the Childhood Leukaemia International Consortium (CLIC) which help calculate the risk of less studied factors and associations and their cumulative effects (Metayer et al., 2013). These risk factors include; non-ionizing radiation (Calvente et al., 2010), traffic pollution (Heck et al., 2013) and exposure to light at night from screen usage which can disrupt melatonin production and circadian rhythms (Stevens, 2012). Although there have been no conclusive studies linking childhood cancer to mobile phone usage, scientists act on the side of precaution due to the susceptibility of children exposed to increasing levels of electromagnetic frequencies at a younger age and recommend additional research in the face of scientific uncertainty (Kheifets et al., 2005). Large scale epidemiological studies are collecting data so that we can begin to answer questions such as, "Do we have enough evidence about risk factors to move on to prevention?"

1.2.3 Paediatric Cancer prevention?

Recent evidence has suggested that acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) could be preventable and has evolved from a multifactorial cause (Greaves, 2018). The Greaves 'two hit model' suggests that ALL occurs in a sequence of events which includes inherited genetics, lack of early microbial exposure and an initiating event such as a common childhood infection. Greaves' study concludes that there is a mismatch between evolutionary adaptions of the immune system and our clean contemporary lifestyles, suggesting that childhood ALL may be a preventable cancer. Known protective factors against developing childhood cancer include attendance at day care (Ma et al., 2002), children that have been breastfed (Bener et al., 2008), pet ownership and farm animal contact especially in early life (Ajrouche et al., 2015). The results of these studies support the hypothesis that events that promote the maturation of the immune system early in life have a protective role against childhood cancer.

1.3 Leukaemia's and lymphomas in children

There are four types of leukaemia which affect children, the two main types are Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL) and Acute Myelogenous Leukaemia (AML) (American Cancer Society, 2019). Approximately 80% of children with leukaemia are diagnosed with ALL and around 20% of children are diagnosed with AML. Both cancers develop quickly over days and weeks (Bloodwise UK, 2018). The two rarer forms of leukaemia in children are Chronic Myelogenous Leukaemia (CML), which is extremely rare in children and develops over a period of months years, and Juvenile Myelomonocytic Leukaemia (JMML), which accounts for 1-2% of cases each year (Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, 2018).



Figure 1.3: Childhood leukaemia and lymphoma types and the cells they originate from. CLL, Lymphomas and ALL B and T cell disease derive from lymphoid blasts from the lymphoid stem cell line, CML, JMML and AML derive from myeloid blasts which are from the myeloid stem cell line, these are also precursors to platelet and red blood cells. (adapted from Cancer Research UK 2018).

Leukaemia's develop from different progenitor cells, the leukaemia cells can develop from myeloid and lymphoid stem cells, blasts, or immature precursor cells to their final cell type,

for example ALL can develop from precursor B and T lymphocytes (Arber et al., 2016), figure 1.3. Lymphoma is a type of cancer of the lymphatic system. The lymphatic system is a network of vessels, tissues and organs which runs through the body carrying lymph fluid which contains white blood cells which attack invading pathogens (Children with Cancer UK, 2018c). Lymphoma occurs when a particular lymph node produces abnormal lymphoid cells, these are the same cells that are involved in the development of leukaemia but develop in the lymph system and not the bone marrow (Aifantis et al., 2008). There are two types of lymphoma; Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma; Hodgkin lymphoma mainly occurs in the lymph nodes of the head and neck and is formed in specific Reed-Sternberg cells (Marcotte et al., 2014). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma can occur in any lymph node within the body and is made up of a number of subtypes for example; Large cell Lymphoma, Lymphoblastic Lymphoma and Burkitt's Lymphoma (Sandlund et al., 1996). The development of both types of lymphoma have been linked to viruses such as the Epstein Barr virus (Gandhi, 2006), also in several areas of the world, including Africa, Burkitt's Lymphoma is endemic (Burkitt and O'Conor, 1961). Lymphoma and leukaemia are also treated with similar protocols and drugs (Amylon et al., 1999), the UKALL2011 trial protocol, discussed later in the introduction, also includes guidelines for treating lymphoma in children (Goulden et al., 2017)

1.3.1 Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL)

Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) is a cancer of the blood and accounts for almost 80% of childhood leukaemia's, there are around 400 new cases per year in the United Kingdom in children aged between 0-14 years old (Cancer Research UK, 2018a). Globally, there were a total of 53,000 recorded cases in adults and children in 2016, this number is expected to increase to 56,000 cases by 2020 (Bethlehem Solomon, 2017). More than half of the children diagnosed are under five years old, with peak rates between 2-5 years old. It is the only form of leukaemia that is more common in children than in adults, but has a higher mortality rates in adults (Sallan, 2006). Survival rates have improved dramatically since the 1960's where at the time childhood leukaemia was incurable. Now, due to improvements in care and investment in research, the five-year survival rate is approaching 90% in children (Pui et al., 2018).

1.3.1.1 ALL development

The development of ALL involves the abnormal proliferation of immature cells from the lymphoid lineage. Abnormal cells can development from lymphoid stem cells, blast and precursor B and T lymphocytes (American Cancer Society, 2018). The bone marrow produces a number of cells derived from stem cells which are released into the blood. A stem cell has the ability to differentiate into the three main blood cell types; healthy non-cancerous cells go onto develop into white blood cells which are used by the immune system to fight infection and release antibodies, red blood cells which carry oxygen around the body and platelets which are crucial to the clotting cascade and aid blood clotting in injury and recruitment of white blood cells in wound healing (King et al., 2018, Children with Cancer UK, 2018a), this is summarised in figure 1.3. In ALL, this process is disrupted, and the bone marrow makes too many lymphocytes, these lymphocytes are immature and do not develop correctly and never differentiate into mature B and T lymphocytes (Bürgler and Nadal, 2017). They begin to overcrowd the bone marrow making less room for other cells such as red blood cells and platelets. When the bone marrow becomes overwhelmed with the dysfunctional cells they spill out into the blood and disrupt the cell balance (Steele and Narendran, 2012). Patients become prone to infection because they do not have enough mature white blood cells, are anaemic due to low red blood cell numbers and are also prone to bleeding disorders because of reduced platelets (NHS UK, 2018). ALL develops from precursor B-cells and precursor Tcells (Arber et al., 2016), around 85% of cases derive from B-cells and 15% from T-cells (Chiaretti et al., 2014) each subtype has its own set of risk factors and genetic mutations which can contribute to disease progression and outcome. Table 1.1 shows a selection of the types of B and T-ALL and prognostic outcome. Although prognostic outcome can be less favourable in particular genetic subtypes, this has improved in recent years due to the introduction of newer protocols and treatments (Board, 2019). Even with these improvements T-cell disease is still notoriously difficult to treat (Raetz and Teachey, 2016).

Table 1.1: Genetic subtypes of ALL and their prognostic outcome information. Genetic abnormalities and cell origin can impact the prognostic outcome in ALL adapted from (Terwilliger and Abdul-Hay, 2017). *patients with this genetic abnormality were not included in the clinical study described later in this thesis.

	Genetic abnormality	Prognostic outcome
B Cell	Hyperdiploidy	Good
B Cell	Hypodiploidy or near Haploidy <39 chromosomes	Poor
B Cell	BCR-ABL Philadelphia Chromosome *	Poor
B Cell	MLL rearranged Translocation between chromosomes 4 and 10	Poor
B Cell	Translocation between chromosomes 12 and 21 ETV6-RUNX1	Good
T Cell	Various Mutations in NOTCH, PI3K/Akt/mTOR, JAK/STAT & MAPK pathways	Poor

1.3.1.2 ALL causes and risk factors

The precise pathogenic events leading to the development of ALL in specific individuals are largely unknown (Macmillan UK, 2018a). Studies in the paediatric population have identified a subset of genetic syndromes that predispose children to ALL, including Down's syndrome (Chessells et al., 2001), Fanconi anaemia (Swift, 1971), Bloom syndrome (Willis and Lindahl, 1987), ataxia telangiectasia (Boultwood, 2001) and Nijmegen breakdown syndrome (Pastorczak et al., 2011). Greaves two hit model puts suggests that genetic initiating events are identifiable in most cases of childhood ALL, but these alone are not sufficient for ALL to manifest and secondary "hits" are required (Greaves, 2018). It is suggested that ALL occurs in a sequence of events which begins with inherited genetics. Genetic drivers or first hits of ALL include the mutation and fusion of gene ETV6-RUNX1 (Zuna et al., 2011), loss of function of lkaros in the development of BCR-ABL1 ALL (Mullighan et al., 2008), and hypodiploidy (loss of chromosomes) which creates a covert pre-leukemic clone (Paulsson et al., 2015). Interestingly it has been shown that 1% of the population have the ETV6-RUNX1 genetic mutation, but not

all of these individuals go on to develop ALL (Studd et al., 2017). The second hit involves lack of early microbial exposure, which fails to correctly prime the early developing immune system, and then an initiating event such as a later common childhood infection (Swaminathan et al., 2015). This introduces the critical secondary mutations which go onto trigger the development of ALL. Until more research is undertaken in this area for preventionbased medicine and lifestyle changes, children who develop ALL will consequently undergo a combination of cytotoxic chemotherapeutics with a wide range of lasting long-term side effects.

1.3.1.3 ALL treatment

Treatment for ALL can be divided into three phases, induction, consolidation and maintenance therapy.

Induction therapy - the aim of induction therapy is to get the patient into early remission. It is an intensive phase of treatment and involves using a combination of chemotherapy drugs which include vincristine or daunorubicin, L-asparaginase and a steroid, dexamethasone or prednisolone, figure 1.4. The goal of this stage is to clear as many leukemic blasts as possible from the blood and bone marrow. This stage lasts 4 weeks and childhood patients are admitted to hospital for this period.

Consolidation therapy - It is possible that some leukemic cells will remain after induction therapy, this stage aims to clear any remaining cells in the blood and bone marrow. Chemotherapy drugs are administered again, although at this point drugs may be changed to avoid tumour cells becoming resistant to them. This stage can last anything from 8 weeks to months and often the patient will be allowed to go home and treated as an outpatient.

Maintenance therapy - The final stage of therapy aims to prevent relapse and involves low dose chemotherapy and steroids. This stage can take up to two years and aims to keep the patient in full remission long term (Goulden et al., 2017).

27

Induction 4 weeks

High doses - Vincristine or Daunorubicin

Pegylated L- Asparaginase

Glucocorticoid, Dexamethasone or Prednisone

Consolidation 8 weeks

Vincristine or Daunorubicin

Pegylated L- Asparaginase

Methotrexate, Cytarabine, Mercaptopurine

Maintenance > 2 years

Low doses - Vincristine or Daunorubicin

Pegylated L- Asparaginase

Methotrexate, Cytarabine, Mercaptopurine

Figure 1.4: Standard ALL treatment protocol and chemotherapy drugs used. Treatment is split into three phases, a high dose intensive induction phase with includes steroids, then a second consolidation phase which looks to consolidate results of induction therapy. After this a longer maintenance phase which monitors disease and reduces chances of relapse. (adapted from UKALL2011 study)

1.3.1.4 UKALL2011 Study

Patients within the UK, and the patient cohort recruited in our study, also follow the treatment guidelines for the United Kingdom National Randomised Trial for Children and Young Adults with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia and Lymphoma 2011 (UKALL2011), the study recruited patients from April 2012 to December 2018, with data analysis ongoing to present (ISRCTN clinical registry, 2019). The overall aims of the study were to determine if

minimal residual disease (MRD) risk needed further refinement based on risk stratification and treatment type to improve overall survival and to reduce the burden of therapy in paediatric patients and young adults during treatment for ALL and Lymphoblastic Lymphoma. The objectives of the study were to reduce toxicity by swapping the lower dose of dexamethasone given for the full 28 days of induction and introduce a shorter 14-day course of higher dose dexamethasone. Secondly, to omit vincristine and dexamethasone pulses during intrathecal treatment to the central nervous system in maintenance therapy and reduce burden by using high doses of methotrexate. Finally, for low risk MRD patients, the study hopes to limit the toxicity of therapy by introducing a single delayed intensification, this will reduce overall burden and unnecessary treatment to lower risk patients (Goulden et al., 2017).

1.3.1.5 UKALL2011 Induction phase regimens

At diagnosis, patients are risk stratified by the National cancer institute (NCI) guidelines. Patients are risk assessed from initial blood tests; standard risk patients are below age 10 with a white cell count less than 50 x 10⁹/l, and are assigned to regimen A which is a three-drug induction including vincristine, peg-asparaginase and dexamethasone. High risk patients are classed aged over 10 years old with a white cell count over 50x 10⁹/l, and receive induction regimen B, which is four drug treatment including vincristine, peg-asparaginase, dexamethasone and daunorubicin. Poor cytogenetic risk patients receive regimen C induction therapy which is the same therapy as regimen B. This induction therapy starts at day 15 and is for high risk cytogenic patients under 10 years old with standard risk white cell count, or Down syndrome patients with a slow early response. Minimal residual disease (MRD) is measured at the end of induction on day 29 by taking a bone marrow sample and testing using Real Time Quantitative PCR by using probes to detect translocated genes or other associated genetic abnormalities. Patients are classified as MRD low risk on day 29 with a blast cell count <0.005% and high risk on day 29 with a blast cell count > 0.005%. (Information from UKALL2011 trial protocol).

29

1.3.1.6 Cytogenic risk

Cytogenic risk is a classification used to group patients depending on their risk of severe disease due to underlying genetic abnormalities which drive B and T-cell disease and is a strong predictor of prognosis and relapse (Moorman et al., 2010). Cytogenic risk groups in this patient cohort are classified as good, intermediate, high and the strongest predictor of poor outcome, T-cell disease, taken from UKALL2011 trial protocol, table 1.1 shows overview of common genetic abnormities and risk. In the UKALL2011 trial high risk cytogenetics are considered to be intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21 (iAMP21), t(17;19), (q22;p13)/TCF3, (E2A)-HLF, MLL rearrangement and near haploidy (<30 chromosomes) and low hypodiploidy (30-39 chromosomes).

1.3.1.7 Minimal residual disease (MRD)

During treatment patients are tested for their MRD risk, which is an independent prognostic factor for childhood ALL and lymphoma and can be used to predict the overall response to treatment and a potential complete remission (Luskin et al., 2018). The concept of MRD was first demonstrated in the early 1980's when it was discovered that patients with leukaemia could have measurable levels of leukemic blasts circulating in their system at various stages of treatment and these could be measured to predict treatment outcome and guide it (Bradstock et al., 1981). This procedure has become highly valuable in routine diagnostics, with up to date technologies such as Next Generation Flow being used for sensitivity and detection of residual leukemic blasts and to standardise results across clinics (Flores-Montero et al., 2017). This trial has used real time quantitative PCR for analysis of Ig and TCR gene rearrangements which are used to identify residual ALL cells. This measurement of early response to treatment has the greatest prognostic outcome than any other test to date, and has been the basis of many trials which aim to reduce the number of toxic drugs given unnecessarily to patients with good responses to induction therapy (Rytting, 2014). This has led to trials to reduce the steroid treatment and more toxic therapies (Biondi et al., 2000, Jacquy et al., 1997). The UKALL2011 trial, from which the patients are recruited to for this study, uses MRD risk to calculate the effectiveness of treatment and adjusts ongoing treatment intensity accordingly after induction phase. Section 1.3.2 details the drugs used in combination treatments within the study and their mechanisms of action.

1.3.2 Chemotherapy treatments

1.3.2.1 Vincristine

Vincristine is a cytotoxic chemotherapy treatment from the family of drugs called Vinca Alkaloids which are plant alkaloids originally derived from the Madagascar periwinkle Catharanthus roseus (Noble, 1990). Vinca alkaloids have been one of the most effective treatments of leukaemia's and solid tumours since they were discovered in the 1950's (Moudi et al., 2013). Vincristine is one of the main chemotherapeutics used in combination for ALL and is administered in all three stages of treatment, figure 1.4. It is also used in treatment for acute myeloid leukaemia, Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, lung and breast cancer solid tumours and neuroblastoma (NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2018). Vincristine's mechanism of action involves binding irreversibly to microtubules and spindle proteins which form in the S phase of the cell cycle this in turn impedes the formation of the mitotic spindle (Mohammadgholi et al., 2013), when the mitotic spindle is unable to form the cells arrest in the G₂/M phase of the cell cycle and are unable to divide which induces apoptosis (Groninger et al., 2000). The most severe side effect of vincristine is accidental intrathecal administration which causes severe toxicity and often death (Reddy et al., 2011). Less serious, but still significant, side effects are neurotoxicity, neuropathy and seizures which often improve after treatment (Gomber et al., 2010).

1.3.2.2 Daunorubicin

Daunorubicin is an anthracycline drug and was first discovered in the 1960's when it was isolated from a soil based antibiotic microbe called *Streptomyces peucetius* (Cassinelli, 2016). Daunorubicin is an anti-tumour antibiotic and used in combination therapy of ALL and AML (Macmillan UK, 2018b). Its primary role is an enzyme inhibitor of Topoisomerase II involved in DNA synthesis (Hortobagyi, 1997). Topoisomerase II relaxes supercoils in DNA to enable transcription, by blocking its action daunorubicin prevents the resealing of DNA and inhibits

cell replication (Pommier et al., 2010). Daunorubicin lacks the specificity of other chemotherapeutics and can produce significant off-target toxicity (Polgár et al., 2018).

Figures suggest that 50 to 60% of childhood cancer patients will be treated with anthracyclines during their cancer treatment (Smith et al., 2010a). Because the side effect profile of daunorubicin is prominent in the cardiovascular system, there is a large proportion of childhood cancer survivors receiving this treatment with the risk of developing cardiac disease later in life (McGowan et al., 2017). Patients may benefit from the use of many of the small molecule inhibitors that have recently come onto the cancer drug market rather than risk the toxic profile of anthracyclines (McGowan et al., 2017). Further to this, results from the ELSPAR and FRALLE 2000 trials, where 1,128 patients were recruited, demonstrate daunorubicin can safely be omitted from precursor B-cell ALL standard risk patients, and in higher risk patients the addition of new drugs should be considered to reduce long term side effects (Baruchel et al., 2012). Daunorubicin can be administered in all three stages of treatment and to higher risk patients in induction category B and C as previously discussed, see figure 1.4.

1.3.2.3 Dexamethasone/Prednisone

Dexamethasone and prednisone are glucocorticoid steroid medications used in treatment of inflammatory and immune conditions, as well as cancer in conjunction with chemotherapy treatment (Nieman and Kovacs, 2011). Glucocorticoids have been used in the treatment of cancer for over 50 years due to their proapoptotic actions in haematologic cancers (Lin and Wang, 2016). They bind to intracellular glucocorticoid receptors in lymphocytes which then translocate to the target GRE site in the nucleus and upregulate genes promoting apoptosis therefore arresting cell growth (Schoneveld et al., 2004). Although evidence suggests that dexamethasone and prednisone exert their effect due to their proapoptotic actions, the mechanism of action is far more complex involving a number of cellular pathways and changes in gene expression (Pufall, 2015). The pathways include repressing the transcription factors activating protein 1 (AP1) and nuclear factor-K β or NF-k β (Tissing et al., 2003) which are involved in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Harmon et al., 1979). A major clinical issue with glucocorticoids is drug resistance, where treated cells release calcium ions which induces cytochrome C release to trigger apoptosis, this in turn upregulates the expression of calcium

binding proteins and the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Mcl-1. This then inhibits free cytosolic and mitochondrial calcium ion signalling and increases glucocorticoid resistance making the cells resistant to the original apoptotic signals (Hagelstein et al., 2009, Wei et al., 2006). Side effects of steroid treatment in ALL include increased appetite, excessive sleeping or difficulty sleeping, weight gain, fluid retention, indigestion and heart burn, increased risk of infection and mood disorders (Cancer Research UK, 2019b). More serious complications can include steroid-induced psychosis, bone toxicities and fractures, osteonecrosis and severe bone pain (Moghadam-Kia and Werth, 2010).

In patients receiving dexamethasone treatment for ALL, the quality of life (QoL) was found to be reduced in treatment overall but was aggravated when dexamethasone was administered as part of the protocol (de Vries et al., 2008). In addition to this steroids, and in particular dexamethasone, can be a cause severe bacterial and fungal infections and was significantly associated with death in induction therapy in the ALL2000 BFM /AIEOP study at higher doses 10mg/m^2 (Schrappe et al., 2008). With these findings it is difficult determine if dexamethasone is superior to prednisolone in treatments; both work in a similar way and in certain patients, like standard risk BCP ALL, prednisolone is superior. However, in T-cell ALL, dexamethasone is proven still superior in spite of the side effects and the higher induction related death rate (Möricke et al., 2016).

The following conclusions were taken from the ALL2000 BFM study (Carlson, 2016); The five cumulative relapse rates were 10.8% for patients receiving dexamethasone and 15.6% for patients receiving prednisone, extramedullary relapse had the largest impact. This was counterbalanced as patients receiving dexamethasone had a significantly higher rate of induction related death at 83.9% compared to 80.9% receiving prednisone. The overall 5-year survival rate there was no difference with 90.3% from dexamethasone and 90.5% from prednisone. Writing about the study (Hunger, 2016) speculated that dexamethasone improved event-free survival but not overall survival because more patients treated initially with prednisone were salvaged following relapse, this was because dexamethasone treatment had the superior effect on preventing extramedullary relapses which are easier to treat than marrow relapses. Children with relapsed ALL respond well to treatment and are more curable even with marrow relapse, these were prevented by dexamethasone. To further add to the options, when we consider patients over 10 years of age receiving the

33

anthracycline containing 4 drug induction the ALL2000 BFM trial have chosen to use prednisolone to reduce overall toxicity and combined induction therapy due to addition of anthracyclines in this age group moving forward (taken from UKALL2011 protocol). The rational for dexamethasone use in the UKALL2011 trial is to use dexamethasone in all stages of therapy using a shorter course of higher dose dexamethasone (14 days) in induction therapy and randomised pulsed dexamethasone in later stages to reduce toxicity while maintaining efficacy (taken from UKALL2011 Protocol).

	A Induction	B/BC/AC Inductions	TOTAL
Number of patients treated	1126	1128	2287
Induction treatment related mortality	7	27	34
Induction steroid related adverse events	9	26	35
Induction steroid contributory adverse events	44	67	111

Table 1.2: Toxicity of dexamethasone based induction in UKALL2003. (Information taken from
the UKALL2011 trial protocol)

Table 1.2 shows the findings of the dexamethasone-based toxicity in the induction phases of the UKALL2003 trial which has helped guide the more up to date UKALL2011 protocol. Recruitment for the shorter 14 day induction phase of dexamethasone was stopped early due to concerns that there was a non-significant increase in induction treatment related deaths in NCI standard risk ALL patients, short phase dexamethasone 9/503 (1.8%), standard phase dexamethasone 4/503 (0.8%) (p=16) even though the study found that the shorter induction schedule of dexamethasone 10 mg/m²/day x 2 weeks is no less toxic than 6 mg/m²/day x 4 weeks in children and young adults with ALL (Goulden et al., 2017). The UKALL2011 study is trialling split dose dexamethasone for patients aged 10 or over who are at greater risk of developing Osteonecrosis, the outcome of these findings is ongoing. It is clear that even with a large amount of evidence from various studies tailoring steroid therapy in patients with ALL remains a challenge.

1.3.2.4 Pegylated L-Asparaginase

Pegylated L-asparaginase is a chemotherapy drug used in the treatment of ALL. It has been used in the management and protocols of childhood ALL and non-Hodgkin lymphoma since 1994 and has a strong antileukemic effect (Mondelaers et al., 2017). Pegylated L-asparaginase is a form of asparaginase covalently linked to a molecule called polyethylene glycol (PEG). When a substance is pegylated it is modified by adding PEG (Silverman et al., 2010). This changes the chemical properties of the drug molecule and can change the way it behaves in the body such as its hydrophobicity or reduced immune response in the patient due to less antibodies being produced in the patient in its L-asparaginase form, it increases the time in circulation with reduced side effects increasing its efficacy (Goodsell, 2005). L-asparaginase is an enzyme which breaks down an amino acid called asparagine (Müller and Boos, 1998), ALL cells are dependent on asparagine for protein synthesis and with less asparagine available in the blood from treatment this inhibits the growth of cancer cells (Pinheiro et al., 2002). The pegylated form of the drug is safer than the previous more toxic L-asparaginase (Piatkowska-Jakubas et al., 2008). Side effects from pegylated L-asparaginase include allergic reactions and hepatic dysfunction but these are lessened in the pegylated form (Keating et al., 1993). Pegylated L-asparaginase is administered in all three stages of treatment, figure 1.4.

1.3.2.5 Methotrexate

Methotrexate is a chemotherapy and an immune system suppressant drug and is used to treat cancer a number of autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and crohns disease (Friedman and Cronstein, 2018). The drug is used to treat types of cancer including leukaemia, lymphoma, lung cancer and breast cancer (Bryan, 2018). Methotrexate's mechanism of action involves inhibition of purine metabolism by interfering with folic acid synthesis which in turn disrupts nucleic acid synthesis, this then inhibits DNA and RNA synthesis and results in cell death (Tian and Cronstein, 2007). Methotrexate can be administered orally and by intrathecal injection, this is to treat cancer that has entered the cerebrospinal fluid (Olmos-Jiménez et al., 2017). Methotrexate is given as an intrathecal injection in the consolidation phase and orally and by intrathecal injection in the maintenance phase, see figure 1.4.
1.3.2.6 Cytarabine

Cytarabine is a chemotherapy agent used in the treatment of acute leukaemia's, CML and non-Hodgkin lymphoma and tumours associated with these blood cancers (National Cancer Institute, 2019b). Cytarabine is a cytosine analogue and is incorporated into DNA where it interferes with DNA polymerase and DNA chain elongation (Kufe et al., 1980), this in turn blocks synthesis and subsequently cell division causing cell death (Li et al., 2017). Cytarabine is given intravenously or subcutaneously during maintenance and consolidation phases, see figure 1.4.

1.3.2.7 Mercaptopurine

Mercaptopurine is a chemotherapy drug used in the treatment of ALL and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Bökkerink et al., 1993) and the autoimmune diseases crohns disease and ulcerative colitis (Wahed et al., 2009). Mercaptopurine competes with purine derivatives and in turn is converted to inosine monophosphate (TIMP) (Stet et al., 1993). TIMP then goes onto to inhibit an enzyme involved in the *de novo* synthesis of purine synthesis, this in turn disrupts DNA and RNA function and causes cell death (Fernández-Ramos et al., 2017). Mercaptopurine is orally administered during maintenance and consolidation phases of treatment, see figure 1.4.

1.3.2.8 New therapeutic options in ALL

The drugs discussed previously are the main chemotherapeutics used in ALL paediatric treatment therapy, many of these drugs used in the ALL regimens were developed over 30 years ago and while they have led to increased survival rates patients can be left with lifelong conditions, known as late effects, and still be at risk of relapse (Kızılocak and Okcu, 2019). In recent years there has been a call for a more personalised approach to ALL and targeted treatment, particularly of higher risk T-ALL patients (included in this cohort) and patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive B-ALL (not included in the patient cohort). The following review gives up to date information on targeted therapies and newer drugs and trials (Phelan and Advani, 2018). Advances include; drugs used in immunotherapeutic approaches, such as rituximab, epratuzumab and blinatumomab which target the cell surface antigens CD20, CD22

and CD19 respectively, epratuzumab has been used safely in paediatric ALL trials (Raetz et al., 2015). There has also been a major breakthrough in personalised medication in ALL using Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells derived from the patient's own T-cells (Rogosic and Ghorashian, 2020). The cells are genetically modified and returned to the patient to target a chosen antigen on the surface of their lymphoblasts and directly kill the circulating cells or tumour cells. Although effective, this treatment is costly and not feasible to introduce as treatment for every ALL patient and particularly not feasible as treatment in the developing world.

Other new drug treatments in clinical trials in ALL target receptors or pathways within the cell; mTOR inhibitors, PI3K/Akt inhibitors are options to block the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway which has shown to be activated in B-cell ALL (Neri et al., 2014) and also T-cell ALL (Evangelisti et al., 2020). Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) inhibitors have also been evaluated in ALL subtypes that have amplification of the JAK-STAT signalling pathway, ruxolitinib and dasatinib are currently in clinical trials (Tasian et al., 2018). Drugs that target the B cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) proteins which regulate apoptotic cell death have been developed over the past few years, Navitoclax and Venetoclax are Bcl-2 inhibitors which shift the balance of the cell to a proapoptotic phenotype and induce cell death. Venetoclax is currently in clinical trials for paediatric relapsed ALL (Place et al., 2018). Other research has shed light on targeting the unfolded protein response (UPR) which combats chemoresistance as a treatment option in acute leukaemia's (Masouleh et al., 2015), in B-cell ALL the use of the AMPK activator 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide along with Methotrexate or 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) activated prolonged ER stress which in turn induced a proapoptotic phenotype from the UPR network. A similar response was observed in T-ALL using the AMPK activator metformin where it was used alongside 2-DG, here the UPR activated apoptosis causing increased T-cell death (Leclerc et al., 2013). Recent research is proving insight into the efficacy of autophagy inhibition in ETV6-RUNX1 B-cell ALL, treatment with the autophagy inhibitor hydroxychloroquine significantly reduced cell proliferation and survival (Polak et al., 2019). Advances in high throughput screening techniques have led to the identification of many potential targets of small molecule inhibitors in the treatment of acute leukaemia's and ALL, these can be used alone or in combination with existing therapies, the following studies look at targeting chemoresistance

in leukemic stem cells and in ALL cells using newly identified small molecule inhibitors (Dieck et al., 2019, Tremblay et al., 2020)

1.3.3 ALL treatment side effects and survival statistics

ALL treatment is effective in children, but chemotherapy is toxic and has the potential to damage developing organs within the body and leave children with late effects, including subclinical metabolic disorders early in life even after successful cancer treatment (Schwartz, 1999). During treatment patients often present with the following side effects; general weakness, fatigue, high temperature, infections, bruising or bleeding easily, swollen lymph nodes, pain in the joints and bones, breathlessness due to anaemia, swollen stomach due an enlarged liver or spleen, hair loss and pale skin (Ness et al., 2011). Furthermore, dexamethasone increases appetite which causes weight gain, which, although positive for stimulating appetite in patients, nutritional interventions are recommended to promote healthy choices during treatment (Warris et al., 2017). The Dexadays study of ALL patients demonstrated that dexamethasone contributes to the development of metabolic syndrome and markers of early insulin resistance just 4 days after induction treatment (Warris et al., 2016). Long term survivors of ALL are also at greater risk of obesity (Razzouk et al., 2007) and obesity related diseases such as hyperlipidaemia, high blood pressure, diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (Barnea et al., 2015). A recent study has implied that there is 'no safe dose' of anthracycline drugs in terms of cardiotoxicity for paediatric cancer patients as treatment related damage is irreversible with cumulative anthracycline dosage throughout stages of treatment (Bansal et al., 2018). In the US the National Institute of Cancer support the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS) is a multi-institute research initiative which tracks a large cohort of patients across the country, their research also includes many of the less studied problems faced in life for childhood cancer survivors such ongoing pain, mental health status, being underweight or obese and coping with reduced activity levels or limitations (Ness et al., 2017). Their study concluded that overall self-reported health status has not improved even with treatment designed to reduce toxicity, research also included what has been shown to help survivors like exercise (Scott et al., 2018). As discussed previously, survival rates have improved dramatically since the 1960's when leukaemia was considered incurable, now with current chemotherapy regimens over 90% of patients achieve full remission from treatment, survival rate is highest in children diagnosed under the age of 4 years old (Children with Cancer UK, 2018b). This study will look at the links between weight gain and treatment success, becoming obese or overweight and how it relates to ALL will be discussed in the next sections.

1.4 Obesity

Obesity is recognised by the World health organisation (WHO) as a global epidemic and is now termed "globesity" and almost three quarters of people worldwide are expected to be overweight by 2035 (World Health Organisation, 2018). In the UK alone, five million people are expected to be morbidly obese by 2035 (Keaver et al., 2018). It is predicted that 700,000 new cases of obesity related cancer will be reported by 2035 (Cancer research UK, 2018b). Major drivers for the rise in obesity levels include excessive calorie intake (Hall et al., 2012), changes in eating habits such as fast food diets, sugary drinks and increased levels of dietary fat (Prentice and Jebb, 2003). Lack of exercise and sedentary lifestyles also contribute to the growing number of overweight or obese individuals (Tremblay et al., 2010). In a small number of cases, genetics can predispose a person to obesity; genome wide association studies (GWAS) have identified a number of candidate genes which, when interacting with environmental and lifestyle choices, can contribute to increased body fat (Choquet and Meyre, 2011). Candidate genes that are associated with obesity in adults and children include POMC, LEPR (Ayers et al., 2018). Other genes linked to obesity development in children include SIM1, the following study found early onset obesity was associated with copy number variations (CNV) in the gene SIM1 (Windholz et al., 2017), another study found frame shift deletions in the MC4R gene in early onset obesity (Loid et al., 2020). Body mass index (BMI) is a measurement used to predict how healthy a person is by measuring their height and weight, the units of BMI are expressed as kg/m^2 which is mass divided by the square of height (Nuttall, 2015). BMI measurements fall in the following categories which are standards used and developed by The World Health Organization, see table 1.3.

BMI, kg/m ² range	WHO classification
<18.5	Underweight
18.5-24.9	Normal
25.0-29.9	Overweight/pre-obesity
>30.0	Obesity

Morbid obesity

Table 1.3: WHO definitions of obesity and associated BMI range. (Information taken from TheWorld Health Organisation).

The BMI calculator can also be used to work out if a child is at a healthy weight, children are also put into a percentile range by calculating a child's BMI percentile, their age and sex then comparing the statistics to other children in that percentile category. In children and young adolescents, a BMI percentile that falls below the 5th percentile is underweight and above the 95th percentile obese, when a child falls between 85th and 95th percentile they are in the overweight category, being in the 95th percentile is also specific indicator of body fatness in children (Freedman and Sherry, 2009). There has been disagreement as to whether BMI is the best indicator of body fatness (Liu et al., 2013), in people with a high proportion of muscle tissue BMI measurement can be misleading due to their higher weight but lower body fat percentage (Mazic et al., 2009). Whilst BMI is not a direct measurement of adiposity it is generally accepted that in a large percentage of the general population who are in the obese and underweight category. Obesity is associated with an increase in adipose tissue and circulating adipokine levels and can have detrimental effects in the body and a negative effect on health (Balistreri et al., 2010).

1.4.1 Obesity and Adipose tissue

>40.0

Adipose or fat tissue was originally characterised as having little to no basic physiological function, mainly a storage vessel for energy and fatty acids for times when excess nutrients are needed and insulation to protect from cold temperatures. One of the main functions of adipose tissue is to store excess nutrients such as free fatty acids and triacylglycerols during

times of fasting (Carobbio et al., 2017). Currently, it is recognised that adipose tissue is a very complex organ in its own right with roles that regulate the immune system, the endocrine system and to maintain energy balance and metabolic systems (Booth et al., 2015). The heterogenous tissue, comprised of adipocytes, pre-adipocytes, macrophages, mesenchymal stem cells and immune cells such as B and T-cells (Lenz et al., 2020), secretes physiologically active factors, known as adipokines, which can influence a raft of processes within the body (Taylor, 2021). Adipose tissue can be separated into four different types of tissue; white adipose tissue (WAT) which is localised subcutaneously and surrounds internal organs and has a specialised role in storing energy and is involved in weight regulation (Heyde et al., 2021). Brown adipose tissue (BAT) situated in the paracervical and supraclavicular regions, its main role is regulating body temperate in response to energy intake from food and cold weather (Duong et al., 2017). Beige adipose tissue which consists of BAT and can appear in WAT cell areas and increase whole body energy expenditure (Wu et al., 2013). Finally, Marrow adipose tissue (MAT) which represents over 5% of the total bone marrow mass (Hindorf et al., 2010). MAT was historically thought to be an inactive filling of the bone marrow cavity but has now shown to be increased in diseases such as obesity and diabetes (Veldhuis-Vlug and Rosen, 2018). More importantly, like WAT, MAT is metabolically active and produces its own secretory molecules such as adipokines which act systemically in the body and locally within the bone (Cawthorn et al., 2014). MAT has been shown to contribute to increased circulating levels of adiponectin (an adipokine) during caloric restriction (Cawthorn et al., 2014). Obesity is a proinflammatory condition where increased numbers of hypertrophied adipocytes contribute to low grade systemic inflammation and higher circulating levels of pro inflammatory cytokines or adipokines (Makki et al., 2013). This low grade systemic inflammation is considered the hallmark in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in humans (Ouchi et al., 2011). Obesity can modify adipose tissue and change the way it functions, these changes include expansion and recruitment of inflammatory immune cells and induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis (Herold and Kalucka, 2020), together this is linked with increase aggressiveness of cancer and creates the perfect setting for cancer cells to thrive (Zhang et al., 2016). Further to this, there is a potential role of adipose tissue in general attracting ALL cells to potential niche environments such as the bone marrow to support cancer progression and tumour growth and providing a source of fuel for ALL (Tucci et al., 2021). How circulating levels of adipokines and low-grade inflammation promotes

cancer progression may be important to consider its role in disease outcome. The next sections will introduce some key adipokines and those that have been implicated in cancer and in ALL.

1.4.2 Adipokines

Adipokines are messenger molecules similar to hormones that are secreted from adipocytes in adipose tissue and exert their effects on other cells in the body (Sarmento-Cabral et al., 2017b). Adipokines contribute to a number of biological functions within the body; when the body is healthy, adipokines help regulate appetite, energy expenditure, metabolism, blood pressure and immune function (Sarmento-Cabral et al., 2017a). In conditions such as obesity, dysregulated adipokine secretions are the proposed link between higher levels of body fat and cancer, cardiovascular and inflammatory disease (Codoner-Franch and Alonso-Iglesias, 2015). Adipokines can act in an autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine manner and an individual adipokine can function in all three ways (Francisco et al., 2018). Adiponectin, a well-studied classical adipokine can act in an autocrine manner to prevent the release of insulin resistance inducing factors which have an important anti-diabetic function (Dietze-Schroeder et al., 2005). Leptin can work in a paracrine manner in the cancer microenvironment (Hosney et al., 2017) and Resistin can act in an endocrine manner to modulate insulin resistance throughout the body (Zaidi and Shirwany, 2015). Adipokines can also act as novel biomarkers in obesityrelated disease and can be monitored to predict outcomes in disease (Rajandram et al., 2019). A number of adipokines have been linked to cancer development including adiponectin (Yu et al., 2019a), leptin (Gu et al., 2019b) and resistin (Avtanski et al., 2019). The following sections explain a selection of the adipokines of interest to this study and their relationship to cancer and ALL.

1.4.2.1 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is considered to be the "Guardian angel adipokine" and an anti-inflammatory factor due to its protective role within the body (Taliaferro-Smith et al., 2013). Adiponectin is low in many conditions such as cardiovascular disease and obesity and these reduced levels have a key role in the development of obesity-related conditions. This includes cancers associated with obesity (Nigro et al., 2018, Yu et al., 2019b), cardiovascular disease (Kyrou et

al., 2017), insulin resistance (Yadav et al., 2013) and type 2 diabetes (Lindberg et al., 2015). Adiponectin has been shown to be the most promising adipokine in developing novel intervention strategies in cancer and obesity-related disorders this has led to the development of the adiponectin agonists ADP355 and AdipoRon which have shown similar effects to endogenous adiponectin on the downstream AMPK and PPAR-α signalling pathways (Okada-Iwabu et al., 2013, Otvos et al., 2015). Studies have also successfully used the PPARy agonists rosiglitazone and pioglitazone to elevate levels of adiponectin in animals and humans to improve outcomes in disease (Combs et al., 2002). More recent research is investigating the role of the mTOR pathway in ALL by developing anti-mTOR compounds which would counteract the effects of low adiponectin in patients with ALL (Simioni et al., 2019). Figure 1.5 provides an overview of the pathways involved. Low adiponectin known as hypoadiponectinaemia is associated with ALL (Moschovi et al., 2010a) in this study low adiponectin and high resistin and leptin were recorded at diagnosis and in successful therapy were slowly restored to normal levels. The following studies have also reported low levels of adiponectin in ALL (El-Baz et al., 2013b, Ma et al., 2016, Srivastava et al., 2015b). Further research has focused on activating AMPK in ALL cells which is reduced in hypoadiponectinaemia, and has studied the effects of 5-amino-4-imidazolecarboxamide riboside (AICAr) which can induce apoptosis in ALL cells (Sengupta et al., 2007). More recently AICAr has been studied further to understand it's cytotoxic mechanisms revealing that AICAr impairs pyrimidine biosynthesis and supresses ribosomal RNA leading to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in ALL cells (Du et al., 2019).



Figure 1.5: Adiponectin receptor signalling pathways. The activation of adiponectin receptors activates AMPK which blocks the proliferative effects of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways and the PPAR α pathway which blocks anti apoptotic pathways through NF-k β signalling, low levels of adiponectin reverse this action and activate the downstream proliferative pathways, adapted from (Azamar-Llamas et al., 2017)

1.4.2.2 Leptin

The adipokine leptin was the first adipokine to be discovered in 1994 and is primarily associated with feeding behaviour and appetite control (Castracane and Henson, 2006). Leptin is strongly associated with obesity and weight gain; blood levels of leptin correlate positively to the amount of adipose mass in a patient (Ekmen et al., 2016). This also leads to a condition called leptin resistance which maintains a high detectable level of leptin in the blood of obese patients (Knight et al., 2010). Leptin in itself is considered to be a proinflammatory adipokine and it can also initiate the production of other proinflammatory adipokines such as IL-6 and TNF α and MCP-1 (Wang et al., 2019). The biologically active form of the leptin receptor, Ob-R, activates intracellular pathways including STAT3, MAPK, P13K/Akt/mTOR and ERK1/2 (Achkar et al., 2019) , see figure 1.6. When activated in cancer, and cancers associated with obesity, high leptin levels can change chemotherapy sensitivity

(Ma et al., 2019). In this study high leptin levels upregulated the micro RNA miR-342-3p which potentiated gemcitabine resistance. A further study in endometrial cancer identified that leptin activated the STAT3 ERK1/2 pathways in cancer and induced proliferation of Ishiwaka cells, the group used kinase inhibitors to abolish the activation of ERK1/2 and STAT3 pathways this blocked the effects of leptin (Liu et al., 2011).



Figure 1.6: Leptin receptor signalling pathways. Increased levels of leptin activate the downstream proliferative pathways of NF-k β and MAPK, STAT3, ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt/mTOR adapted from (Jiang et al., 2014)

Although leptin is an adipokine of interest in cancer, the current understanding of leptin in ALL is mixed. Leptin levels are reported to be dysregulated in ALL; significantly higher leptin levels between overweight ALL patients compared to normal weight range patients have been reported (Skoczen et al., 2011), in fact leptin levels have been shown to be raised in ALL, and are higher than levels recorded in AML patients (Shahramian et al., 2016). However, no associations of the individual patients leptin receptor genotype contributed to leptin dysfunction but they did find a possible association between raised levels of leptin after 7 days treatment of high dose steroids (Tavil et al., 2012). In a further study, obesity was reported as a complication of ALL treatment and was associated with elevated levels of

circulating leptin, suggesting that weight and BMI should be considered during the course of treatment (Zareifar et al., 2015). New therapeutic approaches to controlling leptin physiology in patients, found that fasting blocks the development of ALL and this effect was due to upregulation of leptin receptors throughout the body, thus decreasing circulating levels of leptin (Lu et al., 2017). A further study in mice reported that switching to a low-fat diet with a reduced calorie intake improved outcomes in their pre-clinical model and improved outcome on vincristine based treatment, although this study did not include leptin it suggests the importance of calorie restriction during treatment of ALL (Tucci et al., 2018).

1.4.2.3 Resistin

Resistin is an adipokine released from several types of cell including adipocytes (McTernan et al., 2002). Murine resistin is primarily expressed from adipocytes (Hartman et al., 2002) whereas human resistin is predominantly expressed by macrophages and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and is associated with macrophages in the tumour microenvironment (Gong et al., 2018b). Resistin has been shown to be involved in the pathological response in cardiovascular disease, T2D, inflammation (Cobbold, 2019), it can also promote cancer progression by enhancing cancer cell proliferation in a number of cancers (Housa et al., 2008, Malvi et al., 2018, Zaidi and Shirwany, 2015). Research has recently discovered more about the biological function of resistin and its functional receptors in humans. The receptors discovered are adenylyl cyclase-associated protein-1 (CAP-1) (Lee et al., 2014) and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), both receptors have been implicated in cancer progression (Zhang et al., 2019). Other receptors include ROR1 which serves as a receptor in murine 3T3-cells and their development (Sánchez-Solana et al., 2012) and decorin, a receptor on WAT, where it may regulate white adipose tissue expansion (Daguinag et al., 2011). The pathways involved after activation of the receptors CAP-1 and TLR4 include activation of intracellular cAMP, increased Protein kinase A (PKA) and NF-kB (Lee et al., 2014) and activation of STAT3 by the TLR4 receptor which increases cell survival, see figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7: Resistin receptor signalling pathways. Resistin has been shown to act through the TLR4 receptor where it activates STAT3, also the CAP1 receptor which activates the antiapoptotic NF-kβ prosurvival pathway, information adapted from (Lee et al., 2014) (Zhang et al., 2019)

In a study to asses biomarkers in children with ALL, resistin levels were similar in obese and non-obese patients (Srivastava et al., 2015b). In a further study low adiponectin and high resistin at diagnosis was implicated in ALL pathogenesis, the group suggested the results may serve as a potential diagnostic marker to detect disease relapse (El-Baz et al., 2013b). Finally in a study investigating adipokines in plasma concentrations throughout therapy, resistin levels were high at diagnosis along with high leptin and low adiponectin and were progressively restored by the end of therapy with a decrease in plasma resistin levels (Moschovi et al., 2010a).

1.4.2.4 Serpin A12 (Vaspin)

Serpin A12 or vaspin is an adipocyte-derived serine protease inhibitor which is associated with impaired insulin resistance and obesity in adults (Youn et al., 2008). In children, a study found significantly increased levels of vaspin in obese children compared to their lean counterparts (Yin et al., 2019). Circulating vaspin levels have been shown to bind with the cell surface

receptor GRP78 which relocates from the ER membrane during events that cause ER stress (Nakatsuka et al., 2012). This response is a consequence of the unfolded protein response which is activated by an accumulation of unfolded proteins and oxidative stress in a number of cancers and increases cancer cell stemness and chemoresistance (Dauer et al., 2019). When the GRP78 receptor binds to vaspin this activates the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway, see figure 1.8, this leads to increased cell survival. GRP78 relocation to the cell surface as part of the unfolded response has been shown to activate PI3K/Akt signalling in other cancers (Fu et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2013). In a study targeting the GRP78 receptor in leukaemia and lymphoma cell lines, the ALL cell lines Molt4 and CEM-CCRF both responded to the drug BMTP-78, a GRP78 binding peptide by reduced cell viability even at low molar concentrations of the drug (Staquicini et al., 2018). A further study confirmed high expression of GRP78 on the surface of human ALL B-cells where it was associated with vincristine resistance and disease relapse, this was accomplished by using HSPA5 inhibitor epigallocatechin gallate, which inhibited the antiapoptotic actions of GRP78/HSPA5 (Uckun et al., 2011).



Figure 1.8: GPR78 receptor signalling pathways. Part of the UPR response linked to ER stress and potential relocation of the GRP78 receptor to the cell membrane which activates the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway.

1.4.2.5 Interleukin-8

IL-8 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that acts through the receptors CXCR1/2 to activate a number of downstream pathways including PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT3 in cancer (Liu et al., 2016). Studies investigating immature AML stem cells have shown that IL-8 is an adverse factor in the development of the disease (Schinke et al., 2015), less is known about the specific effects in ALL cells. A study looking at the interactions between ALL cells and bone marrow microenvironment found that the bone marrow microenvironment had increased levels of IL-8, the increased levels had a positive impact on bone marrow mesenchymal (BMMS) cells which increased their adhesiveness to All cells which in turn favoured ALL cell survival, it was noted that IL-8 had no direct impact on ALL cells alone without the presence of BMMS cells (de Vasconcellos et al., 2011)

1.4.2.6 Endocan/ESM-1

Endocan is a proteoglycan which is expressed in obese states at higher levels and also in metabolic cardiovascular diseases (Klisić et al., 2021). Endocan has been linked to poor outcomes in many cancers, in breast cancer overexpression promoted tumorigeneses by inducing cell proliferation, invasion and metastasis through NF-k β and STAT3 pathways in mouse studies (Jin et al., 2020). Endocan levels in acute leukaemia's are highly expressed and return to normal levels after chemotherapy and increase again at relapse so has been suggested as a potential biomarker (Xu et al., 2014a). In ALL, higher circulating endocan levels in paediatric patients have been directly implicated in sepsis with statistically significantly higher levels recorded in patients with febrile neutropenia (Kiral et al., 2016). Research published this year studied endothelial dysfunction and mean common carotid artery thickness in a group of paediatric ALL survivors which correlated with high endocan levels. Patient triglycerides, cholesterol, blood glucose were all significantly higher in survivors compared to the control group, the consequences of these findings have put the patients at risk of endothelial dysfunction and development of premature atherosclerosis (Sherief et al., 2021)

1.4.2.7 IGFBP4

Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs) can interfere with and modulate the biological actions of other insulin like growth factors (Allard and Duan, 2018). IGFBP4 has been shown at higher concentrations to inhibit the mouse tumour cell proliferation effects of insulin growth factor 1 (IGF1) (Ryan et al., 2004). In a study investigating the relevance of IGFBP4 in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, levels were significantly reduced at diagnosis compared to healthy subjects and further reduced at day 33 after induction therapy compared to diagnosis, however this study found no correlation with ALL risk group (Wex et al., 2005).

1.4.2.8 Pref-1/DLK1

Pref-1/DLK1 protein is described as the gatekeeper of adipogenesis and its expression is high in preadipocytes and its expression is downregulated in adipocyte differentiation which in turn inhibits differentiation (Smas and Sul, 1993), so high expression levels inhibit differentiation of adipocytes. Research has confirmed that the DLK1 acts as an antagonist of the NOTCH1 receptor (Baladrón et al., 2005), but can potentiate growth of mesenchymal cells through activation of ERK1/2 so it could be dependant of cell type (Nueda et al., 2007). Other studies have confirmed that there is a mixed role depending on the cell involved, the following study confirmed that DLK1 activated NOTCH signalling in lung cancer which led to increased proliferation (Li et al., 2014). Studies in ALL show how exogenous DLK1 protein activates upregulation of the NOTCH1 receptor which in turn stimulates the proliferation of the ALL cell line CEM-CCRF, and activation of this receptor upregulated the downstream targets *c-myc* and *NF-KB* (Wei et al., 2013). Studies have suggested the use of NOTCH1 and PI3K/Akt/mTOR inhibitors as a dual treatment strategy in T-cell disease due to the interactions between the two pathways (Khoshamooz et al., 2020)

1.4.2.9 Cathepsin-S

Cathepsin S is a proteolytic enzyme involved in cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasion, it has been targeted in a number of diseases including cardiovascular and arthritis (Wilkinson et al., 2015). There is limited information on its role in ALL, in other cancers it has

been implicated due to its immune suppressive activity where its knockdown or inhibition promotes anti-cancer immunity (Fuchs et al., 2020). In a study in colorectal cancer, using the small molecule inhibitor Fsn0503h which targeted antibody mediated cellular toxicity via cathepsin S, the inhibitor was capable of blocking angiogenesis, endothelial tube formation and tumour cell invasion (Kwok et al., 2011).

1.4.2.10 Angiopoietin-2

Angiopoietin-2 is a growth factor involved in angiogenesis which exerts its effects by interacting with the angiopoietin/Tie2 signalling axis (Felcht et al., 2012). Angiopoietin-1 acts as the main agonist and target for the Tie2 receptor where angiopoietin-2 acts as an antagonist for this receptor (Maisonpierre et al., 1997). In more recent studies angiopoietin-2 alone at higher expression levels can act as an agonist for the Tie2 receptor but when expressed together angiopoietin-2 mainly acts as an antagonist for the Tie2 receptor (Kim et al., 2000). A study in childhood ALL found that angiopoietin-1 was low at diagnosis and angiopoietin-2 was high, in response to treatment this finding was reversed with higher levels of angiopoietin-1 and reduced levels of angiopoietin-2 at day 33 of treatment (Karakurt et al., 2016). Activation of the Tie2 receptor is an activator of the downstream PI3K/Akt pathway in oncogenesis (Park et al., 2010).

<u>1.4.3 Consequences of obesity</u>

There are many medical consequences of obesity, being overweight or obese can have a negative effect on many systems in the body. Obesity is associated with reduced lifespan compared to an individual within the normal weight range (Nagai et al., 2012). Health conditions and co-morbidities related to being overweight include cancer, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, stroke, high blood pressure, heart disease which includes coronary heart disease from atherosclerosis, congestive heart failure and myocardial infarction (Pantalone et al., 2017). Other outcomes from being obese include asthma, reproductive disease, osteoarthritis, chronic back pain, pulmonary embolism, gall bladder disease and mental health issues (Pi-Sunyer, 2009). Many of the cardiovascular disease diagnoses stem from complications of type 2 diabetes, this causes high blood sugar and poor insulin handling in the body, this also contributes to kidney disease, neuropathy and

retinopathy (Papatheodorou et al., 2018). The pattern of distribution of weight in obese individuals can contribute further to complications, visceral fat or fat that accumulates around the waist has a strong association with cardiovascular disease compared to subcutaneous fat which is distributed around the hips and lower body (Elffers et al., 2017). This can be measured by the waist to hip ratio where a higher waist to hip ratio is strongly linked to cardiovascular disease and complications of obesity (de Koning et al., 2007). This visceral fat that is stored around the waist and organs in the abdominal cavity is also referred to as abdominal obesity and is highly active and the main contributor to metabolic syndrome (Paley and Johnson, 2018). Obesity is also a risk factor for developing cancer and when an obese patient is diagnosed with cancer it can predict a poorer outcome (Petrelli et al., 2021), this will be discussed in the next section.

1.5 Obesity and Cancer

Recent research links obesity to an increased risk of cancer and also an increased risk of cancer related death, including studies in younger populations born after 1985 (Sung et al., 2019). A number of epidemiological studies have shown that obesity is linked directly to a number of cancers and links to poor prognosis once diagnosed, one such study involved a cohort of 1.2 million UK women where results indicated that up to 50% of cancer cases in post-menopausal women were attributable to being overweight or obese (Reeves et al., 2007). One of the first studies to confirm the link between obese cancer patients and mortality was in 2003, the study confirmed that mortality rates for obese men and women with a BMI over 40 were 52% and 62% higher respectively (Calle et al., 2003). Many studies since then have shown correlations between cancer and obesity (Arnold et al., 2016). Cancer research UK have reported that more than 1 in 20 cancers are caused by excess body weight and it is the second biggest preventable cause of cancer in the UK (Cancer Research UK, 2019a).



Figure 1.9: The 13 types of cancer associated with obesity. Obesity contributes to poorer outcome in the following cancers, Meningioma, thyroid cancer, oesophageal cancer, breast cancer, multiple myeloma, kidney cancer, endometrium and ovarian cancer also cancer of the liver, gallbladder, upper stomach, the pancreas, colon and rectum. (National Cancer Institute, 2019a)

Obesity is known risk factor for 13 types of cancer which include meningioma (Takahashi et al., 2019), adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus (Murphy et al., 2017), thyroid cancer (Siqueira et al., 2019), breast cancer (Ecker et al., 2019), liver cancer (Loo et al., 2017), gallbladder cancer (Li et al., 2016), multiple myeloma (Went et al., 2017), kidney cancer (Laaksonen et al., 2019), upper stomach cancer (Kim et al., 2019), pancreatic cancer (Gruber et al., 2019), colon and rectal cancer (Matsui et al., 2019), ovarian cancer (Ghasemi et al., 2019) and cancer of the endometrium (Kitson et al., 2019), see Figure 1.9. Cancers associated with obesity are often in close anatomical proximity to adipose tissue stores in the body which creates a hospitable environment for cancer cells and developing tumours (Laurent et al., 2019). This is particularly prevalent in breast cancer due to adipose tissue naturally residing in the breast,

the crosstalk between the tissues in this case can interfere with breast cancer drugs (Bougaret et al., 2018). Studies in obese multiple myeloma patients implicate the adipocyte-rich bone marrow as a source of protection for cancer cells (Trotter et al., 2016). The adipose tissue niche and its relation to ALL and its interactions will be explained further in section 1.5.2.1 "adipose tissue as an ALL cell niche". Recently research has linked obesity to paediatric ALL outcomes, this will be discussed in section 1.5.1.

1.5.1 Obesity and paediatric ALL outcome

Research into ALL and obesity confirms that obesity impacts ALL outcomes and can increase the risk of dying prematurely and decrease the chance of an event free survival (EFS), the study by (Orgel et al., 2014b) obtained these results from a cohort of 198 patients. The group hypothesized that obesity before or during induction therapy was associated with MRD risk. The findings confirmed that children who were overweight or obese were at risk of a lower chance of EFS regardless of MRD risk, and newly diagnosed obese children were at an increased MRD risk and poorer EFS. Previous to these findings, the group showed that the duration of weight extremes during the intensive phases early in treatment independently predicted EFS (Orgel et al., 2014a). In the cohort of 2,008 children the results indicated that the influence of weight extremes, i.e., being obese, overweight or underweight, were not set at diagnosis and were also influenced by treatment related toxicity and if weight could be addressed in induction and the intensive consolidation treatment phases it could improve survival rates and EFS. Another study (Butturini et al., 2007) found that preteenagers and adolescents were at higher risk of relapse when obese. A further study confirmed that obesity and being overweight was an independent risk factor for relapse and could be partly explained by the antiapoptotic properties linked to adipocytes; leptin increased levels of Bcl-2 and Pim-2 which acted to protect leukaemia cells from treatment (Gelelete et al., 2011). Contradictory to this, obesity and BMI at diagnosis did not predict poorer response or relapse after therapy in a 2017 study, but obese patients were at risk of reduced overall survival due to treatment-related mortality (Eissa et al., 2017b). A recent study involving 55 patients diagnosed in a single institution between 2006 and 2012 evaluated the risk in patients with a BMI percentile greater than >95 during pre-maintenance therapy confirmed that obesity was a risk factor for developing hypertension, high blood sugar levels and febrile neutropenia

admissions, these factors lead to reduced doses of chemotherapy which can compromise efficacy of treatments and even lead to death (Meenan et al., 2019). Children with ALL are also at an increased risk of becoming obese due to treatments, (Chow et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2015a) and as such should be taken into account during treatment and long term care afterwards. Further to this, a study found that BMI only increased in standard risk ALL patients in the first month of therapy or the induction phase and this was greater in patients receiving dexamethasone and by the end of therapy the obese patients had returned to normal weight range (Lindemulder et al., 2015), suggesting intervention to diet or physical activity is best timed during therapy especially due to the amount of long term survivors living to increasing ages. It is widely accepted that patients are at risk when obesity occurs before, during and after treatment and this has the potential to impact their health long-term (De Pergola and Silvestris, 2013). ALL has an excellent cure rate but as discussed in this introduction obesity can impact the outcome and success of treatment, toxic combinations of chemotherapy can further the risk of death and EFS and also the long-term health of ALL survivors. Taking everything discussed about side effects of combined chemotherapy regimens and outcomes it is important that we are considering individual patient status when designing clinical trials and treatments, this includes cell count at diagnosis, age (over 10 years), three or four drug induction therapy, dexamethasone or prednisolone as a choice of steroid, poor early responders, relapsed ALL patients and if their leukaemia is of B-cell or Tcell in origin. It would also be important to include children who present as obese or become obese with treatment as another subgroup of patients that could benefit from a tailored chemotherapy protocol, possibly including newer drugs and/or tailoring of more toxic current drugs. Should obese patients be treated with the same protocols or should we intervene and adjust protocols to suit this increasing cohort of patients? This remains an important question under the threat of 'globesity'. The underlying mechanisms associated with obesity and ALL will be discussed in the next sections.

1.5.2 Why might obesity results in poorer outcomes for ALL patients?

Obesity can contribute to poorer outcomes in obese patients, the next sections will cover the key points and mechanisms behind this in more detail. I have introduced that obesity results in higher levels of body fat which contributes to low grade inflammation, also that dysregulated levels of adipokines can contribute to disease progression. Some of the mechanisms behind this includes adipocytes secreting chemoattractants which entice ALL cells into adipose tissue and create a protective environment (Pramanik et al., 2013a). Adipocytes then communicate with ALL cells and supply them with fuel such as fatty acids and amino acids (Tucci et al., 2021). Adipocytes can secrete molecules which prevent apoptosis in ALL cells (Sheng and Mittelman, 2014) and can also absorb chemotherapeutic drugs and deactivate them promoting the survival of ALL cells (Sheng et al., 2017). Adipokines have also been shown to change sensitivity of chemotherapeutics boosting survival of cancer cells (Qiu et al., 2018b), see figure 1.10.



Figure 1.10: Obesity increases Adipose tissue which dysregulates adipokine secretion. This dysregulation provides fuel for ALL cells, it can also protect ALL cells by inactivating chemotherapy and driving evasion of apoptosis and chemoresistance. The figure summarises adipose tissue as a heterogenous tissue with associated cells, these include immune cells B-cell and T-cells, macrophages, mesenchymal cells, pre adipocytes and stem cells.

1.5.2.1 Adipose tissue as a cancer and ALL cell niche

Adipose tissue is able to attract ALL cells via secretion of chemo-attractants and create a protective environment which allows ALL cells to grow and proliferate (Pramanik et al., 2013b). Adipose tissue in the form of WAT is a niche site for haematological malignancies, this was confirmed previously in a mouse model where injected leukaemia cells congregated into the fats pads of the mice and were then shown to be resistant to vincristine in experiments (Behan et al., 2009). This is in addition to the bone marrow niche, where the disease initially resides and proliferates (Askmyr et al., 2011). WAT is also a metastatic site for cancers such as breast cancer due to the close proximity in the breast which is one of the sites of WAT (Dirat et al., 2011). Many other cancers reside in areas adjacent to adipose tissue such as the ovaries, prostate and uterus, also the pancreas, colon and liver as previously discussed. In the case of prostate cancer, peri prostatic adipose tissue, which resides close to the prostate and is often infiltrated by prostate cancer cells, promotes an aggressive tumour biology within this microenvironment (Ribeiro et al., 2012). In a study investigating the interactions between adipose tissue and multiple myeloma (MM) cells, adipocytes were extracted from obese and super-obese, defined as a BMI between 35-40 kg/m², patients and co-cultured with MM cell lines, the MM cells proliferated faster in the superobese to obese media; the superobese media enhanced tube formation in endothelial cells and expression of matrix mellanoproteinases (MMPs) which is indicative of angiogenesis and epithelial to mesenchymal transition respectively. Conclusively, it was suggested that the MM micro environment should be further evaluated as a potential therapeutic target (Bullwinkle et al., 2016). A further study suggests that the biologically active adipose stem cells (ASCs) isolated from abdominal fat, which express leptin through oestrogen stimulation, increased breast cancer growth and concluded that abdominal fat and abdominal obesity induced significant changes in ASCs (Strong et al., 2013), summarised in figure 1.11. Studies regarding the ALL cell niche and preferred WAT sites for ALL cells were limited to the studies discussed in this section but recent research is shedding more light on the supportive role of MAT and the bone marrow microenvironment in the progression of ALL and its preferred site for development and chemoprotection (Dander et al., 2021, Ma et al., 2020)



Figure 1.11: Dysfunctional adipocytes, immune cells and their interaction with cancer cells. Dysfunctional adipocytes attract immune cells and release several substances which are protective of cancer cells, these includes secretion of adipokines, growth factors, hormones which can help cancer cells evade apoptosis and inactivate chemotherapy (adapted from Sheng et al 2017).

1.5.2.2 Adipose tissue as a source of Fuel for cancer and ALL cells

It is considered that adipocytes may support the consistent supply of sufficient energy and nutrients for cancer cells to proliferate (Huang et al., 2018a). To aid this exchange of nutrients, adipocytes secrete adipokines which attract tumour cells, where they provide lipids which can exacerbate tumour growth and promote metastasis (Nieman et al., 2011). Cancer cell metastasis requires very high energy demands and lipids are an excellent source of energy for cells to adapt to changing environments and carry out tasks such as reprogramming protein expression, aiding cellular processes and releasing further signalling proteins (Sant'Anna-Silva et al., 2018), see figure 1.11. In some cases, disrupting the pathways involved in energy metabolism can have a detrimental effect on cancer cell fate, as it has been shown that supressing ATP citrate lyase (ACLY), a key enzyme that initiates *de novo* lipid synthesis in cancer cells such as osteosarcoma, prostate, cervical and lung cancers, inhibits tumour growth

and metastasis. Inhibition of ACLY has been achieved using MicroRNAs, as miR-22 is a negative regulator of the ACLY gene (Xin et al., 2016).

Cancer cells also exploit lipid sources exogenous to them; metastasis-initiating cells have been shown to rely on lipids to promote metastasis, furthermore, blocking the fatty acid receptor, CD36, on oral carcinoma cells using neutralising antibodies resulted incomplete inhibition of metastasis in immunodeficient mice (Pascual et al., 2017). In a study using *in vivo* and *in vitro* models of AML, it was shown that AML blasts activate lipolysis in adipocytes and by using FABP4 shRNA knockdown it prevented AML cell proliferation. Further to this, knockdown of carnitine palmitoyl transferase IA (an enzyme involved in the oxidation of long chain fatty acids) in an AML patient derived xenograft, improved survival rates in mice (Gharpure et al., 2018). It would be interesting to know if the results of this finding could be transferred to our understanding of the FABP4 fatty acid binding protein in relation to ALL.

ALL cells have been shown to stimulate adipocyte lipolysis to obtain a supply of adipocyte derived free fatty acids to supplement *de novo* lipogenesis and for molecular building blocks (Tucci et al., 2014). Part of the treatment protocol for ALL includes L-asparaginase this depletes levels of asparagine and glutamine available to the leukaemia cell, and has been shown to break down asparagine and glutamine into aspartic acid and glutamic acid, thus disrupting ALL cell homeostasis (Kitoh et al., 1990). Adipocytes are also a source of amino acids; adipocytes produce asparagine and glutamine which increase levels available to ALL cells and protects leukaemia cells from L-asparaginase treatment (Ehsanipour et al., 2013). Since leukaemia cells can infiltrate adipose tissue it was concluded that high local levels of asparagine and glutamine was protective of ALL cells. Recent research has suggested that adipose tissue stem cells (ASCs) can negatively influence haematological malignancy, in a study by Lee et al. (2018) NOD/SCID mice were co-injected in the peritoneum with an ALL cell line expressing firefly luciferase ALL/fLuc cells and ASCs or normal fibroblasts as a control. Mice injected with ALL/fLuc cells and ASCs showed significantly higher bioluminescence intensity in the intraperitoneal area and larger tumour masses than control mice, the findings of this study concluded that the results should be considered when developing cell therapies using ASCs as these cells were attracting the ALL cell line (Lee et al., 2018). Research published this year confirmed that adipocytes provide a source of free fatty acids which supported the

growth and proliferation of patient B-ALL cells, the study concluded that this source of fatty acids could contribute to chemoresistance in ALL (Tucci et al., 2021).

1.5.2.3 Adipose tissue can disrupt chemotherapy pharmacokinetics

Drug pharmacokinetics (PK) can also be influenced by obesity. Excess adipose tissue can accumulate drugs in adipocytes, and this in turn increases the volume of distribution available to the drug (Cheymol, 2000). It has previously been shown that a protein called alpha 1-acid glycoprotein is increased in obesity and binds to the basic positively charged drugs in the plasma, meaning less of the drug is available in the body, that is, it has a low bioavailability (Blouin et al., 1987). Further to drugs binding to plasma proteins, renal and hepatic clearance of drugs is impaired in obesity, this is due to increased activity of the enzyme cytochrome P450 CYP2E1 which accelerates drug detoxification in the liver and increases the glomerular filtration and in the kidneys (Brill et al., 2012, Emery et al., 2003). Together, these findings suggest altered PK of water soluble drugs would speed up excretion from the kidneys. With these scenarios taken into account, obesity could be associated with impaired efficacy of a number of different medications.

At present there are no known studies where the effects of obesity and PK in children with leukaemia, although a study by Hijiya *et al.* (2006) reported no difference in calculated means of systemic clearance and intracellular levels of the thioguanine nucleotide levels and methotrexate polyglutamates, which are both treatments used in ALL, within the four different BMI groups; underweight, normal, overweight and obese (Hijiya et al., 2006). The commonly used treatment vincristine is a lipophilic agent and maybe sequestered in adipose tissue which could lead to altered tissue distribution and build up in the fat tissue of obese individuals. PK modelling of injection of control and obese mice with titrated vincristine showed that obesity impaired overall exposure of the ALL cells to vincristine, in this study a single dose of vincristine proportional to body weight was injected and blood and tissue levels were measured over a 24 hour period. By 3 hours there were significantly higher levels of vincristine measured in the white adipose tissue of obese mice in comparison to the control mice (Behan et al., 2010). Vincristine is metabolised by the hepatic enzyme cytochrome P450 CYP3A subfamily, with approximately 80% of the drug metabolised in the liver and excreted in the faeces and a further 10-20% metabolised by the kidneys and excreted via urine

(Drugbank, 2018). Although in obese animal models this enzyme has shown both increased and decreased activity so further work would be needed to confirm this (Maximos et al., 2017, Tomankova et al., 2017).

In more recent studies, it has been observed that adipocytes sequester and metabolise the ALL chemotherapeutic daunorubicin. This expands on the work by Sheng and colleagues where it was shown that adipocytes protect ALL cells from daunorubicin via an oxidative stress response (Sheng et al., 2016). The group went onto determine that adipocytes clear daunorubicin from the tumour microenvironment by upregulating the enzymes aldo-keto reductases and carbonyl reductases which effectively metabolise daunorubicin into its inactive metabolite daunorubicol, see figure 1.11. The study concluded that aldo-keto reductases and carbonyl reductases can be expressed in higher levels in obese individuals and have the ability to metabolise several drugs with implications across many diseases and not just cancer. They suggested that adipocyte absorption of chemotherapeutic drugs is contributing to poorer survival outcomes in cancer (Sheng et al., 2017).

1.5.2.4 Dose capping in obese individuals

Further to adipose tissue and increased levels of body weight disrupting chemotherapy, pharmacokinetics clinicians face the dilemma of dose capping in children with obesity which can reduce the therapeutic effects of drugs (Kendrick et al., 2010). Chemotherapy treatments have a range of side effects and even more care is taken with children to avoid toxicity and long term problems with organs and the nervous system (Gade et al., 2015). There are different methods used to dose individuals correctly to body weight when outside of normal parameters, such as ideal body (within normal BMI percentile range >5 <85) even if they are overweight (De Baerdemaeker et al., 2004), creatinine clearance and GFR rate (Stevens et al., 2009), or drugs are dosed proportionally to body surface area (Sawyer and Ratain, 2001), or a combination of these methods.

There are differences in opinion between clinicians on how to maximise the efficacy of drugs in overweight children, with some agreeing that it is suitable to dose to ideal body weight and lean mass in the obese population or body surface area (Callaghan and Walker, 2015, Mulla and Johnson, 2010). Vincristine, commonly used in ALL therapy, comes under separate strict dose capping guidelines to body surface area and is generally capped at 1.4 to 1.5mg/m² with

a maximum dose of 2mg/m² a week regardless of the child's size (electronic Medicines Compendium (eMC), 2018). Due to these dose capping restrictions, obese ALL paediatric patients' risk being under dosed without an effective dose of in the case of vincristine.

1.5.2.5 Apoptosis



Figure 1.12: Dysregulated apoptosis and cancer. Drivers of dysregulated apoptosis include impaired death receptor signalling, reduced expression of caspases, increased expression of inhibitors of apoptosis, defects and mutations in the p53 gene and disrupted balance of the Bcl-2 family of proteins where there is overexpression of antiapoptotic proteins and under expression of pro-apoptotic proteins, adapted from (Wong, 2011)

Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death which is characterised by several features including cell shrinkage, membrane blebbing, condensation of chromatin and fragmentation of DNA, the cell is eventually engulfed by neighbouring phagosomes (Fiers et al., 1999). Apoptosis has a role in many biological processes such as embryogenesis, the normal aging processes (Vaux and Korsmeyer, 1999) and diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (Obulesu and Lakshmi, 2014) and cancer (Vaux et al., 1988). In cancer, there is a loss of balance between growth and division of the cell and cell death due to dysregulation of cellular mechanisms; one hallmark of cancer is that cells which should have died evade apoptosis and go onto proliferate (Hassan et al., 2014). An example of how this occurs would be downregulation of

the tumour suppressor TP53; reduced expression of this gene results in decreased apoptosis and enhanced tumour development and growth (Bauer and Helfand, 2006). The loss of function or mutation of TP53 has been linked to many types of cancer (Gasco et al., 2002, Rodrigues et al., 1990, Tyner et al., 2012) and the targeting of apoptotic mechanisms has been the basis of extensive research in the treatment of cancer and overcoming of chemotherapy drug resistance (Rathore et al., 2017). Further to defects and mutations in the TP53 gene, one of the major areas of interest in cancer biology is the Bcl-2 family of proteins. When this family is out of balance it can tip the cell towards an antiapoptotic phenotype involving overexpression of the group I proteins under expression of group II and III (Campbell and Tait, 2018). The Bcl-2 family of proteins is well studied for their regulation of programmed cell where they can inhibit or promote apoptosis by interfering with the mitochondrial membrane (Reed et al., 1998). They were first discovered in 1984 in a variant of B-cell lymphoma, its discovery identified the Bcl-2 protein as an inhibitor of apoptosis (Tsujimoto et al., 1984). The Bcl-2 family can be divided into pro and antiapoptotic groups, shown in figure 1.12, the antiapoptotic proteins include Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1, (group I), the group of pro apoptotic proteins include Bid, Bim, (group II), Bax and Bak, (group III) (Carrington et al., 2017). Other regulators of apoptosis also include inhibitors of apoptosis (IAPs), overexpression of which can lead to increased tumour cell survival, chemoresistance and poor prognosis (Silke and Meier, 2013). Reduced expression of caspases has been confirmed in pancreatic cancer (Jakubowska et al., 2016) and finally impaired death receptor pathways are implicated in cancer progression, changes with death receptor signalling was involved in multidrug resistance in the breast cancer cell line MCF7, in this study (Antoon et al., 2012) the death receptor signalling pathway was significantly altered with increased NF-k^β expression and blocked extrinsic apoptosis. Recent research in ALL implicated impaired death receptor signalling which led to reduced effectiveness of (CAR) T therapy, using genome wide association study (GWAS) screening to look for loss of function genes it was found that there was reduced levels of death receptor associated genes which caused (CAR) T cell treatment failure (Singh et al., 2020), see figure 1.12 for an overview of dysregulated apoptotic mechanisms and cancer.

1.5.2.6 Adipose tissue inhibits apoptosis

Increasing evidence supports the role of adipose tissue in the inhibition of apoptosis in cancer cells and major driver in chemoresistance (Lehuédé et al., 2019). In a study relating to Acute Monocytic leukaemia (AMoL) a metabolic role was discovered for bone marrow adipocytes by supplying fuel and aiding evasion of apoptosis in leukemic blasts, the study concluded that bone marrow adipocytes prevented spontaneous apoptosis in AMoL cells by increasing fatty acid β-oxidation (FAO) also by upregulation of the PPARG, FABP4, CD36 and Bcl-2 genes. Coculture of both cell types increased expression of the adiponectin gene and its downstream targets AMPK and p38 MAPK, and upregulated antiapoptotic chaperone heat shock proteins. Blocking FAO with etomoxir increased apoptosis in the AMoL cells and the study suggested that blocking FAO in bone marrow adipocytes maybe a novel therapeutic strategy for AMoL therapy (Tabe et al., 2017). A set of experiments which co-cultured OP-9 derived adipocytes with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells (CLL) caused the CLL cells to become resistant to dexamethasone avoiding apoptosis, the CLL cells were highly resistant to dexamethasone in comparison to the serum free conditions alone (Tung et al., 2013). In a study on breast cancer published by Iyengar et al. (2003) the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 was treated with adipocyte-conditioned media containing a range of adipokines, this resulted in upregulation of A20 and NFkB which are both anti-apoptotic signals (lyengar et al., 2003). In research involving ALL cells Behan et al. (2009) have shown that adipocytes protect ALL cells from chemotherapeutic drugs such as vincristine, daunorubicin, nilotinib and dexamethasone, in the study it was found that adipocyte protection of ALL cells was associated with the upregulation of the pro-survival signals Bcl-2 and Pim-2, which are part of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway, and an increased phosphorylation of the proapoptotic protein Bad which indicates its deactivation (Behan et al., 2009). Oxidative stress is strongly linked to apoptosis and is a potent apoptotic inducer (Kannan and Jain, 2000), in a further study by Sheng et al. (2016), the group showed that in co-culture experiments adipocytes protected ALL cells from oxidative stress promoting survival. The human adipocyte cell line Chub-S7 protected human ALL cells in a transwell culture system without direct cell to cell contact against daunorubicin suggesting a secreted factor was key in this response Further to this daunorubicin treatment led to increased apoptosis in human BV173 cells, this was reversed in the presence of 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes (Sheng et al., 2016). These studies have suggested a direct effect of adipocytes on cancer cells demonstrating that adipocytes may be boosting proliferation and helping cancer cells evade apoptotic mechanisms through various mechanisms, and so could be a causal factor for the development of chemoresistance. This thesis seeks to investigate this further.

1.5.3 Mechanisms of chemoresistance

1.5.3.1 Unfolded protein response

The unfolded protein response (UPR) is a cellular system activated in response to ER stress (Corazzari et al., 2017), the stressors that activate the system include glucose and energy deprivation, accumulation of misfolded proteins and adaptive responses to drugs such as chemotherapy and it is a major driver of chemoresistance in cancer therapy (Avril et al., 2017). The pathway is described as a "double edged sword" as under acute condition the UPR network acts in a pro survival manner, but under more continuous chronic stress it shifts the balance to a pro-apoptotic phenotype in the cancer cell (Gorman et al., 2012). During unstressed conditions there are three main sensors (PERK, ATF6 α and IRE-1 α) which are bound and inactive to the GRP78 receptor (Mei et al., 2013). When stress occurs in the ER they are activated and involved in the mechanisms of chemoresistance in their own pathways (Oslowski and Urano, 2011). For the purpose of this work we will focus on the role of the GRP78 protein and its relocation to the cell membrane and then its subsequent activation by exogenous ligands (Ge and Kao, 2019) one being SerpinA12 which is discussed previously in section 1.4.2.4, this can then activate the downstream PI3K/Akt pathway and increase cell survival and proliferation. In a study using a mouse model knockout of GRP78 and PTEN (an antagonist of the PI3K/Akt pathway) it restored normal development of leukemic blasts, also in the study overexpression of GRP78 led to cytosine arabinoside resistance against apoptosis and knockdown of GRP78 sensitised AML cells to the drug (Wey et al., 2012). In a study of murine B-ALL, BCR-ABL1 cells were generated and taken from a mouse model with a genetic deletion of the GRP78 gene (described as HSPA5 in the study) deletion of the HSPA5 gene reduced the leukemic burden significantly compared to control mice (Masouleh et al., 2014)

1.5.3.2 Autophagy

Autophagy is a conserved mechanism in cells which promotes survival in times of stress (Das et al., 2012), when autophagy processes are increased inside cancer cells this allows the cells to promote tumour growth and escape metabolic stressors such as nutrient deprivation and chemotherapy drugs (Buchser et al., 2012). The role of autophagy in cancer does remain controversial (Bhutia et al., 2013) as there is dual role for autophagy and timing in cancer development is important to trigger either cancer cell death or survival (Bhutia et al., 2013). Early in cancer development autophagy acts to promote cell death but once cancer has established autophagy acts to protect the cancer cell (Li et al., 2020). Studies in ALL have demonstrated that autophagy inhibition could be a useful targeted therapy for ETV6-RUNX-1 B-cell ALL, the study achieved this by using the drug hydroxychloroquine (Polak et al., 2019). Other research has confirmed that autophagy inhibition sensitizes ALL cells to L-Asparaginase. In this study L-asparaginase induced autophagy which protected the ALL cells, and when cells were then exposed to autophagy inhibitors this led to increased cell death (Takahashi et al., 2015).

1.5.3.3 Upregulation of drug transporter efflux pumps

A major driver of chemoresistance in cancer is the upregulation of transporter pumps which cause the efflux of cancer drugs which are removed from cancer cells promoting their survival (Liu et al., 2018). There are three main types of pump that are involved in multidrug resistance which are members of the ABC binding cassette transporter family (Feldman et al., 2015). In cancer roles for the multidrug resistance protein (MRP1), the breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) and the P-glycoprotein (P-gp) are well established (Choi, 2005). Due to the major contribution to multidrug resistance there has been interest in recent studies for the development and use of new compounds that inhibit the ABC transporter family of transmembrane proteins, (Zheng et al., 2021). In childhood ALL a study aimed to investigate the expression profile of multidrug resistance protein due to its implications in treatment failure and relapse. The findings of the study confirmed a significant upregulation of mRNA expression of *MDR1*, *MPR1*, *ABCA2* and *ABC3* which correlated with increased MRD risk a year into treatment; the study called for genetic evaluation of the pumps to help mitigate risk in these high risk patients (Rahgozar et al., 2014).

1.5.3.4 Adipokines and mechanisms of chemoresistance

The relationship between serum adiponectin levels in patients, the risk of subsequent metabolic disease and cancers is linked as discussed in section 1.4.2.1. In a recent study it was revealed that there is a link between low adiponectin levels and colon cancer, in that high adiponectin levels inhibited proliferation in colorectal HCT116 cells *in vitro* (Huang et al., 2018b). Following incubation with recombinant adiponectin, the percentage of cells in G1/G0 cell cycle phase increased along with the expression of p21, cleaved-caspase-3 and the number of apoptotic cells, expression of cyclin D1 and phosphorylated NF-kBp65 were downregulated. This demonstrated that adiponectin shifted the balance of apoptosis to inhibit the growth of colorectal cells and promoted apoptosis.

Adiponectin increases the efficacy of chemotherapy drugs in breast cancer via induction of autophagosomes, increased ratio of LC3BI to LC3BII and decreased expression of the ubiquitin binding protein, SQSTM1/p62, in this study these are proteins involved in the autophagy pathways and blocking these pathways reversed the action of adiponectin induced autophagy. These events were regulated by the initiating master kinase STK11/LKB1. Knockout of this protein in the study also reversed the protective effects of adiponectin and decreased levels of apoptosis in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (Chung et al., 2017). The following study established a critical role for the AMPK/FoxO3A axis has been identified in adiponectin-induced apoptosis in cancer cells. Adiponectin treatment increased p27 and decreased levels of cyclin D1 in hepatoma (HepG2) and breast cancer cells (MCF-7) which was associated with increased cancer cell death. Ablating the *FoxO3A* gene reversed this effect. Gene silencing of *AMPK* prevented nuclear relocation of FoxO3A indicating a role for AMPK signalling upstream of FoxO3A, the group concluded that the AMPK/FoxO3A induces the anti-proliferative effect in the two cells lines studied (Shrestha et al., 2016).

Hypoadiponectinemia is implicated in multiple myeloma and promotes tumour progression, In a set of experiments prolonged exposure of 96 hours to adiponectin activates protein kinase A which increases AMPK, promoting cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Supplementing with palmitic acid the human and mouse MM cell lines were protected from apoptosis, suggesting that adiponectin boosts survival in multiple myeloma cells by potentially supressing lipogenesis (Medina et al., 2014). Adiponectin promotes cell survival and inhibits

apoptosis in other cancers including endometrial cancer where the antiproliferative effects of adiponectin were blocked by compound C, an AMPK inhibitor. This study concluded that the adipoR1 receptor had a greater role then adipoR2 receptor in apoptosis of the endometrial cell line Ishikawa 3-H-12 (Zhang et al., 2015b). Adiponectin also inhibits the growth of gastric cancer (Ishikawa et al., 2007) and cervical cancer (Xie et al., 2011), in this cervical cancer study adiponectin-induced apoptosis in HeLa cells was investigated. Using RT-PCR to measure the expression of apoptosis related genes it was shown that after 48 hours exposure to adiponectin, levels of the apoptotic gene *BAX* was upregulated the anti-apoptotic gene *Bcl-2* was reduced.

Leptin is involved in the pathogenesis of many cancer types including breast cancer, pancreatic cancer, prostate and colon cancer (Candelaria et al., 2017). A study using cervical cancer HeLa cells demonstrated that leptin correlated positively with c-myc and Bcl-2, both anti-apoptotic proteins. In the study recombinant leptin significantly activated gene transcription for the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and c-myc, and furthermore silencing leptin with siRNA inhibited expression of Bcl-2 and c-myc and reduced proliferation of the cell line (Yuan et al., 2013). Leptin can also stimulate growth of ovarian cancer through mechanisms inhibiting apoptosis, leptin upregulated the expression of JAK2 non-receptor tyrosine kinase and downstream P13K/Akt and MEK/ERK1/2, inhibition of these cellular pathways abolished the effect of Leptin (Chen et al., 2013b). Leptin has been shown to contribute taxol chemoresistance in ovarian cancer by reducing the number of cells in G2/M phase of the cell cycle which promoted cancer cell growth (Gu et al., 2019a)

Resistin contributes to the growth of cancers and is involved in the proliferation and metastasis of cancers (Hsieh et al., 2014). Higher circulating levels of resistin in cancer patients is associated with decreased sensitivity to chemotherapy drugs in a number of different cancers (Qiu et al., 2018a). The particular cellular mechanisms underlying this resistance are varied, but often involve induction of cell proliferation due to evasion of apoptosis (Deshmukh et al., 2017). Resistin significantly attenuated doxorubicin induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells which increased breast cancer cell survival, in the study addition of recombinant resistin upregulated autophagy pathways in the cell and promoted cell survival, this activated the

signalling pathways AMPK/mTOR/ULK1 and JNK, suggesting resistin antagonism could be a novel treatment for doxorubicin resistance in breast cancer (Liu et al., 2017).

Further to this, resistin inhibited chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in myeloma cell lines, in this study treatment of the cell lines with the chemotherapy drug melphalan caused significant decreases in the expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL antiapoptotic proteins, whereas addition of resistin enhanced their expression. In addition resistin increased the expression of ABC transporters which removed intracellular chemotherapy accumulation leading to drug resistance in the patient derived cells and MM cell lines (Pang et al., 2017). The levels of serum resistin in pancreatic patients have been found to positively correlate with pancreatic cancer tumour grades. Silencing CAP1 and/or TLR4 resistin receptors using siRNA elicited a significant reduction in cell proliferation, which was highest when silencing both receptors simultaneously. Furthermore, resistin decreased pancreatic cancer cell sensitivity to gemcitabine via its receptors and downstream pathways by activation of STAT3 (Zhang et al., 2019). This pathway is known to activate the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family of proteins (Kang et al., 2015). Another study looked at obesity and breast cancer in post-menopausal women because of the higher concentrations of resistin detected, this is positively associated with the risk of breast cancer. The study investigated the effect of resistin on EMT and demonstrated that its inflammatory actions are mediated by the resistin receptor CAP1. The results demonstrated that resistin influences metastatic potential by inducing EMT and cell stemness partly by the CAP1 receptor (Peiser et al., 2003).

As introduced in this section there are many reasons and mechanisms as to why obesity may contribute to poorer outcomes in ALL . Adipose tissue, in particular obese adipose tissue can provide a protective niche for ALL cells to survive which can help cells evade apoptosis, they can also provide fatty acids and amino acids as a source of fuel. Other mechanisms include the disruption of chemotherapy pharmacokinetics, adding to this there is the issue of dose capping of chemotherapy drugs in obese children. More recent research is beginning to shed light on how adipokines through various mechanisms can interfere with the efficacy of chemotherapy protocols in a range of cancers. These mechanisms include activation of the unfolded protein response, changes in autophagy pathways in the cell, blocking autophagy processes can increase cancer cell death, upregulation of drug transporter pumps which aid removal of chemotherapy drugs from the cell. Another major factor is the role of adipokines

in the evasion of apoptosis for example leptin is known to activate gene transcription of antiapoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family adding to the complexity of the mechanisms of chemoresistance.

1.6 Case for study

Improvements in the treatment of ALL since the 1960's has been one of the success stories in childhood cancer treatment. The cure rate for paediatric patients has increased to almost 90%. There are still many challenges to overcome treating paediatric ALL patients, they include difficult to treat patient subgroups, chemotherapy side effects during treatment and long-term late effects from treatment such as cardiovascular disease later in life even in children who have been successfully cured (Kızılocak and Okcu, 2019).

The obesity epidemic is a ticking timebomb with nearly three quarters of the UK population expected to be obese by 2035 having a huge impact on health and obesity related diseases including cancer, these statistics include children. Obesity has been linked to developing cancer in adults and while obesity is not linked to the initiation of ALL, studies in recent years indicate that it does impact the chance of overall survival and event free survival in paediatric patients. Secretions from fat tissue include adipokines and they have been shown to be dysregulated in obesity and cancer. In ALL, adipokines such as adiponectin, leptin and resistin have been studied but less is known about others, and more importantly the underlying changes which occur at a cellular level when adipokines are changed in obese patients with ALL.

This study aims to identify a pattern of expression of adipokines in overweight and obese individuals with ALL before and after induction therapy, and to also look into the underlying cellular changes that occur when adipokine expression profiles are changed to see if those changes could confer a pro-survival phenotype in ALL cells. With this information we will begin to build knowledge so that we can combat MRD risk in obese, overweight and weight gain patients with ALL, and their associated risk factors with new or existing treatments.

1.6.1 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this study is to investigate the impact of obesity and becoming overweight on adipokine expression profiles and treatment outcomes during in the induction phase of treatment in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients. This may unlock key information which will benefit obese and overweight ALL patients in the future, perhaps by providing evidence for a tailored treatment regimen, or by identifying new treatment targets or biomarkers in obese and overweight patients.

The overall objectives of the study were:

1. To determine how induction phase treatment influences adipokine expression and if changes correlate with MRD risk and BMI.

Patient plasma samples were obtained at day 0 and day 29 of induction treatment and adipokine expression levels quantified using an adipokine antibody array. BMI data was collected at day 0, and BMI and MRD data were collected at day 29.

2. To investigate potential patterns in adipokine expression profiles between obese, overweight and typical weight patients.

We set out to identify potential patterns in adipokine expression within the patient cohort, i.e. patients who present as non-obese and do not gain weight during the induction phase of treatment, patients who present as non-obese and gain weight as part of the induction treatment (treatment-acquired obesity) or become overweight. These are examples of particular subgroups of patients but there are many ways we could analyse the patient data. Patients that present as obese or overweight at diagnosis could shed light on potential biomarkers for increased risk during treatment, this information has been included in the appendix and referred back to for significant adipokines within chapter 5, table 7.2. We also set out to identify if any particular adipokines could be suitable biomarkers of patients who go on to have high MRD risk at the end of induction, this information has also been recorded in the appendix, table 7.3.
3. To investigate the phenotypic impact of altered adipokine levels on ALL cell lines.

Adipokines identified in objective 2 will be cultured with ALL cell lines in order to investigate if they could have an impact on cell growth and viability. Adipokines in the MRD risk group of patients and the weight gain group of patients were further researched to identify if they could be driving disease by activating pathways known to be protective of ALL cancer cells. This was achieved by designing a trypan blue exclusion assay to measure cell growth and viability in reduced FBS conditions, part of this assay was to collect the cells that had been exposed to a particular adipokine and test them using western blotting to confirm activation of pathways. Further to this cells were incubated with selected adipokines and increasing concentrations of vincristine or daunorubicin to determine if the adipokines could change the sensitivity of the chemotherapy drugs.

2.0 CHAPTER 2 METHODS

2.1 Culturing and differentiation of 3T3-L1 mouse fibroblast into adipocyte-like cells

3T3-L1 are adherent embryonic fibroblasts derived from mice, the L1 is a continuous sub strain of 3T3 (Swiss albino) developed through clonal isolation, the cells undergo a preadipose to adipose like conversion when differentiated using the method described below (Ruiz-Ojeda et al., 2016). 3T3-L1 cells were purchased from American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC). The cells were supplemented with base medium Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium DMEM, catalogue number 30-2002 (ATCC, USA), to make up complete pre-adipocyte expansion medium it was supplemented with Bovine Calf Serum FCS (ATCC, USA) 10% 100μL/mL, Penicillin and Streptomycin (Biosera) 1% 10μL/mL, see table 2.1

2.1.1 Subculture and trypsinisation of cells

Subculture techniques and trypsinisation of cells were only performed on cells in a preadipocyte fibroblast state up to differentiation, once plated in 24 well plates for differentiation cells were not subcultured. Cells were always kept under 70-80% confluence. Cells were cultured in complete pre-adipocyte expansion medium, see table 2.1, media was changed every 2-3 days. Cells were kept under regular observation every 1-2 days and were split when 70-80% confluent. Cells were split by removing media and washing with 5mL of sterile PBS (Sigma Aldrich). To detach cells from the flask 2.5mL of trypsin (Thermo Fisher) was added and the flask was incubated for 2-3 minutes. To neutralise the Trypsin 10mL of pre-adipocyte expansion media was added to the flask, cells were collected and spun at 125 x g for 5 minutes. After harvesting the cell pellet was resuspended in 10mL of pre-adipocyte expansion media. Cells were counted, see procedure below and new flasks were reseeded at 3×10^3 cells/mL in a T75 flask.

2.1.2 Cell counting

Cells were counted using a trypan blue exclusion assay. From the resuspended cell pellet obtained at each passage 20µL of cell suspension was mixed with 20µL of trypan blue solution

(Biosera), from this 20µL was loaded onto the haemocytometer to count the cells. In the presence of trypan blue dead cells will uptake the dye and will appear blue in the centre, this can distinguish dead cells as live cells will be clear. Viable were counted on the four corners of the haemocytometer at x10 magnification using a light microscope (Nikon, Digital sight). To determine the cells per mL count, the average of the 4 live cell counts were taken and multiplied by 2 (dilution factor for trypan blue) and displayed as cell per mL. Step 1 and 2 equations were followed to seed a new flask.

Step 1:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} A+B+C+D \\ 4 \end{array} \quad X \ 2 = \ cell \ concentration \ x \ 10^4 \end{array}$$

Step 2:

Volume of cell solution required from flask = <u>
cell concentration required x Volume of cell suspension required</u> <u>
Concentration of cell solution in flask</u>

2.1.3 Differentiation procedure

Cells from passage number 7 were seeded at a density of 2 to 3 x 10³ cells/mL in a T75 flask and incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C with 5% CO₂. It was important that cells are not allowed to become confluent as this will start the process of differentiation when in a contact inhibited state (Zhu et al., 2017). Medium was refreshed every 2-3 days. To start the differentiation procedure cells were harvested at 70-80% confluence and seeded in preadipocyte expansion medium in a 24 well plate at 2 x 10⁴ cells/well in 1mL of medium per well. Cells were left to grow for a further 48 hours and refreshed again with pre-adipocyte expansion medium. Cells were incubated as a confluent culture for a further 72 hours. Growth medium was removed, and an identical volume of differentiation medium was added to each well (1mL). Published research recommends the following protocol for successful differentiation (Zhao et al., 2019). Differentiation medium made up of Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium, catalogue number 30-2002 (ATCC, USA), supplemented with Fetal Bovine Serum FBS (Gibco) 10%, dexamethasone (Sigma Aldrich) 1.0µM methylisobutylxanthine IBMX (Sigma Aldrich) 0.5mM, these drugs were dissolved using dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Thermo Fisher) before adding to the differentiation medium. Insulin (Sigma Aldrich) 1.0μ g/mL as purchased see table 2.1. Differentiation is initiated by changes in gene expression, microarray analysis of 3T3-L1 cells during differentiation show a number of upregulated genes such as GLUT4 glucose transporter 4 and insulin like growth factor genes compared to preadipocytes (Guo and Liao, 2000). After 48 hours the differentiation medium was removed and replaced with adipocyte maintenance medium, Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM), catalogue number 30-2002 (ATCC, USA), supplemented with Fetal Bovine Serum FBS (Sigma Aldrich) 10%, insulin (Sigma Aldrich) 1.0 μ g/ml, see table 2.1. Differentiated cells were kept in the 24 well plate in continuous culture, maintenance medium was replaced every 48-72 hours.

Pre-adipocyte expansion	Differentiation medium	Adipocyte maintenance			
medium		medium			
90% DMEM	90% DMEM	90% DMEM			
10% Bovine Calf Serum (FCS)	10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)			
1% Penicillin/Streptomycin	1.0µM Dexamethasone	1.0 μg/mL Insulin			
	0.5mM Methylisobutylxanthine (IBMX)	1% Penicillin/Streptomycin			
	1.0 μg/mL Insulin				
	1% Penicillin/Streptomycin				

Table 2.1: 3T3-L1 media formulations used for pre-adipocytes, differentiation and adipocyte maintenance.

Cells were checked using light microscopy (Nikon, Eclipse TS100) after 0, 7, 14, 21 days and considered fully differentiated when lipid droplets were observed. Images were taken using Nikon, Digital sight at X40 magnification.

2.2 Oil red-O staining of 3T3-L1 cells

To confirm 3T3-L1 cell differentiation into adipocytes and production of lipids, Oil red-O stain (Sigma Aldrich) was used to highlight the presence of lipids droplets in differentiated cultured cells. Oil red-O is a lipophilic diazo dye which stains lipid material in samples red (Proescher, 1927). It has been used in tissue and cell culture settings to discern adipocytes from other cell types for over 40 years (Green and Kehinde, 1975), more recently as a measure of adipocyte differentiation (Ramirez-Zacarias et al., 1992). A working stock of 60 % Oil Red-O was obtained by mixing Oil red-O solution with double distilled DD water. Cells were then fixed in a 10% paraformaldehyde (Sigma Aldrich) solution made up with PBS (Sigma Aldrich): the media was removed completely from the wells and the cells were rinsed with PBS, wells were aspirated completely and 1ml of 10% paraformaldehyde fixative solution was added to each well, the plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Cells were washed twice with PBS and aspirated completely before adding the Oil Red-O working solution and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour on a rocking platform. The staining solution was removed, and cells washed 3 times with PBS, cells were then ready to image using Nikon, Digital sight at X40 magnification and photographed using Nikon, Eclipse TS100.

2.3 Mouse Adipokine Arrays

To determine levels of secreted adipokines from differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes the cell supernatants from cells plated in a 24 well plate were collected 24 hours after seeding before reaching a contact inhibited state to compare with levels after differentiation and at weeks 1, 2, 3, and 4 to establish the optimum time point for collection for future experiments. Adipokines were measured using Mouse adipokine arrays (ARY013 R & D Systems Bio-Techne Ltd). The ARY013 mouse array measures 38 different adipokines, appendix table 7.4, spotted in duplicate on the array, appendix figure 7.45. Following the manufacturers protocol each array membrane was incubated on a rocking platform in provided 4-well dish in 2ml of buffer 6 blocking buffer. During incubation 1ml of sample was prepared individually and adjusted to a final volume of 1.5ml with buffer 6 and 15µl of mouse detection biotinylated antibodies then incubated for an hour. Blocking buffer 6 was aspirated from the array compartments and each sample with the biotinylated detection antibodies was added, this allowed mixing of the adipokines and the detection antibodies with the capture antibodies pre-spotted on

the membrane, the arrays were incubated overnight at 4°C on a rocking platform, see figure 2.1 for a visual representation of the procedure. Next arrays were washed 3 times on a rocking platform at room temperature for 10 minutes in individual containers followed by a 30-minute incubation step with 1:2000 diluted Streptavidin HRP and the wash step repeated. Arrays were incubated with 1ml of prepared Chemi Reagent Mix for 1 minute then covered with a plastic sheet avoiding air bubbles. Arrays were imaged using a G-Box (Syngene software) for suggested exposure time of 10 minutes which detects chemiluminescence in each spot of the array. Images were saved as .bmp files and analysed using Quickspots tool (Western Vision Software for R & D Systems). An average of the pixel intensity of each duplicate spot was taken representing each adipokine, the average of the Negative control spots was used to calculate the background signal, this was then subtracted from all average pixel intensities and saved in an excel file. The relative changes in adipokine levels could then be compared.



Figure 2.1: Representation of Human and mouse antibody arrays. Capture antibodies are prespotted in duplicate on nitrocellulose membranes. Arrays are incubated with sample and biotinylated detection antibodies, after further incubation with streptavidin-HRP chemiluminescence reagents are added to the membrane this produces a light signal on each spot which corresponds with the amount of protein bound. The negative control has no bound antibodies and acts as the background signal and the positive controls are used to align the array on the Quickspots analyses tool and to demonstrate the array has been incubated in Streptavidin-HRP and displays the maximum chemiluminescence signal. Adapted from R & D systems proteome profiler antibody array image.

2.4 Patient Sample and Data Collection

Patients were recruited in collaboration with Royal Manchester Children's Hospital. The data in the study has been anonymised to conform to data protection (Data Protection Act 1998) and parents/carers have given informed consent. NHS Health Research Authority ethical approval has been awarded: IRAS code 16/NS/0134. The study has also been approved by The University of Salford Research Ethical approval panel application number STR1718-01. We have recruited 38 patients in a 3.0 year period of this current study. In this pilot study we did not recruit patients to obtain healthy control blood due to the invasiveness of obtaining blood from young children. Blood samples were obtained by qualified medical professionals as part of the standard induction therapy protocol to minimise unnecessary invasive procedures. 5mL blood samples were taken at day 1 of the induction therapy and day 29 when the induction therapy was complete, patients were also weighed at day 0 and day 29. The patient study design was made to be as minimally invasive as possible to reduce the impact on the children recruited to the study and also to collect data regarding adipokine profiles early on in treatment in this intensive part of therapy. A schematic of the study design can be seen in figure 2.2.





From the whole blood samples plasma was extracted by research nurses and stored at -80°C for use in the study. Further to this as part of treatment weight and height were taken and BMI recorded at day 1 and day 29 which is then used to calculate the child's BMI percentile which is a measure of their weight in relation to age, sex and height compared with other children in the same categories (Daniels, 2009). Additionally, due to potential outcomes discussed in the introduction regarding toxicity and potential side effects of regimen A or regimen B where Daunorubicin is administered this has also been recorded. Patients were also given a category for MRD risk which was low risk or MRD risk. The MRD risk status was given after bone marrow sampling on day 29, patients with a blast cell percentage count <0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low risk and a blast cell percentage count >0.005% were considered low r

These parameters are taken from the UKALL2011 trial protocol and summarised in table 2.2 with patient information and demographics.

Table 2.2: Summary of patient information and demographic. Table shows, age at diagnosis, gender-male or female, BMI at diagnosis, BMI at day 29, cytogenetic risk and minimal residual disease risk and % weight change, n=38.

Clinical variable	Number of patients n=38
Age	
	6.5 ± 3.8 years
Sex	24 males
	14 females
Number in Induction category A/B	Induction A: 15
	Induction B:23
BMI at Diagnosis (Kg/m²)	16.6 ± 2.0
BMI at day 29 (Kg/m ²)	17.2 ± 3.3
Cytogenic risk	good: 18
	intermediate:17
	high risk: 1
	T-cell disease: 1
MRD risk	22 low risk
	15 MRD risk
	1 no markers
% Weight change	Range -11.93 to +37.24, mean 6.03 ± 11.30

2.5 Human Adipokine Arrays

To determine levels of secreted circulating adipokines from patient samples plasma was obtained at day 0 of induction therapy and at day 29 when induction therapy was complete. The array approach was used to establish the range of all adipokines secreted at day 0 and day 29 to identify any novel patterns in expression. Adipokines levels were measured using Human Adipokine Arrays (ARY024 R & D Systems Bio-Techne Ltd). The ARY024 Human Array

measures 58 different adipokines, appendix table 7.5, spotted in duplicate on the array, array coordinates displayed in appendix figure 7.46. Following the manufacturers protocols each array membrane was incubated on a rocking platform in provided 4-well dish in 2ml of buffer 6 blocking buffer. During incubation 500µL of sample was prepared individually and adjusted to a final volume of 1.5mL with 500 μ L of buffer 6 and 500 μ L of buffer 4 also 30 μ l of human detection biotinylated antibodies then incubated for an hour. Blocking buffer 6 was aspirated from the arrays and each sample with the biotinylated detection antibodies was added and incubated overnight at 4°C on a rocking platform, see figure 2.1 for a visual representation of the procedure. Next arrays were washed 3 times for 10 minutes in individual containers followed by a 30-minute incubation step with 1:2000 diluted Streptavidin HRP and the wash step repeated. Arrays were blotted and 1ml of prepared Chemi Reagent Mix was added for 1 minute then covered with a plastic sheet avoiding air bubbles. Arrays were imaged using a G-Box (Syngene software) for suggested exposure time of 10 minutes which detects chemiluminescence in each spot of the array. Images were saved as bmp files and analysed using Quickspots tool (Western Vision Software for R & D Systems). An average of the pixel intensity of each duplicate spot was taken representing each adipokine, the average of the Negative control spots was used to calculate the background signal, this was then subtracted from all average pixel intensities and saved in an excel file. The relative changes in adipokine levels can then be compared. For patient data analyses adipokine pixel intensity was normalised to the average of the three reference spots and changes in pixel intensity was calculated as Log2 fold change.

2.6 Cell culture of Human ALL cell lines Molt4 and CEM-CCRF

CEM-CCRF cells are a human ALL cell line originally obtained from a 4-year-old female, they are a T-Lymphoblast and grow in suspension in culture and are commonly used for studying ALL. In this study, the majority of the patients have ALL of B cell origin, however the only cell line of paediatric B cell origin available from tissue collections is CCRF-SB and this is infected with herpes virus and therefore not used in this study (Mendoza-Santiago et al., 2019). The CEM-CCRF cells were purchased from American Tissue Culture Collection. The cells were supplemented with base medium RPMI-1640, (Biosera), to make up a complete medium it was supplemented with Fetal Bovine Serum FBS (Gibco) 10% 100µL/mL, Penicillin and streptomycin (Biosera) 1% 10µL/mL, Sodium Pyruvate (Gibco) 1% 10µL/mL, Glutamine (Lonza) 1% 10µL/mL. Cells were seeded at a density of 2 to 3 x 10⁵ cells/mL in a T75 flask with 10ml of complete medium and incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C with 5% CO2. Cell medium was refreshed every 2-3 days and fresh medium was added at 20-30% by volume each time. Cells were counted using a trypan blue viability assay (Sigma-Aldrich. USA) and kept at a live cell density between 2 to 3 x 10⁵ and 1 to 2 x 10⁶ viable cells/mL. Molt4 cells were purchased from ATCC and cultured in the same conditions as the CEM-CCRF cells. The Molt4 are also a T lymphoblast derived from a 19-year-old male, both cell lines are used extensively in ALL research.

2.7 Trypan blue viability assay and sample collection

To determine the viability of Molt4 cells in the presence of various adipokines trypan blue viability assay tests were completed every day over the course of a five day experiment to check cell viability. The following adipokines were tested; leptin, IL-8, resistin, serpinA12 and angiopoietin-2. Trypan blue is an azo dye which is impermeable to healthy cell membranes therefore it will only enter a cell which is unhealthy or dead with a compromised membrane (Strober, 2001). When cells are visually examined under a light microscope unviable cells will appear a blue colour in the cytoplasm due to trypan blue binding to intracellular proteins and viable cells will appear clear (Stoddart, 2011). The use of trypan blue live dead assays are inexpensive and the most commonly used method to count cells and calculate cell viability in a population of cells (Piccinini et al., 2017). Cells were collected on day 3 and used for western blot analysis to check for activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway. Molt4 cells were subcultured and 20µL of cell suspension was mixed with 20µL of trypan blue solution (Biosera), from this 20µL was loaded onto the haemocytometer to count the cells. Viable and dead cells were counted on the four corners of the haemocytometer at x10 magnification using a light microscope, Nikon, Digital sight. To determine the cells per mL count, the average of the 4 live cell counts, and the 4 dead cell counts were taken and multiplied by 2 (dilution factor for trypan blue) and displayed as cell per mL. The following equation was used to work out the percentage cell viability.

To establish the effect of individual adipokines on the viability of Molt4 cells the following experiment was set up. Molt4 cells were seeded into a six well plate (Starstedt) at 200,000 cells/mL in 0.3% FBS with 2mL in each well this was classed as day 1. After 24 hours on day 2 cells were treated with an adipokine at doses of 500ng/mL, 50ng/mL, 5ng/mL and no adipokines in the control well. Adipokine solutions were prepared by mixing the lyophilized pellet with DD water and stored in aliquots at -20°C. Cells were gently pipetted up and down to ensure all cells were in solution and 20µL was taken to perform a trypan blue viability assay. On day 3 1mL of cells were collected by gently pipetting up and down in the wells to ensure all cells were in solution from each well and proteins extracted for western blot, a further 20µL was taken to complete a trypan blue viability assay. Trypan blue viability assays were completed on day 4 and 5 as above, see figure 2.3 for plate layout.



Figure 2.3: Trypan blue viability plate set up. Molt4 cells were seeded into a six well plate at 200,000 cells/mL in 0.3% FBS with 2mL in each well (day 1) after 24 hours cells were treated with an adipokine at doses of 500ng/mL, 50ng/mL, 5ng/mL and no adipokines in the control well (day2). On day 3 1mL of cells were collected from each well and proteins extracted for western blot. Trypan blue exclusion assays were completed on day 4 and 5.

2.8 Protein extraction and quantification

For western blotting, 1 mL of cell solution was removed from each well containing the treated and control cells and prepared for SDS page. Cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200rpm, after removing the media the pellet was washed with PBS and centrifuged again at 1200rpm. The supernatant was carefully removed, and samples were lysed in 100 μ L triple lysis buffer (50mM Tris-HCI pH 7.5, 150mM, NaCI, 0.1% SDS, 1% NP40) containing phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktail (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) this cocktail was used to stop proteases and phosphatases degrading proteins during the extraction process (Bass et al., 2017), the samples were then placed on ice for 30 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 13000rpm at 4°C to remove insoluble material. The protein concentration of the supernatant was then quantified using a Bradford protein assay (Bio-rad), this assay determines concentrations of proteins by the colour change of Coomassie G-250 from brownish orange to blue (Sedmak and Grossberg, 1977). Coomassie G-250 is brownish orange in colour when unbound to protein with an absorbance maximum of 470nm, when bound to protein this colour shifts to blue and can be measured on a calibrated photospectrometer (Jenway 6305) at a 595nm wavelength, this measurement is proportional to the amount of protein in the sample. The concentration reading allows the mass of the protein to be calculated by using a BSA curve (linear relationship between optical density and protein concentration/ μ g) which is calculated from using standards covering the linear range of the Bradford assay.

2.9 Western blotting

Samples containing 30µg of protein were boiled for 10 minutes with laemmli SDS sample buffer (Alfa Aesar). Laemmli SDS sample buffer is a loading buffer containing glycerol and bromophenol blue. Glycerol is dense and allows the sample to sink into the wells when loading, whilst bromophenol blue, aids tracking progress during electrophoresis (Mahmood and Yang, 2012). Heating and using laemmli SDS buffer also denatures the secondary/tertiary structures within the sample but preserves the negative charge of amino acids (Bass et al., 2017), the protein can then move through the electric field. Samples were then fractionated by SDS-PAGE using Trans-blot kit (Bio-rad) and 1x Tris/Glycine/SDS running buffer (Bio-rad). Following electrophoresis, the samples were transferred to an immune-Blot PVDF membrane (Bio-rad) using 1x Tris/Glycine transfer buffer (Bio-rad). When transferred Ponceau red stain (Sigma-Aldrich) was used to detect protein transfer onto the membrane, this was then rinsed with DD water and blocked with 5% non-fat powdered milk in TBST, (10nM Tris, pH 8.0, 150nM NaCl, 0.01% Tween 20) (Bio-rad) for one hour which prevents nonspecific antibodies binding to the membrane (Mahmood and Yang, 2012), it was then exposed to primary and secondary antibodies. Membranes were incubated overnight with primary antibodies against AKT (1:1000), phospho-AKT (1:1000) and GAPDH (1:10000) (Cell signalling). Membranes were washed for 3 x 10 minutes with PBS Tween 0.1% and incubated with anti-rabbit (GE healthcare) and anti-mouse (Sigma-Aldrich) secondary antibodies at 1:5000 dilution for one hour, then a final 3 x 10 minute wash step with PBS Tween 0.1%. Secondary antibodies used

were horseradish peroxidase conjugated and the reactivity of the proteins detected using chemiluminescence (Thermo Fisher Supersignal West femto). Images were captured using a G-Box (Syngene software). Images were then processed using ImageJ software to quantify the density of protein bands which reflect the relative amounts of protein compared to the loading control.

<u>2.10 MTS assay</u>

An MTS assay was used to check the viability of cells in suspension, it is a sensitive colorimetric assay based on the presence of metabolically active cells (Mosmann, 1983). NAD(P)H-dependant dehydrogenase enzymes in viable cells cause a reduction of the tetrazolium compound in the MTS solution which in turn produces a coloured formazan product which is then measured at an absorbance of 490nm (Cory et al., 1991), metabolically active cells produce a dark brown colour in each well compared to a lighter colour with less active or dead cells. This one step assay was performed to determine the viability Molt4 cells in the presence of drug treatments.

Prior to starting the assay, the cells were counted with Trypan Blue to determine live cell numbers. Cells were seeded in a clear 96 well plate at a density of 2 x 10⁵ viable cells/mL in 0.3% FBS with 100µL in each well and incubated for 24 hours. Drug doses were prepared on a separate plate in a serial dilution, for vincristine this selected concentrations were 20nM, 10nM, 5nM, 2.5nM, 1.25nM, 0.625nM, 0.312nM, 0.156nM and 0.078nM with a negative control of untreated Molt4 cells and a positive control of colchicine (Sigma Aldrich) at a concentration of 500µM. 100µL of vincristine dilutions were added back to the Molt4 cell plate and incubated for a further 72 hours. This was also completed with the drug daunorubicin (Alfa Aesar) at concentrations ranging from 200nM, 100nM, 50nM, 25nM, 12.5nM, 6.25nM, 3.12nM, 1.56nM and 0.78nM. Overall DMSO concentration used for drug dilution across the plate was less than 1%. To complete the cell proliferation assay cells were incubated with 20µL/well of MTS solution (The CellTiter 96 Aqueous One Solution, Promega) for 3 hours in 37°C. Absorbance was read using an Omega Fluostar plate reader (Omega Fluostar, Omega software) at 490nm and 690nm. To process the data background absorbance was subtracted, the average absorbance of the treated wells was divided by the average absorbance of the negative control. The cell viability is expressed as a percentage change from

85

the negative control. The average absorbance of the treated wells was divided by the average absorbance of the no drug control for each condition on the plate not the negative control. Figure 2.4 shows an example of the plate layout, pale blue vincristine alone, dark blue vincristine and selected adipokine, pale green daunorubicin alone, dark green daunorubicin and selected adipokine, yellow are no drug controls for each condition, red are positive colchicine controls and grey are negative controls.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
А												
В												
С												
D												
E												
F												
G												
Н												

Figure 2.4: Example plate layout for chemosensitivity assays. Pale blue vincristine alone concentrations 20nM to 0.078nM A + B 1-10, dark blue vincristine and selected adipokine C + D 1-10, pale green daunorubicin alone concentrations 200nM to 0.78nM E + F 1-10, dark green daunorubicin and selected adipokine G + H 1-10, yellow are no drug controls for each condition, red are positive colchicine controls and grey are negative controls.

2.11 MTT assay

An MTT assay was used to determine the cell viability of adherent 3T3-L1 cells in response to the ALL chemotherapy drugs vincristine and daunorubicin. An MTT assay is a colorimetric assay and works on the same principle as an MTS assay as described previously, this is more suited to adherent cell lines and involves a two-step approach. The MTT reagent is reduced in this assay to an insoluble purple formazan product in the presence of metabolically active cells (Riss et al., 2016), the purple colour as marker for cell viability is then solubilised with DMSO and the absorbance measured at 570nm. 3T3-L1 cells were seeded in a 24 well plate (Starstedt) at 20,000 cells per well and differentiation was induced as previously described in section 2.1.3. When the cells were 3 weeks old the media was replaced with 1ml of media containing vincristine or daunorubicin, concentrations of each drug ranged from 100µM, 50µM, 25µM, 12.5µM, 6.25µM, 3.12µM, 1.562µM, 0.78µM, 0.39µM and 0.19µM. Cells were

then incubated for 96 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. To complete the cell proliferation 200µL of MTT solution (5mg/mL) was added to each well of the 24 well plate and then incubated for 3 hours at 37°C. The MTT solution was removed carefully leaving the purple formazan crystals which are an indicator of cell viability and then solubilized by the addition of 200µL of DMSO. The solutions were transferred to a 96 well plate (Starstedt), absorbance was read using an Omega Fluostar plate reader at 570nm and 690nm. To process the data background absorbance was subtracted, the average absorbance of the treated wells was divided by the average absorbance of the negative control on each plate.

2.12 Cell lines used in this study

2.12.1 3T3-L1

The 3T3-L1 cell line is a pre-adipocyte fibroblast-like cell line that was originally developed from mouse swiss 3T3 cells, the L1 strain is a continuous sub-strain which was developed through clonal isolation (Green and Meuth, 1974). The cells are a well-established model widely used in the field of adipose research in particular white adipose tissue research and obesity related conditions (Chang et al., 2016) (Guo et al., 2019). The cells can be continually cultured in a non-contact pre-adipocyte state where they have the potential to be differentiated into mature adipocytes and accumulate lipids droplets (Green and Meuth, 1974). The differentiation process involves allowing cells to become confluent then treating them with a cocktail of insulin, dexamethasone and a phosphodiesterase inhibitor 1-methyl-3-isobutyl xanthine (IBMX), cells can then be maintained as mature adipocytes to be used in experiments (Zebisch et al., 2012). During the differentiation process a number of genes are upregulated which drives the switch to a mature adipocyte phenotype by controlling cell growth and lipid metabolism (Gerhold et al., 2002).

2.12.2 CEM-CCRF

CEM-CCRF is a continuous T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia line originally isolated from the buffy coat fraction of a 4-year-old female after relapse from a multidrug chemotherapy regime in 1965 (Foley et al., 1965). Since CEM-CCRF was originally isolated, it has been used experimentally to produce variants, these include CEM-C1/2 which is resistant to the topoisomerase inhibitor Camptothecin (Kapoor et al., 1995). Also the closely related clone CEM-C7 which is highly sensitive to glucocorticoids (Medh et al., 2003).

2.12.3 Molt4

The Molt4 cell line was originally isolated from the peripheral blood of 19-year-old male patient who was suffering from T-cell ALL during a relapse of the disease, the patient had previously received a multi-drug chemotherapy regime (Minowada et al., 1972). After isolation of the cell line it was concluded that Molt4 is representative of a T-cell due to is ability to grow *in vitro* without an Epstein Barr virus (EBV)-genome, that it had no surface immunoglobulin or an Fc receptor, and also its ability to form direct rosettes with sheep red cells (Klein et al., 1974). Both Molt4 and CEM-CCRF cell lines are both T cell lines so they are not fully representative of B cell physiology in ALL and they are also from individual patients so lack the variability from patient samples across a full cohort. Nonetheless cell lines such as these provide useful model systems for the study of ALL.

2.13 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the patient data was taken from the results of the human adipokine arrays and analysed in GraphPad Prism version 8.2.1. The data was first normalised to the average of the reference spots on each array so that adipokine levels from patient to patient could be compared together for particular groups of patients for example, do levels of adipokines change at day 29 between low risk and MRD risk patients? The selected groups of patients were then compared using an unpaired t-test where p<0.05 was significant, this was the most suitable way to compare the selected two groups i.e., MRD risk to low risk patients and weight gain to normal weight range in patients at the end of induction therapy . Statistical analysis of the cell counts, and trypan blue assays were performed using Graphpad. The effects of adding individual adipokines to cells in culture at increasing concentrations compared to the control was performed using 2-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparison test each variable can be compared to the control. MTT results were processed using graph pad using 2-way ANOVA where p<0.05 was considered significant. The pilot study scatterplots were performed using linear regression to measure the r² value where the deviation from zero was

considered significant where p<0.05. Clinical variables by Liverpool university were analysed using R software by logistic regression where MRD risk was classed as the dependant categorical variable and selected clinical variables as the independent variables where p<0.05 was considered significant. Independent variables were BMI at diagnosis, age at diagnosis, sex (males), weight change percentile, BMI percentile at diagnosis, cytogenic risk and induction regimen. The work by The University of Liverpool was requested by service agreement and completed on patients 009- 040. After the final number of patient samples were collected and processed Graphpad was used to complete the data analysis, patients 009-057.

3.0 CHAPTER 3: 3T3-L1 Mouse adipose cell differentiation experiments

3.1 Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells produce an adipocyte-like phenotype

The major objective of this study was to profile circulating adipokine expression in paediatric ALL patients before and after induction treatment, however a number of initial experiments were performed in advance to validate the optimal conditions for the adipokine arrays, and to practice performing these arrays. One validation experiment was to perform an adipokine array using the 3T3-L1 cell line, in order to determine if biologically relevant changes in adipokine expression could be detected using this assay between conditioned media samples from pre-differentiated and differentiated adipocytes.

To confirm that the 3T3-L1 cells had fully differentiated and were producing adipokines three different methods were used; images were taken during the differentiation, oil red-o staining confirmed the presence of lipid droplets and mouse adipokine arrays verified the presence of adipokines in differentiated cell conditioned media.

Transmitted light micrographs were taken at weeks 0, 1, 2, 3, & 4 to confirm morphological changes during the differentiation process. Cell supernatant was taken at each weekly timepoint from designated differentiation wells before the differentiation medium was replaced, see figure 3.1a, c, e, g & h and from non-differentiation control wells, see figure 3.1b, d, f, h & j in which cells were refreshed with pre-adipocyte expansion medium not containing differentiation additives. At no point during the differentiation process or after were the cells passaged.

Figure 3.1a and b represents the cells at week 0 prior to the differentiation process and 1 day after the cells were initially seeded in the 24 well plate. There are no noticeable differences in phenotype between the control and differentiation wells. The cells appear as small crescent like shapes with no lipid droplets present. After one week of differentiation, figure 3.1c and d cells which were exposed to differentiation factors, appear to be larger in size and small lipid droplets are evident, the Week 1 control figure 3.1d shows the appearance of smaller lipid droplets with large gaps between the cells, all images were taken from the same experiment. Week 2 after differentiation, the number of lipid droplets appears to have

increased figure 3.1e, while the control well figure 3.1f appears to have comparably less droplet formation with large gaps between the cells. At this point, differentiated cell medium had a yellow colour and was viscous, the non-differentiated control well medium still had a pink colour similar to the medium when it is due to be refreshed when growing as a pre-adipocyte culture. There were no obvious phenotypic changes at week 3 compared with week 2, figure 3.1g and h, nor at week 4 figure 3.1i and j, although some lipid droplets are present in the un-differentiated control well after 4 weeks.



Figure 3.1: Differentiation of 3T3-L1 mouse adipocyte cells over 4 weeks. a, c, e, g, i, shows differentiation wells at weeks 0-4. b, d, f, h, j shows non-differentiation control wells where 3T3-L1 cells did not receive differentiation medium. Lipid droplet accumulation is apparent from week 1 (black arrows) and increases to week 4 within the differentiated wells, there are fewer fat droplets in the non-differentiated wells, Scale bars 25µM.

<u>3.2 Oil red-O staining confirms the presence of lipids droplets in</u> <u>differentiated 3T3-L1 cells</u>

Following 2 weeks differentiation the imaged cells were stained with the lysochrome diazo dye, Oil red-O solution, to confirm the presence of lipids in fixed cells (Proescher, 1927). Figure 3.2a shows 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes after two weeks of differentiation and when lipid droplets are apparent within the cells. Cells were fixed and stained as described in the methods section 2.2 and imaged using light microscopy. Figure 3.2b shows the well stained with Oil red-O confirming the presence of lipids and red circular stained lipid droplets can be observed.





Figure 3.2: Light Microscopy to confirm lipid accumulation in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells at 2 weeks. Image a shows 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes at week 2 after differentiation. Image b shows cells the cells stained with Oil red-O to highlight lipid droplets. Magnification x40, Scale bars 25µm.

3.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm the presence of adipokines in 3T3-L1 differentiated cell conditioned media

Supernatant from each differentiation time point was taken to determine which adipokines were produced by the differentiated and non-differentiated 3T3-L1 cells. Cell culture medium was collected 24 hours after seeding, before 100% confluence (when the cells were still in the pre-adipocyte stage) then at weeks 1, 2, 3, 4, from the differentiated wells and the undifferentiated control wells. Mouse adipokine arrays were run immediately as described in methods section 2.3, imaged, and analysed to obtain the mean pixel density for each adipokine. Results are displayed in a graph in appendix figure 7.1, this shows all adipokine expression grouped into corresponding weeks from each array processed with the overall

mean showing an increase from seeding at weeks 0, increasing in expression to week 3 and then decreasing in week 4. Results are also displayed as a heat map with expression values in appendix table 7.1 which helps to visualise the change in pixel density in relation to undifferentiated cells 24 hours after seeding. Results have been highlighted red when the mean pixel intensity decreases and green when the mean pixel density increases compared to control media taken 24 hours after cell seeding. These data demonstrate the biggest increases in expression level of each individual adipokine at week 3 of differentiation. This was defined as the optimum time point for medium collection to use in future fat conditioned media cell culture experiments. The undifferentiated control cells also show increases in adipokine expression at week 3. There are differences in expression between week 2 after differentiation and week 3, week 3 shows higher expression of the adipokines CRP, DPPIV, IL6, MCP-1, pentraxin-2, RAGE, serpin E1 and TIMP-1 in the differentiated cells compared with week 2 and medium collected 24 hours after seeding. Serpin E1 has still decreased overall compared to the levels recorded taken from media 24 hours after seeding. In some cases, adipokine expression was not detectable at the experimental time points and therefore it was not possible to calculate expression change. This observation has been captured within appendix table 7.1, the white boxes indicate where expression change could not be calculated.

The information in figure 3.3 and heat map in figure 3.4 shows the same set of data displayed as log2 fold change. Adipokine expression data for weeks 1, 2, 3 & 4 compared to week 0, which is the cell culture medium collected from pre-adipocytes 24 hours after seeding before differentiation. Presenting the data in this format make it clearer to see at week 3 all but two of the adipokines tested have increased in expression, the mean increase is higher for adipokine expression at week three in the differentiated and drops slightly by week 4. Also, the spot highlighted in dark grey is the fold change decrease for Serpin E1, this decrease is due to the high expression of Serpin E1 in the undifferentiated cells. The yellow spot highlights the expression levels of TIMP-1 which did not change compared to week 0, all remaining adipokines on the array increased in expression. By week 4 the results indicate that the overall mean for levels of expression decreased, this further confirmed the selection for week 3 adipocyte media as time for completing further experiments which the adipocytes and chemotherapy needed to be factored into the optimum collection point.



Figure 3.3: Mouse Adipokine array results and Log2 fold change data from 3T3-L1 differentiated and undifferentiated cells over the four-week differentiation period. Adipokine expression levels from each week 1, 2, 3 & 4 are displayed grouped to show the mean increases over the whole experiment compared to week 0. The dark grey spot is the result for Serpin E1 and the yellow spot TIMP-1, n=1.

The heat map displayed in figure 3.4 confirms log2 fold change expression levels, increasing shades of green correspond to increasing levels of the log2 fold change results for adipokines compared to undifferentiation cells 24 hours after seeding, indicated as zero on figure 3.3. Red indicates decreases on expression levels of adipokines and grey indicates no data available for that time point.



Figure 3.4: Mouse Adipokine array results and Log2 fold change data from 3T3-L1 differentiated compared to undifferentiated cells over a four-week differentiation period. The summary table indicates increases in log2 fold change (green) and decreases (red) of array pixel density for each corresponding adipokine. Results for differentiated cells and undifferentiated wells for weeks 1, 2, 3 & 4 compared to pre-adipocytes at 24 hours after seeding. Grey boxes indicate no data available, n=1.

3.4.1 MTT assay confirms Daunorubicin and Vincristine reduce cell viability of 3T3-L1 cells

Chemotherapy is known to have an impact on cell viability in many cells in the body not just the cancer cells being treated, a major aim in cancer treatment is to target cancer cells while avoiding damage to healthy cells (Cheok, 2012). The purpose of the following experiments was to understand the impact of chemotherapy on the function of adipose tissue. It is well documented that daunorubicin is known to be toxic to cells, particularly cardiac cells (McGowan et al., 2017). To determine the viability of 3T3-L1 cells treated with chemotherapy, week 3 differentiated murine 3T3-L1 cells were treated with increasing two-fold concentrations of vincristine or daunorubicin from 0.019µM to 100µM. Viability was determined using an MTT assay as described in section 2.11. At concentrations above 1µM vincristine displayed less toxicity to 3T3-L1 cells than daunorubicin, Figure 3.5. Cell viability was significantly lower in cells treated with daunorubicin compared with vincristine at 25µM, 50µM and 100µM, p=0.0001, p<0.0001 and p<0.0001 respectively, n=3, calculated using 2-way ANOVA.



Figure 3.5: The effect of chemotherapy agents on the viability of differentiated 3T3-L1 cells. Viability of differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with Vincristine and Daunorubicin for 96 hours and were measured using an MTT assay. Concentration μ M plotted against % cell viability. Significant changes were observed between cells treated with vincristine compared to daunorubicin at concentrations 25 μ M, 50 μ M and 100 μ M, denotes p values of p=0.0001, p=<0.0001 and p=<0.0001 respectively, n=3.

3.4.2 Oil red-O staining confirms changes in the levels of lipids droplets in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with Vincristine and Daunorubicin

Experiments were performed to determine the effect of vincristine and daunorubicin on the accumulation of lipids and secretion of adipokines by the 3T3-L1 cells. A high concentration of the drug, where the viability was reduced, and a low concentration, which had no effect on cell viability, were chosen from MTT data, figure 3.6. Concentrations of 0.05µM and 5µM were chosen. Figure 3.6 displays the images taken of the differentiated 3T3-L1 cells after staining with Oil red-O. Lipid droplet accumulation appears to be negatively impacted by chemotherapy treatment and this effect was increased at higher concentrations of both vincristine, figure 3.6b and c and daunorubicin figure 3.6e and f compared with control well image 3T3-L1 cells without treatment, figure 3.6a and d. Daunorubicin treated cells have fewer visible lipid droplets at both concentrations compared to vincristine treated cells and untreated control cells.



Figure 3.6: Images of 3T3-L1 cells after treatment with Vincristine or Daunorubicin. A and D show control wells without treatment. B shows cells treated with 0.05μM of Vincristine and C shows cell treated with 5μM of Vincristine. E shows cells treated with 0.05μM of Daunorubicin and F shows cells treated with 5μM Daunorubicin. Lipid droplet accumulation is apparent in control wells and decreases in both treatments with increasing concentrations of drug. Daunorubicin treated cells have less visible lipid droplets at both concentrations. Scale bars 25μM.

3.4.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm changes in adipokine expression in cells treated with Vincristine and Daunorubicin

To investigate the effect of vincristine and daunorubicin treatment on 3T3-L1 cells, mouse adipokine arrays were used to assess the changes in adipokine secretions. Secretions from the cells treated with 0.05μ M and 5μ M of Vincristine and Daunorubicin for 96 hours were tested and the fold change from the control untreated differentiated well was analysed. Results suggest that a relatively short treatment of cells to 96 hours of chemotherapy does not impact the ability of the cells to secrete adipokines, although the expression levels do differ in cells treated with vincristine and daunorubicin compared to non-treated cells. The green squares are the results from differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with 0.05µM of vincristine, the red circles are differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated with 5µM of vincristine, shown in figure 3.7. Adipokines did not all follow the same patten of expression change following exposure to vincristine. The following adipokines show little difference when treated with 0.05µM or 5 µM of Vincristine; IGF-II, IGFBP-1, IGFBP-3, LIF, Lipocalin-2, MCP-1, M-CSF, Pentraxin-3, Pref-1, Serpin-E1, TNF-Alpha, VEGF, within this group of adipokines there are larger increases of IGF-II, IGFBP-1 and TNF-alpha compared to untreated control cells. There are differences in adiponectin expression; cells treated with 5μ M of vincristine are similar to untreated cells but when treated with 0.05µM of vincristine expression of adiponectin is increased. The opposite pattern is seen in the following adipokines; ICAM-1, IGF-1, IGFBP-6, RANTES, resistin and TIMP-1 where treatment with vincristine decreases expression. The cells treated with 0.05µM of vincristine all show decreases in expression of adipokines compared to untreated control cells and when treated with 5µM of vincristine ICAM-1, IGF-1, IGFBP-6, RANTES and resistin all increase in comparison to untreated control cells.



Figure 3.7: Mouse adipokine array results for 3T3-L1 cells treated with vincristine. Results displayed as Log2 of fold change from control well data represented as zero. The green squares are the fold change results for each adipokine for 0.05μM concentration of vincristine. The red circles are the fold change results for 5μm of vincristine. n=1.

Results in figure 3.8 show the same data for daunorubicin treated 3T3-L1 cells where the green squares are results from cells treated with 0.05µM of daunorubicin and the red circles cells treated with 5µM, n=1. Fold change data was plotted in comparison to untreated control cells. The following set of adipokines show little or no difference when treated with 0.05µM or 5µM of daunorubicin; adiponectin, ICAM-1, IGF-II, IGFBP-1, IGFBP-6, LIF, Lipocalin-2, MCP-1, M-CSF, pref-1, resistin, serpin-E1, TNF-alpha and VEGF. There are larger differences in expression levels of FGF-21, HGF, IGF-I, IGFBP-3, pentraxin-3, RANTES and TIMP-1, of these adipokines HGF and IGFBP-3 increase in both daunorubicin concentrations with 0.05µM displaying higher expression in comparison to untreated cells. FGF-21, pentraxin-3 and TIMP-1 also show differences in expression levels of IGF-1 and RANTES decreased in both treatments of daunorubicin with the largest decreases in the cells treated with 5µM of daunorubicin compared to untreated control cells.



Figure 3.8: Mouse adipokine array results for 3T3-L1 cells treated with daunorubicin. Results displayed as Log2 of fold change from control well data represented as zero. The green squares are the fold change results for each adipokine for 0.05μM concentration of daunorubicin. The red circles are the fold change results for 5μm of daunorubicin, n=1.

3.5 CHAPTER 3 DISCUSSION

In this study the following outcomes have been achieved; successful differentiation of 3T3-L1 mouse adipocytes including measurement of adipokine expression using adipokine arrays. Differentiated cells were then treated with chemotherapy drugs and changes to cell secretions were measured using mouse adipokine arrays. Images of 3T3-L1 cells during differentiation have captured images of lipid droplets within the cells. Oil-red O staining has confirmed the presence of lipids in fat droplets and have also established an adipokine expression profile using mouse adipokine arrays for each week up to 4 weeks during the differentiation process. There are cell viability changes in 3T3-L1 cells treated with vincristine and daunorubicin, there is reduced cell viability shown in the MTT assay and also reduced oil red-O staining observed. Furthermore, cell viability was reduced further in cells treated with daunorubicin than vincristine. Oil red-O staining confirmed reduced levels of lipids present in response to treatment with both concentrations of vincristine and daunorubicin used and levels reduced further in daunorubicin treated cells. To finalise this set of experiments

adipokine secretions were tested from the treated cells to confirm the adipokines present, changes were apparent in this set of experiments, changes to adipokine profiles were observed in both concentrations of chemotherapy drugs tested.

Considering these results, it is likely that adipokine expression profile changes may occur in patients in response to chemotherapy during induction treatment for ALL. In other cancers such as Colorectal cancer, chemotherapy regimens have been shown to increase plasma levels of anti-inflammatory adipokines such as adiponectin and decrease plasma levels of pro inflammatory adipokines such as visfatin and resistin (Słomian et al., 2017), suggesting that baseline levels of these adipokines after treatment may serve as indicators of good or poor response to treatments. This could provide proof of principle that adipokine arrays or measurements could be used to test this hypothesis in our patient plasma samples.

3.5.1 Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells produce an adipocyte like phenotype

The 3T3-L1 cell line is widely used and has been used in more than 5000 published articles on adipocyte research (Poulos et al., 2010) making it a good choice of cell line for our study. 3T3-L1 cells can be notoriously difficult to differentiate and many studies have suggested modifications of standard protocols to maximise their differentiation potential (Sheng et al., 2014). For this study, the standard ATCC protocol with no amendments was used and it has produced expected results with changes in levels of adipokine expression after differentiation (Zebisch et al., 2012). We found that 3T3-L1 cells can partially differentiate when they reach confluence in the absence of differentiation media and produce adipokines, this is line with published observations (Cao et al., 2012) and has been described in the ATCC protocols; pre-adipocytes should not become contact inhibited when sub culturing stocks as this can lead to differentiation (Zhu et al., 2017). The importance of using the differentiation process may therefore be questioned.

Published literature is limited regarding the use of undifferentiated 3T3-L1 cells in experiments for our purpose. Pre-adipocytes in the human body only constitute a small percentage of total fat tissue and the differentiation step allows for synchronicity of the morphological changes required to differentiate the cells (Student et al., 1980). As differentiated cells do not divide it is more practical to grow the cells as a pre-adipocyte

culture at low passages and differentiate the cells when required, because allowing the cells to become confluent can inhibit a successful differentiation (Zhao et al., 2019). For the purpose of the chemotherapy experiments and its impact on the cell viability of 3T3-L1 cells, we required the expression of adipokines at the highest optimum levels to observe changes in experiments, our data indicate this happens at week 3 of differentiation. All adipokines, except serpin E1 were present in the cell culture media collected and at highest levels in week 3. Serpin E1 or Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) has been shown to inhibit adipocyte differentiation, which could explain its low expression during the differentiation process (Liang et al., 2006).

From these results it can be concluded that the differentiation period of time was the most suitable method for our purpose using cells 3 weeks after differentiation. At this timepoint a large number of adipokines showed the highest concentrations of the 4 weeks, and so would allow us to sensitively measure changes in adipokines produced and lipid droplet formation in response to chemotherapy. It was our intention to investigate the effects of fat conditioned media on ALL cell lines, however, a paper published during the time of this project found no protective effect of fat conditioned media from 3T3-L1 cells on leukaemia cells from daunorubicin alone (Sheng et al., 2016). Furthermore, it was only when Nalm6 ALL cells and 3T3 -L1 cells were co cultured to produce adipocyte and ALL cell conditioned media (ALCM) that this was protective of ALL cells in the presence of daunorubicin. Further experimental changes to our experiments with Molt4 and CEM-CCRF cells included a reduction in the FBS concentration 10% to 0.3% FBS for Molt4 and 1.25% FBS for CEM-CCRF. FBS has an abundance of unquantified growth factors and adipokines which could mask the signal from individual adipokines being tested (Rashid and Coombs, 2019). Fat conditioned media produced from 3T3-L1 cells are cultured in media containing 10% FCS/FBS which would be more difficult to reduce in percentage as the FCS/FBS is required for the high energy lipolysis activity in the 3T3-L1 cells (Kuri-Harcuch and Green, 1978). The main purpose of these experiments was to begin with mouse arrays for proof-of-principle and the testing of secretions from adipocytes and methodology for the future patient work using human arrays. Another question we could ask of the human arrays is, does the induction chemotherapy treatment impact the levels of adipokines present in the human plasma samples because it disrupts fat cell or tissue

function? The next section discusses the results of these experiments using the 3T3-L1 cell line.

3.5.2 Daunorubicin and Vincristine treatment reduces the cell viability and lipid production of 3T3-L1 cells

Experiments were performed to investigate the effect of chemotherapy drugs on adipocytes and their secretions. As chemotherapy is known to be toxic to cells, we wanted to explore the impact on adipocyte function. It is unclear how toxic chemotherapy is to adipocytes and how it may impact beneficial adipokines and their secretion when recovering. The following studies investigated the impact of doxorubicin (an anthracycline) on 3T3-L1 cell function. The studies focused on cancer in general and the weight loss associated with chemotherapy treatment and poor outcomes (Batatinha et al., 2014, Biondo et al., 2016). Both studies demonstrated the negative impact on adipose tissues homeostasis, with the latter confirming decreased lipolysis, lipogenesis, reduced glucose uptake and apoptosis of adipocytes. Another study in a rat model of colorectal cancer looked at the impact of the chemotherapy drugs Irinotecan and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) (Ebadi et al., 2017). The study identified specific drug related mechanisms that contributed to adipose atrophy, as accelerated loss of adipose tissue is linked with shorter survival in cancer. The group discovered that chemotherapy decreased the size of adipocytes in rat periuterine fat tissue and reduced expression of several proteins associated with ATP generation, lipogenesis and β -oxidation. There is less research regarding how daunorubicin and vincristine treatment impacts adipocyte function. Other research confirms the protective and homing effect on ALL cells by 3T3-L1 cells (Pramanik et al., 2013a).

Our study confirmed reduced viability after 3T3-L1 cells were treated with vincristine and daunorubicin, with the greatest decrease in viability caused by daunorubicin. These findings could be explained by the way both drug treatments exert their effects on different cell types, both anthracyclines and vinca alkaloids have shown to exert cardiotoxicity in patients. Using cardiomyocytes as an example of a cell that does not divide, daunorubicin, an anthracycline, can exert irreversible damage to paediatric heart cells whereas damage from vincristine can be temporary and reversible over time (Thomas, 2017). Vincristine exploits cancer cell rapid division and binds to microtubules to prevent this (Bates and Eastman, 2017). Cardiomyocytes

divide less and administering vincristine along with doxorubicin has even been shown to be limit doxorubicin cardiotoxicity (Chatterjee et al., 2008).

Daunorubicin has multiple mechanisms of action including induction of apoptosis by upregulating death receptors (Zhao and Zhang, 2017), induction of ROS species which impact cardiomyocytes and damage cell membranes (Doroshow, 2019). Similar to cardiomyocytes, adipocytes do not undergo rapid division; during development there is a mixture of hypertrophy and hyperplasic mechanisms (Jo et al., 2009) so these cells may be less impacted by vincristine treatment as is the case with cardiomyocytes. Due to the many different mechanisms of cell death induced by daunorubicin treatment, this may explain the differences in our set of results and simply that the cells are experiencing decreased cell viability in daunorubicin treated cells. There is certainly a call for 'kinder' treatments, particularly in relation to preserving the potential protective effect of adipocyte function during treatment and later in life and understanding ways of preventing adipocyte damage and subsequent weight loss which impacts overall survival and event free survival in ALL (den Hoed et al., 2015)

3.5.3 Mouse adipokine arrays confirm changes in adipokine expression in cells treated with vincristine and daunorubicin

The results of the mouse adipokine arrays treated with daunorubicin and vincristine confirm that the 3T3-L1 still produce adipokines and that the treatments even though they look to be reducing the amount of lipid droplets present particularly in the daunorubicin treated cells, their ability to secrete adipokines does not seem to be severely impacted even though some are changed. In vincristine and daunorubicin treated cells the levels of pref-1 are increased. Increased pref-1 levels are an indication that adipocyte differentiation is inhibited (Wang et al., 2006) these findings may explain the reduced lipid droplets and the possibility that the adipocyte function is being inhibited by the chemotherapy treatments. The levels of IGF-1 are both decreased in the daunorubicin and vincristine incubations. IGF-1 is an important factor in adipocyte differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells and is essential to the process (Zhu et al., 2009), this may further explain the reduced presence of lipid droplets in figure 3.1. Another observation is the reduced levels of resistin present in the secretions though it does increase in the cells treated with 5 μ M of vincristine. This observation may be the first indicator that

chemotherapy impacts adipocyte secretions and this could have a positive or negative outcome on circulating adipokines in patients. The following study confirmed high resistin levels at diagnosis in patients with ALL which was reduced possibly due to the positive impact of chemotherapy which restores adipokines to normal functioning levels that do not impact the disease process (Moschovi et al., 2010a). Looking at these results it is possible that adipokine expression in patients changes in response to chemotherapy. In other cancers such as Colorectal cancer, chemotherapy regimens have been shown to increase plasma levels of anti-inflammatory adipokines and decrease plasma levels of adipokines such as resistin (Słomian et al., 2017). We do not know at present if these changes are long term and if there are negative impacts of adipokine secretion, for example does chemotherapy impact the ability to secrete beneficial adipokines from adipose tissue after successful treatment. Following this set of experiments, we are confident that the adipokine arrays are sensitive enough to detect changes in adipokine expression and will be suitable for our work planned with patient samples in the next chapter.
4.0 CHAPTER 4: Patient sample pilot study results

4.1 Patient sample pilot study confirms reproducibility of Human adipokine arrays

To confirm the reproducibility of the human adipokine arrays when incubated with human plasma, a pilot study was undertaken. Early trouble shooting of the clinical trial protocol meant some patient data were incomplete; patients 001 to 008 day 29 bloods and weight data for day 29 for patients 001 to 006 and 008 are missing. Data collection was resolved from patient 009 onwards. Early samples were used to complete this pilot study to check variability of adipokine profiles in day 0 bloods in a set of low MRD risk patients. The pilot study involved generating adipokine profiles using day 0 samples for patients 006 and 007 in triplicate, see table 4.1.

Table 4.1: Patient information and demographic for the patient pilot study. Patients highlighted in grey, 006-008 are not included in full study. Patients 006-007 are included in pilot study. Patients 006-011 are included to confirm the pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression. Table shows patient ID, age at diagnosis, gender-male or female, BMI at diagnosis, BMI percentile at diagnosis, BMI at day 29, BMI percentile at day 29, cytogenetic risk and minimal residual disease risk, BMI percentiles in blue indicate the overweight category and the yellow category treatment acquired overweight.

ID	Age	M/F	Induction Treatment Category	BMI at Diagnosis (Kg/m2)	BMI Percentile diagnosis	BMI at Day 29	BMI Percentile Day 29	Cytogenetic risk	Day 29 MRD risk
006	2.6	F	В	15.3	39	N/A	N/A	Intermediate	Low risk
007	8.9	М	В	16.1	52	18.4	83	Intermediate	Low risk
008	6.3	М	A	14.9	33	N/A	N/A	Intermediate	Low risk
009	13.6	М	В	16.6	10	17.7	25	Good	Low risk
010	6.4	F	A	16.9	86	16.3	73	Good	Low risk
011	6.9	М	А	16	64	18.1	93	Intermediate	Low risk

Plasma samples were initially defrosted after collection from the hospital and replicate 1 performed immediately, with the remaining plasma frozen into 500µL aliquots. This meant that replicates 2 and 3 were exposed to an additional freeze-thaw cycle when compared with replicate 1. To check reproducibility between arrays, three separate arrays for the same patient samples were tested on three different days. Replicate arrays were performed for both patients on the same day (i.e. replicate 1 for patient 006 and 007 were performed

together). Figure 4.1 shows the full results for patient 006 and 007 plotted together with adipokine name on the x axis against the mean pixel density recorded from each array. Results show similarity between patients in the baseline expression levels of adipokines and show little variability between both patients of similar clinical characteristics in terms of BMI at diagnosis and MRD risk, results are displayed as mean pixel density with error bars showing standard deviation.



Figure 4.1: Pilot study data to show reproducibility of human arrays for patients 006 and 007. Adipokine expression plotted against array mean pixel intensity. Larger differences are Growth hormone, leptin and BAFF, n=3, error bars shown as standard deviations.

To further confirm the apparently high similarity in adipokine expression profiles between patients 006 and 007, adipokine profiles were plotted against each other on an x-y scatter plot, using linear regression. A positive correlation was observed with r² value of 0.8493, the deviation from zero is statistically significant at <0.0001 using linear regression analysis, see figure 4.2. This figure highlights three adipokines as outliers from the line of best fit which are highlighted in red (Growth Hormone), green (Leptin) and grey (BAFF).



Figure 4.2: Pilot study results to show reproducibility of human arrays for patients 006 and 007. Scatterplot plotted with adipokine expression using linear regression with a positive correlation, r² value 0.8493, the deviation from zero was significant at <0.0001. The outliers are Growth hormone highlighted in green, Leptin highlighted in red and BAFF highlighted in grey, n=3.

To check if freezing and thawing caused differences in adipokine expression and to ensure array reproducibility between replicates 1 and replicates 2 and 3, adipokine expression profiles were compared for replicates 1 and 2, 1 and 3 and 2 and 3. Replicate 1 has been frozen and thawed once and replicate 2 has been frozen and thawed twice. Results are displayed in figure 4.3a to f. Scatterplots show adipokine expression for each replicate for patients 006 and 007. Figure 4.3a, b and c are comparisons for patient 006, a is replicates 1 versus 2, b is replicates 1 versus 3 and c replicates 2 versus3, with r² values of 0.9726, 0.9839 and 0.9810 respectively. Figure 4.3d, e and f show the same data for patients 007 with r² values of 0.9779 for d, 0.9668 for e and 0.9415 for f. The deviation from zero was significant for all replicate comparisons at <0.0001, n=3. These results gave confirmed that freezing the plasma has little impact on the quality of the sample also the variability between each replicate was low. These results gave more confidence in choosing one replicate for each

patient, this was also desirable to keep the overall cost lower so more patient samples could be tested.



Figure 4.3: Pilot study results to show reproducibility of human arrays and potential impact of freezing and defrosting samples. Scatterplots show adipokine expression for each replicate for patients 006 and 007. A, B and C are comparisons for patient 006, A is replicates 1-2, B is replicates 1-3 and C replicates 2-3 with r² values of 0.9726, 0.9839 and 0.9810 respectively. D, E and F show the same data for patients 007 with r² values of 0.9779 for D, 0.9668 for E and 0.9415 for F. The deviation from zero was significant for all replicate comparisons at <0.0001, n=3.

4.2 Patient sample study confirms pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression

To confirm the typical adipokine profile before treatment, an adipokine profile study using day 0 samples from patients 006, 007, 008, 009, 010, 011 who all have recorded normal to overweight range BMI and low MRD risk at day 29, see table 4.1 for clinical parameters. Mean pixel intensity for each adipokine from day 0 plasma for each patient was compared to determine what the pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression was and how expression varied in a group of low MRD risk patients, figures 4.4, 4.5, 4.6. Results are plotted together with adipokine type on the x axis against the mean pixel intensity recorded for each array for each patient, they are displayed as mean pixel intensity for patients 006 and 007, n=3 and actual pixel intensity for patients 008, 009, 010 and 011, n=1. Figure 4.4 shows the results for adipokines adiponectin to fibrinogen; patients show differing levels in expression for each adipokine. The following adipokines show little variability between patients and are lower in expression compared to other adipokines in figure 4.4; angiopoietin-1, BMP-4, EN-RAGE, fetuin-B, FGF basic, FGF-19 and fibrinogen. It is important to point out that this is semiquantitative array and prone to variation which is below the limit of detection for this assay, the adipokines are still expressed but at low levels but showing much smaller variations. The following adipokines display higher patient expression levels and show greater variability between patients and deviation around the mean; adiponectin, angiopoietin-2, cathepsin-D, cathepsin-L, cathepsin-S, complement factor D, DPPIV/DC26, endocan and fetuin b. Adiponectin expression levels are overall low and don't rise as much compared to other adipokine expression levels measured here on figure 4.4 and are also clustered together with the exception of patient 007 having higher levels than the others for adiponectin expression. This pattern is comparable for angiopoietin-2 but patient 010 has higher expression levels than the rest of the patients. Cathepsin-L and cathepsin-S intensity have a wider range and not clustered around the mean. C-reactive protein (CRP) and endocan are clustered with patient 006 having higher intensity than the rest of the group. The following adipokines have a broad distribution of pixel intensities across the group of patients ranging from low expression to high expression; angiopoietin-like 2, angiopoietin-like 3, BAFF, cathepsin-D and chemerin.



Figure 4.4: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines adiponectin -fibrinogen. Patients results are grouped by adipokine with pixel intensity for each adipokine. Patient 006 is highlighted in blue, patient 007 in red, patient 008 in green, patient 009 in purple, patient 010 in black and patient 011 in yellow, error bars shown as standard error, n=1.

Figure 4.5 shows array expression levels for adipokines growth hormone to MIF. The following adipokines show little variability between patients and pixel intensities are clustered together at lower expression levels, below 5000 mean pixel intensity; HGF, ICAM-1/CD54, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7, IL1-beta, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-11, LAP(TGF-beta1), LIF CCL2/MCP-1 and M-CSF. The following adipokines expression show more variability or with expression levels mainly clustered around the mean with one or two outliers from the mean: growth hormone, IGFBP-3, IGFBP-4, IGFBP-6, leptin, lipocalin-2, and MIF. Growth hormone, IGFBP-3, IGFBP-4, lipocalin-2 and MIF show larger variability in expression between patients from low to high levels. IGFBP-6 levels are mainly clustered, although pixel intensity is higher

for patient 009 and lower levels for patient 010 compared with the rest of the cohort. Patients 006 and 010 show higher levels of leptin compared to other patients.



Figure 4.5: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines growth hormone – MIF. Patients results are grouped by adipokine with pixel intensity for each adipokine. Patient 006 is highlighted in blue, patient 007 in red, patient 008 in green, patient 009 in purple, patient 010 in black and patient 011 in yellow, error bars shown as standard error, n=1.

Figure 4.6 shows the array expression levels for adipokines myeloperoxidase to VEGF. The following adipokines show very little variation between patients and are expressed at lower levels; myeloperoxidase, oncostatin-M, pappalysin-1, visfatin, pentraxin-3, proprotein convertase-9, RAGE, resistin, serpin A8, serpin A12, serpin E1, TIMP-1, TIMP-3, TNF-alpha and VEGF. Adipokines nidogen-1, pref-1 and CCL5/RANTES show greater variability between patients. The adipokine expression for pentraxin-3 are mainly grouped together with patient 006 showing higher levels than the rest of the patients.



Figure 4.6: Pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression in patient samples, adipokines myeloperoxidase - VEGF. Patient array results are grouped by adipokine with pixel intensity for each adipokine. Patient 006 is highlighted in blue, patient 007 in red, patient 008 in green, patient 009 in purple, patient 010 in black and patient 011 in yellow, error bars shown as standard error, n=1.

To conclude the following adipokines showed higher expression or greater variation between patients 006-011; adiponectin, angiopoietin-2, angiopoietin Like-2, angiopoietin Like-3, BAFF, cathepsin-D, cathepsin L, cathepsin S, chemerin, complement D Factor, CRP, DPPIV/CD26, endocan, growth hormone, IGFBP-3, IGFBP-4, IGFBP-6, leptin, lipocalin-2, MIF, nidogen-1, pentraxin-3, pref-1 and CCL5/RANTES. The other adipokines listed were expressed at lower levels with less variation between patient's expression levels at day 0; angiopoietin-1, BMP-4, EN-RAGE, fetuin-B, FGF-Basic, FGF-19, fibrinogen, HGF, ICAM/CD54, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7, IL1-beta, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-11, LAP(TGF-beta), LIF, CCL2-MCP-1, M-CSF, myeloperoxidase, oncostatin-M, pappalysin-1, visfatin, proprotein convertase-9, RAGE,

resistin, serpin A8, serpin A12, serpin E1, TIMP-1, TIMP-3, TNF-alpha and VEGF. The aims from this section were to examine the accuracy and reproducibility of the arrays and before moving onto testing the patient samples, the clinical data and the individual patient array data will be set out in the next sections.

4.3 Summary of patient clinical data

Patients included in this study total 38, most patients diagnosed with ALL within the time period of 3 years from The Royal Manchester Children's Hospital were eligible for the study and have been recruited apart from patients diagnosed with B cell ALL which were Philadelphia Chromosome positive, these patients were not included as they are not included in the same risk stratification and treatments protocols in the UKALL2011 trial. The mean patient age is 6.5 ± 3.8 years, there were 14 female, and 24 male patients recruited. A total of 15 patients received induction treatment category A and 23 patients induction category B. The mean BMI at diagnosis is 16.6 ± 2.0 and the mean BMI after induction is 17.2 ± 3.3 . There were 18 patients with low risk good cytogenic risk, 17 patients with intermediate risk, 1 patient with high risk genetics and 1 patient with high risk T-cell disease. The patients % weight changes ranged from -11.93 and +37.24 within the 29 day induction period, the mean 6.03 ± 11.30 . Of the 38 patients recruited 22 patients were low risk at the end of induction and 15 patients were MRD risk, 1 patient did not have any MRD markers after testing, these data are summarised in methods table 2.2.

The information in table 4.2 shows all the patients information taken for analysis for this study, displayed are patient ID, age, sex, induction treatment category, BMI at diagnosis, BMI percentile at diagnosis, BMI at day 29, BMI percentile at day 29, cytogenic risk, MRD risk at day 29 and percentage weight change from diagnosis to day 29. Six patients were outside the normal weight range at diagnosis which were patients 010, 030, 040 and 044 were in the overweight category, patient 026 was underweight and patient 028 was in the obese category. By day 29 patient 010 has lost weight and moved in the normal category. Patient 026 moved from the underweight range to the normal range by day 29. Patients 028, 030, 040, 044 all stayed in the same overweight or obese category. Patient 021 moved from a normal weight category to being underweight at the end of induction treatment. Patients

117

011, 013 and 024 became overweight from a normal weight range by day 29 but did not go onto be MRD risk.

Six patients became obese after treatment, this has been classed as treatment acquired obesity, they are patients 015, 036, 045, 050, 051 and 053. Of the patients with treatment acquired obesity 2 of the patients, 015 and 050 were MRD risk by the end of induction treatment. The patients who gained weight, 15 gained more than 5% of their starting body weight, of these patients 12 patients gained more than 10% of their starting body weight and 5 patients gained more than 20% of their body weight in the 29 day induction period.

Table 4.2: Patient information, demographic and clinical parameters. Table shows patient ID, age at diagnosis, gender-male or female, BMI at diagnosis, BMI percentile at diagnosis, BMI at

day 29, BMI percentile at day 29, cytogenetic risk and minimal residual disease risk, BMI percentiles in red indicate treatment acquired obesity, yellow indicates treatment acquired overweight, blue overweight, green underweight and MRD risk patients highlighted in purple,

ID	Age	M/F	Induction treatment Category	BMI at diagnosis (Kg/m²)	BMI Percentile diagnosis	BMI at Day 29	BMI Percentile Day 29	Cytogenetic risk	Day 29 MRD risk	% Weight change
009	13.6	М	В	16.6	10	17.7	25	Good	Low risk	6.96
010	6.4	F	Α	16.9	86	16.3	73	Good	Low risk	-3.2
011	6.9	м	Α	16	64	18.1	93	Intermediate	Low risk	13.23
012	1.8	м	Α	17.8	75	17.3	70	Good	Low risk	-2.62
013	1.1	м	Α	18.3	72	19.3	88	Good	Low risk	5.34
014	16	F	В	20.1	21	19.4	38	Intermediate	Low risk	-3.13
015	3.7	М	Α	15.5	74	19	>95	Good	MRD risk	22.22
017	12	F	В	17.7	40	15.6	11	Intermediate	MRD risk	-11.93
018	11.8	F	В	16.2	18	15.8	13	Intermediate	MRD risk	-2.63
020	6.2	F	Α	16.0	66	16.1	69	Good	Low risk	0.66
021	5.5	F	В	15.1	42	13.4	<5	Intermediate	Low risk	-11.56
023	6.7	м	А	14.3	16	16.8	79	intermediate	No MRD markers	17.27
024	3.3	м	Α	17.0	75	17.5	86	Good	Low risk	3.33
025	6	F	Α	16.2	70	15.2	45	Good	MRD risk	-6.1
026	4.2	м	Α	13.2	<5	15.4	34	Intermediate	MRD risk	16.26
027	2.6	м	Α	16.2	56	16.2	56	Good	Low risk	0
028	7.2	м	В	24.1	>95	24.5	>95	Good	Low risk	1.7
030	9.4	F	Α	20.4	88	21.2	91	Intermediate	Low risk	4.05
031	12.7	М	В	17.1	25	17.4	30	T cell disease	MRD risk	1.66
032	11.5	М	В	16.7	29	17.5	43	Good	Low risk	4.5
034	1.8	М	Α	15.9	31	16.4	45	Good	Low risk	2.67
035	12.1	F	В	15.5	9	16.1	16	Intermediate	MRD risk	3.68
036	2.7	М	Α	15.5	31	19.8	>95	Intermediate	Low risk	27.36
037	4.6	F	Α	14.6	25	17.1	86	Intermediate	MRD risk	16.77
038	3.2	М	В	15.3	29	15.4	31	Good	Low risk	0.42
040	2.9	F	Α	17.8	90	17.4	86	Intermediate	Low risk	-2.01
041	2.8	М	Α	16.1	49	16.7	67	Good	Low risk	3.72
044	10.3	F	В	21.3	90	20.9	88	Intermediate	Low risk	-2.06
045	4.1	М	Α	16.6	79	20.6	>95	Good	Low risk	24.43
046	6.2	М	Α	15.3	47	16.3	73	Intermediate	MRD risk	6.47
047	4.7	М	Α	14.7	22	16.6	80	Intermediate	MRD risk	12.93
048	9	М	В	15.9	45	14.8	18	T cell disease	MRD risk	-7.14
049	4.8	F	Α	16.2	77	15.5	59	Good	MRD risk	-4.73
050	6.6	М	Α	14.7	29	21	>95	Intermediate	MRD risk	37.24
051	5.9	М	Α	15.9	66	2.03	>95	Good	Low risk	27.25
053	2.8	F	В	17.1	81	19.7	>95	Intermediate	Low risk	14.84
055	2.9	М	В	15.8	40	17.4	84	Good	MRD risk	10.07
057	11.2	М	В	17.2	50	17.4	54	High	MRD risk	1.43

n=38

Figure 4.7 summaries the weight change data and shows the ratios of patient's weight change during induction. Figure 4.7a shows the patients BMI percentile at diagnosis, figure 4.7b shows the patients BMI percentile at the end of induction treatment. Figure 4.7c shows the percentage weight change of patients at day 29, the end of induction treatment.



Figure 4.7: Summary of patient clinical weight data change during induction therapy. A; Pie chart illustrating categories of patient and BMI percentile at diagnosis. b; pie chart illustrating categories if patient and BMI percentile at day 29. c; Summary of percentage weight change for patients at day 29, n=38.

4.4 Identification of clinical variables as predictors of MRD risk

To predict if clinical variables are associated with MRD risk, logistic regression was performed in the R statistics package by the University of Liverpool by service agreement earlier in the patient data collection process. Further patient data was collected after the initial lockdown due to Covid 19, at this point it was unsure if any further patient data would be available. This initial set of data was to address if any of the following clinical markers could predict MRD risk; BMI at diagnosis, age at diagnosis, sex (males), weight change percentile, BMI percentile at diagnosis, intermediate cytogenic risk or the patient receiving induction regimen B, the results are displayed in table 4.3. None of the clinical variables significantly corelated to the MRD risk outcome. The top three ranking variables are BMI at diagnosis, age at diagnosis and sex and in this case males, with p values of 0.126, 0.227 and 0.240 respectively, these figures are not statistically significant but do indicate a trend towards these variables being associated with MRD risk, the inconclusive results may be a reflection on the small population size. Less significant were weight change percentile, BMI percentile at diagnosis, intermediate cytogenic risk and patients receiving induction regimen B, all with a p value >0.402.

Table 4.3: Summary of clinical variables associated with MRD risk for patients 009-040. The data processed by The University of Liverpool up to patient 40 not including patients 041-057. The table shows logistic regression data produced in R statistics package, selected clinical variable as predictors of MRD risk, the standard error and the P value, n=26

Clinical Variable	STD Error	P value
BMI at diagnosis, Kg/m ²	1.323	0.126
Age at diagnosis	0.590	0.227
Sex (Males)	3.533	0.240
Weight change percentile	0.174	0.402
BMI percentile at diagnosis	0.064	0.516
Intermediate cytogenic risk	1.627	0.632
Induction regimen B	2.958	0.918

To further investigate these findings and using the full data set of patients 009 – 057 the data for BMI at diagnosis and BMI percentile at diagnosis were compared using t tests between low n=22 and MRD risk patients n=15, figure 4.8a & b and Figure 4.9a & b. Figure 4.8a confirms that a lower BMI at the beginning of induction, day 0 is significantly associated with MRD risk at day 29, p=0.0116, Low risk n=22 and MRD risk n=15. Figure 4.8b displays a similar finding that a lower BMI at Day 29 of induction therapy is significantly associated with MRD risk by the end of induction treatment, p=0.0379.



Figure 4.8: BMI at day 0 and day 29 as a predictor of MRD risk. A, patients BMI at diagnosis and at day 29 is a predictor of MRD risk at day 29, MRD risk status plotted against BMI Kg/m², n=22 for low risk patients, n=15 for MRD risk patients p=0.0116. B, patients BMI at diagnosis, MRD risk status plotted against BMI percentile, n=22 for low risk patients, n=15 for MRD risk at day 29 p=0.0379, error bars shown as standard error.

To investigate if BMI percentile at day 0 or day 29 is linked to MRD risk, BMI percentile at day 0 and day 29 were compared using t tests comparing low risk n=22 and MRD risk patients n=15 figure 4.9a & b. Figure 4.9a confirms that at a lower BMI percentile at the beginning of induction is significantly associated with MRD risk at day 29 day p=0.0120. Figure 4.9b shows the similar result for BMI percentile data at day 29 where patients with a range of BMI percentiles are MRD risk but overall compared to low risk patients a lower BMI percentile is associated with MRD not significant, p=0.947.



Figure 4.9: BMI percentile at day 0 and day 29 as a predictor of MRD risk. A, patients BMI percentile at day 29 and MRD risk, MRD risk status plotted against BMI Kg/m^{2,} n=22 for low risk patients, n=15 for MRD risk patients p=0.0120. B, patients BMI percentile at day 29 and MRD risk, MRD risk status plotted against BMI percentile, n=22 for low risk patients, n=15 for MRD risk at day 29 p=0.0947, error bars shown as standard error.

To determine the impact of age at diagnosis on MRD risk status at day 29, a t test was performed to compare low risk n=22 and high MRD risk n=15 patient status at day 29 and the patients age at day 0. The results in figure 4.10 suggest that increasing age at diagnosis is loosely associated with MRD risk but not significantly, p=0.2045.



Figure 4.10: Patients age at diagnosis as a predictor of MRD risk at day 29. MRD risk status plotted against age n=22 for low risk patients, n=15 for MRD risk patients p=0.2045, error bars shown as standard error.

To summarise this results section, we have identified clinical variables associated but not significantly with MRD risk in patients up to and including patient 040 using logistic regression analysis. Using t-tests to compare MRD risk and BMI and BMI percentile results indicate that a lower BMI at day 0 and day 29 is associated with MRD risk, this was significant for BMI percentile. Increasing age at day 29 is associated but not significantly with MRD risk. The next section looks at each patients individual adipokine profile and how that changes from day 0 to day 29.

4.5 Identification of adipokine changes in patients before and after induction therapy

Adipokine arrays were completed for patients 009 - 057 using day 0 and day 29 plasma samples. Plasma for both day 0 and day 29 were thawed and arrays performed simultaneously. Results are shown for each patient in appendix figures 7.2 to 7.39, graphs are displayed as adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density from the day 0 array and day 29 array. Zero on the y axis as classed as day 0 and day 29 is shown as a Log2 fold change increase or decrease in adipokine expression, clinical data has also been added to each adipokine profile. The paragraphs in the appendix sections 7.1 to 7.38 describe further detail for individual adipokine expression profiles and clinical data for each patient.





Figure 4.11 summaries all the individual adipokine patient data in a heat map, grey squares indicate no data available. The results for all the patients together display emerging similar

patterns for particular adipokines, i.e., Adiponectin expression is decreased overall in all patients at day 29. The Angiopoietin family of proteins are all decreased by day 29 apart from Angiopoietin-1. CRP is raised in most patients during induction therapy, whereas Growth Hormone expression decreases in most patients. The next sections will examine the overall trends in the adipokine profile data and also look if we can identify adipokines significantly associated with MRD risk patients and in patients who gain weight.

4.6 Identification of adipokine changes associated with weight gain

Using the data taken from the human adipokine arrays we have been able to identify a group of adipokines that change significantly from the start to the end of induction treatment in patients who gain weight. It would be useful in this early induction therapy to know which adipokines change in expression and if those adipokines go onto to impact the development of the disease moving onto the next stage of treatment. Results from the individual adipokine arrays were analysed to identify changes in adipokine levels from day 0 at the start of treatment to day 29, the end of induction when rapid weight gain can occur in patients. So that the individual results across patients could be compared, each array was normalised to the average of each array's three reference spots. To determine if particular adipokines were increased in patients who gained weight, the cohort was split into two groups. In the first group were the patients who stayed within the normal weight range percentile category >5 and <85 and patients who put on less than 5% of their starting body weight or lost weight, n=22, in the second group were patients who gained more than 5% of their starting body weight also patients who recorded a normal weight percentile at the start of induction and went onto become overweight >85, treatment acquired overweight (TAOW) or obese >95, treatment acquired obesity (TAO) by the end of induction, n=16. The results for the top five ranked adipokines associated with weight gain are displayed in figures 4.12-4.16.

4.6.1 Leptin levels increase in patients who gain weight

Leptin has been identified in our patient cohort as being significantly increased in patients who gain more than 5% of their body weight or become overweight or obese by the end of induction therapy, in addition to this there is a significant positive correlation to patients having a higher BMI at the end of induction therapy and higher circulating plasma levels of leptin, this has been shown in other studies in children, although not specifically at the end of induction treatment as the results show in this study on day 29. Leptin concentration positively correlates with circulating leptin levels even in a normal settings without disease in obese paediatric patients (Soliman et al., 2012). Leptin has been shown to stimulate cancer growth in other cancers associated with obesity such as breast and ovarian cancer and contribute to chemoresistance (Gu et al., 2019b) (Gu et al., 2019a). More recently Lu *et al.* (2017) experimented with fasting protocols in mouse models to reduce circulating levels of Leptin which had a positive impact on ALL outcomes (Lu et al., 2017).

Here we show that leptin was significantly associated with weight gain, see figure 4.12a but not with MRD risk in our patient cohort, see figure 4.12b. Figures 4.12c and d display positive correlations between patient BMI and Leptin at day zero and at day 29, with a significant positive correlation between Leptin expression and BMI at day 29 in patients. In figure 4.12a zero on the y axis is classed as day 0 and then day 29 is plotted as an increase or decrease in normalised pixel intensity for leptin expression. Patients are grouped as normal weight range and patients who gained less than 5% of their starting body weight versus patients who gained more than 5% of their starting body weight or recorded a normal weight percentile at day 0 and became overweight or obese by day 29, in the weight gain group, n=22, leptin expression increased significantly compared to patients in the normal weight range, n=16, p=0.0001. Figure 4.12b shows the same set of results but for MRD risk status, here there is no significant difference in leptin expression between low risk patients, n=22 and MRD risk patients n=15, p=0.7643. To investigate whether there were correlations between starting BMI and leptin expression at day 29, BMI and Leptin expression were plotted against each other on an x-y scatter plot, see figure 4.12c and d using linear regression analysis there was a slight positive correlation and the r² value is represented at 0.01132, the deviation from zero was not significant at p=0.5309. Figure 4.12d shows the results for BMI at day 29 and leptin expression, a higher BMI is significantly correlated with higher leptin expression, the r² value is represented at 0.2059 and the deviation from zero was significant at p=0.0048. Statistical analysis for figures a and b was performed using an unpaired t test comparing both patients' groups where the results were considered significant at <p0.05.



Figure 4.12: Patient leptin expression results. A, Leptin expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.0001. B, Leptin expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.7643, n=37. C, Linear regression analysis shows positive correlation between start BMI and leptin expression at day 29, p=0.5309, r²=0.01132, n=30. D, Linear regression analysis shows a significant positive correlation between day 29 BMI and leptin expression, p=0.0048, r²=0.2059, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.6.2 IL-8 levels decrease in patients who gain weight

IL-8 is the second adipokine to be identified in our patient cohort to be significantly associated with weight gain, in this case patients in the weight gain category had decreased levels of IL-8 expression in day 29 plasma samples compared to patients in the normal weight category/patients who lost weight. IL-8 is a proinflammatory cytokine and was found to be circulating at higher levels at diagnosis of ALL in children compared to a healthy control group, this was indicative of a strong inflammatory response to disease process without underlying infection (Pérez-Figueroa et al., 2016). Studies investigating immature AML stem cells have shown that IL-8 is an adverse factor in the development of the disease (Schinke et al., 2015), less is known about the specific implications in ALL cells. Figures 4.13 a-d display the patients'

data for IL-8. Graph a shows the IL-8 expression levels in patients who gain weight compared to patients who lose weight or remain in the normal weight category at day 29. There is a significant decrease in IL-8 expression between patients in the weight gain group, n=22 compared to patients who lose weight or stay within the normal range, n=16, p=0.0084. The results in graph b show IL-8 expression changes in patients who are MRD risk, n=22 compared to patients who are low risk at day 29, n=15, there is no significant differences between IL-8 expression and the MRD risk groups, p=0.7947. Graphs c and d confirm the correlations between IL-8 expression and BMI scores at the start and end of induction therapy using linear regression analysis. Graph c displays a slight negative correlation with start BMI and IL-8 expression but not significant, p=0.5980, r²=0008115. Graph d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is a negative, but non-significant, correlation, r²=0.04506, p=0.2072, n=38.



Figure 4.13: Patient IL-8 expression results. A, IL-8 expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.0084, n=38. B, IL-8 expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.7947, n=37 C, Linear regression analysis shows a negative correlation between start BMI and IL-8 expression at day 29, p=0.5980, r²=0.008115. D, Linear regression analysis shows a negative correlation between day 29 BMI and IL-8 expression, p=0.2072, r²=0.04506, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.6.3 Endocan levels increase in patients who gain weight

Endocan has significantly increased in patients within the weight gain group. In ALL circulating endocan levels are associated with paediatric patients diagnosed with febrile neutropenia episodes and fever during the course of the disease (Kiral et al., 2016). Endocan is also highly expressed in untreated ALL and can act as a predictor for prognosis of the disease (Xu et al., 2014a). Less is known about the specific signalling pathways in ALL but in a study experimenting with AML cell lines knockdown of endocan signalling promoted apoptosis by reduced NF-kB activity (Sun et al., 2019).

Figures 4.14 a-d display the patients data results for endocan expression. Graph a shows endocan expression levels in patients who gain weight compared to patients who experience weight reduction or stay within the normal category from day 0 to day 29. There is a significant increase in endocan expression between patients in the weight gain group, n=22 compared to patients who lose weight or stay within the normal range, n=16, p=0.0197. The results in graph b show endocan expression changes in patients who are MRD risk, n=22 compared to patients who are low risk at day 29, n=15, there is slight increased but no significant difference between endocan expression and the MRD risk groups, p=0.4012. Graphs c and d confirm the correlations between endocan expression and BMI scores at the start and end of induction therapy measured using linear regression but not significant, p=0.3428, the r^2 =0.02503. Graph d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is an increased positive correlation although not significant with the r^2 =0.04313, p=0.01184, n=38, error bars shown standard error.



Figure 4.14: Patient Endocan expression results. A, Endocan expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.0197. B, endocan expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.4012, n=37. C, Linear regression analysis shows negative correlation between start BMI and endocan expression at day 29, p=0.3428, r²=0.02503, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a slight positive correlation between day 29 BMI and endocan expression, p=0.4313, r^2 =0.01184, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.6.4 Pref-1/DLK1/FA1 levels increase in patients who gain weight

Pref-1 has been identified as an adipokine that is increased significantly in the patents who gained weight. Pref-1 is described as a gatekeeper of adipogenesis and expression regulates this process by preventing adipocyte differentiation (Hudak and Sul, 2013). Studies in ALL show how exogenous DLK1 protein activates upregulation of the NOTCH1 receptor which in turn stimulates the proliferation of the ALL cell line CEM-CCRF, and activation of this receptor upregulated the downstream targets c-myc and NF-κB (Wei et al., 2013). NOTCH1 is known to interact with the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway by regulation of PTEN via HES1 and MYC (Efimenko et al., 2017), these processes may be exacerbated by the increased levels of pref-1. The results in figures 4.15 a-d display the patients data results for pref-1. Graph a shows

pref-1 expression levels in weight change patients. There is a significant increase in pref-1 expression between patients in the weight gain group, n=22 compared to patients who lose weight or stay within the normal range, n=16, p=0.0209. The results in graph b display pref-1 expression changes in patients who are MRD risk, n=22 compared to patients who are low risk at day 29, n=15, there is a small decrease in pref-1 expression levels between the MRD risk groups, although this is not significant p=0.2355. Graphs c and d confirm the correlations between pref-1 expression and BMI percentile results at the start and end of induction therapy using linear regression, but this is not significant, p=0.4283, the r²=01751. Graph d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is an increased positive correlation which is significant, p=0.0319, r²=0.1216, n=38, error bars shown standard error.



Figure 4.15: Patient Pref-1 expression results. A, Pref-1 expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.0209. B, pref-1 expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.2355, n=37. C, Linear regression analysis shows a small positive correlation between start BMI and pref-1 expression at day 29, p=0,4283 r²=0.01751, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a significant positive correlation between day 29 BMI and pref-1 expression, p=0.0319, r²=0.1216, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.6.5 Adiponectin levels decrease in patients who gain weight

Adiponectin has been highlighted as significant in our patient cohort and is shown at lower levels in the group of patients who have gained weight compared to the others. Adiponectin is known to be inversely correlated with obesity, diseased states and cancer progression including leukaemia (Ma et al., 2016). Studies describe reduced levels of adiponectin in patients diagnosed with ALL (Argyrou et al., 2019). There are less experimental studies looking into the impact of low adiponectin using all patient samples or ALL cells lines, the following study using a number of cell lines including Molt4 and CEM-CCRF found no inhibition of growth in these cell lines but when incubating patient derived CD34⁺ cells adiponectin inhibited growth in these samples by downregulating Bcl-2 expression (Yokota et al., 2000). In non-diseased states higher adiponectin levels activate the AMPK pathway in addition to this inhibiting the PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT signalling pathways, low circulating adiponectin levels attenuates this protective effect (Monks et al., 2019).

Figures 4.16 a-d display the patients data results for Adiponectin. Graph a shows the Adiponectin expression levels in weight gain patients compared to patients who lose weight or stay in the normal weight category after induction treatment. There is a significant decrease in adiponectin expression between patients in the weight gain group, n=22 compared to patients who lose weight or stay within the normal range, n=16, p=0.0212. The results in graph b show adiponectin expression changes in patients who are MRD risk, n=22 compared to patients who are low risk at day 29, n=15, there is no difference between adiponectin expression between the MRD risk groups, p=0.8810. Graphs c and d display the correlations between adiponectin expression and BMI percentile at the start and end of induction therapy using linear regression but not significant, p=0.2888, the r^2 =0.03209, Graph d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is no correlation between adiponectin and day 29 BMI, p=0.9389, r^2 =0.0001701, n=38, error bars shown standard error.



Figure 4.16: Patient adiponectin expression results. A, Adiponectin expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.0212. B, Adiponectin expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.8810, n=37. C, Linear regression analysis shows positive correlation between start BMI and adiponectin expression at day 29, p=0.2888, r²=0.03209, n=30. D, Linear regression analysis shows no correlation between day 29 BMI and adiponectin expression, p=0.9389, r²=0.0001701, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.6.6 Adipokine summary data in patients who gained weight

The results in table 4.4 display all the adipokines tested in order of significance in relation to weight gain in our cohort. Adipokines are ranked by p value and then if the adipokine was increased or decreased in the weight gain group. Green indicates an increase in expression and red a decrease. The patients are grouped into those who lost weight or stayed within the normal weight category didn't gain more than 5% of their starting body weight compared to patients who gained more than 5% of their starting body weight, became overweight from a normal weight by day 29 or became obese with treatment from a normal weight range.

Table 4.4: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to weight gain at day 29. Patients were grouped into those that didn't gain weight or lost weight and those that gained more than 5% of their starting body weight, became overweight or obese during induction, groups compared using an unpaired t-test. Adipokines ranked by p value significant to non-significant and indicated in green if the adipokine increased or red if decreased by day 29, n=38.

Adipokine	P value	Adipokine	P value	
Leptin	0.0001	Resistin	0.3482	
IL-8	0.0084	DPPIV/CD26	0.4073	
Endocan	0.0197	IL-1 beta	0.4404	
Pref-1	0.0209	BAFF/Blys	0.4539	
Adiponectin	0.0212	TIMP-1	0.4569	
Myeloperoxidase	0.0309	Serpin A8	0.4595	
IGFBP-2	0.0875	EN-RAGE	0.4600	
VEGF	0.0974	Chemerin	0.4701	
Cathepsin-L	0.1094	Pappalysin-1	0.4867	
Angiopoietin Like-3	0.1163	Fibrinogen	0.4988	
HGF	0.1357	RAGE	0.5453	
FGF-basic	0.1521	LAP(TGF-beta1)	0.5606	
Angiopoietin-2	0.1918	Growth hormone	0.5835	
Pentraxin-3	0.1927	TIMP-3	0.6203	
MIF	0.2004	Serpin A12	0.6486	
Angiopoietin-1	0.2302	IGFBP-6	0.6519	
Cathepsin-S	0.2320	Lipocalin-2	0.6573	
IL-10	0.2415	Visfatin	0.6953	
FGF-19	0.2570	BMP-4	0.7004	
Angiopoietin Like-2	0.2777	IGFBP-4	0.7135	
Complement D Factor	0.3065	CCL5/RANTES	0.7711	
ICAM/CD54	0.3085	Serpin E1/PAI-1	0.7751	
Cathepsin D	0.3248	Fetuin B	0.8119	
Nidogen-1	0.3293	TNF-alpha	0.8331	
LIF	0.3302	M-CSF	0.8419	
Oncostatin M	0.3317	CCL2/MCP-1	0.8533	
IL-6	0.3372	IL-11	0.8594	
Proprotein Convertase 9	0.3415	IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7	0.8637	
IGFBP-3	0.3480	CRP	0.9073	

The heat map in figure 4.17 summaries all the adipokines tested in association with weight gain. Each coloured square represents the log2 fold change figure of normalised pixel intensity from the array spots. Red squares indicate decreases in expression with the darkest red being the lowest expression, white squares have little no now change in expression and green squares indicate increases in expression from diagnosis with the darkest green having the highest expression. Patients are grouped into those who lost weight or stayed within the normal weight range and didn't put more than 5% of their starting body weight on during

induction and those who put more than 5% of their starting body weight or became overweight or obese with treatment.



Figure 4.17: Heat map summary of all adipokines tested in association with weight gain. Comparison of patients who remained in the normal weight range of lost weight to patients who gained more than 5% of their starting body weight or became overweight or obese by the end of induction treatment. Red squares indicate decreases in expression from diagnosis, white squares little or no change and green squares increases in expression. Grey squares indicate no data available, n=38.

4.7 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with MRD risk

The data from the human adipokine arrays have also been used to identify adipokines which are associated with MRD risk at the end of induction treatment. There is very little previous data that looks to specifically link particular adipokines to MRD risk in ALL treatment at this early stage. It would be useful in this early induction therapy to know which adipokines change in expression and if those adipokines go onto to impact the development of the disease moving through the next stages of treatment. Results from the individual adipokine arrays were analysed to identify changes in adipokine levels from day 0 at the start of treatment to day 29. So that the individual results across patients could be compared each array was normalised to the average of the arrays three reference spots. To determine if particular adipokines were increased in patients who were MRD risk the cohort was split into low risk n=22 and MRD risk groups n=15, patient 023 with no MRD markers has been excluded from the MRD risk analysis, total patients n=37, groups were then compared using an unpaired t-test. The results for the top five ranked adipokines associated with MRD risk are displayed in figures 4.18 - 4.22.

4.7.1 Resistin levels decrease in MRD risk patients

The patient results for Resistin show that reduced levels in plasma at day 29 are significantly associated with MRD risk category compared to low risk patients, p=0.0013, shown in figure 4.18a. There is a small non-significant increase in patients who gain compared to patients who remain in the normal weight category or lose weight at day 29, p=0.3482, see figure 4.18b, Resistin is often linked to weight gain and results do show a positive correlation with start BMI and Resistin expression although not significant, p=0.1706, r²=0.09304 displayed in figure c. Figure d shows a positive correlation with day 29 BMI and Resistin expression although not significant p=0.0851, linear regression confirms the r²=0.08232, n=37.



Figure 4.18: Patient resistin expression results. A, resistin expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.0013. B, resistin expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.3482. C, Linear regression analysis shows a positive correlation between start BMI and resistin expression at day 29, p=0.1076, r²=0.093041, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a positive correlation between day 29 BMI and resistin expression, p=0.0851, r²=0.08232, n=37, error bars shown as standard error.

4.7.2 Serpin A12 levels increase in MRD risk patients

The results for serpin A12 expression shows that increased expression recorded on day 29 in patient samples is significantly associated with MRD risk, see figure 4.19a. Patients who were low risk were compared to MRD risk patients at day 29 and serpin A12 expression levels were significantly increased, p=0.0374, low risk patients, n=22 and MRD risk patients n=15, groups were compared using an unpaired t-test. Figure 4.19b shows serpin A12 expression in patients who gain weight compared to patients who stay in the normal weight range or lose weight at day 29, here there is decreased expression in patients who gain weight n=16, compared to patients in the normal weight range n=22 although not significant, p=0.6485. Figure 4.19c

displays no correlation between increasing BMI at diagnosis and serpin A12 expression, p=0.9998, $r^2=0.00000000314$, n=38. Figure 4.18d shows the same data for day 29 where we see a negative correlation between increasing BMI and decreased expression of serpin A12 although not significant, p=0.3946, here the deviation from zero is $r^2=0.02140$, n=37.



Figure 4.19: Patient serpin A12 expression results. A, serpin A12 expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.0374. B, serpin A12 expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.6486. C, Linear regression analysis shows a slight positive correlation between start BMI and serpin A12 expression at day 29, p=0.9998, r²=0.0000000314, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a negative correlation between day 29 BMI and serpin A12 expression, p=0.3946, r²=0.02140, n=37, error bars shown as standard error.

4.7.3 Cathepsin-S levels decrease in MRD risk patients

Figures 4.20 a-d display the patients data results for cathepsin-S. The results in figure 4.20a show cathepsin-S expression changes in patients who are MRD risk, n=22 compared to patients who are low risk at day 29, n=15, there is a significant decrease in expression levels, p=0.0481. Figure 4.20b shows the cathepsin-S expression levels in weight gain patients. There is a small non-significant increase in cathepsin-S expression between patients in the weight

gain group, n=22 compared to patients who lose weight or stay within the normal range, n=16, p=0.2320. Figures c and d confirm the correlations between cathepsin-S expression and BMI scores at the start and end of induction therapy using linear regression analysis. Figure c displays a positive correlation with start BMI and cathepsin-S expression but not significant, p=0.1531, the r²=0.07151. Figure d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is a significant positive correlation, p=0.0202, r²=0.1410, n=37, error bars shown standard error.



Figure 4.20: Patient cathepsin-S expression results. A, cathepsin-S expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.0481. B, cathepsin-S expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.2320. C, Linear regression analysis shows a positive correlation between start BMI and cathepsin-S expression at day 29, p=0.1531, r²=0.07151, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a significant positive correlation between day 29 BMI and cathepsin-S expression, p=0.0202, r²=0.1410, n=37, error bars shown as standard error.

4.7.4 IGFBP-4 levels decrease in MRD risk patients

IGFBP-4 levels are shown to be reduced in MRD risk patients but not significantly in this study, this finding is in line with another study in children with ALL (Wex et al., 2005) Figures 4.21 ad display the patients data results for IGFBP-4. Graph a shows the IGFBP-4 expression levels in low risk patients compared to MRD risk patients at day 29 after induction treatment. There is a non-significant decrease in IGFBP-4 expression between patients in the MRD risk groups, n=22 for low risk patients and n=15 for MRD risk patients, p=0.1002. The results in figure b show IGFBP-4 expression changes in patients who gain weight n=16 compared to weight loss of no change in weight n=22 are MRD risk, there is no significant differences between IGFBP-4 expression in the weight change groups, p=7135. Figures c and d confirm the correlations between IGFBP-4 expression and BMI scores at the start and end of induction therapy using linear regression analysis. Figure c displays a positive correlation with start BMI and IGFBP-4 expression but not significant, p=0.0825, r²=0.1038. Figure d shows the same results for the end BMI, here there is an increased positive correlation although not significant with the r²=0.1257, p=0.0545, n=38, error bars shown standard error.



Figure 4.21: Patient IGFBP-4 expression results. A, IGFBP-4 expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.1002. B, IGFBP-4 expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.7135. C, Linear regression analysis shows a positive correlation between start BMI and IGFBP-4 expression at day 29, p=0.0825, r²=0.10.8, n=30. D, Linear regression analysis shows a significant positive correlation between day 29 BMI and IGFBP-4 expression, p=0.0545, r²=0.1257, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.7.5 Angiopoietin-2 levels decrease in MRD risk patients

The patient results for angiopoietin-2 confirm a non-significant decrease in expression in patients at day 29 who are classed as MRD risk compared to low risk patients, p=0.1205, see figure 4.22a. Figure 4.22b shows angiopoietin-2 expression is increased in patients who gain weight compared to patients who stay in the normal weight range or lose weight at day 29, although not significant, p=0.1918. Figure 4.22c displays a positive correlation between increasing BMI at diagnosis and angiopoietin-2 expression, r^2 =0.03392, the deviation from zero was not significant, p=0.2683. Figure 4.22d displays the same data for day 29, here there is a positive correlation between increasing BMI and increased expression of angiopoietin-2 and significant, p=0.0016, linear regression confirms the r^2 =0.2451, n=38.



Figure 4.22: Patient angiopoietin-2 expression results. A, angiopoietin-2 expression at day 29 in patients with low risk, n=22, compared to MRD risk, n=15, p=0.1205. B, angiopoietin-2 expression changes at day 29 in patients in the normal weight category, n=22 compared to weight gain, n=16, p=0.1918. C, Linear regression analysis shows a positive correlation between start BMI and angiopoietin-2 expression at day 29, p=0.2683, r²=0.03392, n=38. D, Linear regression analysis shows a significant positive correlation between day 29 BMI and angiopoietin-2 expression, p=0.0016, r²=0.2451, n=38, error bars shown as standard error.

4.7.6 Adipokine summary data MRD risk patients

The results in table 4.5 display all the adipokines tested in order of significance in relation to MRD risk in our cohort. Adipokines are ranked with the p value and then if the adipokine was increased highlighted in green, or decreased which are highlighted in red. The patients are grouped into those that were MRD risk at the end of induction therapy and those that were low risk at the end of induction.

Table 4.5: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to MRD risk at day 29. Patients were grouped low risk and MRD risk at the end of induction treatment and the two groups compared using an unpaired t-test. Adipokines ranked by p value significant to non-significant and indicated in green if the adipokine is increased or in red if decreased by day 29, n=37.

Adipokine	P value		Adipokine	P value	
Resistin	0.0013		IL-11	0.5858	
Serpin A12	0.0374		Growth hormone	0.5863	
Cathepsin-S	0.0481		Serpin E1	0.5949	
IGFBP-4	0.1002		MIF	0.6033	
Angiopoietin-2	0.1205		Angiopoietin Like-3	0.6205	
Angiopoietin-1	0.1368		ICAM-1/CD54	0.6276	
TIMP-3	0.1468		LIF	0.6321	
LAP(TGF-beta1)	0.1834		IL-6	0.6360	
Pentraxin-3	0.1897		FGF-19	0.6750	
M-CSF	0.2162		Fibrinogen	0.6950	
Pref-1	0.2355		Cathepsin D	0.6957	
TNF-alpha	0.2726		RAGE	0.7003	
IL-1beta	0.2763		CCL2/MCP-1	0.7016	
BMP-4	0.3105		IGFBP-3	0.7133	
BAFF	0.3736		VEGF	0.7259	
IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7	0.3995		FGF basic	0.7362	
Oncostatin M	0.4005		IGFBP-2	0.7415	
Endocan	0.4012		Leptin	0.7643	
DPPIV/CD26	0.4086		HGF	0.7798	
Myeloperoxidase	0.4123		IL-8	0.7947	
EN-RAGE	0.4226		TIMP-1	0.7986	
Visfatin	0.4458		Proprotein Convertase 9	0.8009	
Chemerin	0.4883		Serpin A8	0.8188	
Fetuin B	0.5050		Cathepsin L	0.8567	
IL-10	0.5174		CRP	0.8630	
Angiopoietin Like-2	0.5222		Adiponectin	0.8810	
Pappalysin-1	0.5451		Lipocalin-2	0.9070	
CCL5/RANTES	0.5461		IGFBP-6	0.9855	
Nidogen-1	0.5514		Complement D factor	0.9992	

The heat map in figure 4.23 summaries all the adipokines tested in association with MRD risk. Each coloured square represents the log2 fold change figure of normalised pixel intensity from the array spots. Patients are grouped into MRD risk and low risk. Increases in expression are highlighted in green, decreases in expression are highlighted in red, the darker of each colour reflecting the largest change in expression. White squares indicate no change or undetectable expression and grey squares indicate no data available. n=37.



Figure 4.23: Heat map summary of all adipokines tested in association with MRD risk. Comparison of patients who were low risk or MRD risk by the end of induction treatment at day 29. Increases in expression are highlighted in green, decreases in expression are highlighted in red, the darker of each colour reflecting the largest change. White squares no change or undetectable, grey squares indicate no data available. n=37.
4.8 CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

<u>4.8.1 Patient sample pilot study confirms reproducibility of Human</u> <u>adipokine arrays</u>

A pilot study was performed using the human arrays to check the reproducibility of arrays and also to determine if the freezing and defrosting of samples impacted sample quality. The human arrays showed a high level of similarity between the pre-treatment plasma adipokine profiles of patients 006 and 007 figure 4.1 and 4.2. There are two adipokines that appear not to be correlated between the two patients which are growth hormone and leptin. From the clinical characteristics, patient 006 is female, age 2.6 years with a BMI of 16.1, patient 007 is male, age 8.9 with a BMI of 14.9, the differences being age, gender and BMI. Growth hormone can fluctuate in childhood and can even fluctuate throughout the day in a pulsatile manner (Gill et al., 1999). Growth hormone can also decline with increasing age and patient 007 is older (Garcia et al., 2019). It can also be attributed to a growth spurt and not necessarily due to the diagnosis of ALL; growth hormone levels have been shown to be impacted by chemotherapy later in therapy where they decline and can lead to short stature in adulthood (Haddy et al., 2006), however, we do not have data for these patients after induction treatment.

Leptin is associated with obesity and with increasing fat mass, leptin levels raise exponentially and are a reflection of the amount of stored fat in the body (Ekmen et al., 2016). Patient 007 did put weight on during induction therapy, starting at a BMI percentile of 52 and raising to 83 by the end of induction therapy. This is in comparison to patient 006 who recorded at BMI percentile of 39 at diagnosis which is lower than patients 007 at 52. There are also differences in secretion of BAFF between patients 006 and 007, BAFF has been linked to patient's poor treatment response but by the end of therapy patients did not have a poorer outcome (Zidan, 2020).

In previous research it has been shown that storage conditions and freezing and thawing can affect the sample quality and in the following study (Mitchell et al., 2005) it was found that long term storage of samples at -80 has little impact on sample quality but it was important to limit the number of freeze thaw cycles which has been taken into account for this study.

To complete the pilot study each replicate was compared to check if there was any impact from freezing the samples on array results and also to check the variability between each of the three replicates, replicate 1 and 2 was compared, 1 and 3 and finally 2 and 3, this is displayed in figure 4.3. There was a high level of reproducibility between samples exposed to one freeze-thaw cycle and samples exposed to two freeze-thaw samples, the three replicate arrays were very similar, this increases reliance on this technology to be sensitive to changes in adipokine expression between patients. From this set of results, we confirmed that the freezing and thawing process of the plasma samples did not adversely impact on the quality of the patient samples as adipokine concentrations remained consistent. Due to the high level of reproducibility between the replicate expression profiles this suggests that the human adipokine arrays were highly accurate and reliable, also there may be little benefit from repeating these arrays for each sample. Performing only one replicate per sample would allow more patients to the included in the study, as there were financial limitations associated with the number of human adipokine array kits available to us. The decision was made to include more patients and perform a single replicate for each sample, as this will allow a larger dataset to be collected, from which meaningful adipokine expression patterns linked to patient characteristics might be derived.

4.8.2 Patient sample study confirms pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression

To establish if there was a pre-treatment pattern of adipokine expression plasma from day 0 was taken from patients 006-011 who all went onto be low MRD risk at the end of induction therapy. Adipokines displayed varying levels of expression between patients, figures 4.4 to 4.6. The following adipokines showed lower expression and little variability between patients, the mean pixel intensity was below 5000 for each adipokine reading across patients 006-011 or the recorded spot intensities were grouped closely to the mean pixel intensity for each adipokine; angiopoietin-1, BMP-4, EN-RAGE, fetuin B, FGF-basic, FGF-19, fibrinogen, HGF, ICAM1/CD54, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7, IL-1 beta, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-11, LAP(TGF-bet1), LIF, CCL2/MCP-1, M-CSF, myeloperoxidase, oncostatin-M, pappalysin-1, visfatin, proprotein convertase 9, RAGE, resistin, serpin A8, serpin A12, serpin E1, TIMP-1, TIMP-3, TNF-alpha and VEGF. As there is little variability or low detection levels these adipokines have not been

discussed in this section. The next group of adipokines show greater variability between patients with one or two outliers from the mean or are expressed at much higher levels across figures 4.4,4.5 and 4.6.

4.8.2.1 Adiponectin

Low adiponectin levels are associated with obese leukaemia patients (Srivastava et al., 2015a) and are inversely correlated with leukaemia diagnosis in general in meta-analysis studies (Ma et al., 2016). Low adiponectin levels at diagnosis in paediatric leukaemia patients has been observed previously (Moschovi et al., 2010b), this is in support of our findings. However, patient 007 did have higher levels but it impossible to stay at this stage if that was a positive factor in the patient's outcome, lower levels could indicate poorer outcome but we do not have normal controls to confirm this hypothesis.

4.8.2.2 Angiopoietin-2

Angiopoietin-2 plays a role in angiogenesis; it increases vascular permeability and stimulates stromal derived factor 1 alpha (SDF1a) which stimulates angiogenesis in ALL (Karakurt et al., 2016). In the Karakurt study angiopoietin-2 levels were high and angiopoietin-1 low, this finding may be associated with increased homing and mobilisation of leukemic blasts, remission reversed this pattern. In our study patient 010 displayed higher levels of angiopoietin-2 and also was in the overweight percentile at diagnosis, angiopoietin-2 is associated with obesity related inflammation and has been shown to reduce survival in other cancers and can be a predictive marker in poorer survival (Volkova et al., 2011).

4.8.2.3 Angiopoietin-Like 2,3

The angiopoietin-Like 2 protein is capable of increasing NOTCH activation which leads to activation of c-myc targets and expansion of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) (Lin et al., 2015). In a study using angiopoietin-Like 3-null mice, hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) were reduced in number and quiescence as angiopoietin-3 supported stemness in the bone marrow niche (Zheng et al., 2011). Patient levels of angiopoietin-Like 2 and 3 show larger variations with patient 009 having the highest levels this could be a predictor of outcome due to its link with inflammation and poorer outcome in other cancers (Thorin-

Trescases and Thorin, 2017). None of the angiopoietin-Like adipokine data can be linked to the clinical parameters in this dataset.

4.8.2.4 BAFF

Abnormal levels of BAFF in patients have been associated with the development and progression of ALL in children due to a positive correlation with white blood cell count. Tracking this may lead to the development of BAFF as a diagnostic biomarker, this was found in the following study using plasma to test for BAFF levels (Bienertova-Vasku et al., 2012). BAFF levels are variable from low to high levels in our study and were not correlated with any clinical parameters at this early stage of testing adipokine expression and the patients in this sub-set being low MRD risk.

4.8.2.5 Cathepsin proteins D, L, S,

Cathepsin-L and cathepsin-S are a family of proteases that can modulate the function of the extracellular matrix, promote tumour dispersal and be a marker of tumour progression (Gormley et al., 2011). A study in ALL showed the cathepsins L and D have been implicated in poor prognosis when expressed at high levels (Enzenmueller et al., 2016). In a study investigating cathepsin levels in Acute Myeloid leukaemia (AML), high expression levels of cathepsins was correlated with a poorer outcome (Pandey et al., 2018). Cathepsin-D has been discussed in the previous section, with higher levels associated with poor prognosis in ALL; patient 009 in this study has higher levels compared to the other patients but they were not MRD risk at the end of induction. The cathepsin family could be used as early biomarkers for outcome, patient 007 and 009 have increased levels of cathepsin-D at diagnosis in our study and higher levels of cathepsin-S more than the overall levels of cathepsin-L.

4.8.2.6 Chemerin

Chemerin's role in cancer is mixed (Shin et al., 2018), there is little evidence on its specific role in ALL, however, in AML reduced levels have been correlated with poor outcome (Zhang et al., 2017), whereas in multiple myeloma increased levels are associated with poor outcome (Westhrin et al., 2018). This small study shows higher expression of Chemerin in patients with no obvious links to clinical characteristics.

4.8.2.7 Complement Factor D

Studies which involve complement factor D (adipsin) are limited in the literature. Research undertaken in mouse models found raised adipsin levels in a mouse model of ALL was linked to expression from gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) in response to bacterial translocation in mice due to intestinal permeability. Along with Lyzosome1 and defensin they play in important role in mucosal immunity (Song and Gyarmati, 2019). Raised adipsin may constitute another marker for bacterial infection in ALL. The expression of complement factor D is varied between patients in this pilot study and there are no obvious links to the clinical data although there could be a role for bacterial infection in patients.

4.8.2.8 CRP

CRP in paediatric ALL is associated with dysregulated immune function and lower levels of CRP before developing ALL (Søegaard et al., 2018). All patients bar patient 006, had low levels of CRP at diagnosis. As higher levels of CRP in ALL can indicate infection (Karppinen et al., 2019), this may have been the case with patient 006. Literature indicates that infection can be common during the intensive induction phase and more common with a four drug induction regimen which patient 006 received (Afzal et al., 2009). The plasma for this small study was tested at day 0 so the patient may have contracted a virus or infection unrelated to ALL or treatment. Previous study suggest a link to elevated CRP to poor outcome due to raised levels (Peltola et al., 1983), this has since been disputed where the was no significant difference in CRP levels between after treatment and healthy children (Hamodat et al., 2020).

4.8.2.9 DPPIV/CD26

The role of DPPIV/CD26 in ALL is limited, although it has been studied in its role in regulating haematopoiesis and, in B-ALL and T-ALL, its activity is significantly higher compared to non-leukaemia subjects (De Andrade et al., 2009). In a further study it was found that DPPIV/CD26 was increased on cell membranes of the ALL cell lines CEM-CCRF and Molt3 in response to chemotherapy and has been suggested as a target for its potential role in chemotherapy resistance (Dourado et al., 2007), it this stage is it not possible to link the varied expression of DPPIV/CD26 to the clinical outcomes of this study.

4.8.2.10 Endocan

Endocan levels in patients in patients 006, 008, 010 and 011 display similar expression, whereas patients 007 and 009 both have increased levels. Endocan has been indicated as a potential biomarker in acute leukaemia's and is highly expressed in untreated leukaemia and is associated with the stage of disease (Xu et al., 2014a). Another study linked endocan to the development of febrile neutropenia (FN), a complication of ALL; significantly higher levels of endocan were observed in the children with FN (Kiral et al., 2016). There are no clinical findings at this stage in our study that could link to them having increased endocan levels.

4.8.2.11 Growth hormone

Growth hormone levels are varied in patients, as explained in the discussion section 4.1, when discussing patients 006 and 007. This can fluctuate during the day or in growth spurts and is known to be changeable. Growth hormone levels have been shown to be impacted from chemotherapy later in therapy where they decline and can lead to short stature in adulthood (Haddy et al., 2006).

4.8.2.12 IGFBP proteins

In a study involving IGFBP proteins IGFBP-3 was significantly lower at ALL diagnosis than IGFBP-1 and 2 (Zakhary et al., 2012), our patients show increased levels in comparison to IGFBP-2, IGFBP-3 in other cancers is linked to increased pathogenesis of cancer (Natsuizaka et al., 2014). There is one study regarding IGFBP-6 in ALL which were all within normal ranges with no correlations with disease progression at high or low levels (Doorn, 1999), the patients in this study show patients 006, 007, 008 and 011 expression around the mean with patient 009 with high levels and patient 010 with low levels with no obvious correlations with the clinical data.

4.8.2.13 Leptin

Leptin is showing variation in levels between patients, this could be an early marker for predicting BMI increases or increases in body fat percentage and poorer outcome as discussed previously with patient 006 day 1 leptin expression. Patient 010 also shows higher

levels of leptin, this may be due to the patients BMI percentile at diagnosis which is 86 in the overweight category.

4.8.2.14 Lipocalin-2/NGAL

Lipocalin-2/NGAL is an acute phase inflammatory protein and has been associated with kidney injury and chronic kidney disease in ALL survivors Lipocalin-2 levels were significantly higher on a five year follow up compared with healthy controls (Latoch et al., 2020). Differences in patients may be in indicator of inflammation present at diagnosis.

4.8.2.15 MIF

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is a pro inflammatory cytokine and has been implicated in the prognosis of ALL. Patients who expressed higher levels displayed lower incidence of complete remission and significantly shorter event free survival than patients who expressed MIF at lower levels (Sharaf-Eldein et al., 2018).

4.8.2.16 Nidogen-1

There is very little information regarding nidogen-1 and ALL, in a study on ovarian cancer it showed promise as a candidate biomarker and could reflect tumour burden (Li et al., 2015). Nidogen-1 levels are increased in patients with different levels of expression for each patient.

4.8.2.17 Pentraxin-3

Pentraxin-3 levels in ALL have been associated with invasive mold infections, sepsis and increased mortality (Brunel et al., 2018). Levels in our small pilot study show patients 006 with slightly increased levels compared to the other patients this still may not reflect the patient has an infection but interestingly patient 006 also has higher levels of CRP which is also an indicator of infection, in this study (Elghandour et al., 2015) pentraxin-3 is seen as a superior marker in acute leukaemia's in prediction of septic shock, coagulation impairment and mortality.

4.8.2.18 Pref-1/DLK1

Information is lacking in the role of pref-1/DLK-1 and ALL, in CML pref-1/DLK-1 was higher in patients compared to controls but displayed no correlation with outcome of clinical characteristics (Liang et al., 2006). Studies in ALL show how exogenous DLK1 protein activates upregulation of the NOTCH1 receptor which in turn stimulates the proliferation of the ALL cell line CEM-CCRF, activation of this receptor upregulated the downstream targets c-myc and NF-κB (Wei et al., 2013). At this stage pref-1/DLK1 cannot be linked to the clinical parameters.

4.8.2.19 CCL5/RANTES

Studies into CCL5/RANTES expression in ALL are lacking, in triple negative breast cancer CCL5 has been proposed as a candidate immunotherapeutic target as it is strongly associated with disease progression (Lv et al., 2013). There is no obvious correlation between nidogen-1, pref-1 and CCL5/RANTES expression levels and our clinical parameters in this study from this group of adipokines.

The main purpose of this experiment was to establish if there were consistent adipokine expression patterns in a selected group of low risk patients. It also begins to answer questions about how reproducible the arrays are and which adipokines are likely to be of interest, for example if all of the adipokines which were not detectable were consistently not detected in all the patients, this demonstrates reproducibility and suggests these adipokines are either expressed at very low levels, below the limit of detection, or are not found in the bloodstream. All of the adipokines which were expressed at relatively high levels are relatively high in all patients, this is often the case when adipokines are variable between patients. The results from this small pilot study gave us indications to why certain adipokines may be increased or decreased at diagnosis. Many of the adipokines show little or no variation from patient to patient at diagnosis in this selection of patients suggesting a reproducible pattern of expression, the adipokines that do vary between patients could be something to consider in the detection of biomarkers or if particular adipokines begin to show obvious correlations with BMI and MRD risk at day 0 or day 29.

4.9 Identification of clinical variables as predictors of MRD risk

The next sections discuss the results obtained from the patient clinical data from the 38 patients recruited from the study with a full clinical data set and also two adipokine profiles at induction and after induction treatment at day 29. We are working with two data sets, the first covering patients 009 – 040 and was completed by colleagues at The University of Liverpool and further analysis including patients 009 – 057 which is the complete data set of all patients.

The University of Liverpool analysis confirmed the well-established risk factor contributing to poor outcome in paediatric ALL is age at diagnosis (Lee and Cho, 2017), with increasing higher age within childhood leukaemia implicated in poorer overall survival and MRD risk (Meraj et al., 2020). Induction regimes take this into account and all children diagnosed with ALL over ten years old automatically receive induction therapy B which mitigates this increased risk. The results of the Liverpool analysis also demonstrate that increased age is associated with MRD risk although not significantly, this observation was comparable to that with the full data set of patients 009-057.

Another known risk factor is the child's sex, with males having a slight increased incidence and a poorer outcome in patient cohorts (Gustafsson and Kreuger, 1983). In large population cohorts, females are reported to fair better than their male counterparts even after controlling for other prognostic factors such as age, race and cell counts at diagnosis (Holmes et al., 2012). Within our cohort there are more males than females diagnosed with ALL, with males linked to MRD risk although this is not significant. This may become significant with a higher number of patients within the cohort, which is an important limitation of this study.

Drug treatment regimens differ between patients depending in starting risk factors such as age and white cell count at induction, with a white cell count > 10,000 cells. Having this higher level of cells at diagnosis is linked to significantly lower survival rates (Vaitkeviciene et al., 2013). We wanted to know if receiving drug regimen B, which is a four drug treatment containing daunorubicin, was linked to increased MRD risk. Published literature is limited regarding this. This study confirmed that there is no increased MRD risk when receiving regimen B versus regimen A during induction therapy in our patient cohort. Due to the lower numbers of patients we cannot say for sure if this would be the case in a larger cohort. We

had 3 patients of whom 9 patients were MRD risk and of them 4 patients received induction therapy B. Although it did not add to MRD risk at the end of induction treatment, we cannot say in this study if receiving daunorubicin as a treatment option contributes to the known issues like cardiotoxicity which can add to complications during the remaining treatment and long after treatment has ended or MRD risk when tested at a later stage of treatment. This may be better represented with a follow up study to test adipokine profiles after treatment and full recovery.

One of the main questions of this study was to determine if increased weight during induction therapy was linked to MRD risk. This would include children that became overweight or obese with treatment or who were overweight or obese at diagnosis before starting treatment. In our complete study which includes patients 009-057, we can conclude that weight gain in induction therapy is not associated with MRD risk although more patient data would be needed to statistically confirm this data.

Of the 15 patients who were recorded as MRD risk, six patients put on more than 10% of their starting body weight and, of those, two became obese during treatment from being in the normal BMI percentile category at diagnosis. Our data supports the opposite of our hypothesis; we found that a lower BMI at the start and end of induction, weight loss or a lower weight at induction and day 29, were significantly associated with high MRD risk at day 29, figure 4.8. Similarly, BMI percentile where a lower BMI percentile at diagnosis significantly predicted MRD risk at day 29 and a lower BMI percentile at day 29 was associated with MRD risk but not significantly, figure 4.9.

We are not the first study to show that reduced weight is linked to MRD risk and poorer outcome in ALL, in a study by the Orgel group, weight extremes i.e., gaining and losing large amounts of weight, contributed to MRD risk, EFS and morbidity in paediatric ALL (Orgel et al., 2014a). A further study including 238 patients also found this to be the case and maintaining weight or even gaining weight was positive for reduced MRD risk, with obesity impacting overall survival by the end of treatment (Ethier et al., 2012). Weight loss early in induction therapy, which is the period of time in treatment that we are concentrating on has been associated with decreased survival (den Hoed et al., 2015). These findings do not suggest that weight gain is not a risk factor in ALL. A study by the Orgel group found findings different to ours where children starting in a normal weight category who progress to overweight or

obese at the end of induction, were associated with MRD risk, and being overweight or obese was linked to EFS and OS throughout the course of treatment and after (Orgel et al., 2014b).

Another study found that obesity at diagnosis has no association with MRD risk at days 19 or 46, nor did weight change in induction constitute MRD risk. However, it did indicate that patients who became obese during treatment have poorer OS due to treatment related mortality (Eissa et al., 2017a). The Butturini study concluded that obesity predicts the likelihood of relapse and chances of being cured in preteenagers and adolescents (Butturini et al., 2007). Children who were obese during induction have increased risk of hypertension, hyperglycaemia and hospital admission for febrile neutropenia (Meenan et al., 2019). Also gaining weight early in treatment is predictive of the child still being obese or overweight by the end of treatment and increases the child's risk of continuing with the excess weight and risks when recovered (Withycombe et al., 2015) which contributes to the number of disease associated with being obese such as cardiovascular disease and further cancers.

In this study, weight gain in the short induction period is not linked to MRD risk. Our study does not consider the risk of being overweight or obese in the longer consolidation therapy and maintenance therapy which can last for up to 2 years or how this rapid weight gain early in treatment adds to risk moving into the later phases of treatment. We also have a very small sample size and would need more patients to confirm if our findings would be comparable to published literature. Weight gain and its impact on event free and overall survival is studied more over the whole course of treatment and can be linked to events that occur after treatment has ended and the children are older. In recent research, there is a call for weight management as a therapeutic strategy in paediatric ALL (Tucci et al., 2018) and also for childhood cancer survivors to negate the risks of ongoing obesity (Zhang and Parsons, 2015). There is a lot of research investigating why obesity contributes to poorer outcomes as discussed in the introduction such, for example the protective environment fat tissue gives to ALL cells which may reduce chemotherapy efficacy further adding to risk long term after induction therapy.

4.10 Identification of adipokine expression changes in patients before and after induction therapy

Using human adipokine arrays to test our patients at the beginning of induction therapy and at the end on day 29 has given an extensive adipokine profile for each patient in this intensive early phase of treatment, see summary figure 4.11. The appendix sections 7.1.1 - 7.1.38 and figures 7.2 - 7.39 has individual descriptions and patient graphs. Sections 7.2 - 7.2.16 also includes a more in-depth discussion of individual patient data. The adipokine arrays have been a useful tool to begin to identify interesting patterns in profiles and to also ask questions of the data to support our aims. One aim of this study is to establish if a particular adipokine expression pattern is associated with MRD risk or weight gain. The previous section has discussed how the clinical dataset may contribute to MRD risk and highlights many factors that increase risk, this section will add to that complexity by discussing how the individual adipokine profiles may further increase this risk in MRD risk, weight gain or both.

As mentioned throughout the literature review and in the results sections, there are many factors that contribute to poor outcome or, in the case of this study, specifically MRD risk as we are dealing with induction therapy and this is the first milestone once treatment has commenced that will dictate the later, longer phases of treatment (Jastaniah et al., 2018). It is also important to point out that this study is the first comprehensive investigation of circulating adipokine expression in ALL. We have tested 58 adipokines at diagnosis and after induction treatment which will shed light on adipokines associated with MRD and weight gain at this critical early stage of treatment. This will be the first study that has identified particular adipokines which are linked to MRD risk.

This study also supports evidence from previous observations linked to adipokines associated with obesity which change in ALL (Siviero-Miachon et al., 2020). Our data shows expected patterns in studied adipokines associated with ALL and also with obesity; adiponectin is decreased overall in our patients which confirms findings in a previous study (El-Baz et al., 2013b), leptin and resistin increased which has been shown previously (Shahramian et al., 2016) (El-Baz et al., 2013b). Work by Lu et al demonstrated that fasting patients during treatment improves outcomes and have suggested that this is due to decreased leptin levels circulating in the blood (Lu et al., 2017). Whilst this is a valid conclusion and leptin may be a

good candidate to target in cancer treatment and ALL, targeting one adipokine may not be the ideal course of action as it is more likely to be a range of adipokines activating a number of downstream cellular pathways that contributes to MRD risk and/or weight gain . The next section discusses the overall trends in adipokine expression between weight gain and MRD risk patients.

4.10.1 Patient adipokine summary

In this chapter we have begun to unravel the adipokine profiles for the patients who became obese or overweight at the end of induction, also those who are MRD risk or both, this is summarised for all patients in figure 4.11. We have shown what a typical profile is for patients who gain weight, but what are the general patterns and trends and what could this mean for the patients risk during induction and beyond into consolidation treatment. As discussed previously in the introduction obesity is significantly linked to MRD risk in the orgel study (Orgel et al., 2014b). Being obese increases risk throughout treatment and beyond after successful treatment due to late effects and decreased overall survival. We have observed the opposite in this study with reduced weight at the end of induction linked to MRD risk, does this mean that an obese adipokine profile does not contribute to worse outcomes ? and what can it tell us about obesity and ALL. Higher leptin levels in obese children correlate with higher insulin levels in the blood (Tahir et al., 2014). Increased leptin is also indicative of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome (Chu et al., 2002) and higher blood sugar levels in obese patients with ALL compared to non-obese patients (Zareifar et al., 2015). There are other indicators of obesity, insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in the adipokine profiles of weight gain patients. Endocan is significantly increased in our weight gain patients and in a study of ALL survivors their lipid profiles and post prandial glucose levels were significantly increased, the study concluded that the survivors were at risk of developing premature atherosclerosis (Sherief et al., 2021). Low adiponectin is inversely correlated with obesity in children (Nascimento et al., 2014) and also linked to insulin resistance (Körner et al., 2007). Higher circulating adiponectin has an insulin sensitising affect (Calcaterra et al., 2009). This can improve insulin resistance and in turn lower blood sugar then insulin levels which further reduce IGF1 levels which both feed cancer cell growth (Biondani and Peyron, 2018). This one of the mechanisms suggested behind the use of the drug metformin in cancer

and leukaemia the other mechanism is discussed in the introduction as an AMPK activator. Further indicators of obesity markers and insulin resistance shown in the obese profiles are increased levels myeloperoxidase (Qaddoumi et al., 2020), increased angiopoietin like-3 (Arab Sadeghabadi et al., 2021), raised resistin (Simões et al., 2018) and Lipocalin-2 levels (Yan et al., 2007), all have been shown to be raised in obesity and positively correlate with insulin resistance and low grade inflammation. Another factor that contributes to insulin resistance are glucocorticoids, although steroids are an important part of treatment protocols at present, they do contribute to rapid weight gain and may be a driver of this phenotype and adipokine profile (Chow et al., 2013). In MRD risk patients on the whole the opposite is observed in adipokines associated with obesity and metabolic syndrome, leptin is reduced, adiponectin is slightly increased but not significant, myeloperoxidase is decreased, angiopoietin like-3 and Lipocalin-2 are slightly increased but not to the level of the weight gain patients and resistin in significantly decreased in MRD risk, this may indicate that MRD risk patients do not have the same risk associated with weight gain and insulin resistance. At this stage in treatment, we may not know the full impact of obesity as this study looked at early treatment and not the whole course of treatment and how being obese adipokine profiles could impact event free survival and overall health later in life. In a recent study which was part of the IDEAL trial, the group identified the PI3K/Akt pathway involved the cellular insulin glucose response which is implicated in chemoresistance. Rather than targeting the pathway directly calorie restriction was introduced in patients which improved MRD risk status in the trial by lowering insulin levels in the blood (Orgel et al., 2021). Calorie restriction and the targeting of insulin pathways in acute lymphoblastic leukemic does show promise in cancer cells and ALL cells. It has been shown that restoring normal glucose metabolism throughout the body can be an effective strategy in treating ALL (Ye et al., 2018). There are differences in markers of inflammation in weight gain compared to MRD risk patients, in weight gain patients the inflammation markers are lower grade more associated with metabolic syndrome. The MRD risk patients have non-significant increased levels of the acute inflammatory markers IL-6 and CRP compared to decreased levels in weight gain patients. This may be an underlying clue to the adipokine profiles of MRD risk patients and what is contributing to increased risk. Infection in acute leukaemia's is common and patients are at an increased risk of mortality, sepsis, bacterial, fungal infections and also febrile neutropenia (Logan et al., 2020). In ALL increased IL-6 is linked with increased levels of infection during

treatment, the following study observed increased levels of IL-6 in newly diagnosed ALL patients with pneumonia (Zhou et al., 2021). Further experiments in the Zhou study using mice and inhibiting the IL-6/STAT3 pathway reduced expression of renal multidrug resistance proteins which lessened the severity disease severity. Raised CRP is associated with poor outcome and bacterial sepsis in children with ALL (Peltola et al., 1983). This is in line with the expression of other chemokines associated with acute phase inflammatory proteins. CCL2 has raised expression in MRD risk patients at day 29 and reduced expression in weight gain patients. CCL2 has been shown to boost ALL cell survival indirectly by supporting the adhesion to BMMSC cells (de Vasconcellos et al., 2011). IL-8 although decreased in both groups of patients was decreased significantly in weight gain patients but not significantly in MRD risk patients, IL-8 in a range of concentrations has been shown to be protective of Molt4 cells in the final chapter of this study. IL-8 is known to activate the PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT through its signalling pathways (Liu et al., 2016). The immunomodulator TNF α is raised in MRD risk patients and reduced in weight gain patients, this also indicates acute phase inflammation (Page et al., 2018). Visfatin is also increased in MRD risk compared to the weight gain cohort and is implicated in the severity of inflammation (Park et al., 2020). Increased visfatin is also a biomarker of cardiac complications in survivors of ALL (Morel et al., 2020). Unfortunately, we can only speculate that infection and the acute phase inflammatory response could be driving MRD risk status as we do not have the clinical information as part of the study to confirm this, this does warrant further investigation. The cross talk involved in both sets of adipokine profiles is complex and they do have differences, they also have similarities and each set of adipokine profiles can act as modulators or indicators of increased risk. Both can benefit from the targeting of similar pathways to impact ALL cell viability. The next section discusses the adipokines most associated with weight gain and MRD risk.

4.11 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with weight gain

4.11.1 Leptin

The results for leptin expression in patients show a significant increase in levels in patients who gain weight within this cohort, in contrast leptin levels are not associated with MRD risk between MRD risk and low risk patients. Linear regression analysis shows positive correlation between start BMI percentile and leptin expression at the start of induction therapy, analysis at the end of induction therapy shows a significant positive correlation between leptin expression and BMI percentile. It is well established that leptin is a known adipokine to positively correlate with body weight (Ekmen et al., 2016), high levels of leptin can be detected in the blood of obese patients (Knight et al., 2010), in studies evaluating long term body composition and increased weight confirmed that patients with a childhood diagnosis of ALL had higher body fat percentage and higher leptin levels compared to control subjects (Jahnukainen et al., 2015). Further studies in ALL have confirmed our findings that leptin is increased in ALL patients who gain weight (Shahramian et al., 2016, Skoczen et al., 2011). Leptin is also significantly increased in our patients who presented obese or overweight at diagnosis compared to patients in the normal weight range, see appendix table 7.2. A major factor in weight gain during induction therapy is the administration of steroid treatment which contributes to significant weight gain and in the following study it was found that dexamethasone was significantly more intense in contributing to increased leptin levels and insulin resistance than prednisolone (Wallace et al., 2003). The impact of steroids occurs early from commencing treatment with markers of insulin resistance increasing after just 4 days of dexamethasone treatment in the following study (Warris et al., 2016). A further study observed that leptin is increased in response to steroids in induction therapy (Tavil et al., 2012). Steroids are an important part of induction therapy but also cause significant side effects one being raised leptin which are known to contribute cancer progression and chemoresistance (Ma et al., 2019).

4.11.2 IL-8

This study has confirmed as significant decrease in IL-8 expression levels in patients who gain weight in our study, further to this there is no significant difference in IL-8 patients expression levels between MRD risk patients and low risk patients after induction therapy. Linear regression analysis displayed a non-significant negative correlation between start BMI percentile and IL-8 expression at the end of induction therapy, analysis at the end of induction therapy shows a non-significant negative correlation between day 29 BMI percentile and IL-8 expression. Studies linking ALL to IL-8 confirm that IL-8 is a proinflammatory adipokine that is significantly higher in ALL patients at diagnosis compared to a control group without disease and in the absence of infection (Pérez-Figueroa et al., 2016), similar to our findings this study did not link IL-8 to MRD risk. The reduced levels seen in weight gain patients at day 29 may be an indication of the protective factor of having some weight gain as suggested from the findings of this study, also a positive outcome of chemotherapy treatment on the disease process. In the following study early reduction in IL-8 levels from chemotherapy treatments predicted a positive outcome in melanoma and non-small-cell lung cancer patients (Sanmamed et al., 2017), the same was observed in breast cancer (Tiainen et al., 2019).

4.11.3 Endocan

Analysis of endocan expression data has confirmed that endocan is significantly increased within the cohort of the patients who gain weight. In addition to this there is a small but non-significant increase in the patients who were MRD risk at the end of induction compared to low risk patients. At the beginning of treatment, there is a slight non-significant negative correlation in endocan expression and BMI percentile, by the end of induction therapy this changes to a slight positive correlation in endocan expression and BMI percentile. Endocan expression is known to be increased in obesity at higher levels (Klisić et al., 2021) which would explain the significant increase in patients who gain weight, some weight gain has also shown to be protective during induction therapy in this study. There is also a slight increase in endocan expression levels in patients who are MRD risk compared to low risk patients, a possible explanation for this could be the known link to acute leukaemia's and higher circulating endocan levels which have been directly implicated to sepsis and poorer outcome

(Kiral et al., 2016). Endocan levels are negatively correlated with BMI percentile and are lower at the start of induction therapy which could add to risk at diagnosis with higher levels, this changes to a slight positive correlation by the end of induction therapy which may indicate a better outcome, endocan levels returning to normal levels can be explained by the impact of chemotherapy actually improving outcome and correcting levels leading to a positive outcome as at relapse levels can increase again (Xu et al., 2014b).

4.11.4 Pref-1/DLK1

This study has confirmed a significant increase in pref-1 expression in our group of patients who gain weight by the end of induction therapy and a non-significant decrease in patients that are MRD risk compared to low risk patients by the end of induction therapy. At the start of induction therapy results show a slight positive correlation with start BMI percentile, this changes to a significant positive correlation with BMI percentile at the end of induction therapy. To our knowledge this is the first study showing that pref-1 is increased at the end of induction therapy in a group a patients who gain weight. Higher levels of pref-1 are linked to inflammation, the opposite is observed in lower expression levels were obese individuals has an improved inflammatory profile (O'Connell et al., 2011). This finding could be an indicator that adipogenesis is being impacted negatively in the weight gain group and the subsequent higher circulating pref-1 could be contributing to disease progression through activation of the NOTCH receptor as shown in the following study (Wei et al., 2013). This may not be a strong factor driving disease in induction therapy but may change later in treatment. The higher levels of pref-1 could also be a direct result of chemotherapy treatment and reduced adipogenesis, results in chapter 3, figures 3.7 and 3.8 show that treatment with vincristine and daunorubicin raised levels of pref-1 in our 3T3-L1 mouse model which would be an indicator of reduced adipogenesis. We did not perform further western blot studies to confirm activation of downstream pathways for pref-1.

4.11.5 Adiponectin

Patients adiponectin expression levels during induction therapy has confirmed a significant decrease in our group of patient who gain weight compared to patients who stay within the normal weight range or lose weight, there is no change in expression between the MRD risk

and low risk group of patients. Linear regression analysis shows small positive correlation between start BMI and Adiponectin expression at the start of induction, there is no correlation between adiponectin expression and BMI percentile at the end of induction. The reduction in adiponectin levels observed in the results of this study fit in with other studies where reduced levels are associated and inversely correlated with ALL and also obesity (El-Baz et al., 2013a, Ma et al., 2016, Srivastava et al., 2015a). The targeting of the adiponectin downstream pathways have become a novel target in treating a range of disorders and obesity related conditions and cancer (Nigro et al., 2018, Yu et al., 2019b). Promising novel treatment strategies include the adiponectin agonists ADP355 and AdipoRon which have similar effects on the downstream pathway's AMPK and PPAR-α (Okada-Iwabu et al., 2013, Otvos et al., 2015). In ALL more recent research is investigating the role of the mTOR pathway by developing anti-mTOR compounds which would counteract the effects of low adiponectin (Simioni et al., 2019). More recently AICAr which is an AMPK activator has been used to raise AMPK levels in cells which adiponectin would target has led to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in ALL cells (Du et al., 2019). The most promising candidate drug which would mimic the actions of adiponectin and has been studied for usage in ALL alongside current chemotherapy is metformin an AMPK activator and anti-diabetic drug (Biondani and Peyron, 2018). This type of repurposing of drugs with known good safety profiles would be good options for paediatric cancers by raising AMPK levels and supressing the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway and the PPARa and NF-k β pathways would be promising ways of counteracting low adiponectin levels in ALL.

4.12 Identification of adipokine changes in patients associated with MRD risk

4.12.1 Resistin

The results for resistin expression in patients has confirmed a significant decrease in patients who are MRD risk at the end of induction therapy compared to low risk patients, in contrast to this there is non-significant increase in resistin expression in patients who gain weight. Resistin expression at the start of induction therapy shows a non-significant positive corelation with BMI percentile, this is a similar finding to resistin expression and BMI percentile at the end of induction therapy. Resistin has been implicated in pro inflammatory conditions and cardiometabolic disorders and positively correlated with increasing BMI, in the following study this was confirmed in obese adolescents where circulating resistin levels and childhood obesity related conditions were associated (Makni et al., 2013). In childhood ALL a study confirmed that resistin levels in children were similar in obese and non-obese individuals (Srivastava et al., 2015a), this study has confirmed a similar finding, when comparing resistin levels at diagnosis between patients who present as overweight or obese and normal weight there is no difference in resistin expression, p= 0.9982, see appendix table 7.2. A study also confirmed our finding that resistin levels were higher at diagnosis and that resistin levels may serve as a diagnostic biomarker to detect disease relapse (El-Baz et al., 2013a). A possible explanation is that low resistin levels are associated with MRD risk and that high resistin levels are protective, a protective role for resistin was found in the following breast cancer study (Georgiou et al., 2016). This may or may not be the case with ALL, in this study comparing resistin expression levels at diagnosis in those patients who go onto to become MRD risk at day 29 show raised levels of resistin compared to low risk patients although not significant, p=0.2315, see appendix table 7.3. A different explanation is that lower resistin levels in MRD risk patients at day 29 which were higher at diagnosis may be due to the impact of chemotherapy on reducing levels, this was shown in the following study (Moschovi et al., 2010a). Reduced levels of resistin were also present in the 3T3-L1 cells treated with vincristine in this study, see figure 3.7, this could be linked to the positive impact of chemotherapy in restoring normal levels of adipokine secretions in the case of resistin.

4.12.2 SerpinA12 (Vaspin)

This study has confirmed a significant increase in serpinA12 in our patients who are MRD risk at the end of induction therapy in contrast there is a small non-significant decrease in our group of patients who gain weight. Linear regression analysis of start and end BMI and expression levels of SerpinA12 show no correlation with start BMI and expression levels at induction and a non-significant negative correlation with day 29 BMI and expression of serpinA12. This is the first time to our knowledge that serpinA12 has been associated with MRD risk in ALL. SerpinA12 data is lacking in ALL but more is known about its target receptor the heat shock protein GRP78 which is involved in the unfolded protein response (Uckun et al., 2011) activation of this receptor targets the downstream pathway PI3K/Akt (Wey et al., 2012). Serpin A12 promotes insulin sensitivity (Nicholson et al., 2019) and also positively corelates with increasing BMI (Heiker, 2014). These findings differ in our patient results where it is decreased in expression in our weight gain patients and there is a negative correlation with end BMI. Low serum serpinA12 levels are associated with weight loss which could explain the negative correlation with BMI (Teshigawara et al., 2012).

4.12.3 Cathepsin-S

This study has confirmed that cathepsin-S is significantly associated with MRD risk and compared to low risk patients' levels are reduced after induction therapy. Cathepsin-S data is very limited in ALL research and this is the first time that this adipokine has been associated with MRD risk in ALL. The data linking cathepsin-S and our group of patients who gain weight has shown the opposite pattern where it is increased in expression compared to patients who lose weight or stay in the normal weight category. Linear regression analysis used to measure correlations between start and end BMI and cathepsin-S at the beginning of induction therapy and the end both show positive correlations with end BMI and cathepsin-S expression being significant. With limited information regarding cathepsin-s and ALL it is difficult to explain these findings in the context of ALL with no information regarding lower levels of cathepsin-S and poor outcomes in acute leukaemia's that would explain this finding. An explanation may be linked to cathepsin-S and its strong correlation with increasing BMI (Taleb and Clement, 2007), our results show increases in weight gain and as MRD risk in this study is linked to reduced weight this may explain this opposite finding, therefore lower levels in ALL are associated with increased risk at the end of induction therapy.

4.12.4 IGFBP-4

Results for IGFBP-4 a non-significant reduction in expression of IGFBP-4 in MRD risk patients compared to low risk patients, results between patients who gain weight compared to patients who lose weight or stay in the normal weight category showed a very small nonsignificant increase. Linear regression analysis for start and end BMI and IGFBP-4 expression displayed positive non-significant correlations with weight gain. The lower expression levels were observed in another study after induction therapy in ALL (Wex et al., 2005) although this group did not link this finding to MRD risk. IGFBP-4 has a protective role against cancer cell proliferation when expressed at higher levels, it achieves this by keeping the levels of proliferative insulin growth factor-1 in check (Ryan et al., 2004), lower levels in MRD risk may lose this protective effect. The opposite is observed in weight gain patients and the positive correlations with start and end BMI show the reverse and have a protective effect as shown with increased weight in this study.

4.12.5 Angiopoietin-2

The results for angiopoietin-2 and MRD confirm lower levels in MRD patients compared to low risk patients, this reduction is not significant, this finding was observed in a study in childhood ALL patients but it was not associated with MRD after initial induction therapy (Karakurt et al., 2016) the opposite is observed in weight gain with a non-significant increase in weight gain compared to patients who lost weight or stayed within the normal weight range. Both start and end BMI positively correlated with increased angiopoietin-2 expression levels, end BMI was a significant correlation. Raised levels of angiopoietin-2 levels have been patients had insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction (Gozal et al., 2017).. This study has confirmed that angiopoietin-2 is significantly higher in patients who present as obese or overweight at diagnosis compared to normal weight individuals, none of these patients went onto be MRD risk, a possible explanation for this could be the slightly raised levels may be protective at antagonising angiopoietin-1 levels, see appendix table 7.3. The next chapter involves the studies in vitro work and examines the impact of chosen adipokines on Molt4 cell viability and the cellular pathways activated.

5.0 CHAPTER 5: Adipokine in vitro work

The following chapter covers the in vitro work completed for the study. Due to the study design patient samples were collected throughout the period of the PhD placement, rather than analysing the patients data first to identify significant adipokines and then completing the invitro work. To begin to identify the adipokines of interest the patient data was analysed when patient 040 was processed which identified the following five adipokines which warranted further experimental work. This explains why the five chosen from the two patient data sets are different from the actual significant adipokines when analysing the whole data set (up to patient 057). At the time Angiopoietin-2 was significant and after the full analysis the significance had changed but it was still in the top five for MRD risk. The following adipokines were chosen out of the most significant to incubate with the Molt4 cell line using trypan blue exclusion assays, which are known to activate shared pathways.

5.1 Leptin has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability

In this study we wanted to examine the effects of leptin on the ALL cell line Molt4 and activation of the OB-Rb receptor and subsequently the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway by using trypan blue exclusion assays and western blotting for pAKT (S473). Leptin exerts its effects on cancer cells by stimulating a number of pathways including STAT3 and PI3K/Akt which boosts cell growth and proliferation (Kumar et al., 2017) (Achkar et al., 2019). The pathways are activated by circulating leptin binding to its receptor OB-Rb (Tartaglia et al., 1995). Molt4 cells were cultured over a five day period in 0.3%FBS and incubated with increasing concentrations of leptin. Cells were first incubated for 24 hours in reduced 0.3% FBS concentrated media with no additions, after 24 hours cells were treated with 5ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 500ng/ml and a control with no added leptin. After a further 24 hours cells were collected and proteins extracted for western blotting, cells were then counted again on day 4 and 5. To count the cells trypan blue staining was used to count live cells and to count live and dead cells to calculate %viability over the five day period, the results are shown in figures 5.1 a-d. Figure 5.1a shows the trypan blue exclusion assay results, We can see from figure a that from days 0 to 2 the cell counts show little variability between leptin concentrations, by

day 3 and 4 the control well results can be seen decreasing and the higher concentrations of leptin are increasing. Here by day 4 there are significant differences between the control and 50ng/mL of leptin, p=0.0255 n=3, there is also differences between the control and 500ng/mL of Leptin although not significant p=0.0531. there is no significant difference between the control and 5ng/mL of leptin and the control, p=0.5054. Figure b shows the same results for % cell viability counts. These graphs display similarities for all the leptin concentrations compared to the control, by day 3 the control % viability can be seen to decrease slightly compared to the other concentrations and by day 4 there are significant differences. Figure 5.1b confirms the differences demonstrating an increase %viability in the cells treated with 50ng/mL compared to the control, p=0.0003, n=3 and also in the cells treated with 500ng/mL of leptin compared to the control, p=0.0005, n=3. The difference between the cells treated with 5ng/mL and the control were not significant, p=0.2612, n=3. Figure 5.1c and d show the western blot results for the cells extracted on day 2 of the trypan blue exclusion assay for cells incubated with increasing concentrations of leptin. Graph 5.1c shows that leptin activates the PI3K/akt pathway and this is confirmed by increased level of phosphorylation of the pAKT (S473) protein. Activation of the pathway is dose dependant on leptin concentration, cells incubated with 500ng/mL showed a significant difference compared to the control cells, p=0.0373. Cells incubated with 50ng/mL displayed an increase in phosphorylation, but this was not significant p=0.2496, cells incubated with 5ng/mL showed a smaller non-significant increase p=0.6097, n=3. Figure d has images of the western blots, similar results were observed from the three separate experiments. To calculate the relative band intensity pAKT and AKT were both normalised to their respective GAPDH internal controls for each concentration and control then these figures were divided by each other to obtain the relative band intensity and the proportion of the AKT protein which is activated or phosphorylated. Appendix figures 7.4a and b show the trypan blue exclusion assay results for live cell counts over the five day period of the experiment, cell count x10⁴ plotted against day of incubation.



Figure 5.1: A-D, Leptin stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability by activating the PI3K/Akt pathway. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of leptin. A, Trypan blue live cell counts, day 4 shows significant differences between 50ng/mL and control, p=0.0255, also 500ng/mL compared to control is increased, p=0.0531 n=3. Figure B, % viability results, day 4 showed significant results for 500ng/mL and 50ng/mL compared to control, p=0.0005 and p=0.0003 respectively, n=3. Figure C, western blot results, leptin activates the PI3K/Akt pathway compared to control in a dose dependant manner, 500ng/mL increased phosphorylation significantly compared to control, p=0.0373, n=3. D, western blot images, error bars shown as standard error.

5.2 Leptin has no impact on cell viability in the presence of Vincristine or Daunorubicin

Studies have confirmed that adipokines have the capabilities to change chemotherapy sensitivity. Leptin in other studies in cancer decreased the sensitivity of chemotherapy drugs (Gu et al., 2019a). It has been shown in this study that leptin levels are significantly increased in patients who gain weight or become overweight or obese during induction therapy. To test if leptin interferes with the chemosensitivity of ALL chemotherapy drugs we used Molt4 cells incubated with or without leptin at a concentration of 50ng/mL and observed any changes in cell viability when increasing concentrations of daunorubicin (0.781nM to 200nM) and

vincristine (0.079nM to 20nM) were added using an MTS assay, see methods section 2.10. Wells with daunorubicin alone and daunorubicin with leptin were compared, results are displayed in figure 5.2. Two way ANNOVA was used to analyse the changes in cell viability with a Sidak's multiple comparisons test to compare each concentration of drug alone to the drug incubated with leptin. There were no notable differences in cell viability between daunorubicin alone, highlighted in green and daunorubicin with leptin, highlighted in red in Molt4 cells. The same experiment was performed in the presence of vincristine, see figure 5.3. There were no changes in cell viability between cells incubated with vincristine alone, highlighted in green and leptin, highlighted in red.



Figure 5.2: MTS chemosensitivity results for daunorubicin incubated with leptin. Molt4 cells incubated with or without leptin at a concentration of 50ng/mL and increasing concentrations of daunorubicin 0.78nM to 200nM. 2-ANNOVA was used to analyse the changes in cell viability, there were no significant changes in chemosensivity at any of the daunorubicin concentrations, n=3



Figure 5.3: MTS chemosensitivity results for vincristine incubated with leptin. Molt4 cells incubated with or without leptin at a concentration of 50ng/mL and increasing concentrations of vincristine 0.078nM to 20nM. 2-ANNOVA was used to analyse the changes in cell viability, there were no significant changes in chemosensivity at any of the vincristine concentrations, n=3

5.3 IL-8 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability

Molt4 cells were cultured over a five day period in 0.3% FBS and incubated with increasing concentrations of IL-8. It has been shown that IL-8 acts through the receptors CXCR1/2 to activate a number of downstream pathways including PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT3 in cancer (Liu et al., 2016). Cells were first incubated for 24 hours in reduced 0.3% FBS concentrated media with no additions, after 24 hours cells were treated with 5ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 500ng/ml and a control with no added IL-8. After a further 24 hours, cells were collected and proteins extracted for western blotting on the basis that further testing could confirm pathways that are activated in the Molt4 cells incubated in IL-8, cells were then counted again on day 4 and 5. To count the cells trypan blue staining was used to count live cells and also to count live and dead cells to calculate %viability over the five day period, the results are shown in figures 5.4 a and b . Appendix figures 7.41a and b show the trypan blue exclusion assay results for live cell counts over the five day period of the experiment, cell count x10⁴ plotted against day of incubation. We can see from figure 5.4a that there is variability between IL-8

concentrations, with no significant differences by day 4 in actual cell counts between the control and the treated cells. Figure b shows the results for % cell viability counts. These results do show significant differences in % viability on day 3 and 4 of the treatment. On day 3 the control % viability can be seen to drop slightly compared to the other concentrations and by day 4 there are significant differences. The changes can be seen as increased %viability in the cells treated with 5ng/mL and the control, p=0.0069, 50ng/mL of IL-8 compared to the control, p=<0.0001, n=3. These results differ to leptin concentrations as even at the smaller concentration of 5ng/mL of IL-8 significant differences are displayed compared to the control.



Figure 5.4: IL-8 stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of IL-8. A, Trypan blue live cell counts, there are no significant differences between the cells treated with IL-8 and control cells on any day, n=3.
Figure B, % viability results for day 3 showed significant results for 500ng/mL and the control, p=0.0162, day 4 showed significant results for 500ng/mL, 50ng/mL, 5ng/mL and the control, p=<0.0001, p=0.0004 and p=0.0069 respectively, n=3, error bars shown as standard error.

5.4 Resistin has no impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability

In this study we wanted to examine the effects of resistin on the ALL cell line Molt4 by using trypan blue exclusion assays to count live cell numbers and also calculate percentage viability by counting live and non-viable cells. In other studies high not low levels of resistin are associated with increased risk in ALL patients (El-Baz et al., 2013b). To determine if any concentrations of resistin impacted cell viability Molt4 cells were cultured over a five day period in 0.3% FBS and incubated with increasing concentrations of resistin. Cells were first incubated for 24 hours in reduced 0.3% FBS concentrated media with no additions, after 24 hours cells were treated with 5ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 500ng/ml of resistin and a control. After

a further 24 hours cells were collected and proteins extracted for western blotting, cells were then counted again on day 4 and 5. To count the cells trypan blue staining was used to count live cells and also to count live and dead cells to calculate %viability over the five day period, the results are shown in figures 5.5a and b. Appendix figures 7.42a and b show the trypan blue exclusion assay results for live cell counts over the five day period of the experiment, cell count x10⁴ plotted against day of incubation. We can see from figure 5.5a that from days 0 to 2 the cell counts show little variability between resistin concentrations, by day 3 and 4 there is more variability with no differences between the treated and the control wells. By day 4 there are no significant differences between any of the resistin concentrations and the control well. Figure b shows the same results for % cell viability counts. The bar chart in figure 5.5b confirms there are no significant differences between the wells treated with resistin and the control well, there is a non-significant increase in the 500ng/mL of resistin compared to the control, p=0.1512, n=3.



Figure 5.5: Resistin has minimal impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of resistin. A, Trypan blue live cell counts, there are no significant differences between the cells treated with resistin and control cells on any day, n=3. Figure B, % viability results, there are no significant differences between the cells treated with resistin and control cells on any day although there was a small non-significant increase in the results for days 4: 500ng/mL and the control, p=0.1512, n=3, error bars shown as standard error.

5.5 Serpin A12 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells and increases cell viability

Results indicate serpin A12 is significantly associated with MRD risk in this study. Information on serpin12 is lacking in ALL although information on its target receptor GPR78 has been explored. (Uckun et al., 2011) highlighted that GRP78 which is an important component of

the unfolded protein response (UPR) signalling network and was abundantly expressed in relapsed B ALL. Studies in liver cancer confirmed the protective activity of serpinA12 at concentrations of 5ng/mL on Hep-3B cells alongside this there was a reduction of reactive oxygen species and NO (Skonieczna et al., 2019). Further to this knockdown of the GRP78 receptor in AML cells lines suppressed the proliferative effects of the PI3K/Akt pathway (Wey et al., 2012). Molt4 cells were cultured over a five day period in 0.3%FBS and incubated with increasing concentrations of serpin A12. Cells were first incubated for 24 hours in reduced 0.3% FBS concentrated media with no additions, after 24 hours cells were treated with 5ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 500ng/ml and a control with no added serpin A12, the results are shown in figures 5.6a and b. Appendix figures 7.43a and b show the trypan blue exclusion assay results for live cell counts over the five day period of the experiment, cell count x10⁴ plotted against day of incubation. We can see from figure 5.6a that from days 1 to 4 the cell counts show little variability between serpin A12 concentrations, by day 3 and 4 the control well results can be seen decreasing and the higher concentrations of serpin A12 are increasing but this is not significant. Figures 5.5b are results for % cell viability counts, these do have significant differences in % cell viability at day 3 and 4. There is increased %viability in the cells treated with 500 ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 5ng/mL at day 3 compared to the control, p=0.0145, p=0.0111 and p=0.0277 respectively. Day 4 showed significant results for 500ng/mL and the control, p=0.0001, 50ng/mL displayed an increase but not significant p=0.0550 and 5ng/mL to control showed a significant increase p= 0.0009, n=3, error bars shown as standard error.



Figure 5.6: Serpin A12 stimulates Molt4 cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of serpin A12. A, Trypan blue live cell counts, there are no significant differences between the cells treated with serpin A12, n=3. Figure B, % viability results for day 3 showed significant results for 500ng/mL, 50ng/mL, 5ng/mL treated with serpin A12 and the control, p=0.0145, p=0.0111 and p=0.0277 respectively, day 4 showed significant results for 500ng/mL and the control, p=0.0001, 50ng/mL displayed an increase but not significant p=0.0550 and 5ng/mL to control showed a significant increase p= 0.0009, n=3, error bars shown as standard error.

5.6 Angiopoietin-2 has a protective effect on Molt4 cells at high expression levels and increases cell viability

Angiopoietin-2 acts as a partial agonist and antagonist for angiopoitin-1 in the Tie2 signalling pathways which activates the downstream PI3K/Akt and has been shown to be lowered in this study. To examine the effects of angiopoietin-2 on the ALL cell line Molt4 by using trypan blue exclusion assays to count live cells and also percentage viability. Molt4 cells were cultured over a five day period in 0.3%FBS and incubated with increasing concentrations of angiopoietin-2. Cells were first incubated for 24 hours in reduced 0.3% FBS concentrated media with no additions, after 24 hours cells were treated with 5ng/mL, 50ng/mL and 500ng/ml of Angiopoietin-2 and a control with no added angiopoietin-2. After a further 24 hours cells were collected and proteins extracted for western blotting, cells were then counted again on day 4 and 5. To count the cells trypan blue staining was used to count live cells and also to count live and dead cells to calculate %viability over the five day period, the results are shown in figures 5.7a and b. Appendix figures 7.44a and b show the trypan blue exclusion assay results for live cell counts over the five day period of the experiment, cell count x10⁴ plotted against day of incubation. Over the course of the five day experiment there are no significant differences in live cell numbers in the treated cells compared to the control,

see figure 5.7ba. Figure b shows the same results for % cell viability counts, there are no differences in percentage viability up until day 4, by day 4 there is a significant difference in % viability between the cells in the control well and the cells treated with 500ng/mL of angiopoietin-2, p=0.0044, n=3.



Figure 5.7: Angiopoietin-2 increases Molt4 cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of angiopoietin-2. A, Trypan blue live cell counts, there are no significant differences between the cells treated with angiopoietin-2 and control cells on any day, Figure D, % viability results, day 4 showed significant results for 500ng/mL and the control, p=0.0044, n=3, error bars shown as standard error.

5.7 CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

5.7.1 Identification of adipokine associated with changes in cell viability

The analyses of the adipokine expression data from patients during induction therapy has identified a group of significant adipokines that are associated MRD risk with weight gain at the end of induction therapy compared to patients who stay within the normal weight range or gain less than 5% of their starting body weight or lose weight by the end of induction treatment. To our knowledge this is the first study that has identified a large group of adipokines that are associated with increased risk using these parameters at this early stage in treatment. There were significant changes in the following adipokines in relation to weight gain at day 29; leptin, IL-8, endocan, pref-1 and adiponectin, none of these adipokines were associated with MRD risk. Adipokines linked to MRD risk were resistin, serpinA12, cathepsin-S and Angiopoietin-2. The following sections discuss each adipokine tested using the trypan

blue assay, these are leptin ad IL-8 for weight gain and resistin, serpinA12 and Angiopoietin-2 linked to MRD risk.

5.7.2 Leptin

The results for the trypan blue exclusion assays have shown that leptin is having an impact on cell viability by increasing this at day 4 of the experiments. In this case it seems that leptin has a protective effect on Molt4 cells towards the end of the experiments and is possibly boosting survival in the presence of decreased nutrients in the cell media, or starvation conditions. In another study leptin was able to boost survival of ovarian cancer cells in serum starved conditions by activation of the JAK/STAT, PI3K/Akt and MEK/ERK1/2 pathways, this stimulated the expression of Mcl-1 and cyclin D1 exerting antiapoptotic effects (Chen et al., 2013a). A study on the Molt3 cell line it was confirmed that leptin increased cell viability by upregulation of the GLUT1 receptor which enhanced glucose signalling (Han et al., 2018). In this set of experiments, we confirm that leptin is able to activate the PI3K/Akt pathway and this may be contributing to the increased cell viability in our trypan blue exclusion assay experiments. It is likely that there are other mechanisms involved in this finding such as activation of other pathways shown to be involved in cell proliferation as described in the above ovarian cancer study and other cancers (Liu et al., 2011). The final set of experiments looked at leptins ability to change chemosensitivity of daunorubicin and vincristine using an MTS assay. Leptin is known to change chemosensitivity in other cancers but here there was no change when Molt4 cells were treated with increasing levels of daunorubicin or vincristine in the presence of absence of 50ng/mL of leptin. A possible explanation for this may be that there wasn't enough leptin present in the set up to have an impact on cell viability in the presence of the chemotherapy drugs. Another explanation could be that leptin does not work on its own to change chemosensitivity in ALL and it is a number of adipokines that work together to do this. Leptin is well studied in cancer and in ALL, in recent studies fasting has been used to control leptin physiology which upregulated leptin receptors throughout the body which in turn reduced leptin levels in circulation and had a positive impact on reducing disease burden in a mouse model (Lu et al., 2017). In addition, fasting may be beneficial to a positive outcome due to lower available nutrients in supply to fuel ALL cells and not just due to reduced leptin levels, in summary leptin does have an important role to play in the

development of ALL in particular patients who gain weight and are MRD risk but it is unlikely to be acting alone in its contribution to the disease process.

5.7.3 IL-8

The results from the IL-8 trypan blue exclusion assay confirm that IL-8 has the ability to protect Molt4 cells and increase their viability in starvation conditions at day 3 and 4 of the experiment. IL-8 is protective of Molt4 cells at low and high doses so having low concentrations at day 29 may still be protective of ALL cells in a patient regardless of their weight status. IL-8 may be an adipokine that can directly drive the disease at low and high concentrations in circulation further into treatment. A study by (AA) confirms that in healthy children IL-8 would not be in the circulation so it being at low or high concentrations is a marker of risk and inflammation in paediatric disease. Increased IL-8 levels are linked to poorer outcomes in other cancers by activation of downstream pathways PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT3 (Liu et al., 2016). IL-8 may be an adipokine that in the circulation increases risk in weight gain and MRD patients, unfortunately we were unable to confirm potential activated pathways in this study.

5.7.4 Resistin

At present there is very little research regarding resistin and its receptors in ALL cells, in the trypan blue exclusion assays there were no significant differences in Molt4 cells incubated with increasing levels of resistin although a non-significant increase was seen in cell viability at day 4 of incubation in the well treated with 500ng/ml of resistin. Explanations for this may be that the receptors are simply not present in the membrane of Molt4 cells, there are no other studies to confirm this at present or that it could mean there is a receptor there but it needs very high levels to activate it which could not be confirmed in this set of experiments. No western blots were carried for Molt4 cells incubated with resistin so we were unable to know if the PI3K/Akt or the JAK/STAT pathways were activated as this has been confirmed in other cancers (Gong et al., 2018a).

5.7.5 Serpin A12 (Vaspin)

The trypan blue assay results for serpinA12 confirms significant increases in %cell viability on day 3 and 4 of the experiment, to our knowledge this is the first time serpinA12 has been shown to have a protective effect on ALL cells. By day 3 and 4 of the experiment with nutrient depletion serpinA12 may be contributing to increased cell viability by boosting survival in the presence of less nutrients. The trypan blue assay experiments also show this effect at the three concentrations tested which may imply that serpinA12 is able to have an impact on cell viability at low and high levels of expression, or in weight gain and weight loss. Although we have not confirmed by western blot which downstream pathway was activated in this set of experiments, in a study in liver cancer 5ng/mL of serpinA12 was enough to supress apoptosis by reduction of ROS and NO (Skonieczna et al., 2019). In a study using prostate and breast cancer cells GRP78 was able to relocate to the cell surface and form a complex with PI3K which activated the PI3K/Akt pathway and promoted chemoresistance (Zhang et al., 2013). The possibility of targeting other pathways involved in the UPR in ALL could also be considered alongside antagonising the GRP78 receptor (Masouleh et al., 2015)

5.7.6 Angiopoietin-2

The angiopoietin-2 trypan blue assays confirm no significant differences in numbers between cells incubated with increasing levels of angiopoietin-2 compared to the control, although the results for cell viability showed a significant difference between the control and the cells treated with 500ng/mL of angiopopietin-2, this finding confirms and fits in with previous research that at lower concentrations the growth factor acts as an antagonist against the Tie-2 receptor and at higher concentrations it can activate the receptor and downstream pathways (Kim et al., 2000). Lower levels of angiopoietin-2 in MRD risk patients also fit in with other studies as angiopoietin-2 acts as an antagonist at lower expression levels for angiopoeitin-1 and inhibits the activation of the downstream pathway PI3K/Akt/mTOR, lower levels in MRD risk would indicate that it is failing to block the action of angiopoeitin-1 and activating the PI3K/Akt pathway (Maisonpierre et al., 1997). We were unable to confirm activated downstream pathways by western blot for Angiopoietin-2.

The identification of adipokines associated with MRD risk has begun to identify risk profiles and potential adipokines that could be driving the disease process this is more likely to be occurring with serpinA12/vaspin in the five adipokines discussed, angiopoietin-2 seems to be having an indirect role expressed at low levels as it is unable to antagonise the action of angiopoietin-1. The results for resistin are not significant but there is a trend for increased cell viability in high concentration of 500ng/mL compared to the control. These three adipokines are all known to activate the PI3K/Akt pathway even though we have been unable to confirm this with western blotting. Resistin and SerpinA12 are also known to be involved the UPR and upregulation of ABC transporter pumps even though we have not confirmed these findings in this study. Resistin levels are lower in MRD risk patients at day 29, is the opposite protective in ALL? or are reduced levels of resistin due to a positive response to chemotherapy by the end of induction treatment, could we begin to track adipokine expression to predict effective response to treatment. Interestingly we have shown that a lower weight at the end of induction therapy is associated with MRD risk and that adipokine expression changes fit in with findings in the literature, the opposite is seen in weight gain patients, for example serpinA12 is raised in MRD risk in this study, but in weight loss group of patients levels reduce which matches the findings that MRD risk and associated adipokines are linked with weight loss.

6.0 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

This study has identified circulating adipokine expression changes during induction treatment that are significantly associated with patient sub-groups including those who gain weight and those who are MRD risk at the end of induction therapy. With this information we can build on this knowledge so that we can improve outcomes for obese and overweight patients with ALL, and perhaps also help to monitor ongoing risk throughout and after successful treatment for ALL. Current drug treatments are effective in curing most patients with ALL but leave many children with long term health complications. There is also little input given in current treatment protocols that considers the impact of weight gain during and after treatment, or the more aggressive management of weight loss which is linked to MRD risk early on in treatment.
We have shown that increased weight gain in this study is not linked to early stage MRD risk after induction therapy. It is clear though from other studies (Butturini et al., 2007, Eissa et al., 2017b, Gelelete et al., 2011, Orgel et al., 2014b) that excess weight poses an increased risk to patients throughout treatment and later in life and reduces overall survival and event free survival, it also puts the patient at risk of metabolic disorders which can reduce normal expected lifespan. What this work has highlighted is just how complex the subject of obesity and ALL is. If we break down the different aspects of risk in ALL patients without adding the further complexity of obesity, adipose tissue acting as an ALL cell niche and a source of fuel, dose capping of chemotherapeutics, adipokines or chemoresistance, the range of presentations of the disease is vast. Just taking into account the clinical data and the current standard risk strategies there are large differences in risk between a patient who is below 10 years of age, has a low white cell count at diagnosis, is female, who receives a regimen A, has good B ALL cytogenics and is low risk compared to an older male who has a high white count at diagnosis, receives regimen B, has T cell cytogenics and who is MRD risk at the end of induction therapy, often the only difference is the addition of daunorubicin to the treatment plan which is known to have many toxic side effects, possible changes in steroid treatment timing of doses or the addition of drugs if the disease has spread to the central nervous system.

It is important to identify patient subgroups who could benefit from new treatments and possibly omit more toxic drugs like daunorubicin which can further add to the burden of complications later in life or reduce or omit steroid treatment if possible, which contributes to weight gain and metabolic disorders. There are of course treatments in trials in particular small molecule inhibitors but is it time to investigate broader options that could be available to treat ALL. When we add in the increased risk of weight gain throughout treatment and also obese and overweight patients with dysregulated adipokines, could they be considered an atrisk group similar to patients with unfavourable genetics such as patients with T cell disease or a higher white cell count at diagnosis? Patients who present with increased weight during and after induction could benefit from their own treatment arm in clinical protocols throughout consolidation, maintenance therapy and any later follow up therapy especially if they present as MRD risk and obese or overweight. We have discussed in the chapter 4 adipokine summary that presenting as MRD alone without weight gain subjects ALL cells to

raised adipokines, also cross talk that can activate the PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT pathways from serpinaA12 and IL-6. Drugs that target these pathways would benefit both at risk groups.

In the case of adipokines and targeting specific receptors such as the leptin receptor through drugs or fasting may not be the best approach, it is clear from this study and other studies that situation is much more complex, rather than target one or even two of the receptors directly it would be a better approach to target the shared downstream pathways. To combat dysregulated adipokine profiles contributing to increased risk drugs that target the various points in the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway and or the JAK/STAT pathway could be considered when it is found safe to treat children with them. For adipokines profiles that change chemosensitivity and it is found that this impacts the Bcl-2 family of proteins and consequently shifts levels of apoptosis to a pro survival phenotype in ALL cells Bcl-2 inhibitors could be included in treatment, there is increased interest in the usage of these drugs. There has been more recent interest in the drug metformin in the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, recent research is adding to the all-round benefits of this drug which sensitises the AMPK pathway which in turn supresses the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and JAK/STAT pathways. Metformin also induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in drug resistant leukaemia cells. There are numerous new drug approaches that could be considered when treating patients where chemoresistance is apparent and the child is at risk of relapse further into treatment such as targeting the dysregulated unfolded protein response, autophagy or ABC transporter upregulation, adipokines have all been shown to have an impact in these pathways. More research is needed into the mechanisms of chemoresistance in ALL as this is not a straightforward approach. In the case of autophagy and the UPR both are finely balanced networks in the cell and both can act in an acute phase and chronically activated way. Early in treatment they may contribute a positive effect to outcome by driving apoptosis but later on in treatment when cells are exposed to chronic levels of dysregulated adipokine profiles particular overweight and obese profiles, this may switch the pathways to a pro survival phenotype to protect ALL cells, this could be an underlying contributor to poorer outcomes in obese and overweight children or MRD risk patients as they move through the treatment phases. Not all adipokines are direct drivers of disease by activating downstream pathways in the cell, for example leptin or IL-8. Some indirectly influence ALL by interacting with other adipokines or acting as antagonist such as IGFBP4 or angiopoietin-2, some are protective, an

example would be adiponectin. Adipokines such as pentraxin-3 can give an indication of infection or sepsis in a patient which can add to risk. Adipokines such as resistin could be used as potential biomarkers and used to track response to chemotherapy and relapse throughout treatment, we have shown in the 3T3-L1 work that adipose tissue does respond to chemotherapy treatments, further research is needed to understand the impact chemotherapy has on long term function of adipose tissue and if this contributes to late effects. Further research and studies are needed to identify adipokine patterns in MRD risk patients and patients who gain weight to be confident in knowing that they present with a particle adipokine profile combined with their clinical risk and then researching their main drivers of disease or chemoresistance and choosing the most suitable kinder drug combination treatments for them, this would involve larger studies to collect more patient data and further research into the most suitable treatment options.

Levels of obesity are on the rise and there is a call for newer targeted treatments for cancer patients who have the added risk of weight gain. There is no clear evidence that weight gain is a cause of developing ALL, but it is clear that through various mechanisms discussed in this study that it adds risk to the patient. This work has begun to identify just one part of the complex reasons for increased risk associated with being obese or overweight and will add to the field of knowledge to other paediatric cancers that are made worse by weight gain and also adult cancers

This study has highlighted the need for future research in this area, this study had more work planned but unfortunately patient recruitment and the work planned in chapter 5 has been severely impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. This led to reduced time in the laboratory to complete the planned experiments, there are also limitations that need to be considered of the study.

For this study the number of patients in the cohort needed to be larger, this would allow for more overweight or obese patients to be recruited, also MRD risk patients. Higher patient numbers would have the advantage of increasing the statistical power of the study overall, this could provide a more definitive answer to know if presenting or becoming obese or overweight with ALL significantly contributes to MRD risk during induction therapy. Future patient work could include extending the study in the consolidation and maintenance phases of treatment and taking plasma samples again with weight and later MRD risk status, this

could provide more answers into how adipokine profiles change throughout the whole of the treatment. Patients could even be followed up after successful treatment to monitor adipokine expression and see if it correlates with patients who have stayed at a higher BMI percentile and if they have markers of metabolic syndrome and other late effects. One option would be to obtain patients cells from bone marrow biopsies that are taken as part of the treatment protocols to measure MRD risk and use these in experiments with adipokines. The use of ALL cell lines are useful in experiments to test hypothesis but they have their own limitations and lack the genetic variability of a patient cohort.

A limitation of the study is that we are only looking at adipokines in the circulation (plasma) as there may be different expression levels in different tissues, some adipokines may not be present in the circulation if they are acting locally within the bone marrow tissue for example. This could explain why certain adipokines were not detectable on the array or there was no change in expression from diagnosis to the end of induction therapy.

Included in the appendix are tables 7.2 and 7.3 which confirm that adipokines could be used as biomarkers to predict MRD risk at diagnosis and which adipokines are increased in patients who presented as obese or overweight at diagnosis compared to normal weight patients. Future work could include researching these adipokines further particularly the ones which may be responding to treatment, these could be used to monitor disease progression and relapse.

We have not yet proven cause and effect between adipokine expression and MRD risk, so far, we have only confirmed correlations and identified adipokines associated with MRD risk and weight gain. After identifying potential adipokines from our patient data we have begun to show that adipokines do have a protective effect on Molt4 cells in our trypan blue exclusion assay experiments, this work is incomplete though and we planned to build on these findings. From the adipokines tested further research suggested that they shared common downstream pathways which included PI3K/Akt and JAK/STAT, the planned work was to western blot to check which of the pathways were activated in the adipokines we had chosen to complete the trypan blue exclusions assay from and collect the incubated cells. Then perform an MTS chemosensitivity assay for each individual adipokine selected. The full set of data can be seen for leptin. Due to time missed in the laboratory the work for the other adipokines was incomplete. Once we knew the results for each individual adipokine we

planned to use cocktails of adipokines in the MTS sensitivity assay. Planned cocktails were adipokines which reflected an MRD risk profile, then adipokines which were involved in weight gain and finally a cocktail of adipokines that would represent an MRD risk patient who also gained weight. If any of the adipokine cocktails changed chemosensivity the plan was to then attempt a new set of trypan blue exclusion assay experiments which would involve using inhibitors of the PI3K/Akt pathways and/or JAK/STAT pathways to rescue the protective effect of the adipokines and collect incubated cells and confirm these findings with further western blots to check if the inhibitors worked.

There were limitations to the trypan blue cell viability experiments in that by day 4 cell viability was also reduced in the control well. This suggests that the cells may have been running out of nutrients, this was still useful data as some of the adipokines were still having a protective effect on cell viability which is interesting in itself and may involve other mechanisms that haven't been discussed in this study or that the activated pathways by the selected adipokines protect the cells in starvation conditions.

One area that would need more future research is the impact of steroids on weight gain and disease progression and also in the future if they could ever be omitted from paediatric treatments, research indicates that steroids do impact adipose tissue and cause weight gain, future work could include the use of steroid in the adipokine cocktail experiments. There are also major issues with glucocorticoid resistance in ALL treatment, using dexamethasone or prednisolone in these experiments could look at how resistance develops in ALL treatment and which mechanisms are activated and how that can be overcome. It would also be important to include an ALL cell line from B cell origin in future work, B cell lines are limited in paediatric leukaemia and the most common used is infected with the herpes simplex virus so this was not chosen to study.

One surprising finding in the study was identifying adipokines associated with MRD risk which wasn't expected as much of the literature regarding adipokines is in relation to weight gain and obesity. Serpin A12 or vaspin was probably the best example and likely to be a good future target for further investigation due to its interaction with the GRP78 receptor and the UPR. It would be useful to investigate if the GRP78 is relocated to the outer cell membrane and is activating the PI3K/Akt pathway in our experiments. There is a lot of recent research looking into the UPR in acute leukaemia's and how it contributes to chemoresistance, also

the potential drug targets which could work alongside it to improve efficacy of current chemotherapy protocols.

Other new treatment strategies from this work indicate that inhibitors of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways the JAK/STAT pathways could be helpful in treatment and kinder for long term effects, also drugs that mimic the action of adiponectin, these include AMPK activators or metformin which switch off the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and JAK/STAT pathways. Metformin has also been shown to stabilise insulin levels which in turn improves glucose uptake in fat tissues and skeletal muscle which can act to starve ALL cells of glucose. Further experiments in cells treated with dysregulated adipokine cocktails could look for changes in apoptosis and the Bcl-2 family. This could be observed using flow cytometry then western blots to confirm changes in Bcl-2 expression, Bcl-2 inhibitors could then be considered as a treatment. Another option would be to investigate if there are changes in autophagy in the cells treated with adipokine cocktails, autophagy can contribute to chemoresistance and could be checked by western blotting for changes in the LC3-I/LC3-II ratio, if this is changed drugs that target autophagy could be useful in treatments.

The one finding in this study is that the situation is complex, there are a lot of other research articles in other cancers and ALL that allude to the targeting of one adipokine or its receptor, there is much more to learn about the complex crosstalk between cells in ALL, the findings from this study would suggest that targeting one adipokine or its downstream pathway may not be the best course of treatment stratification, adipokine profiles are complex it would be useful to target common pathways as suggested above and in very up to date research. The most recent review for ALL and obesity which covers some of the suggestions above is here (Dushnicky et al., 2020). It is clear from this study and others that more research is needed in these areas in the hope to improve outcomes for obese, overweight and MRD risk patients and to develop kinder drug treatments for paediatric ALL patients.

7.0 APPENDIX



Figure 7.1: Mouse Adipokine array results and pixel intensity values from 3T3-L1 differentiated and undifferentiated cells over the four-week differentiation period. Adipokine expression levels from each week 0, 1, 2, 3 & 4 are displayed grouped to show the mean increases over the whole experiment, n=1. Table 7.1: Mouse Adipokine array results and pixel intensity values from 3T3-L1 differentiated and undifferentiated cells over a four-week differentiation period. The summary table indicates increases (green) and decreases (red) of array pixel intensity for each corresponding adipokine. Results for differentiated cells (fat) and undifferentiated (control) wells for weeks 1, 2, 3 & 4 compared to pre-adipocytes at 24 hours after seeding on a 24 well plate. White boxes indicate no data available.

ADIPOKINE	Week 1 Control	Week 1 Fat	Week 2 Control	Week 2 Fat	Week 3 Control	Week 3 Fat	Week 4 Control	Week 4 Fat
Adiponectin	2108.93	3128.51	4967.36	5692	3823.75	5898.66	3952.16	3540.62
AgRP	139.51	61.92	248.59	188.87	299.07	526.59	76.69	90.61
ANGPT-L3	88.32		173.22	108.58	158.37	298.79	116.4	-4.18
CRP	90.46		105.28	-88.47	121.83	123.54	67.69	46.41
DPPIV	97.7		100.33	-52.88	115.86	109.69	190.92	158.23
Endocan	104.12	113.02	215.54	341.48	313.02	439.33	83.99	363.13
Fetuin A	50.46		226.52	108.64	359.38	384.87	-1.57	52.25
FGF acidic			31.82	180.13	84.02	265.73	-24.49	-105.08
FGF-21	488.77	192.12	573.92	429.92	647.02	665.64	694.63	845.07
HGF	167.11	50.57	116.77	129.29	274.88	563.82	147.29	258.62
ICAM-1	117.88	63.93	134.89	126.73	214.52	246	332.12	237.19
IGF-I	2906.13	295.51	1991.56	253.82	2842.71	3098.87	5133.88	4264.85
IGF-II	997.91	435.37	1922.74	1129.88	2345.95	3403.37	3157.86	3945.7
IGFBP-1	118.18	67.32	159.95	183.2	202.18	433.44	80.59	164.17
IGFBP-2	129.1	4.75	217.38	75.89	149.95	206	323.83	157.25
IGFBP-3	4022.64	647.95	5704.43	1295.26	4132.9	3617.16	5151.75	1997
IGFBP-5	1164.85	540.99	1854.09	1300.68	1893.2	2261.04	2160.94	2058.26
IGFBP-6	4817.78	4712.06	4376.53	3041.91	4728.91	3557.56	5757.32	4620.61
IL-6	32.78		37.68	-110.05	167.84	95.23	-139.09	52.65
IL-10	23.34		49.59	100.04	148.09	170.23	-138.48	-33.48
IL-11	112.59		138.64	248.96	206.08	339.71	-20.05	40.44
Leptin	1288.49	342.6	1792.76	556.35	1614.21	2526.98	1472.87	2185.95
LIF	172.45	123.32	216.41	173.25	298.99	391.69	237.57	287.94
Lipocalin-2	4393.02	6313.74	4385.31	5178.34	4779.82	7726.38	5831.93	7372.76
MCP-1	5474.24	3335.99	6384.57	3710.8	5313.74	7581.2	7792.67	6593.2
M-CSF	1124.47	1361.64	2559.08	2189.68	2097.33	3643.28	2008.71	2157
Oncostatin M	109.07		130.82	44.17	129.81	129.11	222.86	181.62
Pentraxin 2	153.33		194.88	-49.45	252.84	233.63	141.27	83.83
Pentraxin 3	2439.01	1747.76	1400.28	2378.21	2513.43	3460.46	2789.82	2786.56
Pref-1	1348.37	1047.36	2274.56	2572.46	2915.47	3198.47	1571.15	1501.37
RAGE	59.76		36.56	-42.21	120.03	80.36	-140.79	1.25
RANTES	107.37	229.05	97.02	416.5	182.39	604.34	-128.48	439.35
RBP4	71.61		253.55	521.56	519.8	697.05	338.47	197.59
Resistin	15445.17	16657.52	14712.28	15656.87	14808.22	17116.25	18301.23	17131.8
Serpin E1	4825.3	3769.57	5094.75	4516.47	4880.25	5526.56	3391.33	3371.48
TIMP-1	5886.77	5173.68	4087.79	3320.69	4449.47	5897.74	6551.29	6455.87
TNF-alpha	384.12	392.47	459.39	392.29	356.75	718.98	673.27	365.36
VEGF	9316.23	10437.37	11067.84	12450.35	8938.93	13217.86	11625.11	10198.07

7.1 Individual patient data

7.1.1 Patient 009

The individual adipokine expression and clinical data for patient 009 is shown in figure 7.2. This patient is a 13.6 year old male, due to the patient being over 10 years of age they were assigned induction regimen B. Their BMI percentile was calculated at 10 at the start of induction and increased to 25 by day 29 at the end of induction, with a body weight increase of 6.96% during the induction period from their starting weight. The patient's cytogenic risk was good and their MRD risk low. This patient did put on weight and plasma adipokine profiling between day 0 and day 29 shows increases in leptin and resistin, with highest increases in visfatin. The largest decreases for this patient were IL-10 and growth hormone.

7.1.2 Patient 010

The individual results for patient 010 are displayed in figure 7.3. Patient 010 is a 6.4 year old female who received induction regimen A as their treatment option. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was 86 which is in the overweight category and by the end of induction this had decreased to 73 which put them in the normal percentile range, this resulted in a 3.2% reduction in body weight during the induction period. The patients cytogenic risk was good, and their MRD risk status was recorded low. This patients highest recorded adipokine increase was resistin, angiopoietin-1 and TNF-alpha, here leptin expression was decreased and the patient's largest decreases in expression were growth hormone and MCP-1.

7.1.3 Patient 011

The clinical data and adipokine expression profile for patient 011 is displayed in figure 7.4. Patient 011 is a 6.9 year old male who received induction regimen A. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was 64 which is in the normal weight range and rose to 93 at day 29 which placed the patient in the overweight percentile category. During the induction period patient 011 put on 13.23% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk was recorded low. The highest increases in adipokine expression were IL-11 and TNF-alpha and the largest decreases from day 0 to day 29 were BAFF and BMP-4.

7.1.4 Patient 012

The adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 012 is displayed in figure 7.5. Patient 012 is a 1.8 year old male and received induction regimen A. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was 75 which is in the normal range and by the end of induction therapy it has dropped slightly to 70, still in the normal range. The percentage weight change for this patient decreased by 2.62%. the patients cytogenic risk was good, and the MRD risk status was low. This patients' largest increases in adipokine expression were IL-8, LAP(TGF-beta1) and TIMP-3 the largest decreases were growth hormone and IL-11.

7.1.5 Patient 013

The individual results for patient 013 are displayed in figure 7.6. Patient 013 is the youngest patient in our cohort and is male and 1.1 years of age. The patient received induction regimen A. Their BMI percentile was in the normal range at the beginning of induction at 72 and increased to 88 by day 29, this figure put them in the overweight percentile range with a 5.34% body weight increase from day 0. The patients cytogenic risk was good and their MRD risk was recorded low. The largest increase in adipokine expression from day 0 was leptin, resistin and VEGF. The largest decreases for patient 013 was growth hormone and BMP-4.

7.1.6 Patient 014

Results for patient 014 are displayed in figure 7.7. Patient 014 is a 16 year old female and due to them being over the age of 10 they have been placed on induction regimen B. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was 21 which is at the lower end of the normal range percentile category and had risen to 38 by the end of induction, their body weight increased by 3.13%. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk low. The largest fold change increases for this patient were angiopoietin-1 and CRP. The largest decreases were adiponectin and growth hormone.

7.1.7 Patient 015

Patient 015 was the first patient in the cohort recorded as MRD risk and their results are displayed in figure 7.8. The patient is a 3.7 year old male who received induction regimen A. Their BMI percentile at the start of induction was recorded at 74 which is in the normal weight percentile category and by day 29 was greater than 95 which is the obese percentile category, this patient also gained 22.22% of their starting body weight during induction. Patient 015 cytogenic risk was good and MRD risk was recorded at day 29. The largest fold change

increases in adipokines were leptin, myeloperoxidase and serpin A12 (vaspin). The largest decreases were growth hormone and MCP-1.

7.1.8 Patient 017

The individual adipokine expression results and clinical data for patient 017 are shown in figure 7.9. Patient 017 is a 12 year old female and due to being over 10 years of age have been given induction regimen B. Their BMI percentile was recorded at 40 at the beginning of induction on day 0 which is normal and dropped to 11 by day 29, the patient lost 11.93% of their body weight by the end of induction treatment. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate, and they were MRD risk. Patient 017's overall adipokine expression is low compared to other patients with most of their adipokines decreasing by day 29. The largest fold change increases were IL-8, pentraxin-3 and serpinA12. leptin and resistin were decreased and growth hormone and angiopoietin-1 were decreased further.

7.1.9 Patient 018

The adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 018 is displayed in figure 7.10. The patient is an 11.8 year old female and was placed on induction regimen B. the patients BMI is in the normal range at day 0 although at the low end and is recorded at 18, by day 29 this had dropped further to 13 with a percentage decrease in weight of 2.63% during the induction period. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate, and they were also MRD risk. The largest fold change increases in adipokines were CRP and BMP-4 and the largest decreases were HGF, TIMP-3.

7.1.10 Patient 020

The results for patient 020 are displayed in figure 7.11. Patient 020 is a 6.2 year old female who received regimen A during induction. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and recorded at 66 and by day 29 this has risen slightly to 69, the patient gained 0.66% of their starting body weight during induction. Their cytogenic risk was good and their MRD risk was low. The largest increases in adipokine expression were leptin and MCP-1 and the largest decreases in expression were HGF and BAFF.

7.1.11 Patient 021

The adipokine profile and clinical data for patient 021 is shown in figure 7.12. Patient 021 is a 5.5 year old female who has received induction therapy B. As the patient is under 10 years of age, we must assume that the patients initial white cell count was >10,000 cells as that would be the only indication for regimen B, this information has not been recorded as part of this particular study. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was 42 which is in the normal range, but it dropped to 5 by day 29 which is the underweight percentile category, the patient lost 11.56% of their body weight during induction. Their cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk low. The highest adipokine fold change increases were CRP and IGFBP-2, the largest decreases in adipokine expression were growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.12 Patient 023

Results for patient 023 are shown in figure 7.13. Patient 023 is a 6.7 year old male who received induction therapy regimen A. Their BMI at day 0 was recorded in the normal weight range at 16, by the end of induction therapy at day 29 it had risen to 79, the patient had a large increase in weight during induction gaining 17.27% of their initial starting weight. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and there were no MRD markers detected for this patient. The largest fold change increases in adipokines were ICAM-1/CD54 and myeloperoxidase, the largest decreases BMP-4 and IL-11.

7.1.13 Patient 024

The adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 024 is displayed in figure 7.14. Patient 024 is a 3.3 year old male who received induction therapy A. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was 75 which is in the normal percentile category and it rose to 86 by day 29 which puts the patient just into the overweight category, the patient gained 3.33% of their starting weight during induction treatment. The patients cytogenic risk was low and their MRD risk was recorded low at day 29. The largest fold change increases in adipokines were angiopoietin-1 and leptin and the largest decreases were growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.14 Patient 025

The results for patient 025 are shown in figure 7.15. Patient 025 is a 6 year old female who received induction therapy A. Their BMI percentile was calculated at 70 on day 0 which is in the normal range before treatment, after treatment on by day 29 it has dropped to 45, still in the normal range, they recorded a 6.1% weight reduction from their initial starting weight during induction treatment. The patients cytogenic risk was good, but they were MRD risk when tested at day 29. The highest adipokine fold change increases were Il-11 and visfatin, the largest decrease from day 0 were growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.15 Patient 026

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 026 is shown in figure 7.16. Patient 026 is a 4.2 year old male who was given induction regimen A for their treatment option. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was recorded at <5 which is the underweight category, by day 29 the patient had put on weight and it had risen to 34 which was a body weight percentage gain of 16.26. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate, and they were MRD risk at the end of induction. The largest increases in adipokine expression were leptin and BMP-4 and the largest decreases were growth hormone and IL-8.

7.1.16 Patient 027

The results for patient 027 are displayed in figure 7.17. The clinical data confirms that patient 027 is a 2.6 year old male who received regimen A for their induction treatment. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was calculated at 56 which is in the normal range and by day 29 this was unchanged and recorded at 56 as there was zero weight change during induction. The patients cytogenic risk was good, and their MRD risk status was low. The largest increases in fold change adipokine expression was for leptin and VEGF, the largest decreases in adipokine expression from baseline day 0 levels were BMP-4 and angiopoietin-Like 2.

7.1.17 Patient 028

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 028 is shown in figure 7.18. Patient 028 is a 7.2 year old male who received induction regimen B, as they are younger than 10 years old this would indicate a high initial white cell count which as discussed previously this data has not been collected as part of this study. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was calculated at >95 which puts the patient in the obese category and by the end of induction they remained in the obese category with their BMO percentile at >95, this patient gained 1.7% of their initial starting weight during induction therapy. The patients cytogenic risk was good, and their MRD risk status was low. The largest increases for adipokine expression were CRP and pentraxin-3, the largest decreases in adipokine expression were BAFF and growth hormone.

7.1.18 Patient 030

The adipokine profile and clinical data set for patient 030 is shown in figure 7.19. Patient 030 is a 9.4 year old female who received regimen A as part of their induction treatment. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the overweight category at 88 and by day 29 this had risen to 91 which is still in the overweight category, during the induction period the patient gained 4.05% of their initial body weight. The patient cytogenic risk was good, and their MRD risk status was low. The patients adipokine profile showed the largest increases in CRP and angiopoietin-1 and the largest decreases in growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.19 Patient 031

The results for patient 031 are displayed in figure 7.20. Patient 031 is a 12.7 year old male who received induction regimen B as part of their treatment. The patients BMI percentile at induction was calculated at 25 which is in the normal category and by the end of induction has increased to 30 which is still within the normal range. During the induction period the patient gained 1.66% of their initial starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk indicating T-cell disease which is the highest risk category for cytogenetics in ALL, the patient also has an MRD risk status at day 29. The patients largest adipokine expression increases

were leptin and serpinA12 and the largest decreases were growth hormone and angiopoietin-2.

7.1.20 Patient 032

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 032 is shown in figure 7.21. Patient 032 is a 11.5 year old male who was placed on induction therapy B for their treatment. The patients BMI percentile was calculated at 29 at the beginning of induction and increased to 43 by the end of induction, both measurements falling into the normal category. The patients weight increased by 4.5% during the induction period. their cytogenic risk was recorded good and the MRD risk status low. The largest increases in fold change adipokine expression were complement factor D and the largest decreases in adipokine expression were growth hormone and TNF-alpha.

7.1.21 Patient 034

The adipokine profile and clinical data set for patient 034 are shown in figure 7.22. Patient 034 is male patient who is 1.8 years of age and received induction regimen A for their treatment option. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was calculated at 31 which is in the normal range, by day 29 it had risen to 45 which is still in the normal range, this resulted in a weight change increase of 2.67% during the induction period. The patients cytogenic risk was low, and their MRD risk status was also low. The largest individual increases in adipokine expression were for pentraxin-3 and angiopoietin-1, the largest decreases were CCL2/MCP-1 and growth hormone.

7.1.22 Patient 035

The results for patient 035 are displayed in figure 7.23. Patient 035 is a 12.1 year old female who received induction regimen B. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and calculated at 9 which is the lower end of the range, this increased to 16 by the end of induction therapy, still in the normal range, their body weight increased by 3.68% during the induction period. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk status high. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for pappalysin-1 and IL-10, the lowest BAFF and angiopoietin-2.

7.1.23 Patient 036

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 036 are displayed in figure 7.24. Patient 036 is a 2.7 year old male who was treated with induction regimen A. The patients BMI percentile at induction was calculated at 31 which is in the normal category, this increased by a large amount to >95 which is classed as treatment acquired obesity, their body also weight increased by 27.36% by day 29 compared to day 0. The patients cytogenic risk is intermediate and their MRD risk low. The largest increases for adipokine expression where leptin and angiopoietin-1, the largest decreases were growth hormone and EN-RAGE.

7.1.24 Patient 037

Results for patient 037 are shown in figure 7.25. Patient 037 is a 4.6 year old female who received induction regimen A as part of their treatment for ALL. The patients BMI was calculated at 25 at the beginning of induction, which is in the normal weight range, this increased to 86 by day 29, this is classed at treatment acquired overweight category, the patient also gained 16.77% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and the MRD risk high. The largest increase in fold change adipokine expression was leptin and 195ngiopoietin-1 and the largest decreases adiponectin and BAFF.

7.1.25 Patient 038

The adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 038 is displayed in figure 7.26. Patient 038 is a 3.2 year old male who received induction therapy B as their treatment option this could indicate a higher initial white count. The patient's day 0 BMI percentile was calculated at 29 and increased slightly to 31 by the end of induction treatment, this resulted in a 0.42% body weight increase by day 29. The patients cytogenic risk was low and their MRD risk was also low. The patients largest adipokine expression increases were CRP and TIMP-3 and the largest decreases were growth hormone and angiopoietin-Like 2.

7.1.26 Patient 040

The results for patient 040 are displayed in figure 7.27. Patient 040 is a 2.9 year old female who received regimen A. The patients starting BMI percentile was calculated at 90 which is in

the overweight category and by the end of induction it had decreased to 86 which is still in the overweight percentile category, this decreased their body weight by 2.01% by the end of treatment. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk was low. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for angiopoietin-1 and resistin, the lowest BAFF and IL-8.

7.1.27 Patient 041

The adipokine profile and clinical data set for patient 041 is shown in figure 7.28. Patient 041 is a 2.8 year old male who received induction A as a treatment option. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and recorded at 49 and by day 29 this has risen to 67, the patient gained 3.72% of their starting body weight during induction. The patients cytogenic risk was good and their MRD risk low. The patients largest adipokine expression increases were CRP and angiopoietin-1 and the largest decreases were BAFF and angiopoietin-Like 2.

7.1.28 Patient 044

The results for patient 044 are displayed in figure 7.29. Patient 044 is a 10.3 year old female who received induction regimen B. The patients BMI was calculated at 90 at the beginning of induction, which is in the overweight category, this decreased slightly to 88 by day 29, both measurements are in the overweight category, the patient also lost 2.06% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate and their MRD risk low. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for EN-RAGE and resistin, the lowest growth hormone and oncostatin M.

7.1.29 Patient 045

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 045 is shown in 7.30. Patient 045 is a 4.1 year old male who received regimen A during induction. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and recorded at 79 and by day 29 this had increased to >95, this is classed at treatment acquired obesity and the patient gained 24.43% of their starting body weight during induction. The patients cytogenic risk is good and their MRS risk low. The patients largest adipokine expression increases were leptin and BMP-4 and the largest decreases were growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.30 Patient 046

Results for patient 046 are shown in figure 7.31. Patient 046 is a 6.2 year old male who was administered induction therapy A. The patients BMI was calculated at 47 at the beginning of induction, which is in the normal weight range, this increased to 73 by day 29, also in the normal range, the patient also gained 6.47% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk is intermediate and the MRD risk high. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for VEGF and leptin, the lowest BAFF and IL-8.

7.1.31 Patient 047

The adipokine profile and clinical data set for patient 047 is shown in figure 7.32. Patient 047 is a 4.7 year old male who received induction A as their treatment option. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and recorded at 22 and by day 29 this has risen to 80, the patient gained 12.93% of their starting body weight during induction. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate, and they were classed as MRD risk by day 29. The patients largest adipokine expression increases were CRP and BMP-4 and the largest decreases were BAFF and EN-RAGE.

7.1.32 Patient 048

Results for patient 048 are shown in figure 7.33. Patient 048 is a 9 year old male who received induction regimen B as part of their treatment for ALL. The patients BMI percentile was calculated at 45 at the beginning of induction, which is in the normal weight range, this decreased to 18 by day 29, the patient also lost 7.14% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was Tcell disease which is the highest risk category and MRD risk. The largest increase in fold change adipokine expression was DPPIV/CD26 and angiopoieitn-1 and the largest decreases BAFF and RAGE.

7.1.33 Patient 049

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 049 is shown in figure 7.34. Patient 049 is a 4.8 year old female who was placed on induction therapy A for their treatment. The patients BMI percentile was calculated at 77 at the beginning of induction and

decreased to 59 by the end of induction, both measurements falling into the normal category. The patients weight decreased by 4.73% during the induction period. Their cytogenic risk was recorded good and they were classed as MRD by day 29. The largest increases in fold change adipokine expression were IGFBP-2 and TIMP-1 and the largest decreases in adipokine expression were growth hormone and resistin.

7.1.34 Patient 050

The results for patient 050 are displayed in figure 7.35. Patient 050 is a 6.6 year old male who received induction regimen A. The patients BMI was calculated at 29 at the beginning of induction, which is in the normal category, this increased to >95 by day 29 which is classed as treatment acquired obesity, the patient also gained a large amount of weight increasing by 37.24% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was intermediate, and they were MRD risk at day 29. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for leptin and resistin, the lowest growth hormone and BAFF.

7.1.35 Patient 051

The adipokine profile and clinical data set for patient 051 are shown in figure 7.36. Patient 051 is male patient who is 5.9 years of age and received induction regimen A for their treatment option. The patients BMI percentile at day 0 was calculated at 66 which is in the normal range, by day 29 it had risen to >95 which is in the obese category, this resulted in a weight change increase of 27.25% during the induction period and the patient having treatment acquired obesity. The patients cytogenic risk was good, and they were low risk by day 29. The largest individual increases in adipokine expression were pentraxin-3 and CRP, the largest decreases were adiponectin and growth hormone.

7.1.36 Patient 053

Results for patient 053 are shown in figure 7.37. Patient 053 is a 2.8 year old female who was administered induction therapy B. The patients BMI was calculated at 81 at the beginning of induction, which is at the high end of the normal weight range, this increased to >95 by day 29, which is in the obese range, the patient also gained 14.84% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk is intermediate and the MRD risk was low. The highest fold change

increase in adipokine expression was for angiopoietin-1 and leptin, the lowest adiponectin and growth hormone.

7.1.37 Patient 055

The individual adipokine expression profile and clinical data for patient 055 is shown in 7.38. Patient 055 is a 2.9 year old male who received regimen B during induction. Their BMI percentile at day 0 was in the normal range and recorded at 40 and by day 29 this had increased to 84, still in the normal range but at the high end, the patient gained 10.07% of their starting body weight during induction. The patients cytogenic risk is good, and they were MRD risk by day 29. The patients largest adipokine expression increases were LAP(TGF-beta1) and angiopoietin-1 and the largest decreases were growth hormone and IL-8.

7.1.38 Patient 057

The results for patient 057 are displayed in figure 7.39. Patient 057 is a 11.2 year old male who received induction regimen B. The patients BMI was calculated at 50 at the beginning of induction, this increased slightly to 54 by day 29, both measurements are in the normal category, the patient also gained 1.43% of their starting body weight. The patients cytogenic risk was high, and they were classed as MRD risk by day 29. The highest fold change increase in adipokine expression was for angiopoietin-1 and CRP, the lowest growth hormone and BAFF.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
009	13.6	М	В	10	25	Good	Low	+6.96



Figure 7.2: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 009. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 13.6 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=10, BMI percentile day 29=25, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +6.96, n=1.



Figure 7.3: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 010. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.4 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=86, BMI percentile day 29=73, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change -3.2, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
011	6.9	М	А	64	93	Intermediate	Low	+13.23



Figure 7.4: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 011. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.9 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=64, BMI percentile day 29=93, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change +13.23, n=1



Figure 7.5: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 012. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 1.8 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=75, BMI percentile day 29=70, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change -2.62, n=1



Figure 7.6: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 013. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 1.1 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=72, BMI percentile day 29=88, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +5.34, n=1

Adipokine

Proprote

Angi

Pentrat



Figure 7.7: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 014. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 16 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=21, BMI percentile day 29=38, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change -3.13, n=1



Figure 7.8: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 015. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 3.7 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=74, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk, % weight change +22.22, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
017	12	F	В	40	11	Intermediate	MRD	-11.93



Figure 7.9: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 017. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 12 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=40, BMI percentile day 29=11, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change -11.93, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
018	11.8	F	В	18	13	Intermediate	MRD	-2.63



Figure 7.10: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 018. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 11.8 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=18, BMI percentile day 29=13, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change -2.63, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
020	6.2	F	А	66	69	Good	Low	+0.66



Figure 7.11: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 020. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.2 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=66, BMI percentile day 29=69, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +0.66, n=1



Figure 7.12: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 021. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 5.5 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=42, BMI percentile day 29=<5, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change +11.56, n=1



Figure 7.13: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 023. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.7 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=16, BMI percentile day 29=79, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, no MRD markers, % weight change +17.27, n=1



Figure 7.14: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 024. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 3.3 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=75, BMI percentile day 29=86, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +3.33, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
025	6	F	А	70	45	Good	MRD	-6.1



Figure 7.15: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 025. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=70, BMI percentile day 29=45, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk, % weight change -6.1, n=1



Figure 7.16: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 026. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 4.2 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=<5, BMI percentile day 29=34, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +16.96, n=1



Figure 7.17: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 027. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.6 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=56, BMI percentile day 29=56, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change 0, n=1
ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
028	7.2	М	В	>95	>95	Good	Low	+1.7



Figure 7.18: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 028. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 7.2 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=>95, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +1.7, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
030	9.4	F	A	88	91	Intermediate	Low	+4.05



Figure 7.19: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 030. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 9.4 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=88, BMI percentile day 29=91, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change +4.05, n=1

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
031	12.7	М	В	25	30	T-cell	MRD	+1.66



Figure 7.20: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 031. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 12.7 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=25, BMI percentile day 29=30, Cytogenetic risk T-cell disease, MRD risk, % weight change +1.66, n=1.



Figure 7.21: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 032. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 11.5 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=29, BMI percentile day 29=43, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +4.5, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
034	1.8	М	А	31	45	Good	Low	+2.67



Figure 7.22: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 034. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 1.8 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=31, BMI percentile day 29=45, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +2.67, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
035	12.1	F	В	9	16	Intermediate	MRD	+3.68



Figure 7.23: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 035. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 12.1 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=9, BMI percentile day 29=16, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +3.68, n=1.



Figure 7.24: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 036. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.7 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=31, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change +27.36, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
037	4.6	F	А	25	86	Intermediate	MRD	+16.77



Figure 7.25: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 037. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 4.6 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=25, BMI percentile day 29=86, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +16.77, n=1.



Figure 7.26: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 038. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 3.2 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=29, BMI percentile day 29=31, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +0.42, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
040	2.9	F	А	90	86	Intermediate	Low	-2.01



Figure 7.27: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 040. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.9 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=90, BMI percentile day 29=86, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change -2.01, n=1.



Figure 7.28: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 041. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.8 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=49, BMI percentile day 29=67, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +3.72, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
044	10.3	F	В	90	88	Intermediate	Low	-2.06



Figure 7.29: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 044. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 10.3 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=90, BMI percentile day 29=88, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk low, % weight change -2.06, n=1.



Figure 7.30: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 045. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 4.1 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=79, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk low, % weight change +24.43, n=1.



Figure 7.31: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 046. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.2 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=47, BMI percentile day 29=73, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +6.47, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
047	4.7	М	А	22	80	Intermediate	MRD	+12.93



Figure 7.32: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 047. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 4.7 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=22, BMI percentile day 29=80, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +12.93, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
048	9	М	В	45	18	Tcell disease	MRD	-7.14



Figure 7.33: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 048. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 9 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=45, BMI percentile day 29=18, Cytogenetic- risk T Cell disease, MRD risk, % weight change -7.14, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
049	4.8	F	А	77	59	Good	MRD	-4.73



Figure 7.34: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 049. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 4.8 years, female, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=77, BMI percentile day 29=59, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk, % weight change -4.73, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
050	6.6	М	А	29	>95	Intermediate	MRD	+37.24



Figure 7.35: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 050. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 6.6 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=29, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, MRD risk, % weight change +37.24, n=1.



Figure 7.36: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 051. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 5.9 years, male, induction regimen A, BMI percentile day 0=66, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk, % weight change +27.25, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
053	2.8	F	В	81	>95	Intermediate	Low	+14.84



Figure 7.37: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 053. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.8 years, female, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=81, BMI percentile day 29=>95, Cytogenetic risk intermediate, low risk, % weight change +14.84, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
055	2.9	М	В	40	84	Good	MRD	+10.07



Figure 7.38: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 055. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 2.9 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=40, BMI percentile day 29=84, Cytogenetic risk good, MRD risk, % weight change +10.07, n=1.

ID	Age	Sex	Induction Regimen	BMI % at day 0	BMI % at day 29	Cytogenic risk	MRD risk	% weight change
057	11.2	М	В	50	54	High	MRD	+1.43



Figure 7.39: Adipokine expression at diagnosis (day 0) and after induction phase of treatment (day 29) for patient 057. Adipokine expression plotted against Log2 of the fold change of pixel density, zero is day 0 and day 29 is shown as an increase or decrease in expression, red indicates a decrease and green an increase in expression. Patient age 11.2 years, male, induction regimen B, BMI percentile day 0=50, BMI percentile day 29=54, Cytogenetic risk high, MRD risk, % weight change +1.43, n=1.

7.2 Individual patient data discussion

The following section will discuss the set of patients who are MRD risk at the end of induction, following this the patients who are low risk at the end of induction, along with the clinical data the highlights from the patients adipokine profile will be discussed to gain insight into adipokine expression and its possible links with MRD risk and weight. This study has reported 15 patients who are MRD risk, which is 39% of the cohort of patients, this is a higher percentage compared to other studies where the percentage of patients reported as MRD risk were 24.37% (Meleshko et al., 2011) although the Meleshko study has a higher percentage of T-cell patients and 27.31% for the following study findings (Laughton et al., 2005). The MRD risk patients within this cohort have a range of weight change percentages from the lowest (-11.93%) to the highest (37.24%), also as stated in the clinical data results in this study MRD risk is associated but not significantly with a lower weight at the end of induction. MRD risk patients will be discussed first starting with patients presenting with T cell disease, followed by MRD risk patients who lost weight moving to MRD risk patients who gained weight, then patients who are low risk will be discussed. Finally, the top five significant adipokines for weight gain and MRD risk followed by a summary of overall trends observed in expression.

7.2.1 Patient 031

Patient 031 is one of two T-cell patients within the cohort, this is less than the expected diagnostic rate of T-ALL within an ALL cohort which is usually between 12 and 15% (Raetz and Teachey, 2016). T-cell disease comes with the highest cytogenetic risk and can explain the MRD risk status without any other additional risks in the clinical data or the adipokine profile. It carries the highest risk genetic profile and is notoriously difficult to treat (Teachey and Pui, 2019). Many of the underlying genetic mutations interfere and activate several pathways including NOTCH1, JAK/STAT, PI3K/Akt/ mTOR and also MAPK (Raetz and Teachey, 2016). The patient is a 12.7 year old male who received induction regimen B. The patient stayed in the normal weight range at the beginning and the end of induction and gained 1.66% of their starting body weight. The patients highest recorded adipokine increase was serpin A12. Information regarding serpin A12 is limited in ALL, although information on its target receptor

GPR78 is more prevalent. GRP78, which is an important component of the unfolded protein response (UPR) signalling network, was abundantly expressed in relapsed B ALL and vincristine resistance was reversed by using the GRP78 inhibitor epigallocatechin gallate, which targets the ATP binding domain of GRP78 and inhibits its anti-apoptotic function (Uckun et al., 2011). Leptin was the second highest change, which would complement the gained weight and this would account for the higher expression compared to a patient who lost weight as leptin correlates with body fat percentage (Fujita et al., 2019). The lowest expression was growth hormone, which is known to be reduced after ALL chemotherapy treatments as discussed previously, and angiopoietin-2, which acts as an partial agonist and antagonist for Angiopoietin-1 in the Tie2 signalling pathways and has been shown to be lowered in response to treatment in patients with ALL at day 33 of treatment (Karakurt et al., 2016). Angiopoietin-1 which fully activates the Tie2 pathway is raised in this patient; it is possible that without the antagonistic effect of angiopoietin-2 due to lower risk, the downstream proliferative pathways may be activated.

7.2.2 Patient 048

Patient 048 is the second T-cell disease patient within our cohort. The patient is a 9 year old male who received induction regimen B. Males have been linked to increased diagnosis of T-ALL (Pui et al., 1999), their BMI at diagnosis was 45 decreasing to 18 by the end of induction therapy, the patient lost 7.14% of their starting body weight. The largest adipokine increases for the patient were DPPIV/CD26 and angiopoeitin-1 and their largest decreases were BAFF and RAGE. Angiopoietin-1 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of T-cell ALL and its overexpression linked to increased cell proliferation (Castro et al., 2010). Similar to patient 031 there is decreased expression of angiopoietin-2 which has increased the Ang1/Ang2 ratio and is associated with poorer outcome (Schneider et al., 2011). DPPIV/CD26 was increased on cell membranes of the ALL cell lines CEM-CCRF and Molt3 in response to chemotherapy and has been suggested as a target for its potential role in chemotherapy resistance (Dourado et al., 2007). The patients low BAFF may contribute to the poor patient outcome at day 29, BAFF signalling differs in B-ALL cells and treatment with BAFF promoted cell death of primary BCR-ABL⁺ cells (Sevdali et al., 2019).

7.2.3 Patient 017

Patient 017 is an MRD risk patient at the end of induction, this patients has an increased amount of risk factors within their clinical data alone which could explain the MRD risk outcome. The patient is 12 which is over 10 years old which puts them at higher risk due to increasing age (Kakaje et al., 2020) and also received induction regimen B. In our study having induction B treatment was not significantly associated with MRD risk, but this does exclude that the 4 drug regimen may have contributed to the MRD risk status. The patient lost 11.93% of their starting body weight during induction which is a known risk factor which contributes to MRD risk; previously patients who lost >5% of weight during induction therapy were at identified as increased risk (Hill et al., 2020). The patient's weight loss is reflected in their BMI percentile change which decreased from 40 to 11 by the end of induction, their cytogenics were intermediate risk.

The patient's highest expression of adipokines were serpinA12 (discussed for patient 031), pentraxin-3 and IL-8. Increased pentraxin-3 expression is consistent with infection, particularly mold infections and sepsis (Brunel et al., 2018) and may explain the MRD status in itself, as this is associated with poor outcome. IL-8 is known to have an a suppressive effect on normal blood cell development and a positive effect on the proliferation of ALL cells (de Vasconcellos et al., 2011). Compared to the other patients' profiles, when we look at the profile for patient 017, appendix figure 7.9, the majority of their adipokines apart from seven had decreased expression compared to levels at induction, this is different to the other profiles in the cohort where there is more balanced expression changes which are increased and decreased. This observation could indicate that the patients weight loss has severely impacted adipokine secretions and fat cell function and a possible indication of cancer cachexia which can occur in advance cancer and chronic infection, (Loprinzi, 1995).

The patient also indicated higher levels of IL-6 is associated with the inflammation involved with cancer cachexia which is also increased at day 29 in patient 017, this could also be linked with the raised pentraxin-3 level. Both leptin and resistin were decreased at day 29 which are likely to be related to weight loss as both adipokines are associated and increased with weight gain, this would fit in as the patient lost weight and this would account for the lower expression compared to a patient who gained weight as leptin correlates with body fat

240

percentage (Fujita et al., 2019). The patient's largest decreases in adipokine expression was growth hormone, lower levels are linked to ALL treatment which has been discussed previously. Angiopoietin-1 which has been implicated in the pathogenesis of T-cell ALL and its overexpression linked to increased cell proliferation (Castro et al., 2010) is reduced in this patient so this may not be contributing to the disease process which is the opposite to the T-cell patients, this patient did have the majority of adipokines levels reduced from diagnosis by day 29.

7.2.4 Patient 018

Patient 018 is an MRD risk patient who lost weight during induction, see appendix figure 7.10. The patient is female and over 10 years of age at 11.8 years and received induction regimen B because of this. Their cytogenics were intermediate risk and they lost 2.63% of their starting body weight, the patient recorded BMI percentile numbers in the normal range at the start and end of induction which were 18 dropping to 13 by day 29. The adipokine profile for patient 018 showed the highest expressed adipokines were CRP and BMP-4. CRP is a known indicator of bacterial septicaemia in children with ALL (Peltola et al., 1983). BMP-4 is raised which has been shown to be increased in ALL development and progression (Valencia et al., 2019). Patient 018 has HGF as their lowest expressed adipokine. TIMP-3 was the second lowest. HGF is known to positivity correlate with obesity and in this case the patient lost weight so this may explain the change without effecting disease processes (Oliveira et al., 2018). TIMP-3 information is lacking in ALL and has mixed reports in other cancers. In a study experimenting with AML cell lines increasing TIMP-3 inhibited growth of the K562 cell line (Yu et al., 2006). TIMP-3 is also known to inhibit angiogenesis (Su et al., 2019), low levels here maybe contributing to drivers of angiogenesis and indicating that these processes are activated.

7.2.5 Patient 025

Patient 025 lost weight during induction and was classed at MRD risk at day 29, see appendix figure 7.15. Patient 025 was a younger female at age 6 who received induction regimen A, their cytogenics were good and they lost 6.1% of their starting body weight, the patients recorded BMI percentile numbers in the normal range at the start and end of induction. The

patients highest increased adipokines were IL-11, IL-11 which is often linked to poor prognosis in cancer at higher expression levels (Nishina et al., 2020) further to this finding research into IL-11 and ALL where targeting the IL-11 receptor IL-11R was shown to reduce cell viability in the ALL cell lines Molt4 and CEM-CCRF (Karjalainen et al., 2015). Visfatin was also increased, a study using an endogenous NAMPT inhibitor OT-82 confirmed significant antileukemic effect in patient derived samples (Somers et al., 2020) The lowest growth hormone and BAFF which has been previously discussed.

7.2.6 Patient 049

The clinical data for patient 049 confirms they are a 4.8 year old female who received induction treatment A, the patient lost weight during induction, their BMI was 77 at diagnosis decreasing to 59 at day 29 losing 4.73% of the starting body weight. Their cytogenic risk was good even though they were classed as MRD risk by the end of induction. The largest adipokine increases were IGFBP-2 which has been linked to relapse in paediatric ALL (Mohnike et al., 1998). TIMP-1 was raised and has been associated with a significantly lower 5-year EFS in paediatric ALL. The (Scrideli et al., 2010) lowest decreases were resistin and growth hormone by day 29 which have been previously discussed.

7.2.7 Patient 015

The clinical data for patient 015 confirm that they developed treatment acquired obesity (TAO) and that their risk factors in the clinical data were low. The patient is under 10 years of age and has good cytogenetics, the patient is male and received induction regimen A. By day 29 at the end of induction the patient has moved from a normal BMI percentile category into the obese category and gained 22.22% of their starting body weight. This weight gain is reflected in their adipokine profile results with the largest increased adipokine being leptin and also myeloperoxidase, see appendix figure 7.8. Leptin is known to be increased in obesity (Soliman et al., 2012) and also during ALL treatment (Argyrou et al., 2019). High levels of myeloperoxidase are also present which is associated with inflammation, infection in cancer also has antibacterial activities in neutrophils (Khan et al., 2018) this could indicate infection. Patient 015 has lowest decreases in adipokine expression of MCP-1 and growth hormone (Haddy et al., 2006) which has known to be decreased as a side effect of chemotherapy

treatment in ALL.. MCP-1 is significantly implicated in CNS involvement (Eisenkraft et al., 2006), patient 015 has decreased levels which may indicate that the disease has not progressed to the CNS in this case.

7.2.8 Patient 026

Clinical data for patient 026 indicates the patient is male and 4.2 years old. Their cytogenic risk was intermediate and they received induction regimen A. Patient 026 was in the underweight percentile category before treatment commenced and by the end of induction it had increased to 34 which is in the normal range. The patient gained 16.26% of their starting body weight. It is possible that the patient starting underweight contributed to them being MRD risk as the weight loss may have occurred in the initial phase of the disease before diagnosis, this can be correlated with disease progression as patients who were underweight at diagnosis have a higher risk of relapse (den Hoed et al., 2015). The patients weight gain during induction could actually have benefitted them as shown by (Ethier et al., 2012). The patient was still MRD risk at the end of induction so it may be possible that their intermediate cytogenic risk contributed to this. It is interesting that their adipokine profile has CRP as the second highest expression which may indicate increased inflammation and infection (Peltola et al., 1983). Patient 025 highest adipokine expressed is leptin which again reflects their 16.22% weight gain during induction. Their lowest expression was growth hormone. Patient 026 also has an increased ANG1/ANG2 ratio.

7.2.9 Patient 035

Patient 035 is a 12.1 year old female who received induction regimen B, the patients BMI percentile was 9 at the start of induction and rose to 16 by the end of induction which was a 3.68 % weight change which in the normal BMI percentile category albeit at the lower end of the weight percentile category which can indicate increased risk as previously discussed. The patients cytogenic risk is classed at intermediate. The highest levels of adipokines secreted were pappalysin A and IL-10. There is very little information regarding pappalysin A and ALL, it has been shown to be expressed at higher levels in Ewing's Sarcoma as a member of the IGF family, targeting this protein in transgenic T cells has shown to be effective at treating this bone cancer (Kirschner et al., 2017). IL-10 is a known anti-inflammatory cytokine with anti-

angiogenic functions (Sheikhpour et al., 2018) but it has a somewhat paradoxical role in cancer due to its suppression of the immune response and also activation of pathways associated with cancer progression (Chen et al., 2019), low levels of IL-10 have been associated with poorer outcomes in ALL (Fitch et al., 2016). The lowest levels expressed were BAFF, the implications of low BAFF levels have been discussed for patient 025, patient 035 also has a high ANG1/ANG2 ratio.

7.2.10 Patient 037

The clinical data for patient 037 indicates that the patient became overweight during treatment from the normal weight range at the start of induction. Being overweight carries risk during ALL treatment and could explain the patients increased risk (Orgel et al., 2014b). Their BMI was 25 and raised to 86 and the patient gained 16.77% of their starting body weight. The patient is aged 4.6 years and female and received induction regimen A which is all low risk, their cytogenic risk was intermediate in comparison. The largest increases in the patients adipokine profile was leptin and also angiopoietin-1, leptin has been discussed previously for patient 015 at increased levels. Angiopoietin-1 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of T-cell ALL and its overexpression linked to increased cell proliferation (Castro et al., 2010). The lowest expression of adipokines were adiponectin which is well documented in ALL and expressed at lower levels in disease (Argyrou et al., 2019) and BAFF which ties in with previous patients.

7.2.11 Patient 046

The adipokine profile data for patient 046 displayed similarities to 037 where the largest increases were leptin and VEGF, leptin has been discussed in patient 015. VEGF at increased levels has been shown to be predictive of poorer EFS in paediatric ALL (Avramis et al., 2006). The lowest expression included IL-8, BAFF. IL-8 and at lower levels have been discussed for patient 026 and BAFF patient 035. The patient's clinical data was mainly low risk, the patient was male and 6.2 years old and received induction regimen A although their cytogenic risk was intermediate. The patients BMI percentile started at 47 and rose to 73, both readings in the normal range, their body weight increased by 6.47%.

7.2.12 Patient 047

The clinical data for patient 049 confirms they are a 4.7 year old male who received induction treatment A, the patient gained weight during induction, their BMI was 22 at diagnosis decreasing to 80 at day 29 and gaining 12.93% of the starting body weight. Their cytogenic risk was intermediate and they were classed as MRD risk by the end of induction the patients largest adipokine expression increases were BMP-4 and CRP, increases in both of these adipokines have been explained previously in this section. The lowest expression recorded was for BAFF and EN-RAGE, BAFF has already been discussed. EN-RAGE is known as a local bio-inflammatory marker (Brenner and Bruserud, 2018), little is known about its implications at low levels in ALL and cannot be linked with clinical parameters.

7.2.13 Patient 050

The clinical data for patient 050 confirm that they developed treatment acquired obesity (TAO). The patient is under 10 years of age and has intermediate cytogenetics, the patient is male and received induction regimen A. By day 29 at the end of induction the patient has moved from a normal BMI percentile category into the obese category and gained 37.24% of their starting body weight in 29 days. Unremarkably the patient's highest increases in adipokines were leptin and resistin both shown to be raised in weight gain in paediatric ALL (Moschovi et al., 2010a). The largest decreases in adipokines were for growth hormone and BAFF which have previously been discussed.

7.2.14 Patient 055

The clinical data for patient 055 confirms they are a 2.9 year old male who received induction treatment B and the patient gained weight during induction, their BMI was 40 at diagnosis increasing to 84 at day 29 losing 10.07% of the starting body weight. Their cytogenic risk was good even though they were classed as MRD risk by the end of induction. The largest increases in adipokines were for angiopoietin-1 and LAP(TGF-beta1) and the largest decreases growth hormone and IL-8. Lap(TGF-beta1) is a tumour suppressor protein when expressed at higher levels in ALL (Downing, 2004), the low levels in this patient could reflect higher tumour burden, as we have limited clinical data we are unable to confirm this.

7.2.15 Patient 057

The clinical data for patient 057 confirms they are a 11.2 year old male who received induction treatment B, the patient gained a small amount of weight during induction, their BMI was 50 at diagnosis increasing to 54 at day 29 gaining 1.43% of the starting body weight. Their cytogenic risk was high which could explain their MRD risk status without other factors. Their largest increased expression of adipokines was for angiopoietin-1 and CRP and the lowest growth hormone and BAFF which have all been discussed previously in patients.

The combination of findings in the MRD risk patients who lost weight during induction treatment, patients 017, 018, 025 and 049 indicate clues from their adipokine profiles which may add to the drivers of increased risk. High levels of CRP and increased levels of pentraxin-3 could indicate underlying inflammation and infection which could further contribute to MRD risk and poor outcome and it is likely this rather than their clinical data which has contributed to MRD risk and the weight loss that has occurred. Other findings such as increased ANG1/ANG2 ratio could be driving disease by activating downstream proliferative pathways, changes in adipokines that are implicating drivers of angiogenesis or increased leptin levels in weight gain MRD risk patients, patients 015 and 050, at this stage we do not know the impact of these results on disease progression.

7.2.16 Low MRD risk patients

In comparison to the 15 MRD risk patients there were 22 low risk patients who either lost or gained weight ranging from losing 11.56% of their body weight to gaining 37.24% of their starting body weight. One noticeable observation is that we didn't have any patients in the MRD risk category that recorded a BMI percentile of overweight or obese at the start of induction. A possible explanation for this may be that starting treatment overweight or obese may be a protective factor against MRD risk, we have shown that being a lower weight at the end of induction is linked to increased risk and having pointed out previously gaining a small amount of weight may be protective compared to losing weight during treatment and be a protective factor against MRD risk at any stage of treatment and poorer outcomes (Ethier et al., 2012). Five patients were classed as overweight or obese at diagnosis, patient 010, 028, 030, 040 and 044 were all low MRD risk so their weight didn't contribute to MRD risk at this

stage of treatment. A further observation in the low risk profiles is the correlation with weight gain and the noticeable increase of Leptin expression as with the MRD risk patients. Three of the patients with the largest weight gain were low risk and gained more than 10% of their starting body weight excluding 051 and recorded Leptin as high in the expressed adipokines, these patients were 011, 036, 045, 051 and 053. Patient 011 gained 13.23% of their starting body weight and logged CRP as and increased adipokine with leptin. The relationship between CRP and outcome is reported the literature as associated with increased inflammation and infection (Peltola et al., 1983), this study confirms that CRP is correlated with increased expression in many patients at the end of induction but not associated with MRD risk in this cohort of patients during induction treatment, there are reported high levels in MRD risk and low risk patients. Two questions of this research were to investigate if adipokine expression correlated with MRD risk and weight gain, it helps to answer this by observing and comparing the patients who gained weight and were MRD risk or low risk by the end of induction. Patient 015 see appendix figure 7.8 was the first patient in the cohort who became obese with treatment in 29 days and went onto be MRD risk. In comparison patient 045, see figure 4.39 gained 24.43% of their starting body weight and did not go onto be MRD risk. Both patients recorded high leptin, but there were other noticeable differences in their profiles being low serpin A12 in patient 045 where it is high in patient 015, also lower ANG1/ANG2 ratio in patient 045 but in patient 015 it is high indicating higher risk. The patterns emerging in the adipokine profiles of the MRD risk patients support the idea that particular adipokines maybe associated with MRD risk and weight gain. It is clear that many risk factors contribute to this. The clinical data alone may contribute to MRD risk without adding the complexity of the adipokine profiles. Preliminary observations indicate that leptin is expressed at higher levels in patients who gain weight which is consistent with other studies (Argyrou et al., 2019). In patients who lose weight the opposite can be seen. At this stage it is difficult to predict if particular adipokines or adipokine profiles contribute to weight gain or MRD risk across the whole cohort, this is examined in Chapter 4.

Table 7.2: Summary of all adipokines tested in relation to weight gain at diagnosis. Patients were grouped into those that presented as overweight or obese at the start of induction therapy, n=5 and those that were in the normal weight range, n=33, adipokine mean pixel intensity levels were compared using an unpaired t-test for each patient group. Adipokines ranked by p value, significant to non-significant and indicated in green if the adipokine increased or red if decreased at day 0, n=38.

Adipokine	P value	Adipokine	P value	
Leptin	0.0013	IL-6	0.5795	
Angiopoietin-2	0.0230	IGFBP-6	0.5944	
Endocan	0.0495	LAP (TGF-beta1)	0.5994	
RAGE	0.0699	Angiopoietin-like 3	0.6046	
M-CSF	0.1229	IGFBP-3	0.6151	
Pappalysin-1/PAPP-A	0.2090	TNF-alpha	0.6158	
BAFF	0.2369	CCL2/MCP-1	0.6341	
HGF	0.2427	Pref-1/DLK-1/FA1	0.6501	
Lipocalin-2/NGAL	0.2511	Angiopoietin-like 2	0.6669	
IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7	0.2513	Serpin A12	0.7128	
IL-10	0.2523	Pentraxin-3/TSG-14	0.7188	
LIF	0.3812	IGFBP-4	0.7279	
Chemerin	0.3829	CCL5/RANTES	0.7364	
PBEF/Visfatin	0.3912	Proprotein Convertase 9	0.7421	
FGF basic	0.3922	Cathepsin L	0.7437	
Serpin A8/AGT	0.4079	Fibrinogen	0.7479	
FGF-19	0.4167	IGFBP-2	0.7787	
TIMP-1	0.4261	VEGF	0.8043	
Oncostatin M	0.4265	EN-RAGE	0.8184	
DPPIV/CD26	0.4316	BMP-4	0.8485	
CXCL8/IL-8	0.4396	ICAM-I/CD54	0.8595	
Adiponectin	0.4449	Cathepsin S	0.8602	
IL-1beta/IL-1F2	0.4456	Serpin E1/PAI-1	0.8832	
Cathepsin D	0.4506	IL-11	0.9037	
Fetuin B	0.4563	TIMP-3	0.9046	
Myeloperoxidase	0.4870	Nidogen-1/Entactin	0.9088	
MIF	0.5317	Angiopoietin-1	0.9120	
C-Reactive Protein	0.5408	Growth Hormone	0.9843	
Complement Factor D	0.5747	Resistin	0.9987	

Table 7.3: Summary of all adipokines tested for prediction of biomarkers in relation to MRD risk at day 29. Mean pixel intensity for each adipokine value were compared at day 0 for those patients who went onto to be MRD risk, n=15, and low risk n=22. Groups were compared using an unpaired t-test. Adipokines ranked by p value, significant to non-significant and indicated in green if the adipokine increased or red if decreased at day 0, n=37.

Adipokine	P value	Adipokine	P value	
Pappalysin-1/PAPP-A	0.1054	IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7	0.5015	
RAGE	0.1229	Serpin A8/AGT	0.5215	
TIMP-3	0.1259	Fibrinogen	0.5357	
Serpin E1/PAI-1	0.1286	TNF-alpha	0.5815	
IL-10	0.1514	FGF basic	0.6359	
CXCL8/IL-8	0.1716	IL-6	0.6476	
FGF-19	0.1729	Lipocalin-2/NGAL	0.6529	
Oncostatin M	0.2026	Angiopoietin-2	0.6633	
Myeloperoxidase	0.2089	Cathepsin L	0.6637	
M-CSF	0.2142	BMP-4	0.6682	
MIF	0.2196	ICAM-I/CD54	0.7149	
Resistin	0.2315	Complement Factor D	0.7253	
EN-RAGE	0.2409	Cathepsin D	0.7264	
Angiopoietin-like 3	0.2617	Growth Hormone	0.7293	
Serpin A12	0.2870	Pref-1/DLK-1/FA1	0.7471	
IL-1beta/IL-1F2	0.3093	Proprotein Convertase 9	0.7496	
DPPIV/CD26	0.3273	IL-11	0.7526	
CCL5/RANTES	0.3496	IGFBP-2	0.7534	
IGFBP-3	0.3547	Angiopoietin-1	0.7870	
BAFF	0.3755	PBEF/Visfatin	0.8155	
Adiponectin	0.4100	Cathepsin S	0.8189	
LAP (TGF-beta1)	0.4341	IGFBP-4	0.8383	
TIMP-1	0.4504	VEGF	0.8776	
CCL2/MCP-1	0.4697	Angiopoietin-like 2	0.9082	
Pentraxin-3/TSG-14	0.4823	Endocan	0.9132	
HGF	0.4858	C-Reactive Protein	0.9340	
Leptin	0.4924	LIF	0.9399	
IGFBP-6	0.4939	Nidogen-1/Entactin	0.9615	
Fetuin B	0.4981	Chemerin	0.9815	



Figure 7.40: Leptin stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability by activating the PI3K/Akt pathway. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of leptin. A, Trypan blue exclusion assay live cell counts results. B Trypan blue exclusion assay % cell viability results, n=3.



Figure 7.41: IL-8 stimulates Molt4 ALL cancer cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of IL-8. A, Trypan blue exclusion assay live cell counts results. B, Trypan blue exclusion assay % cell viability results, n=3.



Figure 7.42: Resistin has minimal impact on Molt4 cell growth and viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of resistin. A, Trypan blue exclusion assay live cell counts results. B Trypan blue exclusion assay % cell viability results, n=3.



Figure 7.43: Serpin A12 stimulates Molt4 cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of serpin A12. A, Trypan blue exclusion assay live cell counts results. B Trypan blue exclusion assay % cell viability results, n=3.



Figure 7.44: Angiopoietin-2 increases Molt4 cell viability. Molt4 cells were incubated for 5 days in increasing concentrations of angiopoietin-2. A, Trypan blue exclusion assay live cell counts results. B, Trypan blue exclusion assay % cell viability results, n=3.
Coordinate	Adipokine/Control	Alternate Nomenclature
A1, A2	Reference Spots	
A23, A24	Reference Spots	
B1, B2	Adiponectin	Acrp30/AdipoQ
B3, B4	AgRP	ART
B5, B6	ANGPT-L3	
B7, B8	C-Reactive Protein	CRP
B9, B10	DPPIV	CD26/DPP4
B11, B12	Endocan	ESM-1
B13, B14	Fetuin A	AHSG
B15, B16	FGF acidic	FGF-1
B17, B18	FGF-21	
B19, B20	HGF	
B21, B22	ICAM-1	CD54
B23, B24	IGF-I	Somatomedin C
C1, C2	IGF-II	Somatomedin A
C3, C4	IGFBP-1	
C5, C6	IGFBP-2	
C7, C8	IGFBP-3	
C9, C10	IGFBP-5	
C11, C12	IGFBP-6	
C13, C14	IL-6	
C15, C16	IL-10	
C17, C18	IL-11	
C19, C20	Leptin	ОВ
C21, C22	LIF	
C23, C24	Lipocalin-2	NGAL
D1, D2	MCP-1	CCL2/JE

Table 7.4: Adipokines tested, coordinates on the array and alternate nomenclature of the mouse adipokine array ARY013.

D3, D4	M-CSF	CSF-1
D5, D6	Oncostatin M	OSM
D7, D8	Pentraxin 2	PTX2/SAP
D9, D10	Pentraxin 3	PTX3/TSG-14
D11, D12	Pref-1	DLK-1/FA1
D13, D14	RAGE	
D15, D16	RANTES	CCL5
D17, D18	RBP4	
D19, D20	Resistin	ADSF/FIZZ3
D21, D22	Serpin E1	PAI-1
D23, D24	TIMP-1	
E1, E2	TNF-α	TNFSF1A
E3, E4	VEGF	VEGF-A
F1, F2	Reference Spots	
F23, F24	PBS (Negative Control)	Control (-)

Mouse Adipokine Array Coordinates



Figure 7.45: Mouse Adipokine Array Coordinates.

Coordinate	Adipokine/Control	Alternate Nomenclature
A1, A2	Reference Spots	
A5, A6	Adiponectin/Acrp30	AdipoQ, ApM1, GBP28
A7, A8	Angiopoietin-1	ANGTP1
A9, A10	Angiopoietin-2	ANGTP2
A11, A12	Angiopoietin-like 2	ANGTPL2, ANGRP2
A13, A14	Angiopoietin-like 3	ANGTP5, Ang-5, Angiopoietin-5, ANGTPL5
A15, A16	BAFF/BLyS/TNFSF13B	CD257, TALL1, THANK, ZTNF4
A17, A18	BMP-4	
A19, A20	Cathepsin D	CTSD
A23, A24	Reference Spots	
B1, B2	Cathepsin L	CTSL, CTSL1
B3, B4	Cathepsin S	CTSS
B5, B6	Chemerin	RARRES2, TIG-2
B7, B8	Complement Factor D	Adipsin, AND, AMBP-1, CFD, PFD
B9, B10	C-Reactive Protein/CRP	
B11, B12	DPPIV/CD26	DPP4
B13, B14	Endocan	ESM1, ESM-1, IGFBP-rp6
B15, B16	EN-RAGE	CAAF-1, CAAF-I, CAGC, CAGCS100,
		Calgranulin C, CGRP, MRP6, S100A12
B17, B18	Fetuin B	FETUB
B19, B20	FGF basic	FGF-2, FGF2AS, GFG1, HBGH-2, NUDT6,
B21, B22	FGF-19	
B23, B24	Fibrinogen	
C1, C2	Growth Hormone	GH1, Somatotropin
C3, C4	HGF	Hepatopoietin A, SF
C5, C6	ICAM-1/CD54	
С7, С8	IGFBP-2	

Table 7.5: Adipokines tested, coordinates on the array and alternate nomenclature of the Human Adipokine Array ARY024.

C9, C10	IGFBP-3	
C11, C12	IGFBP-4	
C13, C14	IGFBP-6	
C15, C16	IGFBP-rp1/IGFBP-7	IGFBP7, Mac25, PSF
C17, C18	IL-1β/IL-1F2	IL1B
C19, C20	IL-6	BSF-2, IFN-β2, MGI-2A
C21, C22	CXCL8/IL-8	GCP1, LAI, MDNCF, NAP1, NCF, TCF, TSG1
C23, C24	IL-10	CSIF
D1, D2	IL-11	AGIF
D3, D4	LAP (TGF-β1)	
D5, D6	Leptin	LEP, OB
D7, D8	LIF	
D9, D10	Lipocalin-2/NGAL	LCN2, Siderocalin
D11, D12	CCL2/MCP-1	MCAF
D13, D14	M-CSF	CSF1, CSF-1
D15, D16	MIF	
D17, D18	Myeloperoxidase	Lactoperoxidase, MPO
D19, D20	Nidogen-1/Entactin	NID1
D21, D22	Oncostatin M (OSM)	
D23, D24	Pappalysin-1/PAPP-A	ASBABP2, DIPLA1, IGFBP-4ase, PAPA, PAPPA, PAPP-A1
E1, E2	PBEF/Visfatin	NAmPRTase, NAMPT, PBEF1
E3, E4	Pentraxin-3/TSG-14	РТХЗ
E5, E6	Pref-1/DLK-1/FA1	DLK1, DLK-1, FA1, pG2, ZOG
E7, E8	Proprotein Convertase 9/PCSK9	FH3, HCHOLA3, NARC-1, PC9
E9, E10	RAGE	AGER
E11, E12	CCL5/RANTES	SISd
E13, E14	Resistin	ADSF; FIZZ3; RETN
E15, E16	Serpin A8/AGT	Angiotensin II, Angiotensinogen, Aogen, PAT
E17, E18	Serpin A12	OL-64, Vaspin

E19, E20	Serpin E1/PAI-1	Nexin, PLANH1
E21, E22	TIMP-1	
E23, E24	TIMP-3	
F1, F2	Reference Spots	
F5, F6	TNF-α	Cachetin, DIF, TNF, TNFA, TNFSF1A, TNFSF2
F7, F8	VEGF	VAS, Vasculotropin, VEGFA, VPF
F23, F24	Negative Controls	

Human Adipokine Array Coordinates



Figure 7.46: Human Adipokine Array Coordinates.

8.0 REFERENCES

- ACHKAR, I. W., BHAT, A. A., ZAFAR, M., ABBAS, M., KHAN, O. S., KUTTIKRISHNAN, S., PRABHU, K. S. & UDDIN, S. 2019. Oncogenic role of dysregulated leptin signaling in the pathogenesis of ovarian cancer. *Translational Medicine Communications*, **4**, **1**.
- AFZAL, S., ETHIER, M.-C., DUPUIS, L. L., TANG, L., PUNNETT, A. S., RICHARDSON, S. E., ALLEN, U., ABLA, O. & SUNG, L. 2009. Risk factors for infection-related outcomes during induction therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal*, 28, 1064-1068.
- AIFANTIS, I., RAETZ, E. & BUONAMICI, S. 2008. Molecular pathogenesis of T-cell leukaemia and lymphoma. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8, 380.
- AJROUCHE, R., RUDANT, J., ORSI, L., PETIT, A., BARUCHEL, A., LAMBILLIOTTE, A., GAMBART, M., MICHEL, G., BERTRAND, Y., DUCASSOU, S., GANDEMER, V., PAILLARD, C., SAUMET, L., BLIN, N., HÉMON, D. & CLAVEL, J. 2015. Childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and indicators of early immune stimulation: the Estelle study (SFCE). *Br J Cancer*, 112, 1017-26.
- ALLARD, J. B. & DUAN, C. 2018. IGF-binding proteins: why do they exist and why are there so many? *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 9, 117.
- AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY. 2018. *What Is Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia (ALL)?* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancer.org</u> [Accessed 17 December 2018 2018].
- AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY. 2019. *What is Childhood Leukemia* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancer.org</u> [Accessed 15 April 2019 2019].
- AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY. 2021. What Are the Differences Between Cancers in Adults and Children? [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-in-</u> children/differences-adults-children.html [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].
- AMYLON, M., SHUSTER, J., PULLEN, J., BERARD, C., LINK, M., WHARAM, M., KATZ, J., YU, A., LAVER, J.
 & RAVINDRANATH, Y. 1999. Intensive high-dose asparaginase consolidation improves survival for pediatric patients with T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and advanced stage lymphoblastic lymphoma: a Pediatric Oncology Group study. *Leukemia*, 13, 335.
- ANTOON, J. W., LAI, R., STRUCKHOFF, A. P., NITSCHKE, A. M., ELLIOTT, S., MARTIN, E. C., RHODES, L. V., YOON, N. S., SALVO, V. A., SHAN, B., BECKMAN, B. S., NEPHEW, K. P. & BUROW, M. E. 2012. Altered death receptor signaling promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and acquired chemoresistance. *Sci Rep*, 2, 539.
- ARAB SADEGHABADI, Z., NOURBAKHSH, M., ALAEE, M., NOURBAKHSH, M., GHORBANHOSSEINI, S. S., SHARIFI, R. & RAZZAGHY-AZAR, M. 2021. Angiopoietin-Like Proteins 2 and 3 in Children and Adolescents with Obesity and Their Relationship with Hypertension and Metabolic Syndrome. International Journal of Hypertension, 2021.
- ARBER, D. A., ORAZI, A., HASSERJIAN, R., THIELE, J., BOROWITZ, M. J., LE BEAU, M. M., BLOOMFIELD, C. D., CAZZOLA, M. & VARDIMAN, J. W. 2016. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. *Blood*, 127, 2391-2405.
- ARGYROU, C., HATZIAGAPIOU, K., THEODORAKIDOU, M., NIKOLA, O. A., VLAHOPOULOS, S. & LAMBROU, G. I. 2019. The role of adiponectin, LEPTIN, and ghrelin in the progress and prognosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, 60, 2158-2169.
- ARNOLD, M., FREISLING, H., STOLZENBERG-SOLOMON, R., KEE, F., O'DOHERTY, M. G., ORDÓÑEZ-MENA, J. M., WILSGAARD, T., MAY, A. M., BUENO-DE-MESQUITA, H. B., TJØNNELAND, A., ORFANOS, P., TRICHOPOULOU, A., BOFFETTA, P., BRAY, F., JENAB, M., SOERJOMATARAM, I. & CONSORTIUM, C. 2016. Overweight duration in older adults and cancer risk: a study of cohorts in Europe and the United States. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 31, 893-904.

- ASKMYR, M., QUACH, J. & PURTON, L. E. 2011. Effects of the bone marrow microenvironment on hematopoietic malignancy. *Bone*, 48, 115-20.
- AUTIER, P. & BONIOL, M. 2013. RE: Relationship between sunbed use and melanoma risk in a large case-control study in the United Kingdom. *Int J Cancer*, 132, 1959.
- AVRAMIS, I. A., PANOSYAN, E. H., DOREY, F., HOLCENBERG, J. S. & AVRAMIS, V. I. 2006. Correlation between high vascular endothelial growth factor-A serum levels and treatment outcome in patients with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from Children's Oncology Group Study CCG-1962. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 12, 6978-6984.
- AVRIL, T., VAULEON, E. & CHEVET, E. 2017. Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling and chemotherapy resistance in solid cancers. *Oncogenesis*, 6, e373-e373.
- AVTANSKI, D., GARCIA, A., CARABALLO, B., THANGESWARAN, P., MARIN, S., BIANCO, J., LAVI, A. & PORETSKY, L. 2019. Resistin induces breast cancer cells epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and stemness through both adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1)-dependent and CAP1-independent mechanisms. *Cytokine*, 120, 155-164.
- AYERS, K. L., GLICKSBERG, B. S., GARFIELD, A. S., LONGERICH, S., WHITE, J. A., YANG, P., DU, L., CHITTENDEN, T. W., GULCHER, J. R. & ROY, S. 2018. Melanocortin 4 receptor pathway dysfunction in obesity: patient stratification aimed at MC4R agonist treatment. *The Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 103, 2601-2612.
- AZAMAR-LLAMAS, D., HERNÁNDEZ-MOLINA, G., RAMOS-ÁVALOS, B. & FURUZAWA-CARBALLEDA, J. 2017. Adipokine Contribution to the Pathogenesis of Osteoarthritis. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2017, 5468023.
- BALADRÓN, V., RUIZ-HIDALGO, M. J., NUEDA, M. L., DÍAZ-GUERRA, M. J. M., GARCÍA-RAMÍREZ, J. J., BONVINI, E., GUBINA, E. & LABORDA, J. 2005. dlk acts as a negative regulator of Notch1 activation through interactions with specific EGF-like repeats. *Experimental cell research*, 303, 343-359.
- BALISTRERI, C. R., CARUSO, C. & CANDORE, G. 2010. The role of adipose tissue and adipokines in obesity-related inflammatory diseases. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2010, 802078.
- BANSAL, N., AMDANI, S. M., HUTCHINS, K. K. & LIPSHULTZ, S. E. 2018. Cardiovascular disease in survivors of childhood cancer. *Current opinion in pediatrics*, 30, 628-638.
- BARNEA, D., RAGHUNATHAN, N., FRIEDMAN, D. N. & TONOREZOS, E. S. 2015. Obesity and metabolic disease after childhood cancer. *Oncology (Williston Park, NY)*, 29, 849.
- BARUCHEL, A., PETIT, A., LEBLANC, T., MICHEL, G., PEREL, Y., MECHINAUD, F., GANDEMER, V., SCHMITT, C., SCHNEIDER, P. & BRETHON, B. 2012. Daunorubicin or Not During the Induction Treatment of Childhood Standard-Risk B-Cell Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (SR-BCP-ALL): The Randomized Fralle 2000-A Protocol. Am Soc Hematology.
- BASS, J. J., WILKINSON, D. J., RANKIN, D., PHILLIPS, B. E., SZEWCZYK, N. J., SMITH, K. & ATHERTON, P. J. 2017. An overview of technical considerations for Western blotting applications to physiological research. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 27, 4-25.
- BATATINHA, H., SOUZA, C., LIMA, E., ALONSO-VALE, M. I., CRUZ, M., DA CUNHA, R., LIRA, F. & ROSA, J. 2014. Adipose tissue homeostasis is deeply disrupted by doxorubicin treatment. *Cancer & metabolism,* 2, P5.
- BATES, D. & EASTMAN, A. 2017. Microtubule destabilising agents: far more than just antimitotic anticancer drugs. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, 83, 255-268.
- BAUER, J. H. & HELFAND, S. L. 2006. New tricks of an old molecule: lifespan regulation by p53. *Aging Cell*, 5, 437-40.
- BEHAN, J. W., AVRAMIS, V. I., YUN, J. P., LOUIE, S. G. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2010. Diet-induced obesity alters vincristine pharmacokinetics in blood and tissues of mice. *Pharmacological research*, 61, 385-390.
- BEHAN, J. W., YUN, J. P., PROEKTOR, M. P., EHSANIPOUR, E. A., ARUTYUNYAN, A., MOSES, A. S., AVRAMIS, V. I., LOUIE, S. G., BUTTURINI, A., HEISTERKAMP, N. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2009. Adipocytes impair leukemia treatment in mice. *Cancer Res*, 69, 7867-74.

BENER, A., HOFFMANN, G. F., AFIFY, Z., RASUL, K. & TEWFIK, I. 2008. Does prolonged breastfeeding reduce the risk for childhood leukemia and lymphomas? *Minerva Pediatr*, 60, 155-61.

BERTRAM, J. S. 2000. The molecular biology of cancer. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 21, 167-223.

- BETHLEHEM SOLOMON, N. P., LADE AYODELE, MICHAEL HUGHES, 2017. Global incidence and prevalence of acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A 10-year forecast. *Hematology & Hematological Oncology*. Las Vegas, USA
- BHUTIA, S. K., MUKHOPADHYAY, S., SINHA, N., DAS, D. N., PANDA, P. K., PATRA, S. K., MAITI, T. K., MANDAL, M., DENT, P. & WANG, X.-Y. 2013. Autophagy: cancer's friend or foe? *Advances in cancer research*, 118, 61-95.
- BIENERTOVA-VASKU, J., BIENERT, P., KODYTKOVA, D., ZLAMAL, F., TOMANDL, J., TOMANDLOVA, M., VASKU, A. & STERBA, J. 2012. BAFF levels are elevated in paediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia compared to other B-lineage neoplasms. *Journal of Hematology*, 1, 20-22.
- BIONDANI, G. & PEYRON, J.-F. 2018. Metformin, an anti-diabetic drug to target leukemia. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 9, 446.
- BIONDI, A., VALSECCHI, M. G., SERIU, T., D'ANIELLO, E., WILLEMSE, M. J., FASCHING, K., PANNUNZIO, A., GADNER, H., SCHRAPPE, M., KAMPS, W. A., BARTRAM, C. R., VAN DONGEN, J. J. & PANZER-GRÜMAYER, E. R. 2000. Molecular detection of minimal residual disease is a strong predictive factor of relapse in childhood B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia with medium risk features. A case control study of the International BFM study group. *Leukemia*, 14, 1939-43.
- BIONDO, L. A., JUNIOR, E. A. L., SOUZA, C. O., CRUZ, M. M., CUNHA, R. D., ALONSO-VALE, M. I., OYAMA, L. M., NASCIMENTO, C. M. O., PIMENTEL, G. D. & DOS SANTOS, R. V. 2016. Impact of doxorubicin treatment on the physiological functions of white adipose tissue. *PLoS One*, 11, e0151548.
- BLOODWISE UK. 2018. *Childhood Acute Leukaemia's* [Online]. Available: <u>www.bloodwise.org.uk</u> [Accessed 12 December 2018 2018].
- BLOUIN, R., KOLPEK, J. & MANN, H. 1987. Influence of obesity on drug disposition. *Clinical pharmacy*, 6, 706-714.
- BOARD, P. P. T. E. 2019. Childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment (PDQ[®]). *PDQ Cancer Information Summaries [Internet]*. National Cancer Institute (US).
- BOICE, J. D. & MILLER, R. W. 1999. Childhood and adult cancer after intrauterine exposure to ionizing radiation. *Teratology*, 59, 227-33.
- BÖKKERINK, J. P., STET, E. H., DE ABREU, R. A., DAMEN, F. J., HULSCHER, T. W., BAKKER, M. A. & VAN BAAL, J. A. 1993. 6-Mercaptopurine: cytotoxicity and biochemical pharmacology in human malignant T-lymphoblasts. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 45, 1455-1463.
- BOOTH, A., MAGNUSON, A., FOUTS, J. & FOSTER, M. 2015. Adipose tissue, obesity and adipokines: role in cancer promotion. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig*, 21, 57-74.
- BOUGARET, L., DELORT, L., BILLARD, H., LE HUEDE, C., BOBY, C., DE LA FOYE, A., ROSSARY, A., MOJALLAL, A., DAMOUR, O. & AUXENFANS, C. 2018. Adipocyte/breast cancer cell crosstalk in obesity interferes with the anti-proliferative efficacy of tamoxifen. *PloS one*, 13, e0191571.
- BOULTWOOD, J. 2001. Ataxia telangiectasia gene mutations in leukaemia and lymphoma. *Journal of clinical pathology*, 54, 512-516.
- BRADSTOCK, K. F., JANOSSY, G., TIDMAN, N., PAPAGEORGIOU, E. S., PRENTICE, H. G., WILLOUGHBY, M. & HOFFBRAND, A. V. 1981. Immunological monitoring of residual disease in treated thymic acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Leuk Res*, 5, 301-9.
- BRENNER, A. K. & BRUSERUD, Ø. 2018. S100 proteins in acute myeloid leukemia. *Neoplasia*, 20, 1175-1186.

- BRILL, M. J., DIEPSTRATEN, J., VAN RONGEN, A., VAN KRALINGEN, S., VAN DEN ANKER, J. N. & KNIBBE, C. A. 2012. Impact of obesity on drug metabolism and elimination in adults and children. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 51, 277-304.
- BROWN, S. B. & HANKINSON, S. E. 2015. Endogenous estrogens and the risk of breast, endometrial, and ovarian cancers. *Steroids*, 99, 8-10.
- BRUNEL, A.-S., WÓJTOWICZ, A., LAMOTH, F., SPERTINI, O., NEOFYTOS, D., CALANDRA, T., MARCHETTI, O. & BOCHUD, P.-Y. 2018. Pentraxin-3 polymorphisms and invasive mold infections in acute leukemia patients receiving intensive chemotherapy. *Haematologica*, 103, e527.
- BRYAN, J. 2018. From cancer to rheumatoid arthritis treatment: the story of methotrexate. *Lung cancer*, **15**, **05**.
- BUCHSER, W. J., LASKOW, T. C., PAVLIK, P. J., LIN, H.-M. & LOTZE, M. T. 2012. Cell-mediated autophagy promotes cancer cell survival. *Cancer research*, 72, 2970-2979.
- BULLWINKLE, E. M., PARKER, M. D., BONAN, N. F., FALKENBERG, L. G., DAVISON, S. P. & DECICCO-SKINNER, K. L. 2016. Adipocytes contribute to the growth and progression of multiple myeloma: Unraveling obesity related differences in adipocyte signaling. *Cancer Lett*, 380, 114-21.
- BÜRGLER, S. & NADAL, D. 2017. Pediatric precursor B acute lymphoblastic leukemia: are T helper cells the missing link in the infectious etiology theory? *Molecular and cellular pediatrics*, 4, 1-7.
- BURKITT, D. & O'CONOR, G. T. 1961. Malignant lymphoma in African children. I. A clinical syndrome. *Cancer*, 14, 258-269.
- BUTTURINI, A. M., DOREY, F. J., LANGE, B. J., HENRY, D. W., GAYNON, P. S., FU, C., FRANKLIN, J., SIEGEL, S. E., SEIBEL, N. L. & ROGERS, P. C. 2007. Obesity and outcome in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25, 2063-2069.
- CALCATERRA, V., DE AMICI, M., KLERSY, C., TORRE, C., BRIZZI, V., SCAGLIA, F., ALBANESI, M., ALBERTINI, R., ALLAIS, B. & LARIZZA, D. 2009. Adiponectin, IL-10 and metabolic syndrome in obese children and adolescents. *Acta bio-medica: Atenei Parmensis,* 80, 117-123.
- CALLAGHAN, L. & WALKER, J. 2015. An aid to drug dosing safety in obese children: development of a new nomogram and comparison with existing methods for estimation of ideal body weight and lean body mass. *Anaesthesia*, 70, 176-182.
- CALLE, E. E., RODRIGUEZ, C., WALKER-THURMOND, K. & THUN, M. J. 2003. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. *N Engl J Med*, 348, 1625-38.
- CALVENTE, I., FERNANDEZ, M. F., VILLALBA, J., OLEA, N. & NUÑEZ, M. I. 2010. Exposure to electromagnetic fields (non-ionizing radiation) and its relationship with childhood leukemia: a systematic review. *Sci Total Environ*, 408, 3062-9.
- CAMPBELL, K. J. & TAIT, S. W. G. 2018. Targeting BCL-2 regulated apoptosis in cancer. *Open Biol*, 8. CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2018a. *Acute Lymphoblastic leukaemia* [Online]. Available:
 - www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 5 September 2018 2018].
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2018b. *Obesity and cancer time for concerted action* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 17 December 2018 2018].
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2018c. *The Twenty Most Common Cancers 2015* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org
- [Accessed 1 September 2018].
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2019a. *Does obesity cause cancer?* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 5th May 2019].
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2019b. *Steroids* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancerresearchuk.org</u> [Accessed 19 February 2019 2019].
- CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020a. *Cancer incidence for common cancers, Ten most common cancers in females* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancerresearchuk.org</u> [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020b. *Cancer incidence for common cancers, Ten most common cancers in males*. [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancerresearchuk.org</u> [Accessed 07th March 2021 2020].

CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020c. *Cancer incidence statistics* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020d. *Cancer mortality statistics* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020e. *Children's cancers in numbers* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

CANCER RESEARCH UK. 2020f. *Childrens cancer incidence* [Online]. Available: www.cancerresearchuk.org [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

CANDELARIA, P. V., RAMPOLDI, A., HARBUZARIU, A. & GONZALEZ-PEREZ, R. R. 2017. Leptin signaling and cancer chemoresistance: Perspectives. *World J Clin Oncol*, 8, 106-119.

CAO, Z., YANG, H., KONG, L., GU, D., HE, Z., XU, Z., JIA, J., GE, C. & LIN, Q. 2012. Growth arrest induction of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes by serum starvation and their differentiation by the hormonal adipogenic cocktail. *Journal of Cell and Animal Biology*, 6, 57-65.

CARLSON, R. H. 2016. Dexamethasone vs. Prednisone in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. LWW.

CAROBBIO, S., PELLEGRINELLI, V. & VIDAL-PUIG, A. 2017. Adipose tissue function and expandability as determinants of lipotoxicity and the metabolic syndrome. *Obesity and Lipotoxicity.* Springer.

CARRINGTON, E. M., ZHAN, Y., BRADY, J. L., ZHANG, J.-G., SUTHERLAND, R. M., ANSTEE, N. S., SCHENK, R. L., VIKSTROM, I. B., DELCONTE, R. B. & SEGAL, D. 2017. Anti-apoptotic proteins BCL-2, MCL-1 and A1 summate collectively to maintain survival of immune cell populations both in vitro and in vivo. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 24, 878-888.

CASSINELLI, G. 2016. The roots of modern oncology: from discovery of new antitumor anthracyclines to their clinical use. *Tumori Journal*, 102, 226-235.

- CASTRACANE, V. D. & HENSON, M. C. 2006. The obese (ob/ob) mouse and the discovery of leptin. *Leptin.* Springer.
- CASTRO, P. G., BOMKEN, S., SESLIJA, L., STAM, R., LATIF, E. S., BATEY, M. A., MCNEILL, H., PIETERS, R., VORMOOR, J. & GREIL, J. 2010. ANGIOPOIETIN1-a Novel Factor Implicated In MLL-Rearranged Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia and Regulated In a Fusion Gene-Dependent Manner. American Society of Hematology.
- CAWTHORN, W. P., SCHELLER, E. L., LEARMAN, B. S., PARLEE, S. D., SIMON, B. R., MORI, H., NING, X., BREE, A. J., SCHELL, B., BROOME, D. T., SOLIMAN, S. S., DELPROPOSTO, J. L., LUMENG, C. N., MITRA, A., PANDIT, S. V., GALLAGHER, K. A., MILLER, J. D., KRISHNAN, V., HUI, S. K., BREDELLA, M. A., FAZELI, P. K., KLIBANSKI, A., HOROWITZ, M. C., ROSEN, C. J. & MACDOUGALD, O. A. 2014. Bone marrow adipose tissue is an endocrine organ that contributes to increased circulating adiponectin during caloric restriction. *Cell Metab*, 20, 368-375.
- CEDOLINI, C., BERTOZZI, S., LONDERO, A. P., BERNARDI, S., SERIAU, L., CONCINA, S., CATTIN, F. & RISALITI, A. 2014. Type of breast cancer diagnosis, screening, and survival. *Clin Breast Cancer*, 14, 235-40.
- CHANG, C. C., LIN, K. Y., PENG, K. Y., DAY, Y. J. & HUNG, L. M. 2016. Resveratrol exerts anti-obesity effects in high-fat diet obese mice and displays differential dosage effects on cytotoxicity, differentiation, and lipolysis in 3T3-L1 cells. *Endocr J*, 63, 169-78.
- CHATTERJEE, K., ZHANG, J., TAO, R., HONBO, N. & KARLINER, J. S. 2008. Vincristine attenuates doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 373, 555-560.
- CHEN, C., CHANG, Y.-C., LAN, M. S. & BRESLIN, M. 2013a. Leptin stimulates ovarian cancer cell growth and inhibits apoptosis by increasing cyclin D1 and Mcl-1 expression via the activation of the MEK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways . Corrigendum in/10.3892/ijo. 2016.3564. International journal of oncology, 42, 1113-1119.

- CHEN, C., CHANG, Y. C., LAN, M. S. & BRESLIN, M. 2013b. Leptin stimulates ovarian cancer cell growth and inhibits apoptosis by increasing cyclin D1 and Mcl-1 expression via the activation of the MEK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways. *Int J Oncol*, 42, 1113-9.
- CHEN, L., SHI, Y., ZHU, X., GUO, W., ZHANG, M., CHE, Y., TANG, L., YANG, X., YOU, Q. & LIU, Z. 2019. IL-10 secreted by cancer-associated macrophages regulates proliferation and invasion in gastric cancer cells via c-Met/STAT3 signaling. *Oncology Reports*, 42, 595-604.
- CHEN, M., CHANG, C.-H., TAO, L. & LU, C. 2015. Residential exposure to pesticide during childhood and childhood cancers: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, peds. 2015-0006.
- CHEOK, C. F. 2012. Protecting normal cells from the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy. *Cell Cycle*, 11, 2227-2227.
- CHESSELLS, J., HARRISON, G., RICHARDS, S., BAILEY, C., HILL, F., GIBSON, B. & HANN, I. 2001. Down's syndrome and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: clinical features and response to treatment. *Archives of disease in childhood*, 85, 321-325.
- CHEYMOL, G. 2000. Effects of obesity on pharmacokinetics. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 39, 215-231.
- CHIARETTI, S., ZINI, G. & BASSAN, R. 2014. Diagnosis and subclassification of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Mediterranean journal of hematology and infectious diseases*, 6.
- CHILDREN WITH CANCER UK. 2018a. *About acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL)* [Online]. Available: www.childrenwithcancer.org.uk [Accessed 17 December 2018 2018].
- CHILDREN WITH CANCER UK. 2018b. *ALL Survival statistics* [Online]. Available: www.childrenwithcancer.org.uk [Accessed 2 January 2019 2018].
- CHILDREN WITH CANCER UK. 2018c. *Hodgkin Lymphoma* [Online]. Available: www.childrenwithcancer.org.uk [Accessed 3 January 2018 2018].
- CHILDREN WITH CANCER UK. 2020. *Types of cancer in children* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.childrenwithcancer.org.uk/childhood-cancer-info/understanding-cancer/types-of-cancer/</u> [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].
- CHINTU, C., ATHALE, U. H. & PATIL, P. 1995. Childhood cancers in Zambia before and after the HIV epidemic. *Archives of disease in childhood*, 73, 100-105.
- CHOI, C.-H. 2005. ABC transporters as multidrug resistance mechanisms and the development of chemosensitizers for their reversal. *Cancer cell international*, **5**, 1-13.
- CHOQUET, H. & MEYRE, D. 2011. Genetics of Obesity: What have we Learned? *Curr Genomics*, 12, 169-79.
- CHOW, E. J., PIHOKER, C., FRIEDMAN, D. L., LEE, S. J., MCCUNE, J. S., WHARTON, C., ROTH, C. L. & BAKER, K. S. 2013. Glucocorticoids and insulin resistance in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 60, 621-626.
- CHOW, E. J., PIHOKER, C., HUNT, K., WILKINSON, K. & FRIEDMAN, D. L. 2007. Obesity and hypertension among children after treatment for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society*, 110, 2313-2320.
- CHU, N.-F., SHEN, M.-H., WU, D.-M. & SHIEH, S.-M. 2002. Plasma TNF-R1 and insulin concentrations in relation to leptin levels among normal and overweight children. *Clinical biochemistry*, 35, 287-292.
- CHUNG, S. J., NAGARAJU, G. P., NAGALINGAM, A., MUNIRAJ, N., KUPPUSAMY, P., WALKER, A., WOO, J., GYŐRFFY, B., GABRIELSON, E., SAXENA, N. K. & SHARMA, D. 2017. ADIPOQ/adiponectin induces cytotoxic autophagy in breast cancer cells through STK11/LKB1-mediated activation of the AMPK-ULK1 axis. *Autophagy*, 13, 1386-1403.
- COBBOLD, C. 2019. Type 2 diabetes mellitus risk and exercise: is resistin involved? *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 59, 290-297.
- CODONER-FRANCH, P. & ALONSO-IGLESIAS, E. 2015. Resistin: insulin resistance to malignancy. *Clinica chimica acta*, 438, 46-54.
- COMBS, T. P., WAGNER, J. A., BERGER, J., DOEBBER, T., WANG, W. J., ZHANG, B. B., TANEN, M., BERG, A. H., O'RAHILLY, S., SAVAGE, D. B., CHATTERJEE, K., WEISS, S., LARSON, P. J., GOTTESDIENER, K. M., GERTZ, B. J., CHARRON, M. J., SCHERER, P. E. & MOLLER, D. E. 2002.

Induction of adipocyte complement-related protein of 30 kilodaltons by PPARgamma agonists: a potential mechanism of insulin sensitization. *Endocrinology*, 143, 998-1007.

- CONTRERAS, Z. A., RITZ, B., VIRK, J., COCKBURN, M. & HECK, J. E. 2016. Maternal pre-pregnancy and gestational diabetes, obesity, gestational weight gain, and risk of cancer in young children: a population-based study in California. *Cancer Causes Control*, 27, 1273-85.
- CORAZZARI, M., GAGLIARDI, M., FIMIA, G. M. & PIACENTINI, M. 2017. Endoplasmic reticulum stress, unfolded protein response, and cancer cell fate. *Frontiers in oncology*, **7**, **7**8.
- CORY, A. H., OWEN, T. C., BARLTROP, J. A. & CORY, J. G. 1991. Use of an aqueous soluble tetrazolium/formazan assay for cell growth assays in culture. *Cancer communications*, 3, 207-212.
- DANA-FARBER CANCER INSTITUTE. 2018. *Types of Leukaemia in Children* [Online]. Available: www.dana-farber.org [Accessed 5 September 2018 2018].
- DANDER, E., PALMI, C., D'AMICO, G. & CAZZANIGA, G. 2021. The Bone Marrow Niche in B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: The Role of Microenvironment from Pre-Leukemia to Overt Leukemia. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 4426.
- DANIELS, S. R. 2009. The use of BMI in the clinical setting. *Pediatrics*, 124, S35-S41.
- DAQUINAG, A. C., ZHANG, Y., AMAYA-MANZANARES, F., SIMMONS, P. J. & KOLONIN, M. G. 2011. An isoform of decorin is a resistin receptor on the surface of adipose progenitor cells. *Cell Stem Cell*, 9, 74-86.
- DAS, G., SHRAVAGE, B. V. & BAEHRECKE, E. H. 2012. Regulation and function of autophagy during cell survival and cell death. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 4, a008813.
- DAUER, P., SHARMA, N. S., GUPTA, V. K., DURDEN, B., HADAD, R., BANERJEE, S., DUDEJA, V., SALUJA, A. & BANERJEE, S. 2019. ER stress sensor, glucose regulatory protein 78 (GRP78) regulates redox status in pancreatic cancer thereby maintaining "stemness". *Cell death & disease*, 10, 1-13.
- DE ANDRADE, C. F., BIGNI, R., POMBO-DE-OLIVEIRA, M. S., ALVES, G. & PEREIRA, D. A. 2009. CD26/DPPIV cell membrane expression and DPPIV activity in plasma of patients with acute leukemia. *Journal of enzyme inhibition and medicinal chemistry*, 24, 708-714.
- DE BAERDEMAEKER, L. E., MORTIER, E. P. & STRUYS, M. M. 2004. Pharmacokinetics in obese patients. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia, Critical Care & Pain, 4*, 152-155.
- DE KONING, L., MERCHANT, A. T., POGUE, J. & ANAND, S. S. 2007. Waist circumference and waist-tohip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular events: meta-regression analysis of prospective studies. *Eur Heart J*, 28, 850-6.
- DE PERGOLA, G. & SILVESTRIS, F. 2013. Obesity as a major risk factor for cancer. *Journal of obesity*, 2013.
- DE SCHUTTER, A., LAVIE, C. J., GONZALEZ, J. & MILANI, R. V. 2011. Body composition in coronary heart disease: how does body mass index correlate with body fatness? *Ochsner J*, 11, 220-5.
- DE SMITH, A. J., KAUR, M., GONSETH, S., ENDICOTT, A. A., SELVIN, S., ZHANG, L., ROY, R., SHAO, X., HANSEN, H. M. & KANG, A. Y. 2017. Correlates of prenatal and early-life tobacco smoke exposure and frequency of common gene deletions in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer research*, canres. 2571.2016.
- DE VASCONCELLOS, J. F., LARANJEIRA, A. B. A., ZANCHIN, N. I. T., OTUBO, R., VAZ, T. H., CARDOSO, A. A., BRANDALISE, S. R. & YUNES, J. A. 2011. Increased CCL2 and IL-8 in the bone marrow microenvironment in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 56, 568-577.
- DE VRIES, M. A., VAN LITSENBURG, R. R., HUISMAN, J., GROOTENHUIS, M. A., VERSLUYS, A. B., KASPERS, G. J. L. & GEMKE, R. J. 2008. Effect of dexamethasone on quality of life in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a prospective observational study. *Health and quality* of life outcomes, 6, 103.
- DEN HOED, M. A., PLUIJM, S. M., DE GROOT-KRUSEMAN, H. A., TE WINKEL, M. L., FIOCCO, M., VAN DEN AKKER, E. L., HOOGERBRUGGE, P., VAN DEN BERG, H., LEEUW, J. A. & BRUIN, M. C.

2015. The negative impact of being underweight and weight loss on survival of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *haematologica*, 100, 62-69.

- DESHMUKH, S. K., SRIVASTAVA, S. K., ZUBAIR, H., BHARDWAJ, A., TYAGI, N., AL-GHADHBAN, A., SINGH, A. P., DYESS, D. L., CARTER, J. E. & SINGH, S. 2017. Resistin potentiates chemoresistance and stemness of breast cancer cells: Implications for racially disparate therapeutic outcomes. *Cancer Lett*, 396, 21-29.
- DIECK, C., REGLERO-GOMEZ, C., ZASK, A., STOCKWELL, B. & FERRANDO, A. 2019. Abstract C005: NT5C2 small molecule inhibitor for the reversal of 6-MP resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. AACR.
- DIETZE-SCHROEDER, D., SELL, H., UHLIG, M., KOENEN, M. & ECKEL, J. 2005. Autocrine action of adiponectin on human fat cells prevents the release of insulin resistance-inducing factors. *Diabetes*, 54, 2003-2011.
- DIRAT, B., BOCHET, L., DABEK, M., DAVIAUD, D., DAUVILLIER, S., MAJED, B., WANG, Y. Y., MEULLE, A., SALLES, B., LE GONIDEC, S., GARRIDO, I., ESCOURROU, G., VALET, P. & MULLER, C. 2011. Cancer-associated adipocytes exhibit an activated phenotype and contribute to breast cancer invasion. *Cancer Res*, **71**, 2455-65.
- DOORN, V. 1999. Circulating levels of human insulin-like growth factor binding protein-6 (IGFBP-6) in health and disease as determined by radioimmunoassay. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 50, 601-609.
- DOROSHOW, J. H. 2019. Mechanisms of Anthracycline-Enhanced Reactive Oxygen Metabolism in Tumor Cells. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2019.
- DOURADO, M., SARMENTO, A. B., PEREIRA, S. V., ALVES, V., SILVA, T., PINTO, A. M. & ROSA, M. S. 2007. CD26/DPPIV expression and 8-azaguanine response in T-acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cell lines in culture. *Pathophysiology*, 14, 3-10.
- DOWNING, J. R. 2004. TGF-β signaling, tumor suppression, and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 351, 528-530.
- DRUGBANK. 2018. *Vincristine* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs/DB00541</u> [Accessed 27 October 2018].
- DU, L., YANG, F., FANG, H., SUN, H., CHEN, Y., XU, Y., LI, H., ZHENG, L. & ZHOU, B.-B. S. 2019. AICAr suppresses cell proliferation by inducing NTP and dNTP pool imbalances in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 33, 4525-4537.
- DUONG, M. N., GENESTE, A., FALLONE, F., LI, X., DUMONTET, C. & MULLER, C. 2017. The fat and the bad: Mature adipocytes, key actors in tumor progression and resistance. *Oncotarget*, 8, 57622-57641.
- DUSHNICKY, M. J., NAZARALI, S., MIR, A., PORTWINE, C. & SAMAAN, M. C. 2020. Is There a Causal Relationship between Childhood Obesity and Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia? A Review. *Cancers*, 12, 3082.
- EBADI, M., FIELD, C. J., LEHNER, R. & MAZURAK, V. C. 2017. Chemotherapy diminishes lipid storage capacity of adipose tissue in a preclinical model of colon cancer. *Lipids in health and disease*, 16, 247.
- ECKER, B. L., LEE, J. Y., STERNER, C. J., SOLOMON, A. C., PANT, D. K., SHEN, F., PERAZA, J., VAUGHT, L., MAHENDRA, S., BELKA, G. K., PAN, T. C., SCHMITZ, K. H. & CHODOSH, L. A. 2019. Impact of obesity on breast cancer recurrence and minimal residual disease. *Breast Cancer Res*, 21, 41.
- EFIMENKO, E., DAVÉ, U. P., LEBEDEVA, I. V., SHEN, Y., SANCHEZ-QUINTERO, M. J., DIOLAITI, D., KUNG, A., LANNUTTI, B. J., CHEN, J. & REALUBIT, R. 2017. PI3Kγ/δ and NOTCH1 crossregulate pathways that define the T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia disease signature. *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, 16, 2069-2082.
- EHSANIPOUR, E. A., SHENG, X., BEHAN, J. W., WANG, X., BUTTURINI, A., AVRAMIS, V. I. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2013. Adipocytes cause leukemia cell resistance to L-asparaginase via release of glutamine. *Cancer research*.

- EISENKRAFT, A., KEIDAN, I., BIELORAI, B., KELLER, N., TOREN, A. & PARET, G. 2006. MCP-1 in the cerebrospinal fluid of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia research,* 30, 1259-1261.
- EISSA, H., ZHOU, Y., PANETTA, J., BROWNE, E., JEHA, S., CHENG, C., RELLING, M., CAMPANA, D., PUI, C. & INABA, H. 2017a. The effect of body mass index at diagnosis on clinical outcome in children with newly diagnosed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood cancer journal*, 7, e531-e531.
- EISSA, H., ZHOU, Y., PANETTA, J., BROWNE, E., JEHA, S., CHENG, C., RELLING, M., CAMPANA, D., PUI, C. & INABA, H. 2017b. The effect of body mass index at diagnosis on clinical outcome in children with newly diagnosed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood cancer journal*, **7**, e531.
- EKMEN, N., HELVACI, A., GUNALDI, M., SASANI, H. & YILDIRMAK, S. T. 2016. Leptin as an important link between obesity and cardiovascular risk factors in men with acute myocardial infarction. *Indian heart journal*, 68, 132-137.
- EL-BAZ, H. A., MOSA, T. E., ELABD, E. M., RAMADAN, A., ELHAROUN, A. S., ELMORSY, E. A. & FOUDA, M. I. 2013a. Serum adiponectin and resistin levels in de novo and relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia children patients. *Iran J Public Health*, 42, 504-10.
- EL-BAZ, H. A., MOSA, T. E., ELABD, E. M., RAMADAN, A., ELHAROUN, A. S., ELMORSY, E. A. & FOUDA, M. I. 2013b. Serum adiponectin and resistin levels in de novo and relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia children patients. *Iranian journal of public health*, 42, 504.
- ELECTRONIC MEDICINES COMPENDIUM (EMC). 2018. *Vincristine Sulphate* [Online]. Available: www.medicines.org.uk

[Accessed 20 September 2018 2018].

- ELFFERS, T. W., DE MUTSERT, R., LAMB, H. J., DE ROOS, A., WILLEMS VAN DIJK, K., ROSENDAAL, F. R., JUKEMA, J. W. & TROMPET, S. 2017. Body fat distribution, in particular visceral fat, is associated with cardiometabolic risk factors in obese women. *PLoS One*, 12, e0185403.
- ELGHANDOUR, A., NAENAA, H., ELDEFRAWY, M., ELBORDENY, M. & MOHAMMED, H. 2015. Level of pentraxin-3 in patients with acute leukemia in septicemia and its prognostic value. *International Blood Research & Reviews*, 1-7.
- EMERY, M. G., FISHER, J. M., CHIEN, J. Y., KHARASCH, E. D., DELLINGER, E. P., KOWDLEY, K. V. & THUMMEL, K. E. 2003. CYP2E1 activity before and after weight loss in morbidly obese subjects with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology*, 38, 428-435.
- ENZENMUELLER, S., SUN, Q., DEBATIN, K.-M. & MEYER, L.-H. 2016. Lysosomal cell death and apoptosis crosstalk-synergistic role in Bcl-2 Inhibitor (ABT-263) mediated cell death in b-cell precursor acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. American Society of Hematology Washington, DC.
- ETHIER, M.-C., ALEXANDER, S., ABLA, O., GREEN, G., LAM, R. & SUNG, L. 2012. Association between obesity at diagnosis and weight change during induction and survival in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, 53, 1677-1681.
- EVANGELISTI, C., CHIARINI, F., CAPPELLINI, A., PAGANELLI, F., FINI, M., SANTI, S., MARTELLI, A. M., NERI, L. M. & EVANGELISTI, C. 2020. Targeting Wnt/β-catenin and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 235, 5413-5428.
- FELCHT, M., LUCK, R., SCHERING, A., SEIDEL, P., SRIVASTAVA, K., HU, J., BARTOL, A., KIENAST, Y., VETTEL, C. & LOOS, E. K. 2012. Angiopoietin-2 differentially regulates angiogenesis through TIE2 and integrin signaling. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 122, 1991-2005.
- FELDMAN, R., ABBOTT, B. L., REDDY, S. K. & CASTRO, M. 2015. Drug efflux pump expression in 50,000 molecularly-profiled cancer patients. American Society of Clinical Oncology.
- FERNÁNDEZ-RAMOS, A. A., MARCHETTI-LAURENT, C., POINDESSOUS, V., ANTONIO, S., LAURENT-PUIG, P., BORTOLI, S., LORIOT, M.-A. & PALLET, N. 2017. 6-mercaptopurine promotes energetic failure in proliferating T cells. *Oncotarget*, **8**, 43048.
- FIERS, W., BEYAERT, R., DECLERCQ, W. & VANDENABEELE, P. 1999. More than one way to die: apoptosis, necrosis and reactive oxygen damage. *Oncogene*, 18, 7719-30.

- FITCH, B., HERMISTON, M. L., WIEMELS, J. L. & KOGAN, S. C. 2016. Mechanism of IL-10 Protective Effect in Development of Childhood B Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. American Society of Hematology Washington, DC.
- FLORES-MONTERO, J., SANOJA-FLORES, L., PAIVA, B., PUIG, N., GARCÍA-SÁNCHEZ, O., BÖTTCHER, S., VAN DER VELDEN, V. H. J., PÉREZ-MORÁN, J. J., VIDRIALES, M. B., GARCÍA-SANZ, R., JIMENEZ, C., GONZÁLEZ, M., MARTÍNEZ-LÓPEZ, J., CORRAL-MATEOS, A., GRIGORE, G. E., FLUXÁ, R., PONTES, R., CAETANO, J., SEDEK, L., DEL CAÑIZO, M. C., BLADÉ, J., LAHUERTA, J. J., AGUILAR, C., BÁREZ, A., GARCÍA-MATEO, A., LABRADOR, J., LEOZ, P., AGUILERA-SANZ, C., SAN-MIGUEL, J., MATEOS, M. V., DURIE, B., VAN DONGEN, J. J. M. & ORFAO, A. 2017. Next Generation Flow for highly sensitive and standardized detection of minimal residual disease in multiple myeloma. *Leukemia*, 31, 2094-2103.
- FOLEY, G. E., LAZARUS, H., FARBER, S., UZMAN, B. G., BOONE, B. A. & MCCARTHY, R. E. 1965. Continuous culture of human lymphoblasts from peripheral blood of a child with acute leukemia. *Cancer*, **18**, 522-529.
- FOLLY, J. H., BORGES, W. & YAMAWAKI, T. 1952. Incidence of leukemia in survivors of the atomic bomb in Hiroshima and Nagasaki, Japan. *Am J Med*, 13, 311-21.
- FRANCISCO, V., PINO, J., GONZALEZ-GAY, M. A., MERA, A., LAGO, F., GÓMEZ, R., MOBASHERI, A. & GUALILLO, O. 2018. Adipokines and inflammation: is it a question of weight? *British journal of pharmacology*, 175, 1569-1579.
- FREEDMAN, D. S. & SHERRY, B. 2009. The validity of BMI as an indicator of body fatness and risk among children. *Pediatrics*, 124 Suppl 1, S23-34.
- FRIEDMAN, B. & CRONSTEIN, B. 2018. Methotrexate Mechanism in Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*.
- FU, R., YANG, P., WU, H.-L., LI, Z.-W. & LI, Z.-Y. 2014. GRP78 secreted by colon cancer cells facilitates cell proliferation via PI3K/Akt signaling. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 15, 7245-7249.
- FUCHS, N., META, M., SCHUPPAN, D., NUHN, L. & SCHIRMEISTER, T. 2020. Novel Opportunities for Cathepsin S Inhibitors in Cancer Immunotherapy by Nanocarrier-Mediated Delivery. *Cells*, 9, 2021.
- FUJITA, Y., KOUDA, K., OHARA, K., NAKAMURA, H. & IKI, M. 2019. Leptin mediates the relationship between fat mass and blood pressure: The Hamamatsu School-based health study. *Medicine*, 98.
- GADE, C., CHRISTENSEN, H. & HOLST, H. 2015. Drug dosage in obese children. Ugeskrift for laeger, 177, V05150446-V05150446.
- GANDHI, M. K. 2006. Epstein-Barr virus-associated lymphomas. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther*, 4, 77-89.
- GARCIA, J. M., MERRIAM, G. R. & KARGI, A. Y. 2019. Growth hormone in aging. *Endotext* [Internet].
- GASCO, M., SHAMI, S. & CROOK, T. 2002. The p53 pathway in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res*, 4, 70-6.
- GE, R. & KAO, C. 2019. Cell surface GRP78 as a death receptor and an anticancer drug target. *Cancers*, 11, 1787.
- GELELETE, C. B., PEREIRA, S. H., AZEVEDO, A. M., THIAGO, L. S., MUNDIM, M., LAND, M. G. & COSTA,
 E. S. 2011. Overweight as a prognostic factor in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 19, 1908-11.
- GEORGIOU, G. P., PROVATOPOULOU, X., KALOGERA, E., SIASOS, G., MENENAKOS, E., ZOGRAFOS, G. C. & GOUNARIS, A. 2016. Serum resistin is inversely related to breast cancer risk in premenopausal women. *The Breast*, 29, 163-169.
- GERHOLD, D. L., LIU, F., JIANG, G., LI, Z., XU, J., LU, M., SACHS, J. R., BAGCHI, A., FRIDMAN, A.,
 HOLDER, D. J., DOEBBER, T. W., BERGER, J., ELBRECHT, A., MOLLER, D. E. & ZHANG, B. B.
 2002. Gene expression profile of adipocyte differentiation and its regulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonists. *Endocrinology*, 143, 2106-18.

GHARPURE, K. M., PRADEEP, S., SANS, M., RUPAIMOOLE, R., IVAN, C., WU, S. Y., BAYRAKTAR, E., NAGARAJA, A. S., MANGALA, L. S. & ZHANG, X. 2018. FABP4 as a key determinant of metastatic potential of ovarian cancer. *Nature communications*, *9*, 2923.

GHASEMI, A., SAEIDI, J., MOHTASHAMI, M. & HASHEMY, S. I. 2019. Estrogen-independent role of ERα in ovarian cancer progression induced by leptin/Ob-Rb axis. *Mol Cell Biochem*.

GILHAM, C., RAKE, C., BURDETT, G., NICHOLSON, A. G., DAVISON, L., FRANCHINI, A., CARPENTER, J., HODGSON, J., DARNTON, A. & PETO, J. 2016. Pleural mesothelioma and lung cancer risks in relation to occupational history and asbestos lung burden. *Occup Environ Med*, 73, 290-9.

GILL, M., THALANGE, N., FOSTER, P., TILLMANN, V., PRICE, D., DIGGLE, P. & CLAYTON, P. 1999. Regular fluctuations in growth hormone (GH) release determine normal human growth. *Growth Hormone & IGF Research*, 9, 114-122.

GOMBER, S., DEWAN, P. & CHHONKER, D. 2010. Vincristine induced neurotoxicity in cancer patients. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 77, 97-100.

GONG, W. J., LIU, J. Y., YIN, J. Y., CUI, J. J., XIAO, D., ZHUO, W., LUO, C., LIU, R. J., LI, X. & ZHANG, W. 2018a. Resistin facilitates metastasis of lung adenocarcinoma through the TLR 4/Src/EGFR/PI 3K/NF-κB pathway. *Cancer science*, 109, 2391-2400.

GONG, W. J., LIU, J. Y., YIN, J. Y., CUI, J. J., XIAO, D., ZHUO, W., LUO, C., LIU, R. J., LI, X., ZHANG, W., ZHOU, H. H. & LIU, Z. Q. 2018b. Resistin facilitates metastasis of lung adenocarcinoma through the TLR4/Src/EGFR/PI3K/NF-κB pathway. *Cancer Sci*, 109, 2391-2400.

GOODSELL, D. S. 2005. The molecular perspective: L-asparaginase. *The oncologist*, 10, 238-239.

GORMAN, A. M., HEALY, S. J., JÄGER, R. & SAMALI, A. 2012. Stress management at the ER: regulators of ER stress-induced apoptosis. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 134, 306-316.

GORMLEY, J., HEGARTY, S., O'GRADY, A., STEVENSON, M., BURDEN, R., BARRETT, H., SCOTT, C., JOHNSTON, J., WILSON, R. & KAY, E. 2011. The role of Cathepsin S as a marker of prognosis and predictor of chemotherapy benefit in adjuvant CRC: a pilot study. *British journal of cancer*, 105, 1487-1494.

GOULDEN, N. J., KIRKWOOD, A. A., MOPPETT, J., SAMARASINGHE, S., LAWSON, S., ROWNTREE, C., HOUGH, R., ATHWAL, R., KEARNS, P. R. & VORA, A. 2017. UKALL 2011: Randomised Trial Investigating a Short Induction Dexamethasone Schedule for Children and Young Adults with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia. Am Soc Hematology.

GOZAL, D., KHALYFA, A., QIAO, Z., SMITH, D. L., PHILBY, M. F., KOREN, D. & KHEIRANDISH-GOZAL, L. 2017. Angiopoietin-2 and soluble Tie-2 receptor plasma levels in children with obstructive sleep apnea and obesity. *Obesity*, 25, 1083-1090.

GREAVES, M. 2018. A causal mechanism for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 18, 471-484.

GREEN, H. & KEHINDE, O. 1975. An established preadipose cell line and its differentiation in culture II. Factors affecting the adipose conversion. *Cell*, *5*, 19-27.

GREEN, H. & MEUTH, M. 1974. An established pre-adipose cell line and its differentiation in culture. *Cell*, **3**, 127-33.

GRONINGER, E., DE GRAAF, S., MEEUWSEN-DE BOER, G., SLUITER, W. & POPPEMA, S. 2000. Vincristine-induced apoptosis in vivo in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). *British journal of haematology*, 111, 875-878.

GRUBER, E. S., JOMRICH, G., TAMANDL, D., GNANT, M., SCHINDL, M. & SAHORA, K. 2019. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity are independent adverse prognostic factors in resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *PLoS One*, 14, e0215915.

GU, F., ZHANG, H., YAO, L., JIANG, S., LU, H., XING, X., ZHANG, C., JIANG, P. & ZHANG, R. 2019a. Leptin contributes to the taxol chemoresistance in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Oncology letters*, 18, 561-570.

GU, L., WANG, C.-D., CAO, C., CAI, L.-R., LI, D.-H. & ZHENG, Y.-Z. 2019b. Association of serum leptin with breast cancer: A meta-analysis. *Medicine*, 98.

- GUO, H., QIU, X., DEIS, J., LIN, T. Y. & CHEN, X. 2019. Pentraxin 3 deficiency exacerbates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in adipose tissue. *Int J Obes (Lond)*.
- GUO, X. & LIAO, K. 2000. Analysis of gene expression profile during 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation. *Gene*, 251, 45-53.
- GUSTAFSSON, G. & KREUGER, A. 1983. Sex and other prognostic factors in acute lymphoblastic leukemia in childhood. *Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol*, **5**, 243-250.
- HADDY, T. B., MOSHER, R. B., NUNEZ, S. B. & REAMAN, G. H. 2006. Growth hormone deficiency after chemotherapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children who have not received cranial radiation. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 46, 258-261.
- HAGELSTEIN, J., SCHNEIDER, P., DE BOER, J., HULLEMAN, E., WILLIAMS, O., PIETERS, R. & STAM, R.
 W. 2009. High Expression of the Ca2+-Binding Proteins S100A8 and S100A9 Cause
 Glucocorticoid Resistance in MLL-Rearranged Infant Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Am Soc Hematology.
- HALL, K. D., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., KEMNITZ, J. W., KLEIN, S., SCHOELLER, D. A. & SPEAKMAN, J. R. 2012. Energy balance and its components: implications for body weight regulation. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 95, 989-94.
- HAMODAT, Z. M. A., AL-TALIB, N. A. & ABDULJALAL, M. H. 2020. Study of some biochemical markers for patients with leukemia. *EurAsian Journal of BioSciences*, 14, 1315-1320.
- HAN, T. J., XU, H. Z., LI, J. S., GENG, L. Y., LI, X. Y., ZHOU, X. X. & WANG, X. 2018. Leptin and its receptor in glucose metabolism of T-cell lymphoma. *Oncology letters*, 16, 5838-5846.
- HANAHAN, D. & WEINBERG, R. A. 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100, 57-70.
- HANAHAN, D. & WEINBERG, R. A. 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *cell*, 144, 646-674.
- HARMON, J. M., NORMAN, M. R., FOWLKES, B. J. & THOMPSON, E. B. 1979. Dexamethasone induces irreversible G1 arrest and death of a human lymphoid cell line. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 98, 267-278.
- HARTMAN, H. B., HU, X., TYLER, K. X., DALAL, C. K. & LAZAR, M. A. 2002. Mechanisms regulating adipocyte expression of resistin. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 19754-61.
- HASSAN, M., WATARI, H., ABUALMAATY, A., OHBA, Y. & SAKURAGI, N. 2014. Apoptosis and molecular targeting therapy in cancer. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 150845.
- HECK, J. E., WU, J., LOMBARDI, C., QIU, J., MEYERS, T. J., WILHELM, M., COCKBURN, M. & RITZ, B.
 2013. Childhood cancer and traffic-related air pollution exposure in pregnancy and early life.
 Environ Health Perspect, 121, 1385-91.
- HEIKER, J. T. 2014. Vaspin (serpinA12) in obesity, insulin resistance, and inflammation. *Journal of Peptide Science*, 20, 299-306.
- HEROLD, J. & KALUCKA, J. 2020. Angiogenesis in Adipose Tissue: the interplay between adipose and endothelial cells. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 11.
- HEYDE, I., BEGEMANN, K. & OSTER, H. 2021. Contributions of white and brown adipose tissues to the circadian regulation of energy metabolism. *Endocrinology*, 162, bqab009.
- HIJIYA, N., PANETTA, J. C., ZHOU, Y., KYZER, E. P., HOWARD, S. C., JEHA, S., RAZZOUK, B. I., RIBEIRO, R. C., RUBNITZ, J. E. & HUDSON, M. M. 2006. Body mass index does not influence pharmacokinetics or outcome of treatment in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, 108, 3997-4002.
- HILL, R., HAMBY, T., JOHNSON, D., BOREN, C., DOWNS, H. & RAY, A. 2020. Prevalence and Predictors of Weight Loss during Induction Therapy for Childhood ALL. *Nutrition*, 110937.
- HINDORF, C., GLATTING, G., CHIESA, C., LINDÉN, O., FLUX, G. & COMMITTEE, E. D. 2010. EANM Dosimetry Committee guidelines for bone marrow and whole-body dosimetry. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 37, 1238-50.
- HOLMES, L., HOSSAIN, J., DESVIGNES-KENDRICK, M. & OPARA, F. 2012. Sex variability in pediatric leukemia survival: Large cohort evidence. *ISRN oncology*, 2012.
- HORTOBAGYI, G. 1997. Anthracyclines in the treatment of cancer. *Drugs*, 54, 1-7.

- HOSNEY, M., SABET, S., EL-SHINAWI, M., GAAFAR, K. M. & MOHAMED, M. M. 2017. Leptin is overexpressed in the tumor microenvironment of obese patients with estrogen receptor positive breast cancer. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, **13**, 2235-2246.
- HOUSA, D., VERNEROVA, Z., HERACEK, J., CECHAK, P., ROSOVA, B., KUNCOVA, J. & HALUZIK, M. 2008. Serum resistin levels in benign prostate hyperplasia and non-metastatic prostate cancer: possible role in cancer progression. *Neoplasma*, 55, 442-6.
- HSIEH, Y. Y., SHEN, C. H., HUANG, W. S., CHIN, C. C., KUO, Y. H., HSIEH, M. C., YU, H. R., CHANG, T. S., LIN, T. H., CHIU, Y. W., CHEN, C. N., KUO, H. C. & TUNG, S. Y. 2014. Resistin-induced stromal cell-derived factor-1 expression through Toll-like receptor 4 and activation of p38 MAPK/ NFκB signaling pathway in gastric cancer cells. *J Biomed Sci*, 21, 59.
- HUANG, J., DURAN, A., REINA-CAMPOS, M., VALENCIA, T., CASTILLA, E. A., MÜLLER, T. D., TSCHÖP,
 M. H., MOSCAT, J. & DIAZ-MECO, M. T. 2018a. Adipocyte p62/SQSTM1 Suppresses
 Tumorigenesis through Opposite Regulations of Metabolism in Adipose Tissue and Tumor.
 Cancer cell, 33, 770-784. e6.
- HUANG, M., CHEN, Z., XU, D., ZHANG, H., SUN, S. & WU, J. 2018b. [Adiponectin inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in colorectal cancer HCT116 cells]. *Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi*, 34, 253-259.
- HUDAK, C. S. & SUL, H. S. 2013. Pref-1, a gatekeeper of adipogenesis. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 4, 79.
- HUNGER, S. P. 2016. Glucocorticoid selection for pediatric ALL. *Blood*, 127, 2049-2051.
- ISHIKAWA, M., KITAYAMA, J., YAMAUCHI, T., KADOWAKI, T., MAKI, T., MIYATO, H., YAMASHITA, H. & NAGAWA, H. 2007. Adiponectin inhibits the growth and peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer through its specific membrane receptors AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. *Cancer Sci*, 98, 1120-7.
- ISRCTN CLINICAL REGISTRY. 2019. United Kingdom Trial for children and young adults with Acute lymphoblastic Leukaemia and Lymphoma 2011 [Online]. Available: https://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN64515327 [Accessed February 2021 2021].
- IYENGAR, P., COMBS, T. P., SHAH, S. J., GOUON-EVANS, V., POLLARD, J. W., ALBANESE, C.,
 FLANAGAN, L., TENNISWOOD, M. P., GUHA, C., LISANTI, M. P., PESTELL, R. G. & SCHERER, P.
 E. 2003. Adipocyte-secreted factors synergistically promote mammary tumorigenesis
 through induction of anti-apoptotic transcriptional programs and proto-oncogene
 stabilization. *Oncogene*, 22, 6408-23.
- JACQUY, C., DELEPAUT, B., VAN DAELE, S., VAERMAN, J. L., ZENEBERGH, A., BRICHARD, B., VERMYLEN, C., CORNU, G. & MARTIAT, P. 1997. A prospective study of minimal residual disease in childhood B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: MRD level at the end of induction is a strong predictive factor of relapse. *Br J Haematol*, 98, 140-6.
- JAHNUKAINEN, K., HEIKKINEN, R., HENRIKSSON, M., ANDERSSON, S., IVASKA, K. K., PUUKKO-VIERTOMIES, L.-R. & MÄKITIE, O. 2015. Increased body adiposity and serum leptin concentrations in very long-term adult male survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Hormone research in paediatrics*, 84, 108-115.
- JAKUBOWSKA, K., GUZIŃSKA-USTYMOWICZ, K., FAMULSKI, W., CEPOWICZ, D., JAGODZIŃSKA, D. & PRYCZYNICZ, A. 2016. Reduced expression of caspase-8 and cleaved caspase-3 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells. *Oncol Lett*, **11**, 1879-1884.
- JASTANIAH, W., ELIMAM, N., ABDALLA, K., ALAZMI, A. A., ELGAML, A. M., ALKASSAR, A., DAGHISTANI, M. & FELIMBAN, S. 2018. Early vs. late MRD response-and risk-based treatment intensification of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a prospective pilot study from Saudi Arabia. *Experimental hematology & oncology*, 7, 1-15.
- JEMAL, A., CENTER, M. M., DESANTIS, C. & WARD, E. M. 2010. Global patterns of cancer incidence and mortality rates and trends. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, **19**, 1893-907.
- JIANG, N., SUN, R. & SUN, Q. 2014. Leptin signaling molecular actions and drug target in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Drug design, development and therapy*, 8, 2295.

- JIN, H., RUGIRA, T., KO, Y. S., PARK, S. W., YUN, S. P. & KIM, H. J. 2020. ESM-1 overexpression is involved in increased tumorigenesis of radiotherapy-resistant breast cancer cells. *Cancers*, 12, 1363.
- JO, J., GAVRILOVA, O., PACK, S., JOU, W., MULLEN, S., SUMNER, A. E., CUSHMAN, S. W. & PERIWAL,
 V. 2009. Hypertrophy and/or hyperplasia: dynamics of adipose tissue growth. *PLoS computational biology*, 5.
- KAI, M. 2016. Kai, M. Roles of RNA-Binding Proteins in DNA Damage Response. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2016, 17, 310. *Int J Mol Sci*, 17.
- KAKAJE, A., ALHALABI, M. M., GHAREEB, A., KARAM, B., MANSOUR, B., ZAHRA, B. & HAMDAN, O.
 2020. Rates and trends of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: an epidemiology study. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-12.
- KANG, J., CHONG, S. J. F., OOI, V. Z. Q., VALI, S., KUMAR, A., KAPOOR, S., ABBASI, T., HIRPARA, J. L., LOH, T. & GOH, B. C. 2015. Overexpression of Bcl-2 induces STAT-3 activation via an increase in mitochondrial superoxide. *Oncotarget*, 6, 34191.

KANNAN, K. & JAIN, S. K. 2000. Oxidative stress and apoptosis. *Pathophysiology*, 7, 153-163.

- KAPOOR, R., SLADE, D. L., FUJIMORI, A., POMMIER, Y. & HARKER, W. G. 1995. Altered topoisomerase I expression in two subclones of human CEM leukemia selected for resistance to camptothecin. *Oncology Research Featuring Preclinical and Clinical Cancer Therapeutics*, 7, 83-95.
- KARAJANNIS, M. A., HUMMEL, M., OSCHLIES, I., ANAGNOSTOPOULOS, I., ZIMMERMANN, M., STEIN,
 H., PARWARESCH, R. & REITER, A. 2003. Epstein-Barr virus infection in Western European pediatric non-Hodgkin lymphomas. *Blood*, 102, 4244-4244.
- KARAKURT, N., AKSU, T., KOKSAL, Y., YARALI, N., TUNC, B., UCKAN-CETINKAYA, D. & OZGUNER, M.
 2016. Angiopoietins in the bone marrow microenvironment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Hematology*, 21, 325-331.
- KARJALAINEN, K., JAALOUK, D. E., BUESO-RAMOS, C., BOVER, L., SUN, Y., KUNIYASU, A., DRIESSEN,
 W. H., CARDÓ-VILA, M., RIETZ, C. & ZURITA, A. J. 2015. Targeting IL11 receptor in leukemia and lymphoma: a functional ligand-directed study and hematopathology analysis of patientderived specimens. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21, 3041-3051.
- KARPPINEN, S., LOHI, O. & VIHOLA, M. 2019. prediction of leukocyte counts during paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia maintenance therapy. *Scientific reports*, 9, 1-11.
- KATZKE, V. A., KAAKS, R. & KÜHN, T. 2015. Lifestyle and cancer risk. Cancer J, 21, 104-10.
- KEATING, M. J., HOLMES, R., LERNER, S. & HO, D. H. 1993. L-asparaginase and PEG asparaginase past, present, and future. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, 10, 153-157.
- KEAVER, L., XU, B., JACCARD, A. & WEBBER, L. 2018. Morbid obesity in the UK: A modelling projection study to 2035. *Scand J Public Health*, 1403494818794814.
- KELLY, D. 2006. Viral hepatitis B and C in children. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 99, 353-357.
- KENDRICK, J. G., CARR, R. R. & ENSOM, M. H. 2010. Pharmacokinetics and drug dosing in obese children. *The Journal of Pediatric Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 15, 94-109.
- KERR, J., ANDERSON, C. & LIPPMAN, S. M. 2017. Physical activity, sedentary behaviour, diet, and cancer: an update and emerging new evidence. *Lancet Oncol*, 18, e457-e471.
- KHAN, A. A., ALSAHLI, M. A. & RAHMANI, A. H. 2018. Myeloperoxidase as an active disease biomarker: recent biochemical and pathological perspectives. *Medical sciences*, 6, 33.
- KHEIFETS, L., REPACHOLI, M., SAUNDERS, R. & VAN DEVENTER, E. 2005. The sensitivity of children to electromagnetic fields. *Pediatrics*, 116, e303-13.
- KHOSHAMOOZ, H., KAVIANI, S., ATASHI, A. & HASSANKIADEH, S. H. M. 2020. Combination Effect of Notch1 and PI3K/AKT/mTOR Signaling Pathways Inhibitors on T-ALL Cell Lines. *International Journal of Hematology-Oncology and Stem Cell Research*, 14, 99.
- KIM, H.-I., LIM, H. & MOON, A. 2018. Sex differences in cancer: epidemiology, genetics and therapy. *Biomolecules & therapeutics*, 26, 335.

- KIM, I., KIM, J.-H., MOON, S.-O., KWAK, H. J., KIM, N.-G. & KOH, G. Y. 2000. Angiopoietin-2 at high concentration can enhance endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. *Oncogene*, 19, 4549-4552.
- KIM, K., CHANG, Y., AHN, J., YANG, H. J., JUNG, J. Y., KIM, S., SOHN, C. I. & RYU, S. 2019. Body Mass Index and Risk of Intestinal Metaplasia: A Cohort Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 28, 789-797.
- KING, W., TOLER, K. & WOODELL-MAY, J. 2018. Role of white blood cells in blood-and bone marrowbased autologous therapies. *BioMed research international*, 2018.
- KIRAL, E., DINLEYICI, E. C., BOZKURT-TURHAN, A., BOR, O., AKGUN, Y. & AKGUN, N. A. 2016. Serum endocan levels in children with febrile neutropenia. *Hematology Reports*, 8.
- KIRSCHNER, A., THIEDE, M., GRÜNEWALD, T. G., ALBA RUBIO, R., RICHTER, G. H., KIRCHNER, T., BUSCH, D. H., BURDACH, S. & THIEL, U. 2017. Pappalysin-1 T cell receptor transgenic allorestricted T cells kill Ewing sarcoma in vitro and in vivo. *Oncoimmunology*, 6, e1273301.
- KITOH, T., KUBOTA, M., TAKIMOTO, T., HASHIMOTO, H., SHIMIZU, T., SANO, H., AKIYAMA, Y. & MIKAWA, H. 1990. Metabolic basis for differential glutamine requirements of human leukemia cell lines. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 143, 150-153.
- KITSON, S. J., ROSSER, M., FISCHER, D. P., MARSHALL, K. M., CLARKE, R. B. & CROSBIE, E. J. 2019. Targeting Endometrial Cancer Stem Cell Activity with Metformin Is Inhibited by Patient-Derived Adipocyte-Secreted Factors. *Cancers (Basel),* 11.
- KIZILOCAK, H. & OKCU, F. 2019. Late effects of therapy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia survivors. *Turkish Journal of Hematology*, 36, 1.
- KLEIN, G., LINDAHL, T., JONDAL, M., LEIBOLD, W., MENÉZES, J., NILSSON, K. & SUNDSTRÖM, C. 1974. Continuous lymphoid cell lines with characteristics of B cells (bone-marrow-derived), lacking the Epstein-Barr virus genome and derived from three human lymphomas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 71, 3283-3286.
- KLISIĆ, A., KAVARIĆ, N., SPASOJEVIĆ-KALIMANOVSKA, V., KOTUR-STEVULJEVIĆ, J. & NINIĆ, A. 2021. Serum endocan levels in relation to traditional and non-traditional anthropometric indices in adult population. *Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, 40, 41.
- KNIGHT, Z. A., HANNAN, K. S., GREENBERG, M. L. & FRIEDMAN, J. M. 2010. Hyperleptinemia is required for the development of leptin resistance. *PloS one*, *5*, e11376.
- KÖRNER, A., KRATZSCH, J., GAUSCHE, R., SCHAAB, M., ERBS, S. & KIESS, W. 2007. New predictors of the metabolic syndrome in children—role of adipocytokines. *Pediatric research*, 61, 640-645.
- KUCHENBAECKER, K. B., HOPPER, J. L., BARNES, D. R., PHILLIPS, K.-A., MOOIJ, T. M., ROOS-BLOM, M.-J., JERVIS, S., VAN LEEUWEN, F. E., MILNE, R. L. & ANDRIEU, N. 2017. Risks of breast, ovarian, and contralateral breast cancer for BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Jama*, 317, 2402-2416.
- KUFE, D. W., MAJOR, P., EGAN, E. & BEARDSLEY, G. 1980. Correlation of cytotoxicity with incorporation of ara-C into DNA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 255, 8997-8900.
- KUMAR, J., FANG, H., MCCULLOCH, D. R., CROWLEY, T. & WARD, A. C. 2017. Leptin receptor signaling via Janus kinase 2/Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 impacts on ovarian cancer cell phenotypes. *Oncotarget*, *8*, 93530.
- KURI-HARCUCH, W. & GREEN, H. 1978. Adipose conversion of 3T3 cells depends on a serum factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences,* 75, 6107-6109.
- KUTANZI, K. R., LUMEN, A., KOTURBASH, I. & MIOUSSE, I. R. 2016. Pediatric Exposures to Ionizing Radiation: Carcinogenic Considerations. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 13.
- KWOK, H. F., BUICK, R. J., KUEHN, D., GORMLEY, J. A., DOHERTY, D., JAQUIN, T. J., MCCLURG, A., WARD, C., BYRNE, T. & JAWORSKI, J. 2011. Antibody targeting of Cathepsin S induces antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Molecular cancer*, 10, 1-10.
- KYROU, I., TSANTARLIOTI, O., PANAGIOTAKOS, D. B., TSIGOS, C., GEORGOUSOPOULOU, E., CHRYSOHOOU, C., SKOUMAS, I., TOUSOULIS, D., STEFANADIS, C., PITSAVOS, C. & GROUP, A.

S. 2017. Adiponectin circulating levels and 10-year (2002-2012) cardiovascular disease incidence: the ATTICA Study. *Endocrine*, 58, 542-552.

- LAAKSONEN, M. A., MACINNIS, R. J., CANFELL, K., GILES, G. G., HULL, P., SHAW, J. E., CUMMING, R.
 G., GILL, T. K., BANKS, E., MITCHELL, P., BYLES, J. E., MAGLIANO, D. J., HIRANI, V., CONNAH,
 D. & VAJDIC, C. M. 2019. The future burden of kidney and bladder cancers preventable by
 behaviour modification in Australia: a pooled cohort study. *Int J Cancer*.
- LATOCH, E., KONOŃCZUK, K., TARANTA-JANUSZ, K., MUSZYŃSKA-ROSŁAN, K., SZYMCZAK, E., WASILEWSKA, A. & KRAWCZUK-RYBAK, M. 2020. Urine NGAL and KIM-1: tubular injury markers in acute lymphoblastic leukemia survivors. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 86, 741-749.
- LAUGHTON, S. J., ASHTON, L. J., KWAN, E., NORRIS, M. D., HABER, M. & MARSHALL, G. M. 2005. Early responses to chemotherapy of normal and malignant hematologic cells are prognostic in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23, 2264-2271.
- LAURENT, V., TOULET, A., ATTANÉ, C., MILHAS, D., DAUVILLIER, S., ZAIDI, F., CLEMENT, E., CINATO, M., LE GONIDEC, S. & GUÉRARD, A. 2019. Periprostatic adipose tissue favors prostate cancer cell invasion in an obesity-dependent manner: role of oxidative stress. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 17, 821-835.
- LECLERC, G. M., LECLERC, G. J., KUZNETSOV, J. N., DESALVO, J. & BARREDO, J. C. 2013. Metformin induces apoptosis through AMPK-dependent inhibition of UPR signaling in ALL lymphoblasts. *PloS one,* 8, e74420.
- LEE, J. W. & CHO, B. 2017. Prognostic factors and treatment of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Korean journal of pediatrics*, 60, 129.
- LEE, M. W., PARK, Y. J., KIM, D. S., PARK, H. J., JUNG, H. L., LEE, J. W., SUNG, K. W., KOO, H. H. & YOO, K. H. 2018. Human Adipose Tissue Stem Cells Promote the Growth of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells in NOD/SCID Mice. *Stem Cell Rev*, 14, 451-460.
- LEE, S., LEE, H. C., KWON, Y. W., LEE, S. E., CHO, Y., KIM, J., KIM, J. Y., LEE, J., YANG, H. M., MOOK-JUNG, I., NAM, K. Y., CHUNG, J., LAZAR, M. A. & KIM, H. S. 2014. Adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 is a receptor for human resistin and mediates inflammatory actions of human monocytes. *Cell Metab*, 19, 484-97.
- LEHUÉDÉ, C., LI, X., DAUVILLIER, S., VAYSSE, C., FRANCHET, C., CLEMENT, E., ESTEVE, D., LONGUÉ, M., CHALTIEL, L. & LE GONIDEC, S. 2019. Adipocytes promote breast cancer resistance to chemotherapy, a process amplified by obesity: role of the major vault protein (MVP). *Breast Cancer Research*, 21, 1-17.
- LENZ, M., ARTS, I. C., PEETERS, R. L., DE KOK, T. M. & ERTAYLAN, G. 2020. Adipose tissue in health and disease through the lens of its building blocks. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-14.
- LI, L., TAN, J., ZHANG, Y., HAN, N., DI, X., XIAO, T., CHENG, S., GAO, Y. & LIU, Y. 2014. DLK1 promotes lung cancer cell invasion through upregulation of MMP9 expression depending on Notch signaling. *PloS one*, 9, e91509.
- LI, L., ZHANG, Y., LI, N., FENG, L., YAO, H., ZHANG, R., LI, B., LI, X., HAN, N. & GAO, Y. 2015. Nidogen-1: a candidate biomarker for ovarian serous cancer. *Japanese journal of clinical oncology*, 45, 176-182.
- LI, X., HE, S. & MA, B. 2020. Autophagy and autophagy-related proteins in cancer. *Molecular cancer*, 19, 12.
- LI, Z., GUO, J.-R., CHEN, Q.-Q., WANG, C.-Y., ZHANG, W.-J., YAO, M.-C. & ZHANG, W. 2017. Exploring the Antitumor Mechanism of High-Dose Cytarabine through the Metabolic Perturbations of Ribonucleotide and Deoxyribonucleotide in Human Promyelocytic Leukemia HL-60 Cells. *Molecules*, 22, 499.
- LI, Z. M., WU, Z. X., HAN, B., MAO, Y. Q., CHEN, H. L., HAN, S. F., XIA, J. L. & WANG, L. S. 2016. The association between BMI and gallbladder cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*, **7**, 43669-43679.

- LIANG, X., KANJANABUCH, T., MAO, S.-L., HAO, C.-M., TANG, Y.-W., DECLERCK, P. J., HASTY, A. H., WASSERMAN, D. H., FOGO, A. B. & MA, L.-J. 2006. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 modulates adipocyte differentiation. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 290, E103-E113.
- LIN, K.-T. & WANG, L.-H. 2016. New dimension of glucocorticoids in cancer treatment. *Steroids*, 111, 84-88.
- LIN, M. I., PRICE, E. N., BOATMAN, S., HAGEDORN, E. J., TROMPOUKI, E., SATISHCHANDRAN, S., CARSPECKEN, C. W., UONG, A., DIBIASE, A. & YANG, S. 2015. Angiopoietin-like proteins stimulate HSPC development through interaction with notch receptor signaling. *Elife*, 4, e05544.
- LINDBERG, S., JENSEN, J. S., BJERRE, M., PEDERSEN, S. H., FRYSTYK, J., FLYVBJERG, A., GALATIUS, S., JEPPESEN, J. & MOGELVANG, R. 2015. Adiponectin, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 22, 276-83.
- LINDEMULDER, S. J., STORK, L. C., BOSTROM, B., LU, X., DEVIDAS, M., HUNGER, S., NEGLIA, J. P. & KADAN-LOTTICK, N. S. 2015. Survivors of standard risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia do not have increased risk for overweight and obesity compared to non-cancer peers: A report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62, 1035-1041.
- LITTLE, M. 2008. Leukaemia following childhood radiation exposure in the Japanese atomic bomb survivors and in medically exposed groups. *Radiation protection dosimetry*, 132, 156-165.
- LIU, B., LI, L.-J., GONG, X., ZHANG, W., ZHANG, H. & ZHAO, L. 2018. Co-expression of ATP binding cassette transporters is associated with poor prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncology letters*, 15, 6671-6677.
- LIU, P., MA, F., LOU, H. & LIU, Y. 2013. The utility of fat mass index vs. body mass index and percentage of body fat in the screening of metabolic syndrome. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 629.
- LIU, Q., LI, A., TIAN, Y., WU, J. D., LIU, Y., LI, T., CHEN, Y., HAN, X. & WU, K. 2016. The CXCL8-CXCR1/2 pathways in cancer. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews,* 31, 61-71.
- LIU, Y., LV, L., XIAO, W., GONG, C., YIN, J., WANG, D. & SHENG, H. 2011. Leptin activates STAT3 and ERK1/2 pathways and induces endometrial cancer cell proliferation. *Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology* [Medical Sciences], 31, 365.
- LIU, Z., SHI, A., SONG, D., HAN, B., ZHANG, Z., MA, L., LIU, D. & FAN, Z. 2017. Resistin confers resistance to doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in human breast cancer cells through autophagy induction. *American journal of cancer research*, **7**, 574.
- LOGAN, C., KOURA, D. & TAPLITZ, R. 2020. Updates in infection risk and management in acute leukemia. *Hematology 2014, the American Society of Hematology Education Program Book,* 2020, 135-139.
- LOID, P., MUSTILA, T., MÄKITIE, R. E., VILJAKAINEN, H., KÄMPE, A., TOSSAVAINEN, P., LIPSANEN-NYMAN, M., PEKKINEN, M. & MÄKITIE, O. 2020. Rare Variants in Genes Linked to Appetite Control and Hypothalamic Development in Early-Onset Severe Obesity. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 11, 81.
- LOO, T. M., KAMACHI, F., WATANABE, Y., YOSHIMOTO, S., KANDA, H., ARAI, Y., NAKAJIMA-TAKAGI, Y., IWAMA, A., KOGA, T., SUGIMOTO, Y., OZAWA, T., NAKAMURA, M., KUMAGAI, M., WATASHI, K., TAKETO, M. M., AOKI, T., NARUMIYA, S., OSHIMA, M., ARITA, M., HARA, E. & OHTANI, N. 2017. Gut Microbiota Promotes Obesity-Associated Liver Cancer through PGE. *Cancer Discov*, 7, 522-538.
- LOPRINZI, C. L. 1995. Management of cancer anorexia/cachexia. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, **3**, 120-122.
- LU, Z., XIE, J., WU, G., SHEN, J., COLLINS, R., CHEN, W., KANG, X., LUO, M., ZOU, Y. & HUANG, L. J.-S. 2017. Fasting selectively blocks development of acute lymphoblastic leukemia via leptinreceptor upregulation. *Nature medicine*, 23, 79.
- LUSKIN, M. R., MURAKAMI, M. A., MANALIS, S. R. & WEINSTOCK, D. M. 2018. Targeting minimal residual disease: a path to cure? *Nat Rev Cancer*, 18, 255-263.

- LV, D., ZHANG, Y., KIM, H.-J., ZHANG, L. & MA, X. 2013. CCL5 as a potential immunotherapeutic target in triple-negative breast cancer. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 10, 303-310.
- MA, C., WITKOWSKI, M. T., HARRIS, J., DOLGALEV, I., SREERAM, S., QIAN, W., TONG, J., CHEN, X., AIFANTIS, I. & CHEN, W. 2020. Leukemia-on-a-chip: Dissecting the chemoresistance mechanisms in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia bone marrow niche. *Science advances*, 6, eaba5536.
- MA, J.-J., SHANG, J., WANG, H., SUI, J.-R., LIU, K. & DU, J.-X. 2016. Serum adiponectin levels are inversely correlated with leukemia: A meta-analysis. *Journal of cancer research and therapeutics*, 12, 897.
- MA, L., FAN, Z., DU, G. & WANG, H. 2019. Leptin-elicited miRNA-342-3p potentiates gemcitabine resistance in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 509, 845-853.
- MA, X., BUFFLER, P. A., SELVIN, S., MATTHAY, K. K., WIENCKE, J. K., WIEMELS, J. L. & REYNOLDS, P. 2002. Daycare attendance and risk of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br J Cancer*, 86, 1419-24.
- MACMILLAN UK. 2018a. *Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) in children* [Online]. Available: <u>www.macmillan.org.uk</u> [Accessed 19th December 2018 2018].
- MACMILLAN UK. 2018b. *Daunorubicin* [Online]. Available: <u>www.macmillan.org.uk</u> [Accessed 3 January 2018 2018].
- MAHMOOD, T. & YANG, P.-C. 2012. Western blot: technique, theory, and trouble shooting. *North American journal of medical sciences*, **4**, 429.
- MAISONPIERRE, P. C., SURI, C., JONES, P. F., BARTUNKOVA, S., WIEGAND, S. J., RADZIEJEWSKI, C., COMPTON, D., MCCLAIN, J., ALDRICH, T. H. & PAPADOPOULOS, N. 1997. Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. *Science*, 277, 55-60.
- MAKKI, K., FROGUEL, P. & WOLOWCZUK, I. 2013. Adipose tissue in obesity-related inflammation and insulin resistance: cells, cytokines, and chemokines. *ISRN Inflamm*, 2013, 139239.
- MAKNI, E., MOALLA, W., BENEZZEDDINE-BOUSSAIDI, L., LAC, G., TABKA, Z. & ELLOUMI, M. 2013. Correlation of resistin with inflammatory and cardiometabolic markers in obese adolescents with and without metabolic syndrome. *Obesity facts,* 6, 393-404.
- MALVI, P., CHAUBE, B., SINGH, S. V., MOHAMMAD, N., VIJAYAKUMAR, M. V., SINGH, S., CHOUHAN, S. & BHAT, M. K. 2018. Elevated circulatory levels of leptin and resistin impair therapeutic efficacy of dacarbazine in melanoma under obese state. *Cancer Metab*, 6, 2.
- MARCOTTE, E. L., RITZ, B., COCKBURN, M., CLARKE, C. A. & HECK, J. E. 2014. Birth characteristics and risk of lymphoma in young children. *Cancer epidemiology*, 38, 48-55.
- MASOULEH, B. K., CHEVET, E., PANSE, J., JOST, E., O'DWYER, M., BRUEMMENDORF, T. H. & SAMALI, A. 2015. Drugging the unfolded protein response in acute leukemias. *Journal of hematology* & oncology, 8, 1-10.
- MASOULEH, B. K., GENG, H., HURTZ, C., CHAN, L. N., LOGAN, A. C., CHANG, M. S., HUANG, C., SWAMINATHAN, S., SUN, H. & PAIETTA, E. 2014. Mechanistic rationale for targeting the unfolded protein response in pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111, E2219-E2228.
- MATSUI, S., OKABAYASHI, K., TSURUTA, M., SHIGETA, K., SEISHIMA, R., ISHIDA, T., KONDO, T., SUZUKI, Y., HASEGAWA, H., SHIMODA, M., SUGIMOTO, S., SATO, T. & KITAGAWA, Y. 2019. IL-13 and its signaling pathway is associated with obesity-related colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Sci.*
- MAXIMOS, S., CHAMOUN, M., GRAVEL, S., TURGEON, J. & MICHAUD, V. 2017. Tissue Specific Modulation of cyp2c and cyp3a mRNA Levels and Activities by Diet-Induced Obesity in Mice: The Impact of Type 2 Diabetes on Drug Metabolizing Enzymes in Liver and Extra-Hepatic Tissues. *Pharmaceutics*, 9, 40.
- MAZIC, S., DJELIC, M., SUZIC, J., SUZIC, S., DEKLEVA, M., RADOVANOVIC, D., SCEPANOVIC, L. & STARCEVIC, V. 2009. Overweight in trained subjects are we looking at wrong numbers?

(Body mass index compared with body fat percentage in estimating overweight in athletes.). *Gen Physiol Biophys,* 28 Spec No, 200-4.

- MCGOWAN, J. V., CHUNG, R., MAULIK, A., PIOTROWSKA, I., WALKER, J. M. & YELLON, D. M. 2017. Anthracycline chemotherapy and cardiotoxicity. *Cardiovascular drugs and therapy*, 31, 63-75.
- MCTERNAN, P. G., MCTERNAN, C. L., CHETTY, R., JENNER, K., FISHER, F. M., LAUER, M. N., CROCKER, J., BARNETT, A. H. & KUMAR, S. 2002. Increased resistin gene and protein expression in human abdominal adipose tissue. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 2407.
- MEDH, R. D., WEBB, M. S., MILLER, A. L., JOHNSON, B. H., FOFANOV, Y., LI, T., WOOD, T. G., LUXON,
 B. A. & THOMPSON, E. B. 2003. Gene expression profile of human lymphoid CEM cells sensitive and resistant to glucocorticoid-evoked apoptosis. *Genomics*, 81, 543-555.
- MEDINA, E. A., OBERHEU, K., POLUSANI, S. R., ORTEGA, V., VELAGALETI, G. V. & OYAJOBI, B. O. 2014. PKA/AMPK signaling in relation to adiponectin's antiproliferative effect on multiple myeloma cells. *Leukemia*, 28, 2080-9.
- MEENAN, C. K., KELLY, J. A., WANG, L., RITCHEY, A. K. & MAURER, S. H. 2019. Obesity in pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia increases the risk of adverse events during premaintenance chemotherapy. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 66, e27515.
- MEI, Y., THOMPSON, M. D., COHEN, R. A. & TONG, X. 2013. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and related pathological processes. *Journal of pharmacological & biomedical analysis*, 1, 1000107.
- MELESHKO, A. N., SAVVA, N. N., FEDASENKA, U. U., ROMANCOVA, A. S., KRASKO, O. V., ECKERT, C., VON STACKELBERG, A. & ALEINIKOVA, O. V. 2011. Prognostic value of MRD-dynamics in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated according to the MB-2002/2008 protocols. *Leukemia Research*, 35, 1312-1320.
- MENDOZA-SANTIAGO, A., BECERRA, E., GARAY, E., BAH, M., BERUMEN-SEGURA, L., ESCOBAR-CABRERA, J., HERNÁNDEZ-PÉREZ, A. & GARCÍA-ALCOCER, G. 2019. Glutamic Acid Increased Methotrexate Polyglutamation and Cytotoxicity in a CCRF-SB Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cell Line. *Medicina*, 55, 758.
- MERAJ, F., JABBAR, N., NADEEM, K., TAIMOOR, M. & MANSOOR, N. 2020. Minimal residual disease in childhood B Lymphoblastic Leukemia and its correlation with other risk factors. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 36, S20.
- MERSCH, J., JACKSON, M. A., PARK, M., NEBGEN, D., PETERSON, S. K., SINGLETARY, C., ARUN, B. K. & LITTON, J. K. 2015. Cancers associated with BRCA 1 and BRCA 2 mutations other than breast and ovarian. *Cancer*, 121, 269-275.
- METAYER, C., MILNE, E., CLAVEL, J., INFANTE-RIVARD, C., PETRIDOU, E., TAYLOR, M., SCHÜZ, J.,
 SPECTOR, L. G., DOCKERTY, J. D., MAGNANI, C., POMBO-DE-OLIVEIRA, M. S., SINNETT, D.,
 MURPHY, M., ROMAN, E., MONGE, P., EZZAT, S., MUELLER, B. A., SCHEURER, M. E.,
 ARMSTRONG, B. K., BIRCH, J., KAATSCH, P., KOIFMAN, S., LIGHTFOOT, T., BHATTI, P., BONDY,
 M. L., RUDANT, J., O'NEILL, K., MILIGI, L., DESSYPRIS, N., KANG, A. Y. & BUFFLER, P. A. 2013.
 The Childhood Leukemia International Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol*, 37, 336-47.
- MEUCCI, S., KEILHOLZ, U., TINHOFER, I. & EBNER, O. A. 2016. Mutational load and mutational patterns in relation to age in head and neck cancer. *Oncotarget*, **7**, 69188-69199.
- MINOWADA, J., OHNUMA, T. & MOORE, G. 1972. Rosette-forming human lymphoid cell lines. I. Establishment and evidence for origin of thymus-derived lymphocytes. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 49, 891-895.
- MITCHELL, B. L., YASUI, Y., LI, C. I., FITZPATRICK, A. L. & LAMPE, P. D. 2005. Impact of freeze-thaw cycles and storage time on plasma samples used in mass spectrometry based biomarker discovery projects. *Cancer informatics*, **1**, 117693510500100110.
- MOGHADAM-KIA, S. & WERTH, V. P. 2010. Prevention and treatment of systemic glucocorticoid side effects. *International journal of dermatology*, 49, 239-248.

- MOHAMMADGHOLI, A., RABBANI-CHADEGANI, A. & FALLAH, S. 2013. Mechanism of the interaction of plant alkaloid vincristine with DNA and chromatin: spectroscopic study. *DNA and cell biology*, 32, 228-235.
- MOHNIKE, K., WEX, H., VORWERK, P., KLUBA, U., AUMANN, V., MITTLER, U. & BLUM, W. 1998. High Serum IGFBP-2 in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia may be an Indication for Increased Risk of Relapse. *Acute Leukemias VII.* Springer.
- MONDELAERS, V., SUCIU, S., DE MOERLOOSE, B., FERSTER, A., MAZINGUE, F., PLAT, G., YAKOUBEN, K., UYTTEBROECK, A., LUTZ, P. & COSTA, V. 2017. Prolonged versus standard native E. coli asparaginase therapy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: final results of the EORTC-CLG randomized phase III trial 58951. *haematologica*, 102, 1727-1738.
- MONKS, M., IRAKLEIDIS, F. & TAN, P. H. 2019. Complex interaction of adiponectin-mediated pathways on cancer treatment: a novel therapeutic target. *Journal of Cancer Metastasis and Treatment,* 5.
- MOORMAN, A. V. 2016. New and emerging prognostic and predictive genetic biomarkers in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*, 101, 407.
- MOORMAN, A. V., ENSOR, H. M., RICHARDS, S. M., CHILTON, L., SCHWAB, C., KINSEY, S. E., VORA, A., MITCHELL, C. D. & HARRISON, C. J. 2010. Prognostic effect of chromosomal abnormalities in childhood B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: results from the UK Medical Research Council ALL97/99 randomised trial. *The lancet oncology*, 11, 429-438.
- MOREL, S., LÉVEILLÉ, P., SAMOILENKO, M., FRANCO, A., ENGLAND, J., MALAQUIN, N., TU, V., CARDIN, G. B., DROUIN, S. & RODIER, F. 2020. Biomarkers of cardiometabolic complications in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-15.
- MÖRICKE, A., ZIMMERMANN, M., VALSECCHI, M. G., STANULLA, M., BIONDI, A., MANN, G., LOCATELLI, F., CAZZANIGA, G., NIGGLI, F. & ARICÒ, M. 2016. Dexamethasone vs prednisone in induction treatment of pediatric ALL: results of the randomized trial AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000. *Blood*, 127, 2101-2112.
- MOSCHOVI, M., TRIMIS, G., VOUNATSOU, M., KATSIBARDI, K., MARGELI, A., DAMIANOS, A., CHROUSOS, G. & PAPASSOTIRIOU, I. 2010a. Serial plasma concentrations of adiponectin, leptin, and resistin during therapy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology*, 32, e8-e13.
- MOSCHOVI, M., TRIMIS, G., VOUNATSOU, M., KATSIBARDI, K., MARGELI, A., DAMIANOS, A., CHROUSOS, G. & PAPASSOTIRIOU, I. 2010b. Serial plasma concentrations of adiponectin, leptin, and resistin during therapy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol*, 32, e8-13.
- MOSMANN, T. 1983. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of immunological methods*, 65, 55-63.
- MOUDI, M., GO, R., YIEN, C. Y. S. & NAZRE, M. 2013. Vinca alkaloids. *International journal of preventive medicine*, **4**, 1231.
- MULLA, H. & JOHNSON, T. 2010. Dosing dilemmas in obese children. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice, 95, 112-117.
- MÜLLER, H. & BOOS, J. 1998. Use of L-asparaginase in childhood ALL. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*, 28, 97-113.
- MULLIGHAN, C. G., MILLER, C. B., RADTKE, I., PHILLIPS, L. A., DALTON, J., MA, J., WHITE, D., HUGHES, T. P., LE BEAU, M. M. & PUI, C.-H. 2008. BCR–ABL1 lymphoblastic leukaemia is characterized by the deletion of Ikaros. *Nature*, 453, 110.
- MURPHY, C. C., YANG, Y. C., SHAHEEN, N. J., HOFSTETTER, W. L. & SANDLER, R. S. 2017. An ageperiod-cohort analysis of obesity and incident esophageal adenocarcinoma among white males. *Dis Esophagus*, 30, 1-8.

- NAGAI, M., KURIYAMA, S., KAKIZAKI, M., OHMORI-MATSUDA, K., SONE, T., HOZAWA, A., KAWADO, M., HASHIMOTO, S. & TSUJI, I. 2012. Impact of obesity, overweight and underweight on life expectancy and lifetime medical expenditures: the Ohsaki Cohort Study. *BMJ Open*, 2.
- NAKATSUKA, A., WADA, J., ISEDA, I., TESHIGAWARA, S., HIGASHIO, K., MURAKAMI, K., KANZAKI, M., INOUE, K., TERAMI, T. & KATAYAMA, A. 2012. Vaspin is an adipokine ameliorating ER stress in obesity as a ligand for cell-surface GRP78/MTJ-1 complex. *Diabetes,* 61, 2823-2832.
- NASCIMENTO, H., COSTA, E., ROCHA, S., LUCENA, C., ROCHA-PEREIRA, P., RÊGO, C., MANSILHA, H. F., QUINTANILHA, A., AIRES, L. & MOTA, J. 2014. Adiponectin and markers of metabolic syndrome in obese children and adolescents: impact of 8-mo regular physical exercise program. *Pediatric research*, 76, 159-165.
- NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. 2019a. *Cancers associated with overweight and obesity* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancer.gov</u> [Accessed 5th May 2019 2019].
- NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. 2019b. *Cytarabine* [Online]. Available: <u>www.cancer.gov</u> [Accessed 2 January 2019 2019].
- NATSUIZAKA, M., KINUGASA, H., KAGAWA, S., WHELAN, K. A., NAGANUMA, S., SUBRAMANIAN, H., CHANG, S., NAKAGAWA, K. J., RUSTGI, N. L. & KITA, Y. 2014. IGFBP3 promotes esophageal cancer growth by suppressing oxidative stress in hypoxic tumor microenvironment. *American journal of cancer research*, 4, 29.
- NEGLIA, J. P., FRIEDMAN, D. L., YASUI, Y., MERTENS, A. C., HAMMOND, S., STOVALL, M., DONALDSON, S. S., MEADOWS, A. T. & ROBISON, L. L. 2001. Second malignant neoplasms in five-year survivors of childhood cancer: childhood cancer survivor study. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 93, 618-629.
- NERI, L. M., CANI, A., MARTELLI, A., SIMIONI, C., JUNGHANSS, C., TABELLINI, G., RICCI, F., TAZZARI, P., PAGLIARO, P. & MCCUBREY, J. 2014. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway in Bprecursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia and its therapeutic potential. *Leukemia*, 28, 739.
- NESS, K. K., ARMENIAN, S. H., KADAN-LOTTICK, N. & GURNEY, J. G. 2011. Adverse effects of treatment in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: general overview and implications for long-term cardiac health. *Expert review of hematology*, *4*, 185-197.
- NESS, K. K., HUDSON, M. M., JONES, K. E., LEISENRING, W., YASUI, Y., CHEN, Y., STOVALL, M., GIBSON, T. M., GREEN, D. M. & NEGLIA, J. P. 2017. Effect of temporal changes in therapeutic exposure on self-reported health status in childhood cancer survivors. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166, 89-98.
- NHS UK. 2018. *Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia* [Online]. Available: <u>www.nhs.uk</u> [Accessed 18 December 2018 2018].

NHS UK. 2021. Cancer overview [Online]. Available: www.nhs.uk [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].

- NICE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2018. *Vincristine sulfate* [Online]. Available: <u>www.bnf.nice.org.uk</u> [Accessed 2 January 2019 2018].
- NICHOLSON, T., CHURCH, C., TSINTZAS, K., JONES, R., BREEN, L., DAVIS, E. T., BAKER, D. J. & JONES, S. W. 2019. Vaspin promotes insulin sensitivity in elderly muscle and is upregulated in obesity. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 241, 31-43.
- NIEMAN, K. M., KENNY, H. A., PENICKA, C. V., LADANYI, A., BUELL-GUTBROD, R., ZILLHARDT, M. R., ROMERO, I. L., CAREY, M. S., MILLS, G. B. & HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S. 2011. Adipocytes promote ovarian cancer metastasis and provide energy for rapid tumor growth. *Nature medicine*, 17, 1498.
- NIEMAN, L. K. & KOVACS, W. 2011. Pharmacologic use of glucocorticoids. *UpTo-Date® CD-ROM* (*ISSN: 1090-3496*), *Wellesley, MA, Windows*, 19.
- NIGRO, E., SCHETTINO, P., POLITO, R., SCUDIERO, O., MONACO, M. L., DE PALMA, G. D. & DANIELE, A. 2018. Adiponectin and colon cancer: evidence for inhibitory effects on viability and migration of human colorectal cell lines. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 448, 125-135.
- NISHINA, T., DEGUCHI, Y., TAKEDA, W., OHTSUKA, M., OHSHIMA, D., YAMAZAKI, S., KAWAUCHI, M., NAKAMURA, E., NISHIYAMA, C. & KOJIMA, Y. 2020. Interleukin-11 is a Marker for Both

Cancer-and Inflammation-Associated Fibroblasts that Contribute to Colorectal Cancer Progression. *bioRxiv*.

- NOBLE, R. L. 1990. The discovery of the vinca alkaloids—chemotherapeutic agents against cancer. *Biochemistry and cell biology*, 68, 1344-1351.
- NUEDA, M.-L., BALADRÓN, V., SÁNCHEZ-SOLANA, B., BALLESTEROS, M.-Á. & LABORDA, J. 2007. The EGF-like protein dlk1 inhibits notch signaling and potentiates adipogenesis of mesenchymal cells. *Journal of molecular biology*, 367, 1281-1293.
- NUTTALL, F. Q. 2015. Body Mass Index: Obesity, BMI, and Health: A Critical Review. *Nutr Today*, 50, 117-128.
- O'CONNELL, J., LYNCH, L., HOGAN, A., CAWOOD, T. & O'SHEA, D. 2011. Preadipocyte factor-1 is associated with metabolic profile in severe obesity. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism,* 96, E680-E684.
- O'NEILL, K. A., MURPHY, M. F., BUNCH, K. J., PUUMALA, S. E., CAROZZA, S. E., CHOW, E. J., MUELLER, B. A., MCLAUGHLIN, C. C., REYNOLDS, P. & VINCENT, T. J. 2015. Infant birthweight and risk of childhood cancer: international population-based case control studies of 40 000 cases. *International journal of epidemiology*, 44, 153-168.
- OBULESU, M. & LAKSHMI, M. J. 2014. Apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease: an understanding of the physiology, pathology and therapeutic avenues. *Neurochem Res*, 39, 2301-12.
- OKADA-IWABU, M., YAMAUCHI, T., IWABU, M., HONMA, T., HAMAGAMI, K., MATSUDA, K., YAMAGUCHI, M., TANABE, H., KIMURA-SOMEYA, T., SHIROUZU, M., OGATA, H., TOKUYAMA, K., UEKI, K., NAGANO, T., TANAKA, A., YOKOYAMA, S. & KADOWAKI, T. 2013. A smallmolecule AdipoR agonist for type 2 diabetes and short life in obesity. *Nature*, 503, 493-9.
- OLIVEIRA, A. G., ARAÚJO, T. G., CARVALHO, B. D. M., ROCHA, G. Z., SANTOS, A. & SAAD, M. J. 2018. The role of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) in insulin resistance and diabetes. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 9, 503.
- OLMOS-JIMÉNEZ, R., ESPUNY-MIRÓ, A., CÁRCELES-RODRÍGUEZ, C. & DÍAZ-CARRASCO, M. S. 2017. Practical aspects of the use of intrathecal chemotherapy. *Farm Hosp*, 41, 105-29.
- ORGEL, E., FRAMSON, C., BUXTON, R., KIM, J., LI, G., TUCCI, J., FREYER, D. R., SUN, W., OBERLEY, M. J. & DIELI-CONWRIGHT, C. 2021. Caloric and nutrient restriction to augment chemotherapy efficacy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the IDEAL trial. *Blood advances*, **5**, 1853-1861.
- ORGEL, E., SPOSTO, R., MALVAR, J., SEIBEL, N. L., LADAS, E., GAYNON, P. S. & FREYER, D. R. 2014a. Impact on survival and toxicity by duration of weight extremes during treatment for pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A report from the Children's Oncology Group. *J Clin Oncol*, 32, 1331-7.
- ORGEL, E., TUCCI, J., ALHUSHKI, W., MALVAR, J., SPOSTO, R., FU, C. H., FREYER, D. R., ABDEL-AZIM, H. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2014b. Obesity is associated with residual leukemia following induction therapy for childhood B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, 124, 3932-8.
- OSLOWSKI, C. M. & URANO, F. 2011. Measuring ER stress and the unfolded protein response using mammalian tissue culture system. *Methods in enzymology*, 490, 71-92.
- OTVOS, L., KOVALSZKY, I., OLAH, J., CORONITI, R., KNAPPE, D., NOLLMANN, F. I., HOFFMANN, R., WADE, J. D., LOVAS, S. & SURMACZ, E. 2015. Optimization of adiponectin-derived peptides for inhibition of cancer cell growth and signaling. *Biopolymers*, 104, 156-66.
- OUCHI, N., PARKER, J. L., LUGUS, J. J. & WALSH, K. 2011. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 85-97.
- PAGE, M. J., BESTER, J. & PRETORIUS, E. 2018. The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation. *Scientific reports*, 8, 1-9.
- PALEY, C. A. & JOHNSON, M. I. 2018. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome: exercise as medicine? *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil*, 10, 7.
- PANDEY, G., BAKHSHI, S., THAKUR, B., JAIN, P. & CHAUHAN, S. S. 2018. Prognostic significance of cathepsin L expression in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, 59, 2175-2187.

- PANG, J., SHI, Q., LIU, Z., HE, J., LIU, H., LIN, P., CUI, J. & YANG, J. 2017. Resistin induces multidrug resistance in myeloma by inhibiting cell death and upregulating ABC transporter expression. *Haematologica*, 102, 1273-1280.
- PANTALONE, K. M., HOBBS, T. M., CHAGIN, K. M., KONG, S. X., WELLS, B. J., KATTAN, M. W., BOUCHARD, J., SAKURADA, B., MILINOVICH, A., WENG, W., BAUMAN, J., MISRA-HEBERT, A. D., ZIMMERMAN, R. S. & BURGUERA, B. 2017. Prevalence and recognition of obesity and its associated comorbidities: cross-sectional analysis of electronic health record data from a large US integrated health system. *BMJ Open*, 7, e017583.
- PAPATHEODOROU, K., BANACH, M., BEKIARI, E., RIZZO, M. & EDMONDS, M. 2018. Complications of Diabetes 2017. *J Diabetes Res*, 2018, 3086167.
- PARK, J. W., KIM, O.-H., LEE, S. C., KIM, K.-H., HONG, H.-E., SEO, H., CHOI, H. J. & KIM, S.-J. 2020. Serum level of visfatin can reflect the severity of inflammation in patients with acute cholecystitis. *Annals of Surgical Treatment and Research*, 99, 26.
- PARK, S., CHAPUIS, N., TAMBURINI, J., BARDET, V., CORNILLET-LEFEBVRE, P., WILLEMS, L., GREEN, A., MAYEUX, P., LACOMBE, C. & BOUSCARY, D. 2010. Role of the PI3K/AKT and mTOR signaling pathways in acute myeloid leukemia. *haematologica*, 95, 819.
- PASCUAL, G., AVGUSTINOVA, A., MEJETTA, S., MARTÍN, M., CASTELLANOS, A., ATTOLINI, C. S.-O., BERENGUER, A., PRATS, N., TOLL, A. & HUETO, J. A. 2017. Targeting metastasis-initiating cells through the fatty acid receptor CD36. *Nature*, 541, 41.
- PASTORCZAK, A., STOLARSKA, M., TRELIŃSKA, J., ZAWITKOWSKA, J., KOWALCZYK, J., MLYNARSKI, W. & GROUP, P. P. L. L. S. 2011. Nijmegen breakage syndrome (NBS) as a risk factor for CNS involvement in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 57, 160-162.
- PAULSSON, K., LILLJEBJÖRN, H., BILOGLAV, A., OLSSON, L., RISSLER, M., CASTOR, A., BARBANY, G., FOGELSTRAND, L., NORDGREN, A., SJÖGREN, H., FIORETOS, T. & JOHANSSON, B. 2015. The genomic landscape of high hyperdiploid childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Genet*, 47, 672-6.
- PECORINO, L. 2012. *Molecular biology of cancer: mechanisms, targets, and therapeutics*, Oxford university press.
- PEISER, C., HUPE-SODMANN, K. & LANG, R. 2003. Leptin receptor expression in the human erythroleukemia cell line K562. *Aktuelle Ernährungsmedizin*, 28, 80.
- PELTOLA, H., SAARINEN, U. M. & SIIMES, M. A. 1983. C-reactive protein in rapid diagnosis and followup of bacterial septicemia in children with leukemia. *Pediatric infectious disease*, 2, 370-373.
- PÉREZ-FIGUEROA, E., SÁNCHEZ-CUAXOSPA, M., MARTÍNEZ-SOTO, K., SÁNCHEZ-ZAUCO, N., MEDINA-SANSÓN, A., JIMÉNEZ-HERNÁNDEZ, E., TORRES-NAVA, J., FÉLIX-CASTRO, J., GÓMEZ, A. & ORTEGA, E. 2016. Strong inflammatory response and Th1-polarization profile in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without apparent infection. *Oncology reports*, 35, 2699-2706.
- PETRELLI, F., CORTELLINI, A., INDINI, A., TOMASELLO, G., GHIDINI, M., NIGRO, O., SALATI, M., DOTTORINI, L., IACULLI, A. & VARRICCHIO, A. 2021. Association of Obesity With Survival Outcomes in Patients With Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA network open*, 4, e213520-e213520.
- PETRY, K. U. 2014. HPV and cervical cancer. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl, 244, 59-62; discussion 62.
- PHELAN, K. W. & ADVANI, A. S. 2018. Novel therapies in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Current hematologic malignancy reports*, 13, 289-299.
- PI-SUNYER, X. 2009. The medical risks of obesity. *Postgrad Med*, 121, 21-33.
- PIATKOWSKA-JAKUBAS, B., KRAWCZYK-KULIŚ, M., GIEBEL, S., ADAMCZYK-CIOCH, M., CZYZ, A., LECH, M. E., PALUSZEWSKA, M., PAŁYNYCZKO, G., PISZCZ, J. & HOŁOWIECKI, J. 2008. Use of Lasparaginase in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: recommendations of the Polish Adult Leukemia Group. *Pol Arch Med Wewn*, 118, 664-669.

- PICCININI, F., TESEI, A., ARIENTI, C. & BEVILACQUA, A. 2017. Cell counting and viability assessment of 2d and 3d cell cultures: expected reliability of the trypan blue assay. *Biological procedures online*, **19**, **8**.
- PINHEIRO, J. P. V., LANVERS, C., WÜRTHWEIN, G. & BOOS, J. 2002. Pharmacology of PEGasparaginase in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *Blood*, 100, 1923-1925.
- PLACE, A. E., GOLDSMITH, K., BOURQUIN, J.-P., LOH, M. L., GORE, L., MORGENSTERN, D. A., SANZGIRI, Y., HOFFMAN, D., ZHOU, Y. & ROSS, J. A. 2018. Accelerating drug development in pediatric cancer: a novel Phase I study design of venetoclax in relapsed/refractory malignancies. *Future Oncology*, 14, 2115-2129.
- POLAK, R., BIERINGS, M. B., VAN DER LEIJE, C. S., SANDERS, M. A., ROOVERS, O., MARCHANTE, J. R., BOER, J. M., CORNELISSEN, J. J., PIETERS, R. & DEN BOER, M. L. 2019. Autophagy inhibition as a potential future targeted therapy for ETV6-RUNX1-driven B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *haematologica*, 104, 738.
- POLGÁR, L., LAJKÓ, E., SOÓS, P., LÁNG, O., MANEA, M., MERKELY, B., MEZŐ, G. & KŐHIDAI, L. 2018. Drug targeting to decrease cardiotoxicity–determination of the cytotoxic effect of GnRHbased conjugates containing doxorubicin, daunorubicin and methotrexate on human cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells. *Beilstein journal of organic chemistry*, 14, 1583-1594.
- POMMIER, Y., LEO, E., ZHANG, H. & MARCHAND, C. 2010. DNA topoisomerases and their poisoning by anticancer and antibacterial drugs. *Chemistry & biology*, **17**, 421-433.
- POULOS, S. P., DODSON, M. V. & HAUSMAN, G. J. 2010. Cell line models for differentiation: preadipocytes and adipocytes. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 235, 1185-93.
- PRAMANIK, R., SHENG, X., ICHIHARA, B., HEISTERKAMP, N. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2013a. Adipose tissue attracts and protects acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from chemotherapy. *Leukemia research*, 37, 503-509.
- PRAMANIK, R., SHENG, X., ICHIHARA, B., HEISTERKAMP, N. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2013b. Adipose tissue attracts and protects acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from chemotherapy. *Leuk Res*, 37, 503-9.
- PRENTICE, A. M. & JEBB, S. A. 2003. Fast foods, energy density and obesity: a possible mechanistic link. *Obes Rev*, 4, 187-94.
- PROESCHER, F. 1927. Oil red O pyridin, a rapid fat stain. *Stain Technology*, 2, 60-61.
- PUFALL, M. A. 2015. Glucocorticoids and cancer. *Glucocorticoid Signaling*. Springer.
- PUI, C.-H., BOYETT, J. M., RELLING, M. V., HARRISON, P. L., RIVERA, G. K., BEHM, F. G., SANDLUND, J. T., RIBEIRO, R. C., RUBNITZ, J. E. & GAJJAR, A. 1999. Sex differences in prognosis for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17, 818-818.
- PUI, C.-H., YANG, J. J., BHAKTA, N. & RODRIGUEZ-GALINDO, C. 2018. Global efforts toward the cure of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 2, 440-454.
- PUROHIT, V., RAPAKA, R., KWON, O. S. & SONG, B. J. 2013. Roles of alcohol and tobacco exposure in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Life Sci*, 92, 3-9.
- QADDOUMI, M. G., ALANBAEI, M., HAMMAD, M. M., AL KHAIRI, I., CHERIAN, P., CHANNANATH, A., THANARAJ, T. A., AL-MULLA, F., ABU-FARHA, M. & ABUBAKER, J. 2020. Investigating the role of myeloperoxidase and angiopoietin-like protein 6 in obesity and diabetes. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-10.
- QIU, L., ZHANG, G.-F., YU, L., WANG, H.-Y., JIA, X.-J. & WANG, T.-J. 2018a. Novel oncogenic and chemoresistance-inducing functions of resistin in ovarian cancer cells require miRNAs-mediated induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *Scientific reports*, *8*, 12522.
- QIU, L., ZHANG, G. F., YU, L., WANG, H. Y., JIA, X. J. & WANG, T. J. 2018b. Novel oncogenic and chemoresistance-inducing functions of resistin in ovarian cancer cells require miRNAsmediated induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *Sci Rep*, **8**, 12522.
- RAETZ, E. A., CAIRO, M. S., BOROWITZ, M. J., LU, X., DEVIDAS, M., REID, J. M., GOLDENBERG, D. M., WEGENER, W. A., ZENG, H. & WHITLOCK, J. A. 2015. Re-induction chemoimmunotherapy

with epratuzumab in relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): phase II results from Children's Oncology Group (COG) study ADVL04P2. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62, 1171-1175.

- RAETZ, E. A. & TEACHEY, D. T. 2016. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Hematology*, 2016, 580-588.
- RAHGOZAR, S., MOAFI, A., ABEDI, M., ENTEZAR-E-GHAEM, M., MOSHTAGHIAN, J., GHAEDI, K., ESMAEILI, A. & MONTAZERI, F. 2014. mRNA expression profile of multidrug-resistant genes in acute lymphoblastic leukemia of children, a prognostic value for ABCA3 and ABCA2. *Cancer biology & therapy*, 15, 35-41.
- RAJANDRAM, R., PERUMAL, K. & YAP, N. Y. 2019. Prognostic biomarkers in renal cell carcinoma: is there a relationship with obesity? *Translational andrology and urology*, **8**, S138.
- RAMIREZ-ZACARIAS, J., CASTRO-MUNOZLEDO, F. & KURI-HARCUCH, W. 1992. Quantitation of adipose conversion and triglycerides by staining intracytoplasmic lipids with Oil red O. *Histochemistry*, 97, 493-497.
- RASHID, M. U. & COOMBS, K. M. 2019. Serum-reduced media impacts on cell viability and protein expression in human lung epithelial cells. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 234, 7718-7724.
- RATHORE, R., MCCALLUM, J. E., VARGHESE, E., FLOREA, A. M. & BÜSSELBERG, D. 2017. Overcoming chemotherapy drug resistance by targeting inhibitors of apoptosis proteins (IAPs). *Apoptosis*, 22, 898-919.
- RAZZOUK, B. I., ROSE, S. R., HONGENG, S., WALLACE, D., SMELTZER, M. P., ZACHER, M., PUI, C. H. & HUDSON, M. M. 2007. Obesity in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 25, 1183-9.
- REDDY, G. K., BROWN, B. & NANDA, A. 2011. Fatal consequences of a simple mistake: how can a patient be saved from inadvertent intrathecal vincristine? *Clinical neurology and neurosurgery*, 113, 68-71.
- REED, J., JURGENSMEIER, J. & MATSUYAMA, S. 1998. Bcl-2 family proteins and mitochondria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics*, 1366, 127-137.
- REEVES, G. K., PIRIE, K., BERAL, V., GREEN, J., SPENCER, E., BULL, D. & COLLABORATION, M. W. S. 2007. Cancer incidence and mortality in relation to body mass index in the Million Women Study: cohort study. *BMJ*, 335, 1134.
- RIBEIRO, R., MONTEIRO, C., CUNHA, V., OLIVEIRA, M. J., FREITAS, M., FRAGA, A., PRÍNCIPE, P., LOBATO, C., LOBO, F., MORAIS, A., SILVA, V., SANCHES-MAGALHÃES, J., OLIVEIRA, J., PINA, F., MOTA-PINTO, A., LOPES, C. & MEDEIROS, R. 2012. Human periprostatic adipose tissue promotes prostate cancer aggressiveness in vitro. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res*, 31, 32.
- RISS, T. L., MORAVEC, R. A., NILES, A. L., DUELLMAN, S., BENINK, H. A., WORZELLA, T. J. & MINOR, L. 2016. Cell viability assays. *Assay Guidance Manual [Internet]*. Eli Lilly & Company and the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences.
- RODRIGUES, N. R., ROWAN, A., SMITH, M. E., KERR, I. B., BODMER, W. F., GANNON, J. V. & LANE, D. P. 1990. p53 mutations in colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 7555-9.
- ROGOSIC, S. & GHORASHIAN, S. 2020. CAR-T cell therapy in paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia–past, present and future. *British Journal of Haematology*, 191, 617-626.
- RUIZ-OJEDA, F. J., RUPEREZ, A. I., GOMEZ-LLORENTE, C., GIL, A. & AGUILERA, C. M. 2016. Cell Models and Their Application for Studying Adipogenic Differentiation in Relation to Obesity: A Review. *Int J Mol Sci*, 17.
- RYAN, A. J., MC BRIERTY, D., BOUCHIER-HAYES, D. & HARMEY, J. H. 2004. IGFBP4 inhibits IGF1 driven tumour cell proliferation and VEGF expression. AACR.
- RYTTING, M. 2014. Acting on minimal residual disease in ALL. Lancet Oncol, 15, 777-8.
- SALLAN, S. E. 2006. Myths and lessons from the adult/pediatric interface in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *ASH Education Program Book*, 2006, 128-132.
- SÁNCHEZ-SOLANA, B., LABORDA, J. & BALADRÓN, V. 2012. Mouse resistin modulates adipogenesis and glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes through the ROR1 receptor. *Mol Endocrinol*, 26, 110-27.

- SANDLUND, J. T., DOWNING, J. R. & CRIST, W. M. 1996. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in childhood. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 334, 1238-1248.
- SANMAMED, M., PEREZ-GRACIA, J., SCHALPER, K., FUSCO, J., GONZALEZ, A., RODRIGUEZ-RUIZ, M., OÑATE, C., PEREZ, G., ALFARO, C. & MARTÍN-ALGARRA, S. 2017. Changes in serum interleukin-8 (IL-8) levels reflect and predict response to anti-PD-1 treatment in melanoma and non-small-cell lung cancer patients. *Annals of Oncology*, 28, 1988-1995.
- SANT'ANNA-SILVA, A. C. B., SANTOS, G. C., CAMPOS, S. P. C., OLIVEIRA GOMES, A. M., PÉREZ-VALENCIA, J. A. & RUMJANEK, F. D. 2018. Metabolic Profile of Oral squamous carcinoma cell lines relies on a higher Demand of lipid Metabolism in Metastatic cells. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 8, 13.
- SANTIBÁÑEZ-ANDRADE, M., QUEZADA-MALDONADO, E. M., OSORNIO-VARGAS, Á., SÁNCHEZ-PÉREZ,
 Y. & GARCÍA-CUELLAR, C. M. 2017. Air pollution and genomic instability: The role of particulate matter in lung carcinogenesis. *Environ Pollut*, 229, 412-422.
- SARMENTO-CABRAL, A., L-LÓPEZ, F. & LUQUE, R. M. 2017a. Adipokines and their receptors are widely expressed and distinctly regulated by the metabolic environment in the prostate of male mice: direct role under normal and tumoral conditions. *Endocrinology*, 158, 3540-3552.
- SARMENTO-CABRAL, A., PEINADO, J. R., HALLIDAY, L. C., MALAGON, M. M., CASTAÑO, J. P., KINEMAN, R. D. & LUQUE, R. M. 2017b. Adipokines (leptin, adiponectin, resistin) differentially regulate all hormonal cell types in primary anterior pituitary cell cultures from two primate species. *Scientific reports*, 7, 43537.
- SAVARY, C., KIM, A., LESPAGNOL, A., GANDEMER, V., PELLIER, I., ANDRIEU, C., PAGÈS, G., GALIBERT,
 M.-D., BLUM, Y. & DE TAYRAC, M. 2020. Depicting the genetic architecture of pediatric cancers through an integrative gene network approach. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-15.
- SAWYER, M. & RATAIN, M. J. 2001. Body surface area as a determinant of pharmacokinetics and drug dosing. *Investigational new drugs*, 19, 171-177.
- SCHINKE, C., GIRICZ, O., LI, W., SHASTRI, A., GORDON, S., BARREYRO, L., BHAGAT, T.,
 BHATTACHARYYA, S., RAMACHANDRA, N. & BARTENSTEIN, M. 2015. IL8-CXCR2 pathway inhibition as a therapeutic strategy against MDS and AML stem cells. *Blood*, 125, 3144-3152.
- SCHNEIDER, P., DUBUS, I., GOUEL, F., LEGRAND, E., VANNIER, J. & VASSE, M. 2011. What role for angiogenesis in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia? *Advances in hematology*, 2011.
- SCHONEVELD, O. J., GAEMERS, I. C. & LAMERS, W. H. 2004. Mechanisms of glucocorticoid signalling. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Structure and Expression, 1680, 114-128.
- SCHRAPPE, M., ZIMMERMANN, M., MÖRICKE, A., MANN, G., VALSECCHI, M. G., BARTRAM, C. R., BIONDI, A., PANZER-GRÜMAYER, R., SCHRAUDER, A. & LOCATELLI, F. 2008. Dexamethasone in induction can eliminate one third of all relapses in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): results of an international randomized trial in 3655 patients (Trial AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000). Am Soc Hematology.
- SCHWARTZ, C. L. 1999. Long-term survivors of childhood cancer: the late effects of therapy. *The Oncologist*, 4, 45-54.
- SCOTT, J. M., LI, N., LIU, Q., YASUI, Y., LEISENRING, W., NATHAN, P. C., GIBSON, T., ARMENIAN, S. H., NILSEN, T. S. & OEFFINGER, K. C. 2018. Association of exercise with mortality in adult survivors of childhood cancer. JAMA oncology, 4, 1352-1358.
- SCRIDELI, C. A., CORTEZ, M. A. A., YUNES, J. A., DE PAULA QUEIRÓZ, R. G., VALERA, E. T., DA MATA, J. F., TOLEDO, S. R. C., PAVONI-FERREIRA, P., DE MARTINO LEE, M. L. & PETRILLI, A. S. 2010.
 mRNA expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) 2 and 9 and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) 1 and 2 in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: potential role of TIMP1 as an adverse prognostic factor. *Leukemia research*, 34, 32-37.
- SEDMAK, J. J. & GROSSBERG, S. E. 1977. A rapid, sensitive, and versatile assay for protein using Coomassie brilliant blue G250. *Analytical biochemistry*, 79, 544-552.
- SENGUPTA, T. K., LECLERC, G. M., HSIEH-KINSER, T. T., LECLERC, G. J., SINGH, I. & BARREDO, J. C. 2007. Cytotoxic effect of 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-β-4-ribofuranoside (AICAR) on

childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells: implication for targeted therapy. *Molecular cancer*, 6, 1-12.

- SEVDALI, E., KATSANTONI, E., SMULSKI, C. R., MOSCHOVI, M., PALASSOPOULOU, M., KOLOKOTSA, E.
 N., ARGENTOU, N., GIANNAKOULAS, N., ADAMAKI, M. & VASSILOPOULOS, G. 2019.
 BAFF/APRIL System is Functional in B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in a Disease
 Subtype Manner. *Frontiers in oncology*, 9, 594.
- SHAHRAMIAN, I., NOORI, N. M., AKHLAGHI, E., MASHHADI, M. A., SHARAFI, E. & TEIMOURI, A. 2016. Evaluation of serum leptin level in children with acute leukemia. *Zahedan Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, 18, 1-4.
- SHARAF-ELDEIN, M., ELGHANNAM, D., ELDERINY, W. & ABDEL-MALAK, C. 2018. Prognostic Implication of MIF Gene Expression in Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Clin. Lab*, 1.
- SHEIKHPOUR, E., NOORBAKHSH, P., FOROUGHI, E., FARAHNAK, S., NASIRI, R. & NEAMATZADEH, H.
 2018. A survey on the role of interleukin-10 in breast cancer: A narrative. *Reports of biochemistry & molecular biology*, 7, 30.
- SHENG, X. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2014. The role of adipose tissue and obesity in causing treatment resistance of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Front Pediatr*, 2, 53.
- SHENG, X., PARMENTIER, J. H., TUCCI, J., PEI, H., CORTEZ-TOLEDO, O., DIELI-CONWRIGHT, C. M., OBERLEY, M. J., NEELY, M., ORGEL, E., LOUIE, S. G. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2017. Adipocytes Sequester and Metabolize the Chemotherapeutic Daunorubicin. *Mol Cancer Res*, 15, 1704-1713.
- SHENG, X., TUCCI, J., MALVAR, J. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2014. Adipocyte differentiation is affected by media height above the cell layer. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 38, 315-20.
- SHENG, X., TUCCI, J., PARMENTIER, J. H., JI, L., BEHAN, J. W., HEISTERKAMP, N. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2016. Adipocytes cause leukemia cell resistance to daunorubicin via oxidative stress response. Oncotarget, 7, 73147-73159.
- SHERIEF, L. M., ABD EL-KHALEK, E. R., LIBDA, I. A., GABER, O. A., KAMAL, N. M., SOLIMAN, B. K., MOKHTAR, W. A., MOKHTAR, G. A., SALAH, H. E. & KAMAR, G. M. 2021. Serum endocan and endothelial dysfunction in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia survivors: a tertiary center experience. *Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease*, 12, 20406223211015963.
- SHIN, W. J., ZABEL, B. A. & PACHYNSKI, R. K. 2018. Mechanisms and functions of chemerin in cancer: potential roles in therapeutic intervention. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 2772.
- SHORE, R. E., MOSESON, M., HARLEY, N. & PASTERNACK, B. S. 2003. Tumors and other diseases following childhood x-ray treatment for ringworm of the scalp (Tinea capitis). *Health physics*, 85, 404-408.
- SHRESTHA, A., NEPAL, S., KIM, M. J., CHANG, J. H., KIM, S. H., JEONG, G. S., JEONG, C. H., PARK, G. H., JUNG, S., LIM, J., CHO, E., LEE, S. & PARK, P. H. 2016. Critical Role of AMPK/FoxO3A Axis in Globular Adiponectin-Induced Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis in Cancer Cells. *J Cell Physiol*, 231, 357-69.
- SHU, X. O., ROSS, J. A., PENDERGRASS, T. W., REAMAN, G. H., LAMPKIN, B. & ROBISON, L. L. 1996. Parental alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, and risk of infant leukemia: a Childrens Cancer Group study. J Natl Cancer Inst, 88, 24-31.
- SIEGEL, R. L., MILLER, K. D., FUCHS, H. E. & JEMAL, A. 2021. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 71, 7-33.
- SIEGEL, R. L., MILLER, K. D. & JEMAL, A. 2015. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin, 65, 5-29.
- SILKE, J. & MEIER, P. 2013. Inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) proteins-modulators of cell death and inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 5.
- SILVERMAN, L. B., SUPKO, J. G., STEVENSON, K. E., WOODWARD, C., VROOMAN, L. M., NEUBERG, D. S., ASSELIN, B. L., ATHALE, U. H., CLAVELL, L. & COLE, P. D. 2010. Intravenous PEG-asparaginase during remission induction in children and adolescents with newly diagnosed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood*, 115, 1351-1353.

- SIMIONI, C., MARTELLI, A. M., ZAULI, G., MELLONI, E. & NERI, L. M. 2019. Targeting mtor in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cells*, 8, 190.
- SIMÕES, N. F., DOMINGOS, A. L. G., DE OLIVEIRA, F. L. P., CALDAS, I. S., GUEDES, M. R., FAJARDO, V.
 C. & DE FREITAS, S. N. 2018. Resistin and visfatin concentrations are related to central obesity and inflammation in Brazilian children. *Nutrire*, 43, 1-8.
- SINGH, N., LEE, Y. G., SHESTOVA, O., RAVIKUMAR, P., HAYER, K. E., HONG, S. J., LU, X. M., PAJARILLO, R., AGARWAL, S. & KURAMITSU, S. 2020. Impaired death receptor signaling in leukemia causes antigen-independent resistance by inducing CAR T-cell dysfunction. *Cancer discovery*, 10, 552-567.
- SIQUEIRA, R. A., NOLL, M., RODRIGUES, A. P. S. & SILVEIRA, E. A. 2019. Factors Associated with the Occurrence of Thyroid Nodules in Severely Obese Patients: A Case-Control Study. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, 20, 693-697.
- SIVIERO-MIACHON, A. A., SPINOLA-CASTRO, A. M., ANDREONI, S., DE MARTINO LEE, M. L., CALIXTO, A. R., GELONEZE, B. & GUERRA-JUNIOR, G. 2020. Adipokines in young survivors of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia revisited: beyond fat mass. *Annals of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 25, 174.
- SKOCZEN, S., TOMASIK, P. J., BIK-MULTANOWSKI, M., SURMIAK, M., BALWIERZ, W., PIETRZYK, J. J., SZTEFKO, K., GOZDZIK, J., GALICKA-LATAŁA, D. & STROJNY, W. 2011. Plasma levels of leptin and soluble leptin receptor and polymorphisms of leptin gene-18G> A and leptin receptor genes K109R and Q223R, in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research*, 30, 64.
- SKONIECZNA, M., HUDY, D., HEJMO, T., BULDAK, R. J., ADAMIEC, M. & KUKLA, M. 2019. The adipokine vaspin reduces apoptosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma (Hep-3B) cells, associated with lower levels of NO and superoxide anion. *BMC Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 20, 1-9.
- SŁOMIAN, G., ŚWIĘTOCHOWSKA, E., NOWAK, G., PAWLAS, K., ŻELAZKO, A. & NOWAK, P. 2017. Chemotherapy and plasma adipokines level in patients with colorectal cancer. *Advances in Hygiene & Experimental Medicine/Postepy Higieny i Medycyny Doswiadczalnej,* 71.
- SMAS, C. M. & SUL, H. S. 1993. Pref-1, a protein containing EGF-like repeats, inhibits adipocyte differentiation. *Cell*, 73, 725-734.
- SMITH, L. A., CORNELIUS, V. R., PLUMMER, C. J., LEVITT, G., VERRILL, M., CANNEY, P. & JONES, A. 2010a. Cardiotoxicity of anthracycline agents for the treatment of cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMC cancer*, 10, 337.
- SMITH, M. A., SEIBEL, N. L., ALTEKRUSE, S. F., RIES, L. A., MELBERT, D. L., O'LEARY, M., SMITH, F. O. & REAMAN, G. H. 2010b. Outcomes for children and adolescents with cancer: challenges for the twenty-first century. J Clin Oncol, 28, 2625-34.
- SØEGAARD, S. H., ROSTGAARD, K., SKOGSTRAND, K., WIEMELS, J. L., SCHMIEGELOW, K. & HJALGRIM, H. 2018. Neonatal inflammatory markers are associated with childhood B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer research*, **78**, 5458-5463.
- SOLIMAN, A. T., YASIN, M. & KASSEM, A. 2012. Leptin in pediatrics: a hormone from adipocyte that wheels several functions in children. *Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism*, 16, S577.
- SOMERS, K., EVANS, K., CHEUNG, L., KARSA, M., PRITCHARD, T., KOSCIOLEK, A., BONGERS, A., EL-AYOUBI, A., FORGHAM, H. & MIDDLEMISS, S. 2020. Effective targeting of NAMPT in patientderived xenograft models of high-risk pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*, 34, 1524-1539.
- SONG, Y. & GYARMATI, P. 2019. Bacterial translocation in acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Plos one,* 14, e0214526.
- SPECTOR, L. G., PANKRATZ, N. & MARCOTTE, E. L. 2015a. Genetic and nongenetic risk factors for childhood cancer. *Pediatr Clin North Am*, 62, 11-25.

- SPECTOR, L. G., PANKRATZ, N. & MARCOTTE, E. L. 2015b. Genetic and nongenetic risk factors for childhood cancer. *Pediatric Clinics*, 62, 11-25.
- SRIVASTAVA, R., BATRA, A., TYAGI, A., DHAWAN, D., RAMAKRISHNAN, L. & BAKHSHI, S. 2015a. Adiponectin correlates with obesity: A study of 159 childhood acute leukemia survivors from India. *Indian journal of cancer*, 52, 195.
- SRIVASTAVA, R., BATRA, A., TYAGI, A., DHAWAN, D., RAMAKRISHNAN, L. & BAKHSHI, S. 2015b. Adiponectin correlates with obesity: A study of 159 childhood acute leukemia survivors from India. *Indian J Cancer*, 52, 195-7.
- STAQUICINI, D. I., D'ANGELO, S., FERRARA, F., KARJALAINEN, K., SHARMA, G., SMITH, T. L., TARLETON, C. A., JAALOUK, D. E., KUNIYASU, A. & BAZE, W. B. 2018. Therapeutic targeting of membrane-associated GRP78 in leukemia and lymphoma: preclinical efficacy in vitro and formal toxicity study of BMTP-78 in rodents and primates. *The pharmacogenomics journal*, 18, 436-443.
- STEELE, M. & NARENDRAN, A. 2012. Mechanisms of defective erythropoiesis and anemia in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *Annals of hematology*, 91, 1513-1518.
- STET, E. H., DE ABREU, R. A., JANSSEN, Y. P., BÖKKERINK, J. P. & TRIJBELS, F. J. 1993. A biochemical basis for synergism of 6-mercaptopurine and mycophenolic acid in Molt F4, a human malignant T-lymphoblastic cell line. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1180, 277-282.
- STEVENS, L. A., NOLIN, T. D., RICHARDSON, M. M., FELDMAN, H. I., LEWIS, J. B., RODBY, R., TOWNSEND, R., OKPARAVERO, A., ZHANG, Y. L. & SCHMID, C. H. 2009. Comparison of drug dosing recommendations based on measured GFR and kidney function estimating equations. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 54, 33-42.
- STEVENS, R. G. 2012. Does electric light stimulate cancer development in children? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 21, 701-4.
- STODDART, M. J. 2011. Mammalian cell viability: methods and protocols, Springer.
- STROBER, W. 2001. Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability. *Curr Protoc Immunol,* Appendix 3, Appendix 3B.
- STRONG, A. L., STRONG, T. A., RHODES, L. V., SEMON, J. A., ZHANG, X., SHI, Z., ZHANG, S., GIMBLE, J.
 M., BUROW, M. E. & BUNNELL, B. A. 2013. Obesity associated alterations in the biology of adipose stem cells mediate enhanced tumorigenesis by estrogen dependent pathways.
 Breast Cancer Res, 15, R102.
- STUDD, J. B., VIJAYAKRISHNAN, J., YANG, M., MIGLIORINI, G., PAULSSON, K. & HOULSTON, R. S. 2017. Genetic and regulatory mechanism of susceptibility to high-hyperdiploid acute lymphoblastic leukaemia at 10p21.2. *Nat Commun*, 8, 14616.
- STUDENT, A. K., HSU, R. Y. & LANE, M. D. 1980. Induction of fatty acid synthetase synthesis in differentiating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 255, 4745-4750.
- SU, C.-W., LIN, C.-W., YANG, W.-E. & YANG, S.-F. 2019. TIMP-3 as a therapeutic target for cancer. *Therapeutic advances in medical oncology*, 11, 1758835919864247.
- SUN, L., SUN, C., SUN, J. & YANG, W. 2019. Downregulation of ENDOCAN in myeloid leukemia cells inhibits proliferation and promotes apoptosis by suppressing nuclear factor-κB activity. *Molecular medicine reports*, 19, 3247-3254.
- SUNG, H., FERLAY, J., SIEGEL, R. L., LAVERSANNE, M., SOERJOMATARAM, I., JEMAL, A. & BRAY, F. 2021. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians* [Online]. Available: <u>https://acsjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/caac.21660</u>.
- SUNG, H., SIEGEL, R. L., ROSENBERG, P. S. & JEMAL, A. 2019. Emerging cancer trends among young adults in the USA: analysis of a population-based cancer registry. *Lancet Public Health*, 4, e137-e147.
- SWAMINATHAN, S., KLEMM, L., PARK, E., PAPAEMMANUIL, E., FORD, A., KWEON, S. M., TRAGESER, D., HASSELFELD, B., HENKE, N., MOOSTER, J., GENG, H., SCHWARZ, K., KOGAN, S. C.,

CASELLAS, R., SCHATZ, D. G., LIEBER, M. R., GREAVES, M. F. & MÜSCHEN, M. 2015. Mechanisms of clonal evolution in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Immunol*, 16, 766-774.

SWIFT, M. 1971. Fanconi's anaemia in the genetics of neoplasia. *Nature*, 230, 370.

- SYRIMI, E., LEWISON, G., SULLIVAN, R. & KEARNS, P. 2020. Analysis of global pediatric Cancer research and publications. *JCO global oncology*, 6, 9-18.
- TABE, Y., YAMAMOTO, S., SAITOH, K., SEKIHARA, K., MONMA, N., IKEO, K., MOGUSHI, K., SHIKAMI, M., RUVOLO, V. R. & ISHIZAWA, J. 2017. Survival of acute monocytic leukemia cells is driven by fatty acid oxidation-mediated activation of AMPK in bone marrow adipocytes. *Cancer Research*, canres. 1645.2016.
- TAHIR, N. T., AHMED, H. S. & GAIZ, A. A. 2014. Leptin and Insulin Resistance in Obese Children. *Al-Kindy College Medical Journal*, 10, 36-40.
- TAKAHASHI, H., CORNISH, A. J., SUD, A., LAW, P. J., DISNEY-HOGG, L., CALVOCORESSI, L., LU, L.,
 HANSEN, H. M., SMIRNOV, I., WALSH, K. M., SCHRAMM, J., HOFFMANN, P., NÖTHEN, M. M.,
 JÖCKEL, K. H., SCHILDKRAUT, J. M., SIMON, M., BONDY, M., WRENSCH, M., WIEMELS, J. L.,
 CLAUS, E. B., TURNBULL, C. & HOULSTON, R. S. 2019. Mendelian randomization provides
 support for obesity as a risk factor for meningioma. *Sci Rep*, 9, 309.
- TAKAHASHI, H., INOUE, J., SAKAGUCHI, K., TAKAGI, M., MIZUTANI, S. & INAZAWA, J. 2015. Autophagy inhibition sensitizes acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to L-asparaginase. American Society of Hematology Washington, DC.
- TALEB, S. & CLEMENT, K. 2007. Emerging role of cathepsin S in obesity and its associated diseases.
- TALIAFERRO-SMITH, L., NAGALINGAM, A., KNIGHT, B. B., OBERLICK, E., SAXENA, N. K. & SHARMA, D. 2013. Integral role of PTP1B in adiponectin-mediated inhibition of oncogenic actions of leptin in breast carcinogenesis. *Neoplasia*, 15, 23-38.
- TARTAGLIA, L. A., DEMBSKI, M., WENG, X., DENG, N., CULPEPPER, J., DEVOS, R., RICHARDS, G. J., CAMPFIELD, L. A., CLARK, F. T. & DEEDS, J. 1995. Identification and expression cloning of a leptin receptor, OB-R. *Cell*, 83, 1263-1271.
- TASIAN, S. K., ASSAD, A., HUNTER, D. S., DU, Y. & LOH, M. L. 2018. A Phase 2 Study of Ruxolitinib with Chemotherapy in Children with Philadelphia Chromosome-like Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (INCB18424-269/AALL1521): Dose-Finding Results from the Part 1 Safety Phase. Am Soc Hematology.
- TAVIL, B., BALTA, G., ERGUN, E. L., OZKASAP, S., TUNCER, M., TUNC, B., CETIN, M. & GURGEY, A. 2012. Leptin promoter G–2548A genotypes and associated serum leptin levels in childhood acute leukemia at diagnosis and under high-dose steroid therapy. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, 53, 648-653.
- TAYLOR, E. B. 2021. The complex role of adipokines in obesity, inflammation, and autoimmunity. *Clinical Science*, 135, 731-752.
- TEACHEY, D. T. & PUI, C.-H. 2019. Comparative features and outcomes between paediatric T-cell and B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *The Lancet Oncology*, 20, e142-e154.
- TERWILLIGER, T. & ABDUL-HAY, M. 2017. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. *Blood cancer journal*, 7, e577.
- TESHIGAWARA, S., WADA, J., HIDA, K., NAKATSUKA, A., EGUCHI, J., MURAKAMI, K., KANZAKI, M., INOUE, K., TERAMI, T. & KATAYAMA, A. 2012. Serum vaspin concentrations are closely related to insulin resistance, and rs77060950 at SERPINA12 genetically defines distinct group with higher serum levels in Japanese population. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 97, E1202-E1207.
- THOMAS, S. A. 2017. Chemotherapy Agents That Cause Cardiotoxicity. US Pharmacist, 42, HS24.
- THORIN-TRESCASES, N. & THORIN, E. 2017. High circulating levels of ANGPTL2: beyond a clinical marker of systemic inflammation. *Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity*, 2017.
- TIAINEN, L., HÄMÄLÄINEN, M., LUUKKAALA, T., TANNER, M., LAHDENPERÄ, O., VIHINEN, P., JUKKOLA, A., KARIHTALA, P., MOILANEN, E. & KELLOKUMPU-LEHTINEN, P.-L. 2019. Low

plasma IL-8 levels during chemotherapy are predictive of excellent long-term survival in metastatic breast Cancer. *Clinical breast cancer*, 19, e522-e533.

- TIAN, H. & CRONSTEIN, B. N. 2007. Understanding the mechanisms of action of methotrexate. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis*, 65, 168-173.
- TISSING, W. J., MEIJERINK, J. P., DEN BOER, M. L. & PIETERS, R. 2003. Molecular determinants of glucocorticoid sensitivity and resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*, 17, 17.
- TOMANKOVA, V., ANZENBACHER, P. & ANZENBACHEROVA, E. 2017. Effects of obesity on liver cytochromes P450 in various animal models. *Biomedical Papers of the Medical Faculty of Palacky University in Olomouc*, 161.
- TREMBLAY, C. S., CHIU, S. K., SAW, J., MCCALMONT, H., LITALIEN, V., BOYLE, J., SONDEREGGER, S. E., CHAU, N., EVANS, K. & CERRUTI, L. 2020. Small molecule inhibition of Dynamin-dependent endocytosis targets multiple niche signals and impairs leukemia stem cells. *Nature communications*, 11, 1-18.
- TREMBLAY, M. S., COLLEY, R. C., SAUNDERS, T. J., HEALY, G. N. & OWEN, N. 2010. Physiological and health implications of a sedentary lifestyle. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 35, 725-40.
- TROTTER, T. N., GIBSON, J. T., SHERPA, T. L., GOWDA, P. S., PEKER, D. & YANG, Y. 2016. Adipocytelineage cells support growth and dissemination of multiple myeloma in bone. *The American journal of pathology*, 186, 3054-3063.
- TSUJIMOTO, Y., FINGER, L. R., YUNIS, J., NOWELL, P. C. & CROCE, C. M. 1984. Cloning of the chromosome breakpoint of neoplastic B cells with the t (14; 18) chromosome translocation. *Science*, 226, 1097-1099.
- TUCCI, J., ALHUSHKI, W., CHEN, T., SHENG, X., KIM, Y.-M. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2018. Switch to lowfat diet improves outcome of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in obese mice. *Cancer & metabolism,* 6, 15.
- TUCCI, J., CHEN, T., MARGULIS, K., ORGEL, E., PASZKIEWICZ, R. L., COHEN, M. D., OBERLEY, M. J., WAHHAB, R., JONES, A. E. & DIVAKARUNI, A. S. 2021. Adipocytes Provide Fatty Acids to Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells. *Frontiers in oncology*, 11.
- TUCCI, J., SHENG, X. & MITTELMAN, S. D. 2014. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells stimulate adipocyte lipolysis and utilize adipocyte-derived free-fatty acids for proliferation. AACR.
- TUNG, S., SHI, Y., WONG, K., ZHU, F., GORCZYNSKI, R., LAISTER, R. C., MINDEN, M., BLECHERT, A. K., GENZEL, Y., REICHL, U. & SPANER, D. E. 2013. PPARα and fatty acid oxidation mediate glucocorticoid resistance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, 122, 969-80.
- TYNER, J. W., JEMAL, A. M., THAYER, M., DRUKER, B. J. & CHANG, B. H. 2012. Targeting survivin and p53 in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*, 26, 623-32.
- UCKUN, F. M., QAZI, S., OZER, Z., GARNER, A. L., PITT, J., MA, H. & JANDA, K. D. 2011. Inducing apoptosis in chemotherapy-resistant B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cells by targeting HSPA5, a master regulator of the anti-apoptotic unfolded protein response signalling network. *British journal of haematology*, 153, 741-752.
- VAITKEVICIENE, G., HEYMAN, M., JONSSON, O., LAUSEN, B., HARILA-SAARI, A., STENMARKER, M., TASKINEN, M., ZVIRBLIS, T., ÅSBERG, A. & GROTH-PEDERSEN, L. 2013. Early morbidity and mortality in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia with very high white blood cell count. *Leukemia*, 27, 2259-2262.
- VALENCIA, J., M FERNÁNDEZ-SEVILLA, L., FRAILE-RAMOS, A., SACEDÓN, R., JIMÉNEZ, E., VICENTE, A. & VARAS, A. 2019. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cells impair dendritic cell and macrophage Differentiation: role of BMP4. *Cells*, 8, 722.
- VAUX, D. L., CORY, S. & ADAMS, J. M. 1988. Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature*, 335, 440-2.
- VAUX, D. L. & KORSMEYER, S. J. 1999. Cell death in development. Cell, 96, 245-54.
- VELDHUIS-VLUG, A. G. & ROSEN, C. J. 2018. Clinical implications of bone marrow adiposity. *J Intern Med*, 283, 121-139.
- VOLKOVA, E., WILLIS, J., WELLS, J., ROBINSON, B., DACHS, G. & CURRIE, M. 2011. Association of angiopoietin-2, C-reactive protein and markers of obesity and insulin resistance with survival outcome in colorectal cancer. *British journal of cancer*, 104, 51-59.
- WAHED, M., LOUIS-AUGUSTE, J., BAXTER, L., LIMDI, J., MCCARTNEY, S., LINDSAY, J. & BLOOM, S.
 2009. Efficacy of methotrexate in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients unresponsive or intolerant to azathioprine/mercaptopurine. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics*, 30, 614-620.
- WALLACE, A., TUCKER, P., WILLIAMS, D., HUGHES, I. & AHMED, S. 2003. Short-term effects of prednisolone and dexamethasone on circulating concentrations of leptin and sex hormonebinding globulin in children being treated for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Clinical endocrinology*, 58, 770-776.
- WANG, Q., TU, H., ZHU, M., LIANG, D., YE, Y., CHANG, D. W., LONG, Y. & WU, X. 2019. Circulating obesity-driven biomarkers are associated with risk of clear cell renal cell carcinoma: a two-stage, case-control study. *Carcinogenesis*.
- WANG, R., METAYER, C., MORIMOTO, L., WIEMELS, J. L., YANG, J., DEWAN, A. T., KANG, A. & MA, X.
 2017. Parental age and risk of pediatric cancer in the offspring: a population-based recordlinkage study in California. *American journal of epidemiology*, 186, 843-856.
- WANG, Y., KIM, K.-A., KIM, J.-H. & SUL, H. S. 2006. Pref-1, a preadipocyte secreted factor that inhibits adipogenesis. *The Journal of nutrition*, 136, 2953-2956.
- WARD, Z. J., YEH, J. M., BHAKTA, N., FRAZIER, A. L. & ATUN, R. 2019. Estimating the total incidence of global childhood cancer: a simulation-based analysis. *Lancet Oncol,* 20, 483-493.
- WARRIS, L. T., VAN DEN AKKER, E. L., BIERINGS, M. B., VAN DEN BOS, C., AARSEN, F. K., ZWAAN, M.
 C., TISSING, W. J., VEENING, M. A., PIETERS, R. & VAN DEN HEUVEL-EIBRINK, M. M. 2017.
 Eating behavior during dexamethasone treatment in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 64, e26679.
- WARRIS, L. T., VAN DEN AKKER, E. L., BIERINGS, M. B., VAN DEN BOS, C., ZWAAN, C. M., SASSEN, S.
 D., TISSING, W. J., VEENING, M. A., PIETERS, R. & VAN DEN HEUVEL-EIBRINK, M. M. 2016.
 Acute Activation of Metabolic Syndrome Components in Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic
 Leukemia Patients Treated with Dexamethasone. *PLoS One*, 11, e0158225.
- WEI, G., TWOMEY, D., LAMB, J., SCHLIS, K., AGARWAL, J., STAM, R. W., OPFERMAN, J. T., SALLAN, S.
 E., DEN BOER, M. L. & PIETERS, R. 2006. Gene expression-based chemical genomics identifies rapamycin as a modulator of MCL1 and glucocorticoid resistance. *Cancer cell*, 10, 331-342.
- WEI, X., KANG, J., CAN, L., ZHANG, J., HUANG, C. & HOU, L. 2013. DLK1 affects T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells by regulating Notch pathway. *Journal of Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 22, 586-588.
- WENT, M., SUD, A., LAW, P. J., JOHNSON, D. C., WEINHOLD, N., FÖRSTI, A., VAN DUIN, M., MITCHELL, J. S., CHEN, B., KUIPER, R., STEPHENS, O. W., BERTSCH, U., CAMPO, C., EINSELE, H., GREGORY, W. M., HENRION, M., HILLENGASS, J., HOFFMANN, P., JACKSON, G. H., LENIVE, O., NICKEL, J., NÖTHEN, M. M., DA SILVA FILHO, M. I., THOMSEN, H., WALKER, B. A., BROYL, A., DAVIES, F. E., LANGER, C., HANSSON, M., KAISER, M., SONNEVELD, P., GOLDSCHMIDT, H., HEMMINKI, K., NILSSON, B., MORGAN, G. J. & HOULSTON, R. S. 2017. Assessing the effect of obesity-related traits on multiple myeloma using a Mendelian randomisation approach. *Blood Cancer J*, 7, e573.
- WESTHRIN, M., MOEN, S. H., KRISTENSEN, I. B., BUENE, G., MYLIN, A. K., TURESSON, I., ABILDGAARD, N., WAAGE, A. & STANDAL, T. 2018. Chemerin is elevated in multiple myeloma patients and is expressed by stromal cells and pre-adipocytes. *Biomarker research*, 6, 21.
- WEX, H., AHRENS, D., HOHMANN, B., REDLICH, A., MITTLER, U. & VORWERK, P. 2005. Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 4 in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *International journal of hematology*, 82, 137-142.
- WEY, S., LUO, B., TSENG, C.-C., NI, M., ZHOU, H., FU, Y., BHOJWANI, D., CARROLL, W. L. & LEE, A. S. 2012. Inducible knockout of GRP78/BiP in the hematopoietic system suppresses Pten-null

leukemogenesis and AKT oncogenic signaling. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology,* 119, 817-825.

WILKINSON, R. D., WILLIAMS, R., SCOTT, C. J. & BURDEN, R. E. 2015. Cathepsin S: therapeutic, diagnostic, and prognostic potential. *Biological chemistry*, 396, 867-882.

WILLIS, A. E. & LINDAHL, T. 1987. DNA ligase I deficiency in Bloom's syndrome. *Nature*, 325, 355.

- WINDHOLZ, J., KOVACS, P., SCHLICKE, M., FRANKE, C., MAHAJAN, A., MORRIS, A. P., LEMKE, J. R., KLAMMT, J., KIESS, W. & SCHÖNEBERG, T. 2017. Copy number variations in "classical" obesity candidate genes are not frequently associated with severe early-onset obesity in children. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 30, 507-515.
- WITHYCOMBE, J. S., SMITH, L. M., MEZA, J. L., MERKLE, C., FAULKNER, M. S., RITTER, L., SEIBEL, N. L.
 & MOORE, K. 2015. Weight change during childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia induction therapy predicts obesity: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62, 434-439.
- WONG, R. S. 2011. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 30, 87.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2018. *Controlling the global obesity epidemic* [Online]. Available: <u>www.who.int</u> [Accessed 17 December 2018 2018].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2021. *Cancer* [Online]. Available: <u>www.who.int</u> [Accessed 7th March 2021 2021].
- WU, J., COHEN, P. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 2013. Adaptive thermogenesis in adipocytes: is beige the new brown? *Genes Dev*, 27, 234-50.
- XIE, L., WANG, Y., WANG, S., WU, N., CHEN, Y. & YAN, J. 2011. Adiponectin induces growth inhibition and apoptosis in cervical cancer HeLa cells. *Biologia*, 66, 712-720.
- XIN, M., QIAO, Z., LI, J., LIU, J., SONG, S., ZHAO, X., MIAO, P., TANG, T., WANG, L., LIU, W., YANG, X., DAI, K. & HUANG, G. 2016. miR-22 inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by targeting ATP citrate lyase: evidence in osteosarcoma, prostate cancer, cervical cancer and lung cancer. Oncotarget, 7, 44252-44265.
- XU, Z., ZHANG, S., ZHOU, Q., WANG, Y. & XIA, R. 2014a. Endocan, a potential prognostic and diagnostic biomarker of acute leukemia. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*, 395, 117-123.
- XU, Z., ZHANG, S., ZHOU, Q., WANG, Y. & XIA, R. 2014b. Endocan, a potential prognostic and diagnostic biomarker of acute leukemia. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*, 395, 117-123.
- YADAV, A., KATARIA, M. A. & SAINI, V. 2013. Role of leptin and adiponectin in insulin resistance. *Clin Chim Acta*, 417, 80-4.
- YAN, Q.-W., YANG, Q., MODY, N., GRAHAM, T. E., HSU, C.-H., XU, Z., HOUSTIS, N. E., KAHN, B. B. & ROSEN, E. D. 2007. The adipokine lipocalin 2 is regulated by obesity and promotes insulin resistance. *Diabetes*, 56, 2533-2540.
- YE, H., ADANE, B., KHAN, N., ALEXEEV, E., NUSBACHER, N., MINHAJUDDIN, M., STEVENS, B. M., WINTERS, A. C., LIN, X. & ASHTON, J. M. 2018. Subversion of systemic glucose metabolism as a mechanism to support the growth of leukemia cells. *Cancer Cell*, 34, 659-673. e6.
- YIN, C., HU, W., WANG, M. & XIAO, Y. 2019. The role of the adipocytokines vaspin and visfatin in vascular endothelial function and insulin resistance in obese children. *BMC endocrine disorders*, 19, 1-8.
- YOKOTA, T., ORITANI, K., TAKAHASHI, I., ISHIKAWA, J., MATSUYAMA, A., OUCHI, N., KIHARA, S., FUNAHASHI, T., TENNER, A. J. & TOMIYAMA, Y. 2000. Adiponectin, a new member of the family of soluble defense collagens, negatively regulates the growth of myelomonocytic progenitors and the functions of macrophages. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, 96, 1723-1732.
- YOUN, B.-S., KLÖTING, N., KRATZSCH, J., LEE, N., PARK, J. W., SONG, E.-S., RUSCHKE, K., OBERBACH, A., FASSHAUER, M. & STUMVOLL, M. 2008. Serum vaspin concentrations in human obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 57, 372-377.

- YU, X., YANG, C., LIANG, L., LIU, B., ZHOU, B., LI, B. & HAN, Z. 2006. Inhibition of human leukemia xenograft in nude mice by adenovirus-mediated tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3. *Leukemia*, 20, 1-8.
- YU, Z., TANG, S., MA, H., DUAN, H. & ZENG, Y. 2019a. Association of serum adiponectin with breast cancer: A meta-analysis of 27 case-control studies. *Medicine*, 98.
- YU, Z., TANG, S., MA, H., DUAN, H. & ZENG, Y. 2019b. Association of serum adiponectin with breast cancer: A meta-analysis of 27 case-control studies. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 98, e14359.
- YUAN, Y., ZHANG, J., CAI, L., DING, C., WANG, X., CHEN, H., YAN, J. & LU, J. 2013. Leptin induces cell proliferation and reduces cell apoptosis by activating c-myc in cervical cancer. *Oncol Rep*, 29, 2291-6.
- ZAIDI, S. I. Z. & SHIRWANY, T. A. K. 2015. Relationship of serum resistin with insulin resistance and obesity. *Journal of Ayub Medical College Abbottabad*, 27, 552-555.
- ZAKHARY, N. I., BOSHRA, S. A., EL-SAWALHI, M. M., FAHIM, A. T. & EBEID, E. N. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor system in Egyptian children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Genetic testing and molecular biomarkers*, 16, 1067-1072.
- ZAREIFAR, S., SHORAFA, S., HAGHPANAH, S., KARAMIZADEH, Z. & ADELIAN, R. 2015. Association of serum leptin level with obesity in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Iranian journal of pediatric hematology and oncology*, **5**, 116.
- ZEBISCH, K., VOIGT, V., WABITSCH, M. & BRANDSCH, M. 2012. Protocol for effective differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells to adipocytes. *Anal Biochem*, 425, 88-90.
- ZHANG, F. F., KELLY, M. J., SALTZMAN, E., MUST, A., ROBERTS, S. B. & PARSONS, S. K. 2014. Obesity in pediatric ALL survivors: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 133, e704-e715.
- ZHANG, F. F., LIU, S., CHUNG, M. & KELLY, M. J. 2015a. Growth patterns during and after treatment in patients with pediatric ALL: A meta-analysis. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62, 1452-1460.
- ZHANG, F. F. & PARSONS, S. K. 2015. Obesity in childhood cancer survivors: call for early weight management. *Advances in Nutrition*, 6, 611-619.
- ZHANG, J., ZHOU, J., TANG, X., ZHOU, L.-Y., ZHAI, L.-L., VANESSA, M. E.-D., YI, J., YI, Y.-Y., LIN, J. & QIAN, J. 2017. Reduced expression of chemerin is associated with poor clinical outcome in acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncotarget*, **8**, 92536.
- ZHANG, L., WEN, K., HAN, X., LIU, R. & QU, Q. 2015b. Adiponectin mediates antiproliferative and apoptotic responses in endometrial carcinoma by the AdipoRs/AMPK pathway. *Gynecol Oncol*, 137, 311-20.
- ZHANG, M., YAN, L., WANG, G. J. & JIN, R. 2019. Resistin effects on pancreatic cancer progression and chemoresistance are mediated through its receptors CAP1 and TLR4. *J Cell Physiol*, 234, 9457-9466.
- ZHANG, T., TSENG, C., ZHANG, Y., SIRIN, O., CORN, P. G., LI-NING-TAPIA, E. M., TRONCOSO, P., DAVIS,
 J., PETTAWAY, C. & WARD, J. 2016. CXCL1 mediates obesity-associated adipose stromal cell
 trafficking and function in the tumour microenvironment. *Nature communications*, 7, 11674.
- ZHANG, Y., TSENG, C.-C., TSAI, Y.-L., FU, X., SCHIFF, R. & LEE, A. S. 2013. Cancer cells resistant to therapy promote cell surface relocalization of GRP78 which complexes with PI3K and enhances PI (3, 4, 5) P3 production. *PloS one*, 8, e80071.
- ZHAO, L. & ZHANG, B. 2017. Doxorubicin induces cardiotoxicity through upregulation of death receptors mediated apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. *Scientific reports*, **7**, 1-11.
- ZHAO, X., HU, H., WANG, C., BAI, L., WANG, Y., WANG, W. & WANG, J. 2019. A comparison of methods for effective differentiation of the frozen-thawed 3T3-L1 cells. *Analytical biochemistry*, 568, 57-64.
- ZHENG, J., HUYNH, H., UMIKAWA, M., SILVANY, R. & ZHANG, C. C. 2011. Angiopoietin-like protein 3 supports the activity of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow niche. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology,* 117, 470-479.
- ZHENG, Y., MA, L. & SUN, Q. 2021. Clinically-Relevant ABC Transporter for Anti-Cancer Drug Resistance. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, **12**, 705.

- ZHOU, Y., NIE, A.-Q., CHEN, S., WANG, M.-M., YIN, R., TANG, B.-H., WU, Y.-E., YANG, F., DU, B. & SHI, H.-Y. 2021. Downregulation of Renal MRPs Transporters in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Mediated by the IL-6/STAT3/PXR Signaling Pathway. *Journal of Inflammation Research*, 14, 2239.
- ZHU, D., SHI, S., WANG, H. & LIAO, K. 2009. Growth arrest induces primary-cilium formation and sensitizes IGF-1-receptor signaling during differentiation induction of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Journal of cell science*, 122, 2760-2768.
- ZHU, Y., ZHENG, G., WANG, H., JIA, Y., ZHANG, Y., TANG, Y., LI, W., FAN, Y., ZHANG, X. & LIU, Y. 2017. Downregulated miR-29a/b/c during contact inhibition stage promote 3T3-L1 adipogenesis by targeting DNMT3A. *PloS one*, 12, e0170636.
- ZIDAN, N. 2020. Assessment of B-cell Activating Factor (BAFF) in children with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Zagazig University Medical Journal*, 26, 423-433.
- ZUNA, J., MADZO, J., KREJCI, O., ZEMANOVA, Z., KALINOVA, M., MUZIKOVA, K., ZAPOTOCKY, M., STARKOVA, J., HRUSAK, O., HORAK, J. & TRKA, J. 2011. ETV6/RUNX1 (TEL/AML1) is a frequent prenatal first hit in childhood leukemia. *Blood*, 117, 368-9; author reply 370-1.